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PREFACE

HE title of the following work sufficiently explains
T itself; however, before presenting it to the public, in
its present form, the publisher deems it necessary to
accompany it with a few remarks explanlaltory of the
motives which induced the author to commit his adventures
to paper:

Mr. Zenas LEONARD (the author) is a native of Clear-
field county, Pa., where his parents and other relatives still
reside ; and it may not be improper here to remark, that
they are well known as among the most respectable inhabi-
tants of the county.

After receiving the advantages of a common English
education, and being possessed of strong mental faculties
and a vigorous constitution, MR. LEONARD left his parental
roof in the spring of 1830, and after spending the succeed-
ing year in a mercantile house in Pittsburg, Pa.,* ventured

*It was in the following manner that the author of this book
became engaged in the fur-trade as related to me by one of the
family, and it was from this same cause that many other young
men, who were of an adventurous disposition, found their way to the
mountains, hoping that dame fortune would smile upon them. Zenas
Leonard was the son of Abraham Leonard and Elisabeth (Armstrong)
Leonard, born March 19, 1809, at Clearfleld Creek, Bradford Township,
three miles from Clearfleld, the county-seat of Clearfleld county,
Pennsylvania. Up to his twenty-first year he worked on his father’'s
farm, which we are led to believe was more fertile in stones
than in crops. On the morning of his twenty-first birthday, he
remarked to his father, “I can make my living without picking
stones,” to which his father replied that he was at perfect liberty
to do so. He packed his scanty wardrobe and walked to Pittsburg,
where he had an uncle, a Mr. Armstrong, who was engaged in the
mercantile business, for whom he clerked for some months, and then
resumed his journey to 8t. Louis and joined the company of Gant
and Blackwell, as stated. It was probably at Pittsburg that he
obtained his ideas of trapping and the mountains, and determined to
visit this almost unknown country and paradise of trappers.
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to embark in an expedition across the Rocky Mountains,
in the capacity of Clerk to the company. The last letter
received by his parents, left him at the extreme white
settlement, where they were busily occupied in making
preparations for the expedition to the mountains — from
whence he promised to write at short intervals; but one
misfortune after another happening the company, he
was deprived of all sources of communication — so that no
tidings were received of him until he unexpectedly returned
to the scenes of his childhood, to the house of his father, in
the fall of 1835 — after an absence of 5 years and 6 months!

In the interval, and at various times, rumors and ans-
wers to letters written by his friends to different individ-
uals on the route up the Missouri, were received, which
represented the major part of the company he was with,
as having perished, and that he was not among the num-
ber who survived. The grief of his parents from that
time until his joyous return, can only be imagined. They
had long mourned him as lost forever, and all hope of
again meeting him this side the grave ceased to exist. The
Scriptural phrase, that “the dead’s alive, and the lost is
found,” in a temporal point of view, was never more beau-
tifully illustrated; nor was ever grief and mourning
changed to inexpressible joy and gladness more unexpect-
edly and triumphantly.

After again mingling with his former comrades and
old acquaintances, so great was the curiosity manifested
by them to hear him relate his adventures, that he was
continually beset by crowds of anxious inquirers where-
ever he happened to be. But few were satisfied with a
partial account, and finding that it would consume too
much of the time he purposed spending among his former
friends, ere he should again embark for the west, to re-
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peat the whole story on every occasion, he finally yielded
to the importunities of his friends to adopt Franklin’s
notion of “saying grace over the whole barrel of beef at
once, in order to save time,” and he prepared a narrative
of his travels for publication in the newspapers of the
county, that all might have an equal opportunity to read
it. It was for this purpose, and under these circumstances,
that he wrote it out — but from various causes it was never
published entire, until we procured the manuscript last
winter and gave it to the public through the columns
of a public newspaper* during the past season. The great
interest the public took in it, was satisfactorily illustrated
by the increase and demand for the paper in which it was
published. A number of persons sent in their names as
subscribers from all the adjoining counties, besides others
more distant — many of whom we were unable to accom-
modate. From this evidence, as well as the repeated solicit-
ations from every quarter, we have been induced to re-print
it, and now offer it to the public in a more convenient form.
Our author kept a minute journal of every incident
that occurred, but unfortunately, a part of his nar-
rative was stolen from him by hostile Indians; still, how-
ever, he was enabled to replace the most important events,
by having access to the journal kept by the commander of
the expedition. His character for candour and truth,
among his acquaintances, we have never heard suspected;
and, indeed, among the many who heard the narrative from
his own lips, we have yet to hear the first one say they
disbelieve it. At all events, in its persual, the reader will
encounter no improbabilities, much less impossibilities: —
hence it is but reasonable to suppose that in traversing such
*The C(learfield Repubdlican, D. W. Moore, editor, who was also
the publisher of the ~Leonard Narvative in book form. This paper is

atl:“rt.m existence under the above name, the editor being John F.
0
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a wilderness as lays west of the Rocky Mountains, such
hardships, privations and dangers as those described by
MR. LEONARD, must necessarily be encountered.

He remained at home but a short time, when he re-
turned to the west, and now resides in Jackson county,
Mo., where he is surrounded with competence — being at
present engaged as a merchant and trader with the different

companies employed in the fur trade of the mountains.
THE PUBLISHER.



NARRATIVE

Of the adventures of a company of 70 men, who left St.
Louss in the Spring of 1831, on an expedition to
the Rocky Mountains, for the purpose of lrapping
JSor Furs, and trading with the Indsans, by one of the
company, MR. ZENAs LEONARD, of Clearfield county,
Pa.— comprising a minule description of the incs-
dents of the adventure, and a valuable history of thiss
tmmense lerritory — not _from maps and charts, but
Jrom personal observation.

HE Company under the command of Capt’s. Gant and
Blackwell,* left St. Louis on the 24th of April, 1831.

Each man was furnished with the necessary equip-
ments for the expedition — such as traps, guns, &c.; also
horses and goods of various descriptions, to trade with the
Indians for furs and Buffaloe robes. We continued our jour-
ney in a western direction, in the state of Missouri, on the
south side of the Missouri river, through a country thinly
inhabited by the whites and friendly Indians, until we ar-
rived at Fort Osage the extreme point of the white set-
tlement. Here we remained several days and purchased
and packed up a sufficiency of provision, as we then
thought; for our subsistance through the wilderness to
what is called the Buffaloe country; a distance of about 200

*This firm built a post on the Upper Arkansas about six miles
above Fountain Creek, in 1832. We know little or nothing of Blackwell,
but Captain Gant was an experienced trapper and trader, and is said
to have been the first hunter to enter into friendly relations with the
Arapahoes. He succeeded in gaining their confidence and they were
always thereafter uniformly friendly to the whites. While not
aggressively warlike, they were good fighters, and were held in high
respect by their enemies. They were a brave, candid, and honest
people, and were much less addicted to beggary and thieving than
were most other Indians.
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miles. From thence we proceeded up the Missouri until
we arrived at the mouth of the Kansas river, where we
again tarried two or three days, for the purpose of trading
some goods to the Kansas Indians for corn, moccasins, &c.

This tribe of Indians live in small huts, built of poles,
covered with straw & dirt, and in shape are similar to a
potatoe hole. They cultivate the soil quite extensively,
and raise very good corn, pumpkins, beens and other veg-
etables. The principal chief is called “White Ploom.”—The
nation is supposed to contain 800 warriors.

From thence we proceeded on our journey up the
river. We found the country here beautiful indeed —
abounding with the most delightful prairies, with here
& there a small brook, winding its way to the river, the
margins of which are adorned with the lofty Pine and Cedar
tree. These prairies were completely covered with fine low
grass, and decorated with beautiful flowers of various
colors; and some of them are so extensive and clear of
timber and brush that the eye might search in vain for an
object to rest upon. I have seen beautiful and enchanting
sceneries depicted by the artist, but never any thing to
equal the work of rude nature in those prairies. In the
spring of the year when the grass is green and the blos-
soms fresh, they present an appearance, which for beauty
and charms, is beyond the art of man to depict.

We continued on our journey westward, up the repub-
lican fork* of Kanzas river — passing through these
prairies, till the 2oth of June, when we happened on an-

*This was not the regular route followed by traders in going
to the mountains at this time. On leaving Independence they crossed
the Kansas River near its mouth, followed up the Little Blue to its
headwaters, thence to the river Platte, which they followed to the
mountains or they frequently started from the mouth of the Platte
and followed this river as stated. These were no doubt the better
routes, as we shall see that this party met with some hardships, their
provisions running very short, they met with but little game, and as
a result suffered want before they reached the mountains.
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other tribe of Indians, called the Otoes, from whom we
obtained a quantity of sweet corn and some wild turnips;
we also understood from this tribe that it was much farther
to the Buffaloe country than we had before anticipated, and
that game in that direction, was very scarce. From thence
we proceeded in a N. W. direction, up the Republican
Branch — finding but very little game; and on the 21st of
June we killed our last beef, which was equally divided to
each mess. Here we began to feel somewhat alarmed —
starvation began to stare us in the face, and some of the
company became refractory and were for turning back.
Stimulated, however, by the hope of reaching game in a
few days, we continued in the direction of the Buffaloe
country. Hunters were sent out daily in quest of game,
but as often returned without any. We still continued to
travel — subsisting chiefly on muscles and small fish which
we caught in the river; finally the Captain ordered two
of the best horses to be killed, to keep the company from
starving, which was immediately done, and the carcasses
equally distributed to each mess. We proceeded on our
journey slowly — sending out hunters as usual, but with-
out success ; game appeared to become scarcer and scarcer,
and in a few days our provision (if I may call it such)
again exhausted. Finding it impossible, owing to the
scarcity of game, to continue any further up the Repub-
lican, we concluded to leave it and steer for the head
waters of the Missouri.* Accordingly we changed our
direction as well as our manner of travelling. Instead of
travelling in a close mat as heretofore, we now scattered
over a considerable range of country for the purpose of
hunting, leaving ten or twelve men only to bring on the
pack-mules, and at night we would collect together with

*The river Platte is no doubt the one here referred to, and not the
Missouri.
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our game, which generally consisted of wolves, wild cats,
muscles, and some times an Antelope. In this way we
continued our journey slowly, some of the company being
half starved to death, for eight or ten days, eating at
night what little game we caught through the day; at last
we collected one evening, I think about the middle of July,
in a barren prairie where we could not get wood enough to
make a fire, much less any thing to cook on it—not a
mouthfull of game was returned that evening. This was
a trying time indeed — despondency & horror was de-
picted in the countenance of every man, and the enquiry,
“what shall we do,” was passed from every lip. In this
condition, without fire or food, we spent the knight. In
the morning we held a consultation to decide whether to
continue in that direction or turn. We finally agreed to
proceed straight ahead & by night we arrived on the
banks of the river Platte, a distance of about ten miles
from where we had encamped the night before, where we
pitched our tents for the night. Most of our hunters had
collected without game, and pronounced it very scarce,
and we were about to kill another of our horses, when
we saw one of our hunters approaching us with unusual
rapidity, without his gun or hat and his countenance indi-
cating great excitement. I never wish to feel more
pleasure than I did as he rushed into the tent exclaim-
ing, “I have killed two big Buck Elk!” Early the next
morning — refreshed with what meat we had obtained and
animated and encouraged with the hope of obtaining plenty
more, we set out with unusual fine spirits. We continued
to travel up the river Platte for several days — passing
through extensive barren prairies, the soil being too
poor even to produce grass; and game exceedingly scarce.
Some of us again became alarmed, and one morning when
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the roll was called it was discovered that two of the com-
pany had stolen two of the best horses and started back to
the state of Missouri. This had a bad effect — it impaired
that full confidence which had heretofore existed between
the members of the company, but we continued up the river
and in a few days arrived at the Buffaloe country. After
encamping, on a pleasant evening, in the latter part of
July, some of the company discovered two Buffaloe bulls
feeding in the prairie, about half a mile from camp. Four
or five of us immediately mounted our horses and started
to take them; but returned in a short time without suc-
cess — one of the men having got his arm broken, by fall-
ing from his horse. But the next day we happened on a
large drove of these animals, and killed six or seven of
them. The flesh of the Buffaloe is the wholesomest
and most palatable of meat kind. The male of these
animals are much the largest — weighing from 1000 to
1500 pounds, and may be seen in droves of hundreds feed-
ing in the plains. We remained here several days feasting
upon Buffaloe meat. From thence proceeded up the river;
finding an abundance of game, such as Buffaloe, Elk, Deer
and Antelope — and killing more or less every day. On
the first day of August* we arrived at the forks of the river
Platte; and by means of boats made of buffaloe skins,
crossed the south Fork and continued our journey up the
valley. Here the soil appeared to be very poor, producing
but little grass; and in some places for three or four miles
we would travel ove? sand plains where there was scarcely
a spear of grass to be seen. Immediately on the water
courses the soil is better and produces good grass. As we
travelled up the river, we occasionally came in contact with
cliffs of rock and hard clay, from two to three hundred

*If Leonard's dates are correct they made an extremely slow
passage to this point.
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feet above the level of the plain. One of these cliffs is
very peculiar in its appearance, and is known among the
whites as “Chimney cliff,” and among the natives as “Elk
Peak.” It is only about 150 yards in circumference at its
basis, and about 25 at the summit; and projects into the
air to the heighth of 300 feet. Its towering summit may be
seen at the distance of 15 or 20 miles — presenting the
appearance of some huge fabric that had been constructed
by the art of man.

We continued to travel in a western direction — found
game plenty — met with no difficulty in getting along;
and on the 27th of August we arrived at the junction of the
Laramies river with the river Platte* —about 12 or
1300 miles from the United States, and two or three
hundred from the top of the Rocky Mountains. Here we
stopped for the purpose of reconnoitering. Several scout-
ing parties were sent out in search of Beaver signs, who
returned in a few days and reported that they had found
Beaver signs,} &c. Capt. Gant then gave orders to make

*The route followed after reaching the Platte to the mouth of the
Laramie later became a portion of the celebrated Oregon Trail, and
Chimney Rock one of its most celebrated landmarks. The junction of
these two rivers became later quite a trading center in the fur-trade,
near which was located Fort Willlam, Fort John, Fort Platte, and at
a short distance Fort Laramfie.

The American beaver (Castor Canadensis) is a small animal, of very
striking appearance and of amphibious habits. He is never found
except near watercourses, and only near those which are lined with
trees or shrubs. As with the whole animal kingdom, his peculiar
methods of life are directed to the objects of subsistence, protection,
and shelter. This animal, with his family, lives in lodges which are
buflt on or near the shore, and the living-room 18 in the attic above the
water, but with a submerged entrance, opening out into the stream.
In very small streams where the water {8 very shallow and not
sufficient to conceal the entrance, or protect it from the ice in winter,
this intelligent little animal builds his dam in order to increase the
depth of the water. This part of his domestic economy makes the
beaver an unique creature in the animal world. It i{s the wonder of
engineers how it is possible for him to accomplish what he does. It
is true, the dams are never high, only two or three feet, and much
oftener less, but even for that height it is astonishing how such
structures can withstand the pressure against them, for they are
nothing but masses of sticks piled together in all directions and
plastered with mud. They are very effective, however, and nature
soon strengthens them by causing shrubbery to grow upon them until
finally they are s0 firmly interwoven with roots that they resist the
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preparations for trapping. Accordingly the company was
divided into parties of from 15 to 20 men in each party,
with their respective captains placed over them — and di-
rected by Captain Gant in what direction to go. Captain
Washburn ascended the Timber Fork; Capt. Stephens

greatest noods. Moreover, the beaver believes in maintaining what
he has built, and so he goes over his work, making, late in the season
when the family is ready to house themselves for the winter, regular
annual repairs, both upon the dam and his lodge. The wonderful cut-
ting of the trees by the beaver has a threefold purpose —
the construction of the dam, the building of his house, and
a food supply. The diet of this animal {s entirely vegetable, partic-
ularly the bark of trees, young shoots, and the like. A large supply
of sticks is gathered in the fall, sufficlent for his use in winter. As
the bark is gnawed from these during the winter they are carried out
of the lodge and thrown either upon the dam for use in reinforcing it
or into the stream below, which carries them away.

The beaver i8 often given more credit for sagacity in felling trees
than he deserves. One has but to examine his work to see that he has
comparatively little idea of the art as a successful woodsman practices
it. He gnaws around the entire circumference of a tree, which would,
if standing perfectly straight, have no influence whatever In
directing its fall. As a matter of fact almost all trees along streams
lean more or less over the stream, and naturally fall in that
direction. The beaver shows no natural instinct in this unless it be
in the matter of selecting those trees that have a decided inclination
from the vertical and in the direction in which he wishes them to fall.

With that wonderful adaptation which nature shows in all her
works, the anatomical make-up of the beaver is admirably suited to
his mode of life. For cutting wood he has four powerful incisor teeth,
two in each jaw, deeply planted, and curved in shape, the upper ones
being sumething more than a semicircle, and the lower ones something
less. The powerful muscles of the jaw enable him to do this work,
while extraordinary salivary glands provide the means for digesting
his pecullarly dry and hard food. The tall, llke a powerful sculling
oar, makes him a very successful and expert navigator, while it
enables him, with the further ald of his peculiarly shaped hind legs,
to sit bolt upright when engaged in the work of tree cutting.

As beaver fur was the great staple of the fur-trade, and widely
sought after, trappers became very expert in their knowledge of the
habits of the industrious little animal and the best methods of captur-
ing him. They could at once tell, from the appearance of the lodge,
the probable number of inmates and where they could most success-
fully entrap them. The universal mode of taking the beaver was with
the steel trap, in the use of which long experience had taught the
hunters great skill. The trap is very strong, weighing about five
pounds, and was valued during the fur-trade period at twelve to
sixteen dollars. The chain attached to the trap is about flve feet
long, with a swivel near the end to keep it from kinking. The trapper,
in setting the trap, wades into the stream, so that his tracks may not
be apparent, plants his trap in three or four inches of water a little
way from the bank, and fastens the chain to a strong stick, which he
drives into the bed of the stream at the full chain length from the
trap. Immediately over the trap a little twig is set so that one end
shall be about four inches above the surface of the water. On this
is put a peculiar bait, suprlled by the animal itself, castor, castorum,
or musk, the odor of which has a great attraction for the beaver.
To reach the bait he raises his mouth toward it and in this act brings
his feet directly under it; in this manner he treads upon the trap,
springs it, and {8 caught. In his fright he seeks concealment by his

5
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the Laramies; Capt. Gant the Sweet Water — all of which
empty into the river Platte near the same place. Each

usual method of diving Into deep water, but finds himself held by the
chain which he cannot gnaw in two, and after an ineffectual struggle,
he sinks to the bottom and is drowned. Not infrequently he wrests
the chain from the stake, drags the trap to deeper water before he
succumbs, or, taking it to the shore becomes entangled in the under-
growth. In such instances he causes the trapper a great deal of
trouble and annoyance, particularly if he is compelled to wade deep
streams in very cold weather.

Generally the beaver skin was removed near the place of capture,
and only the skin, tail, and castorum glands were taken to the camp.
Here other persons than the trapper attended to the work of
cleaning, dressing, curing, and properly marking the skins. On an
average It took about eighty skins to make up a pack of one hundred
pounds, the value of which was from three to five hundred dollars In
the mountains. The packs were prepared with the utmost care, the
choice skins being placed on the inside. The great value of this
property caused it to be guarded with much care and caution, as a
single Indian could carry away, unaided, the rich return of a whole
year's hard toil.

The flesh of the beaver, except the tail, was not as a rule used as
food unless there was a great scarcity of other meat or supplies. The
tail has always been considered one of the richest delicacies which the
mountains afford, being more highly esteemed by the mountain-men
than the most prized parts of the buffalo. Another article much
sought after which had a commercial value is secreted by two small
glands in the body, and was known in the mountains as castorum,
and In commerce as castor. In the mountains it had a value of about
three dousars per pound. It was used chiefly as beaver bait, and thus
this harmless little animal innocently furnished the means for alluring
to destruction his companions.

The extensive use of beaver fur in the early years of the nine-
teenth century caused an immense exportation from America to
Europe, reaching as high as 200,000 skins annually. This great drain
led to the rapid extermination of this little animal. It so happened,
however, that at the time when this process had begun to show its
effects, an unfavorable change came over the beaver market of
Europe which helped to counteract it. 8ilk largely supplanted the use
of beaver fur in the manufacture of hats, while other kinds of fur
took its place in other uses. John Jacob Astor who amassed an
immense fortune largely through the fur-trade and who was really
the American Fur Company, in a letter to Plerre Chouteau, Jr.,
comments on this use of silk, and the injury which might result to
the fur-trade; this might have had some influence on his withdrawing
from the trade about this time. The price fell so that trapping was
no longer profitable, and nature, responding to the relief thus pro-
duced, began to recuperate her forces. In later years, although the
price of beaver did not fully recover, {ts exportation began
to Increase, until it finally very nearly reached {ts former
magnitude. The beaver fur is one of the finest which nature produces,
and was in fact the currency of the Rocky Mountains in the fur-
trading days. The average price was about four dollars per pound,
and as the timid little animal was covered with from one to two
pounds, the premium for his destruction was from four to ten dollars,
depending on the market.

The streams of the West swarmed with the beaver, as did the
plains with the buffalo; both furnished the trader and trapper with
wealth, scarcely less great than do now the gold and silver mines of
the great states of Colorado and Wyoming, which lay under their very
feet and of which they never dreamed. Had the gold-producing pelts
from the streams as well as from the plains, been gathered with some
regard to renewing by natural increase those removed, these two
speeles might not be so nearly extinct as they are at the present time.



LEONARD’S NARRATIVE 67

of these companies were directed to ascend these rivers
until they found Beaver sufficiently plenty for trapping, or
till the snow and cold weather compelled them to stop;
at which event they were to return to the mouth of
the Laramies river, to pass the winter together. While
at this place, engaged in secreting our merchandize, which
we did by digging a hole in the ground, sufficiently large
to contain them, and covering them over so that the
Indians might not discover them*—four men (three whites
and one Indian) came to our tent. This astonished us not
a little, for a white man was the last of living beings that
we expected to visit us in this vast wilderness — where
nothing was heard from dark to day light but the fierce
and terrifying growls of wild beasts, and the more shrill
cries of the merciless savages. The principal of these men
was a Mr. Fitzpatrick,4 who had been engaged in trapping
along the Columbia river, on the west side of the Rocky
mountains, & was then on his way to St. Louis. He
was an old hand at the business and we expected to obtain
some useful information from him, but we were disap-
pointed. The selfishness of man is often disgraceful to
human nature ; and I never saw more striking evidence of
this fact, than was presented in the conduct of this man
Fitzpatrick. Notwithstanding we had treated him with

*This was a very common method of concealing goods and is
known as a *‘cache’” (a French word handed down from the early Ca-
Sovation where the soilla dry. "The pit ts lned with leaves and aticks
and the goods are deposited. All, but especially the most perishable,
are protected with the utmost care, the next great object befng to con-
e 500 vory carerully and throwing the soll to. the Goar-by strea, of

by building the camp-fire over it, or having the animals tramp over
it. In this manner all signs of it are obliterated.

tLeonard is in error as to the movements of Fitzpatrick at this
time. According to his statement he left the west side of the moun-
tains where he had been trapping on the Columbia or Snake River to
make the journey to St. Louis, and/ arrived at the mouth of the
Laramie River about the 3rd of September, 1831, where Captain Black-
well joined him and they continued their journey to St. uis. Here
hedremalned until the following year, gathering together an outfit
and men.
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great friendship and hospitality, merely because we were
to engage in the same business with him, which he knew
we never could exhaust or even impair — he refused to
give us any information whatever, and appeared disposed
to treat us as intruders. On the 3d of September, Captain

On July 1st, 1832, according to Leonard, Fitzpatrick again appears
at the mouth of the Laramie on his return from 8t. Louis, with 116
men and supplies, where Leonard's company of Gant’s men join him,
and they continue on to the rendezvous of 1832 at Pierre's Hole.

Leonard is greatly in error as to the above; we fortunately have
thef eﬁact movements of Fitspatrick during this period, which were
as follows:

After Fitzpatrick and his partners purchased the interest of
8mith, Sublette and Jackson in the Rocky Mountain Fur Company,
in August, 1830, Fitzx;latrlck and two partners with 200 men mov:
north through the Bighorn valley, crossed the Yellowstone River to the
Great Falls of the Missouri, thence to the three forks, and following
up the Jefferson branch to the divide, came to Ogden's Hole near
Great Salt Lake. They then crossed the country in a northeast
direction to the Powder River valley before winter set in (1830-31). In
the spﬂnf of 1831 they set out again for the Blackfeet country, but
about this time Fitzpatrick, with one companion, started for St.
Louis overland, and passed Council Blufts April 19, 1831. As Leonard
left 8t. Louis April 24th of the same year, Fitgpatrick must have
arrived there about the time the latter was leaving on his journey
to the Laramie River. While Fitzpatrick was at the latter place
he was prevailed upon by 8mith, S8ublette, and Jackson to accompany
them to Santa Fé and take his outfit from this point to the moun-
tains. It was on this expedition that Smith lost his life, and while
Leonard was on his journey to the mouth of the Laramie, Fits-

atrick was on his way to Santa Fé. After much delay at the
atter place, Fitzpatrick started north along the eastern base of the
Rocky Mountains, and arrived at the mouth of the Laramie about
the close of the year 1831 (much later than September 3rd, as stated
by Leonard). Owing to Fitzpatrick's delay, Fraeb was sent in search
of him, and found him shortly after he reached the Platte River,
when they at once bent their course towards the Powder River
country, as elsewhere stated. In order to avoid the American
Company, he quleuﬁ stole out of the country, and went to the
forks of the Snake River where he spent the winter of 1831-32 with
the Nez Percés and Flatheads.

In the spring of 1832, Fitzpatrick and his partners set out on
their spring hunt in the Snake River valley, then to the Salt River
country after which they crossed over to the John Grey River, thence
to Bear River valley; here they again find the representatives of
the American Fur Company, and after the spring hunt assemble at
the rendezvous in the valley of Plerre's Hole. Here again Vander-
burgh and Drips of the American Fur Company made their appear-
ance.

Willlam L. Sublette had the contract this year to furnish the
annual supplies to the Rocky Mountain Fur Company, and it became
necessary that they should arrive before those of the American Fur
Company. It was therefore decided that Fitzpatrick should go to
meet Sublette and hurry him forward. Fitzpatrick was a very active
man; he set out at once and met the caravan on the Platte River
below the mouth of the Laramie. He thus again passes this im-
portant point, and in returning with the outfit, reaches the mouth
of this river again on June 13th, when he picks up the company of
Gant’'s men of which Leonard was one, and states they had experienc-
ed an unfortunate trapping season. After leaving this point, Fitzpat-
rick met with the thrilling adventure as related by Leonard, and in the
course of time they all arrived at the rendezvous of Pierre's Hole.
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Blackwell, with two others, joined Fitzpatrick, and started
back to the state of Missouri, for an additional supply of
merchandise, and were to return in the summer of 1832.

I was one of 21 that composed the company under
the command of Capt. A. K. Stephens, a man well cal-
culated to pilot or manage in case of difficulty with the
Indians. He received a portion of the profits arising from
the merchandize, say $2 per pound for Coffee, and the
same for Tea, Shugar, Lead, Powder, Tobacco, Allspice,
Pepper, &c., and for every yard of coarse cloth $10, and for
fine cloth $20; this, however, is governed entirely by their
value with the Indians. For twenty or thirty loads of
powder you can generally get from eight to twelve dollars
worth of fur.

On the 4th of September, having every thing in
readiness, after shaking hands all around, we separated,
each party to meander the rivers that had been respec-
tively allotted to them, with the intention, if nothing
happened them, of re-assembling in the latter part of
December, to spend the winter together.

Mr. Stephen’s party commenced their tour up the
Laramies river and continued several days without any
important occurrence. Found the prairies or plains in this
direction very extensive — unobstructed with timber or
brush — handsomely situated, with here and there a small
creek passing through them, and in some places literally
covered with game, such as Buffaloe, White and Black
tailed Deer, Grizzly, Red, and White Bear, Elk, Prairie
Dog, wild Goat, Big horned mountain Sheep, Antelope,
&c.

On the 20th of Sept. we stopped on the bank
of a small creek, to let our horses graze, at the junc-
tion of which we seen signs of beaver. Two hunters
were sent up this stream with their traps and guns
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on search of beaver, who, if they should be successful
in finding game, were not to return until the next
day — the main body of the company to move on slowly.
After travelling several miles, & hearing nothing of our
hunters, we deemed it advisable to encamp for the night,
which we did. About midnight we were alarmed by the re-
port of two rifles. Supposing it to be hostile Indians, we put
ourselves in an attitude of defence, as soon as possible by
throwing up a fort of logs and brush, and keeping up
sentinels until morning. On the next morning, about sun
rise the two hunters came in, and informed us that it was
the report of their guns that had alarmed us, as they had
fired them off near the spot where they had expected to
find the camp, with the hope of receiving some signal.
They had meandered the creek till they came to beaver
dams, where they set their traps and turned their horses
out to pasture; and were busily engaged in constructing a
camp to pass the night in, when they discovered, at a short
distance off, a tremendous large Grizzly Bear, rushing upon
them at a furious rate. — They immediately sprang to their
rifles which were standing against a tree hard-by, one of
which was single and the other double triggered; unfor-
tunately in the hurry, the one that was accustomed to the
single trigger, caught up the double triggered gun, and
when the bear came upon him, not having set the trigger,
he could not get his gun off; and the animal approaching
within a few feet of him, he was obliged to commence beat-
ing it over the head with his gun. Bruin, thinking this
rather rough usage, turned his attention to the man with
the single triggered gun, who, in trying to set the trigger
(supposing he had the double triggered gun) had fired it
off, and was also obliged to fall to beating the ferocious
animal with his gun; finally, it left them without doing
much injury, except tearing the sleeve off one of their
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coats and biting him through the hand. Four men were
immediately despatched for the traps, who returned in the
evening with seven or eight beaver. The Grizzly Bear is
the most ferocious animal that inhabits these prairies, and
are very numerous. They no sooner see you than they
will make at you with open mouth. If you stand still, they
will come within two or three yards of you, and
stand upon their hind feet, and look you in the face, if you
have fortitude enough to face them, they will turn and
run off ; but if you turn they will most assuredly tear you
to pieces; furnishing strong proof of the fact, that no wild
beast, however daring and ferocious, unless wounded, will
attack the face of man.

On the morning of the 22d Sept. we again renewed
our tour travelling at the rate of 8 or 10 miles
a day ; catching a few Beaver, as we passed along — noth-
ing strange occurring until the 3oth, when we arrived at the
foot of a great mountain, through which the Lar-
amies passes. We attempted to follow the river through
the mountain, but we soon found this to be impossible, as
the bluffs of huge rocks projecting several hundred feet
high, closed it to the very current. We then turned down
the side of the mountain, on search of a place to cross it.
On the 1st day of Oct. we came to a Buffaloe trail
crossing the mountain, and after ascending to near the
summit, we encamped for the night. About midnight it
commenced snowing, and continued to fall so fast that we
were obliged to remain there until the morning of the 4th,
when we again renewed our journey, and in the evening
we arrived in the valley on the North or West side of the
mountain. Here, finding no snow & Beaver signs plenty,
we deemed it advisable to remain a few days for the pur-
pose of trapping, and the first night we caught 20 Beaver.
We remained here until the 12th, when we proceeded eight
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or ten miles further up the South fork of the river, and
again encamped for the purpose of trapping. On the 18th,
finding Beaver getting rather scarce, we proceeded a few
miles further up the valley, and encamped again.

This valley is supposed to be 70 or 80 miles long, and
from 10 to 15 miles wide; and is enclosed on the one side
by the main chain of the Rocky Mountains, and on the
other by great Piney Hills, running out from the main
body of the mountain, with the river Laramies passing
through the centre of it, the banks of which are covered
with timber, from } to 4 a mile wide. Out side of this
timber, the plain is completely smooth; and on a clear
morning, by taking a view with a spyglass, you can see the
different kinds of game that inhabit these plains, such as
Buffaloe, Bear, Deer, Elk, Antelope, Bighorn, Wolves, &c.
These plains are poor, sandy and level — the grass thin and
short.

Oct. 22d. The nights getting somewhat cold, and
snow falling more or less every day, we began to make
preparations to return to our winter quarters, at the mouth
of Laramies river; and on the 25th commenced our tour
down the river. On the 28th we arrived at the moun-
tain, that we crossed going up, but found it impossible,
owing to the enormous depth of the snow to pass over it.
On the morning of the 30th we started a number of men
up and down the valley, on search of a place to cross the
mountain, who returned the next day and reported that
they had found no passing place over the mountain; when
under these circumstances a majority of the company de-
cided in favor of encamping in this valley for the winter,
and when the ice melted out of the river, in the spring,
commence trapping until such times as the snow melted off
the mountain; when we would return to the mouth of the
river, where we had secreted our goods.
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On the 1st day of November we commenced trav-
elling up the valley, on search of a suitable place to
pass the winter, and on the evening of the 4th, we arrived
at a large grove of Cottonwood timber, which we deemed
suitable for encamping in. — Several weeks were spent in
building houses, stables, &c. necessary for ourselves, and
horses during the winter season. — This being done, we
commenced killing Buffaloe, and hanging up the choice
pieces to dry, so that if they should leave the valley
we would have a sufficient quantity of meat to last
us until spring. We also killed Deer, Bighorn Sheep,
Elk, Antelope, &c., and dressed the hides to make
moccasins.

About the 1st of December finding our horses get-
ting very poor, we thought it necessary to commence
feeding them on Cottonwood bark ; for which purpose each
man turned out and pealed and collected a quantity of this
bark, from the grove in which we were encamped for his
horses; but to our utter surprise and discomfiture, on
presenting it to them they would not eat it, and upon
examining it by tasting, we found it to be the bitter,
instead of the sweet Cottonwood. Immediately upon find-
ing we were deceived, men were despatched up and down
the valley, on search of Sweet Cottonwood, but re-
turned without success. Several weeks were spent in
fruitless exertion to obtain feed for our horses; finally we
were compelled to give it up, and agreed that our horses
must all starve to death. The great depth of the snow,
and the extreme coldness of the weather, soon prevented
our horses from getting any thing to subsist upon, & they
commenced dying. It seldom happened during all our
difficulties, that my sympathies were more sensibly touched,
than on viewing these starving creatures. I would will-
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ingly have divided my provision with my horses, if they
would have eat it.

On new-yearsday, notwithstanding our horses were
nearly all dead, as being fully satisfied that the few that
were yet living must die soon, we concluded to have a
feast in our best style; for which purpose we made prep-
aration by sending out four of our best hunters, to get
a choice piece of meat for the occasion. These men killed
ten Buffaloe, from which they selected one of the fattest
humps they could find and brought in, and after roasting
it handsomely before the fire, we all seated ourselves upon
the ground, encircling, what we there called a splendid
repast to dine upon. Feasting sumptuously, cracking a
few jokes, taking a few rounds with our rifles, and wishing
heartily for some liquor, having none at that place we
spent the day.

The glorious 8th* arrived, the recollection of the
achievements of which, are calculated to gladden the
hearts of the American people; but it was not so glorious
tous. We found our horses on that day, like Packenham’s
forces, well nigh defunct. Here we were in this valley,
surrounded on either side by insurmountable barriers of
snow, with all our merchandize and nothing to pack it
upon, but two mules — all the rest of our horses being
dead. For ourselves we had plenty to eat, and were grow-
ing fat and uneasy;—but how we were to extricate our-
selves from this perilous situation, was a question of deep
and absorbing interest to each individual. About the 10th
we held a consultation, to decide what measures should
be taken for our relief. Mr. Stephens, our pilot, having
been at Santafee,4 in New Mexico, some 8 or 10 years

*This was the anniversary of the battle of New Orleans.

t+Probably with the caravan of 1824 which left Franklin, Missouri,
May 15. Mr. Marmaduke, afterwards governor of Missouri, and
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previous, informed the company that horses in that place,
were very cheap; and that he was of the opinion he could
take them to it, if they saw proper to follow him. It was
finally agreed upon by the company, that a part of them
should start for Santafee; but not, however, without a
good deal of confusion; as many were of the opinion that
the snow on the mountain in the direction of Santafee,
would be found to be as insurmountable, as in the direction
of their merchandize, and also that the distance was too
great to attempt to travel on foot, at that season of the
year. It appearing from the maps to be little short of 800
miles.

On the morning of the 14th, finding every thing in
readiness for our Santafee trip, we set out, each man with
his bedding, rifle and nine Beaver skins, packed upon his
back ; leaving four men only to take care of our merchan-
dize, and the two mules. The beaver skins we took for the
purpose of trading to the inhabitants of Santafee for horses,
mules, &c. We appointed from the middle of April till
the middle of may, as our time for returning; and if we did
not return within that time, our four men were to wait
no longer, but return to the mouth of the Laramies river,
to meet the rest of the company. We continued in the
direction of Santafee, without any extraordinary occur-
rence, for several days — found game plenty and but little
snow, until we arrived at the foot of a great mountain,
which appeared to be totally covered with snow. Here
we thought it advisable to kill and jirk some buffaloe
meat, to eat while crossing this mountain, after which we
continued our course; finding much difficulty in travel-
ling, owing to the stormy weather & deep snow —so
Augustus Storrs who was the following year sent"to Santa Fé as the

ﬂrr:; consul, were with the expedition. They made a very successful
e.
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much so indeed, that had it not been for a path made by
the buffaloe bulls it would have been impossible to travel.

The channel of the river where it passed through these
mountains is quite narrow in places and the banks very
steep. In such places the beaver build their dams from
bank to bank; and when they become old the beaver leave
them and they break and overflow the ground, which then
produces a kind of flag grass. In the fall of the year, the
Buffaloe collect in such places to eat this grass, and when
the snow falls too deep they retreat to the plains; and
it was in these trails that we ascended the mountain.

We still continued our course along this buffaloe path,
which led us to the top of the mountain ; nothing occurring
more than it continued to snow day and night. On the 25th
we arrived on the top of the mountain, and wishing to take
a view of the country, if it should cease snowing. In the
morning it still continued to snow so rapidly that we were
obliged to remain in camp all day, and about the middle of
the day, we eat the last of our jirk, and that evening we
were obliged to go to bed supperless.

On the 29th it still continued to snow, and having
nothing to eat, we thought it high time to be making some
move, for our preservation, or we must perish in this lonely
wilderness. The question then arose, shall we return to
the valley from whence we came, or continue in the direc-
tion of Santafee. This question caused considerable dis-
turbance. Those who were in favor of going ahead, argued
that it was too far back to game — that it would be impos-
sible to return before starving to death; while those who
were for returning contended that it was the highth of
imprudence, to proceed in the direction of Santafee. Ac-
cordingly we made preparations, and started. We travelled
across the summit of the mountain, where we found a
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plain about a mile wide, which with great difficulty, owing
to the fierceness of the wind, we succeeded in crossing;
but when we attempted to go into the timber, on the
opposite side from the mountain, we found it impossible,
in consequence of the depth of the snow, and were obliged
to turn back and re-cross the plain. As we returned by the
fire we had made going over the plain the first time, we
halted for the purpose of mutually deciding what to do;
when it was determined by the company, that we would,
if possible, return to our four men & two mules. We
then started on search of the buffaloe path which we had
followed to the top of the mountain; but owing to the
strong wind, that had blew for several days, and the in-
creased depth of the snow, it was invisible. We then
attempted to travel in the snow without the path, but we
found this equally as impossible, as in the direction of
Santafee.

Here we were, in a desolate wilderness, uninhabited
(at that season of the year) by even the hardy savage or
wild beast — surrounded on either side by huge moun-
tains of snow, without one mouthful to eat, save a few
beaver skins — our eyes almost destroyed by the piercing
wind, and our bodies at times almost buried by the flakes
of snow which were driven before it. Oh! how heartily I
wished myself at home; but wishing, in such a case ap-
peared useless — action alone could save us. We had not
even leather to make snow shoes, but as good fortune
would have it, some of the men had the front part of their
pantaloons lined with deer skin, and others had great coats
of different kinds of skin, which we collected together to
make snow shoes of. This appeared to present to us the
only means of escape from starvation and death. After
gathering up every thing of leather kind that could be
found, we got to making snow shoes, and by morning each
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man was furnished with a pair. But what were we to
subsist upon while crossing the mountain, was a painful
question that agitated every bosom, and employed every
tongue in company. Provision, we had none, of any de-
scription ; having eaten every thing we had that could be
eat with the exception of a few beaver skins, and, after
having fasted several days, to attempt to travel the dis-
tance of the valley, without any thing to eat, appeared
almost worse than useless. Thinking, however, that we
might as well perish one place as another, and that it was
the best to make an exertion to save ourselves; and after
each man had selected two of the best beaver skins to eat as
he travelled along, we hung the remainder upon a tree,
and started to try our fortune with the snow shoes. Owing
to the softness of the snow, and the poor construction
of our snow shoes, we soon found this to be a difficult
and laborious mode of travelling. The first day after we
started with our snow shoes we travelled but three or four
miles and encamped for the night, which, for want of a
good fire, we passed in the most distressing manner.
Wood was plenty but we were unable to get it, and it kept
one or two of the men busy to keep what little fire we
had from going out as it melted the snow and sunk down.
On the morning (3oth Jan.) after roasting and eating some
of our beaver skins, we continued our journey through the
snow. In this way we continued to travel until the first
day of February, in the afternoon, when we came to where
the crust on the snow was sufficiently strong to carry us.
Here we could travel somewhat faster, but at the best not
much faster than a man could crawl on his hands and feet,
as some of the men from hunger and cold were almost
insensible of their situation, and so weak that they could
scarcely stand on their feet, much less walk at speed. As
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we approached the foot of the mountain the snow became
softer and would not carry us. This caused the most
resolute despair, as it was obviously impossible, owing to
extreme weakness, for us to wade much further through
the snow. As we moved down the mountain plunging
and falling through the snow, we approached a large spruce
or cedar tree, the drooping branches of which had pre-
vented the snow from falling to the ground about its trunk
—here we halted to rest. While collected under the shel-
tering bows of this tree, viewing, with horrified feelings,
the wayworn, and despairing countenances of each other, a
Mr. Carter, a Virginian, who was probably the nighest
exhausted of any of the company, burst into tears and
said, “here I must die.” This made a great impression
upon the remainder of the company, and they all, with the
exception of a Mr. Hockday and myself, despaired of going
any further. Mr. Hockday, however, after some persua-
sion, telling them that if they had strength to follow us we
would break the road as far as possible, if not out to the
valley, succeeded in getting them started once more.— Mr.
Hockday was a large muscular man, as hardy as a mule
and as resolute as a lion; yet kind and affectionate. He
was then decidedly the stoutest man in the company, and
myself, probably, the next stoutest. As for our Captain,
Mr. Stephens, he was amongst the weakest of the com-
pany.

We resumed our journey, and continued to crawl along
through the deep snow slowly till the evening of the fourth,
when we arrived in the plain at the foot of the moun-
tain. Here we found the snow so shallow that we could
dispense with the use of our snow shoes; and while in the
act of taking them off some of the men discovered, at the
distance of 7o or 80 vards; two animals feeding in the brush,
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which they supposed to be buffaloe, but from blindness,
caused by weakness and pine smoke, could not be positive.
Mr. Hockday and I were selected to approach and kill one
of the animals without regard to what they might prove to
be, while the remainder of the company were to go to a
neighboring grove of timber and kindle a fire. Having
used our guns as walking canes in the snow, we found them
much out of order, and were obliged to draw out the old
loads and put in new ones, before attempting to shoot.
After taking every precaution we deemed necessary to
insure success, we started and crawled along on our hands
and knees, until we approached within ten or fifteen steps
of the animals, when Mr. Hockday prepared to shoot; but
upon finding that he could not see the sight of the gun or
hold it at arms length, forbore, and proposed to me to
shoot. I accordingly fixed myself and pulled trigger. My
gun missed fire! I never was so wrecked with agitation as
at that moment. ‘“There,” said I, “our game is gone, and
we are not able to follow it much further;” but as good
fortune had it, the Buffaloe, (for such we had discovered
them to be,) did not see nor smell us, and after raising their
heads out of the snow, and looking around for a few mo-
ments for the cause of the noise, again commenced feeding.
I then picked the flint of my gun, fired and broke the back
of one of the Buffaloe, my ball not taking effect within 18
inches of where I thought I aimed.—The men in the grove
of timber, on hearing the report of my rifle came stag-
gering forth to learn the result, and when they received
the heart-cheering intelligence of success they raised a
shout of joy. It was amusing to witness the conduct of
some of the men on this occasion. Before we had caught
the buffaloe they appeared scarcely able to speak — but a
moment after that, were able to hollow like Indians at war.
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I will not describe the scene that followed here — the
reader may imagine it — an account of it would be repul-
sive and offensive rather than agreeable. This was the
ninth day since we had eaten any thing but dried beaver
skins. We remained at this place four days feasting upon
the carcass of this Buffaloe, during which time we recruited
considerably in strength and spirits, and on the 8th we
resumed our journey down the river in search of our four
men and two mules, and soon landed in the valley where
game was plenty, and but little snow to obstruct our march.
We continued our journey, killing plenty of game and living
well, without any strange occurrence until the 14th, when
we halted within a short distance of our old camp, and sent
two or three of our worst looking men ahead to see
whether they would be recognized by the four men. They
were not known immediately on arriving at the camp, but
no sooner engaged in conversation than they were recog-
nized by the four men, and heartily welcomed back.*

Here we remained at our old station until the 14th of
March, during which period, having plenty of good buffa-
loe meat to eat, we regained our usual health and appear-
ance. Anxious to be doing something, eight of us made
preparations to start again to Santefee for horses. We
were to travel south, along the foot of the mountain till
we came to a certain river which heads in the mountain
near where we had hung the beaver skins on the pine tree;
after finding this river we were to commence trapping, and
also to endeavor to get the beaver fur off the mountain
into the valley. The balance of the company, 13 in num-
ber, were to remain at the camp and secrete the merchan-
dize, and then follow us to this river, where we were to

*They had been following up the Laramie River, which flows
from the southwest and led them directly Into the mountains. This

would have been an extremely hazardous journey at this season.
(]
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meet ; and if we had succeeded in getting the beaver skins
off the mountain, we were to join together and proceed
in the direction of Santefee. With this understanding we
started, and pursued our course slowly along the base of
the mountain — found game plenty — met with no obstacle
to impede our march, and on the 2oth we arrived on the
bank of the river. After remaining here a few days the
ice melted out of the creeks and we commenced and con-
tinued to trap for beaver until the 28th during which time
we caught a fine quantity of fur, and built ourselves a wig-
wam after the Indian fashion.* The weather continuing
warm and pleasant, and having a large quantity of dried
meat on hand we concluded to hide our traps, beaver skins,
baggage, &c., in our wigwam and pack a portion of the
jirked meat on our backs and make an effort to get the
beaver skins off the pine tree where we had left them in
January. We started, and after travelling up the river
along the side of the mountain for two or three days, we
came in contact with huge mountains of snow and insur-
mountable icebergs, and were compelled to abandon our
course & return back again to the plain. When we had
arrived within a short distance of our wigwam, on our
return, we discovered several trails of moccasin tracks

*The custom with the trapper was to make a spring and fall hunt.
Most of the beaver, as well as other fur-bearing animals, were taken
during these two seasons. In the summer the fur was not in good
condlition, and the trapper during this time of inactivity made his
annual visit to the rendezvous, or some trading-post, in order to settle
his accounts for the year, and to get such additional supplies as he
might need, when he again returned to his field of operations for the
fall season. The winters were usually too severe for him to follow
his vocation, the traveling extremely difficult and dangerous, while
the streams were mostly frozen over and the beaver hibernating in
their lodges. During this period the trapper was driven into winter
quarters, which he selected in some comfortable locality well sheltered
and safe; here he passed the winter season entirely alone or if possible
he had a companion with him. It was extremely lonesome and very
trying to the hunter, who could find very little to do whereby to while
away the long and lonely winter nights. It is a well-known fact
among trappers, that a severe winter adds much to the quality of the
furs, and those taken in the spring are better than those taken in
the fall season.
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in the snow. Some of the company became somewhat
alarmed at these signs, supposing them to be the trails
of hostile Indians — others appeared rejoiced, and said
it was the remainder of our company. — The dispute
was soon decided, for on arriving at our wigwam, we
found it completely robbed of every thing we had left
in it — traps, blankets, beaver skins and other utensils
were all gone — nothing remained but the naked frame
of the little hut— We had now nothing left to sleep
on save one old blanket for each man which we had
with us on the mountain, and had lost nearly all our
traps. Under these highly aggravating circumstances
some of the men became desperate, declared they would
retake their property or die in the attempt. For my part,
I viewed the matter calmly and seriously and determined
to abide the dictates of prudence only. Seeing from the
trail of the Indians that they were not very numerous,
and had a number of horses with them, we determined,
after some controversy, to rob them of their horses, or
other property commensurate to our loss. Accordingly
we made preparations for our perilous adventure — we eat
supper, prepared our fire arms, and a little after dark set
out on search of the enemy — the night was calm and clear.
We traversed the valley up and down for several hours
without making any discoveries; we then ascended an ad-
jacent hill, from the summit of which we discovered at a
considerable distance a number of dim fires. A contro-
versy here arose amongst the men as to the expediency of
attacking the Indians. It was finally decided, however, by
a majority of the company ; that we should attack them at
all hazards. We started in the direction of the fires, and
after travelling some distance, and having lost sight of the
fires, some of the men again became discouraged, and
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strongly urged the propriety of abandoning the project;
but on calling a vote a majority again decided in favor of
attacking the Indians and in a few minutes after we arrived
on the top of a hill, within 50 or 60 yards of the enemy’s
camp. Here we halted for the purpose of reconnoitering.
At this time the moon was just rising above the summit of
the mountain, and casting its glimmering rays o’er the
valley beneath, but did not shine on the Indian camp. —
There were five fires, and the Indians appearing more nu-
merous than we had expected to find them, we thought it
advisable to be as careful and judicious about attacking
them as possible. At the foot of this hill, near a large rock,
we left our hats, coats and every thing that was unnecessary
in action — we also designated this as a point of meeting,
in case we should get separated in the skirmish; and had
an understanding that but two should fire at a time, and
that Capt. Stephens was to command. Mr. Hockday and
I were selected to shoot first. We then started & crawled
silently along on our hands and knees until we got within
eight or ten steps of one of the fires, where we laid down
in the brush, with our heads close together to consult as to
the most proper mode of surprising the savages, whose
dusky forms were then extended in sleep around the dying
embers. While in this position, some eager for the con-
flict, others trembling with fear, a large dog rose from
one of the fires and commenced growling and barking in
the most terrifying manner. The spell of silence was now
broken, and an immediate and final skirmish with our
enemy rendered unavoidable. Thinking ourselves rather
too much exposed to the fire of the Indians we retreated
fifteen or twenty steps down the bank. Some of the
Indians then came to the top of the bank and commenced
shooting arrows at us, and yelling at the extent of their
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lungs. At this moment Mr. Stephens was heard to say in
a firm tone “now is the time my boys, we must fight or
die;” upon this Mr. Hockday and I fired; one of the
Indians on the bank was seen to fall, and the remainder
ran back to the camp. On hearing the report of our
rifles the Indians, to the number of two or three hundred,
rose out of the bushes and literally covered the plain, while
their terrific war whoop — mingled with an occasional
crack of a rifle, rendered the aspect of things more threat-
ening than the most timid had before anticipated. We
ran to our appointed place to meet, but before we had time
to gather our baggage, we found ourselves completely
surrounded and hemmed in on every side by the savages.
Finding that we could not escape by flight, but must fight,
we ran to the top of the hill, and having sheltered ourselves
as well as we could amongst the rocks, commenced yelling
and firing in turn, (velling is a very essential point in Indian
warfare.) This scene was kept up for near an hour with-
out any damage to our company, and as we supposed, but
little injury to the Indians.* The savages seeing we were
determined to defend ourselves to the last gave way on the
opposite side of the hill from their camp, and we made our
escape out of their circle, and were glad to get away with
our lives, without any of our property or that of the
Indians. The scenes of this night will ever be indelibly
impressed upon my memory.4

After travelling five or six miles we came to a deep
ravine or hollow — we carefully descended the precipice
to the flat below, where we encamped for the night; but
from fright, fatigue, cold and hunger, I could not sleep,

*We are unable to say what tribe these Indians belonged to—
they were probably the Aricaras, or possibly the Arapahoes or Utes.

+This engagement no doubt occurred near where the Laramie
River crosses the Colorado-Wyoming line, not far from the town of
Laramie, Wyoming.
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and lay contemplating on the striking contrast between a
night in the villages of Pennsylvania and one on the Rocky
Mountains. In the latter, the plough-boy’s whistle, the gam-
bols of the children on the green, the lowing of the herds,
and the deep tones of the evening bell, are unheard; not a
sound strikes upon the ear, except perchance the distant
howling of some wild beast, or war-whoop of the unculti-
vated savage—all was silent on this occasion save the mut-
tering of a small brook as it wound its way through the
deep cavities of the gulph down the mountain, and the
gentle whispering of the breeze, as it crept through the
dark pine or cedar forest, and sighed in melancholy
accents; nor is it the retiring of the “god of day” to his
couch in the western horizon that brings on this desolate
scene — his rising in the east does not change the gloomy
aspect — night and day are nearly the same in this respect.

About midnight we were alarmed by a shrill whistle on
the rocks above, & supposing it to be the Indians in pur-
suit of us we seized our guns and ran a few rods from our
fires. After waiting for some time, without hearing any
more noise, one of the men ascended the precipice, and
discovered that the object of our fears was a large drove of
Elk. In the morning we continued to travel down this
ravine, — and I was struck with the rough and picturesque
appearance of the adjacent hills. On our right and leit,
arose like two perpendicular ramparts, to the heighth of
near two hundred feet, two chains of mountains. Not a
blade of grass, bush or plant was to be seen on these hard
slopes, — huge rocks detached from the main body, sup-
ported by the recumbent weight of other unseen rocks
appeared in the act of falling, and presented a frightful
appearance — nothing met the eye but an inexhaustible
avalanch of rocks — sombre, gray or black rocks. If
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Dante had designed to picture in one of his circles the
Hell of Stones, he might have taken this scene for his
moddle. — This is one scenery in the vicinity of the Rocky
Mountains; and perhaps an hour’s travel would present
another of a very different character — one that the artist
who designed to depict the beautiful and enchanting land-
scape would select for a moddle.

After travelling some fifteen or twenty miles, we came
to the trail where the main body of the Indians with whom
we had the skirmish the evening before, had passed along.
It was near half a mile wide, and the snow was literally
trodden into the earth. I have since understood from
whites who have been in the habit of trading with this
nation, prior to their declaration of hostilities against the
whites, that they numbered from seven to eight hundred
warriors. Alarmed at this formidable appearance of the
hostile Indians, we mutually declined the idea of going to
Santa Fee, and turned and travelled in the direction of the
main body of our company.

We continued to travel day after day, with all possible
speed — occasionally killing a buffaloe, a goat, or a big-
horn, as we passed over the plains and prairies which were
literally covered with these animals; and on the morning of
the gth of April, we arrived safe at our old camp, & were
gratified to find our thirteen men and two mules in the
enjoyment of good health, with plenty to eat and drink.
After exchanging civilities all around, by a hearty shake of
the hand, and taking some refreshment, which was imme-
diately prepared for us, I related to the company the dismal
tidings of the near approach of the hostile Indians, and the
circumstances of being robbed by them, and being defeated
in the attempt to retake our property.—All were now satis-
fied of the imprudence of attempting to go to Santa Fee by
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this route, as well as of the necessity of devising some other
method of saving our merchandise. We finally concluded
to conceal our merchandise, baggage, fur, and every thing
that we could not pack on our backs or on the two mules,
and return to our appointed winter quarters, at the mouth
of the Laramies River, with the expectation of meeting
Capt. Gant, and obtaining some assistance from him. On
the morning of the 2oth of April, having made every neces-
sary preparation, we set out on our journey for the mouth
of the Laramies river. After two days travel, we came to
the foot of the mountain which we had endeavored in vain
to cross in November. The snow was still deep on the top
of it; but by aid of the buffaloe trails, we were enabled to
scale it without much difficulty, except that our mules
suffered with hunger, having had nothing to eat but pine
brush. At the foot of the mountain we found abundance
of sweet cottonwood, and our mules being very fond of it,
we detained two or three days to let them recruit from their
suffering in crossing the mountains. This mountain and
the one we left our fur on, are covered with the most
splendid timber of different kinds such as fir, cedar, white
pine, &c. On the margin of the rivers and creeks in the
plains, the only timber is cottonwood, under growth, willow
and rose bushes; out in the middle of the plains there is
none of any description. In the month of June, a person
by taking a view of the country east of this mountain with
a spy glass, could see nothing but a level plain extending
from the foot of the mountain as far as the eye can pene-
trate, covered with green grass, and beautiful flowers of
various descriptions; and by turning to the northwest, the
eye meets nothing but a rough and dismal looking moun-
tain, covered with snow, and presenting all the appearance
of dreary winter. These plains extend to the state of
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Missouri, with scarce a hill or a grove of timber to interrupt
the sight, and literally covered with game of almost every
kind.

On the 25th we again resumed our journey down the
river, and continued ahead without any difficulty — passing
over nearly the same ground that we had travelled over
going up the fall before; killing plenty of game — buffaloe,
deer, bear, bighorn, antelope, &c., and on the 2oth May
we landed at the mouth of the Laramies; but to our utter
astonishment and discomfiture we discovered that not one
of the parties had returned according to agreement.

[Here is the end of what was published before. The

manuscript continues as follows:]*

After remaining here until the 29th, our commander,
Mr. Stephens, and another man took the two mules, which
by this time had greatly recovered from their famished
state, and started in search of the other parties. In vain
they travelled up and down the La Platte and its tributaries,
but no traces of the lost companions could be discovered,
and on the 6th of June they returned, much fatigued and
disheartened. During their travels they had discovered,
on some of the creeks, 60 or 70 miles from our encamp-
ment, many signs of beaver — encountered several Grizzly
bears, and several times narrowly escaped the Indians;t
Mr. Stephens having had several balls shot through his
clothes. In this situation we remained for five or six
days, when Mr. Stephens proposed that each man should
go on foot, with a trap or two on his back, his blankets,
together with what we could pack upon the two mules, and
m note of the publisher and no doubt refers to this portion

of the manuscript having been published some time previous, in the
Clearfield Republican.

{These were no doubt the rascally Aricaras with whom they had
8o much trouble the following winter when they returned to this lo-
cality.



90 1LEONARD’S NARRATIVE

commence trapping on these creeks. This proposition was
objected to by some of the company who were in favor of
securing some of Capt. Gant’s merchandise, find the In-
dians and purchase horses of them. So many different
propositions were here made, that nothing definite could
be agreed upon.— Mr. Smith, Mr. Fully and myself agreed
to repair to the trapping ground and commence opera-
tions, with the understanding that Capt. S., should receive
a certain share of the profits, as a recompense for the dis-
covery he had made. Accordingly having every thing ar-
ranged, on the 11th we started, leaving the remainder of
the company to pursue their own course.

Mr. Stephens having a part of the men indebted to
him for clothing, &c., and knowing that if they remained
at camp he would not be able to collect it, told them that
if they would go and bring the beaver fur off the mountain,
where we had left it in January last, he would ensure them
an equa! share of the proceeds of our trapping expedi-
tion —and they, with this understanding set out. This
contract was made without any consultation having been
had with us; and the men, not aware of any thing but fair-
ness on the part of Stephens in making this bargain,
marched for the fur, and succeeded in getting it off the
mountain into the plain, without much difficulty, packed
it on their mules, together with what we had left in our
winter cabins, and brought the whole to the mouth of the
Laramies river. In the meantime, Smith, Fully, and my-
self were busily engaged in trapping on the tributary
streams of the river Platte. We encountered much dif-
ficulty and danger in this excursion, from wild beasts and
hostile Indians.— One circumstance with a bear I must
relate: — On a pleasant summer evening, when nothing
seemed disposed to disturb the tranquility of our forest
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home, we built a fire under the cliff of a large rock, on
the bank of a small creek, to roast some buffaloe meat.
After having cooked and eat our evening repast, I was
standing close to the rock, apart from the other men ten or
twelve feet, — all at once one of them jumped up and ran
off, exclaiming “the bear,” “the bear!” I instantly cast
my eyes to the top of the precipice, where they encoun-
tered this hideous monster seated on the rock with his
mouth wide open, and his eyes sparkling like fire. My
whole frame shook with agitation. I knew that to attempt
to run would be certain death. My gun was standing
against a tree within my reach, and after calling for the
aid of my companions, I raised my rifle to my face and
taking deliberate aim at the most fatal spot, fired —which
brought sir Bruin to the ground. — In the meantime Smith
and Fully came to my assistance, and also discharged the
contents of their rifles into his head.

In a few days afterwards we were joined by the rest
of the company, who, having secreted the fur, &c., at the
mouth of the Laramies river, had come on search of us.
We now, for the first time, got a knowledge of the con-
duct of Stephens relative to our fur. The men informed
us of the contract between them and Stephens. We an-
swered that we could agree to no such contract — that the
fur belonged to us, and that we intended to keep it. They
then devised other means to secure their share of 150
beaver skins, (the whole number we had caught.) Stephens
then told the men that he would not be accountable for any
of the fur, and the only way to obtain any of it, was to take
it by force. Seeing the folly of further resistance — 18
against 3 — we were obliged to surrender our earnings,
which they took and divided equally among themselves.

The next day we left this company at whose hands
we had received such ill-treatment, and returned to the
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mouth of the Laramies, with the expectation of meet-
ing Capt. Gant — but we were sadly mistaken — on our
arrival there no traces of Capt. G’s company could be
discovered. Next day Mr. Stephens & his party also
returned. After remaining here 3 days together, hunting
fishing, and indulging in other amusements, Mr. Fitz-
patrick* and a company of 115 men, came to our camp.
He was on his way to join his company on the west side
of the mountains, on the Columbia river, and to supply
them with merchandize, ammunition, horses, &c. This
company informed us that the firm of Gant & Black-
well had become insolvent. At this news we all became
discouraged ; and finally Mr. Stephens and the whole com-
pany agreed to join in with Fitzpatrick and go with him to
his rendezvous, where we were to make arrangements as
to hiring, purchasing equipments, &c. Mr. Stephens took
120 beaver skins, which belonged to Captain Gant, and sold
them to Fitzpatrick, which he secreted in the ground, with
the intention of raising them when on his return to Mis-
souri — in consideration of which, he was to furnish him
with horses and such other equipments as he might want.+

*Fitzpatrick was at the mouth of the Laramie about this time,
not on his return from 8t. Louis. The clrcumstances will be given
elsewhere.

The conduct of Stephens, in taking the beaver skins belonging

aptain Gant, and the manner in which he treated Leonard and
his companions was certainly not justified by the code then in vogue
tn the mountains; it was simply a dishonorable piece of business,
to say the least, and, being beyond the pale of the law, the victimns
had no redress—might here was right. These beaver pelts unfortun-
ately were the Indirect cause of Stephens’s death. It seems that when
they reached Pierre's Hole, Fitzpatrick ignored the agreement he had
made with Stephens, and the latter with a few companions started
for the mouth of the Laramie to recover the furs. They had been out
only a few days when they were set upon by the same band of
Indians with whom the fight occurred at Plerre’'s Hole and a number
of the party were killed, and Stephens received a very severe wound
in the thigh from which he died a few days later. ‘‘At Stephens's
request,” says Chittenden, ‘‘a few minutes before his death, Sublette
took back to 8t. Louis 8 pounds of beaver and 7 pounds castorum
belonging to Stephens. The receipt of this property is still in exis-
tence in the possession of M. L. Gray of 8t. Louis.”

Fitzpatrick was dishonest and dishonorable, and no code what-
soever would justify him in doing what he did—first, in his treat-
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July 1st. Having made this arrangement with Mr. F,,
our camp was all confusion at an early hour this morning,
preparing to depart for the Columbia river* Mr. F., took
one of the fleetest and most hardy horses in his train, and
set out in advance of the main body, in order to discover
the disposition of the various Indian tribes through whose
dominions we were to travel, and to meet us at a desig-
nated point on the head of the Columbia river.} After

ment of Stephens, with regard to which Leonard says: ‘“We all knew
that it was a dishonest transaction from beginning to end.” Fitz-
patrick having everything in his own possession, was therefore con-
tented and as independent as any mean man who had it in his power
to make his own terms. He did not live up to the agreement made
with Nathaniel J. Wyeth. According to the contract, the lat-
ter went to Boston, purchased an outfit of goods, and returned
with them to Green River; but Fitzpatric refused to take
them, and Wyeth had them on his ands. Wyeth made the
statement that ‘he would yet roll a stone in their [the Rocky
Mountain Fur Company] yard, which they would never be
able to remove.” This he did by establishing Fort Hall, which he
sold to the Hudson Bay Company: thus the stone was there and they
were never able to remove it. His treatment of Peter Skene Ogden,
a Hudsor Bay Company trader, in which he used liquor to get his
trappers drunk and then got their furs for practically nothing, is
equally dishonorable. There is a striking contrast between this and
the treatment accorded to Jedediah S. Smith of the Rocky Mountain
Fur Company by the Hudson Bay Company some few years previous.
When 8mith met with his misfortune on the Umpqua River, Dr. Mc-
Laughlin recovered his furs from the Indians and returned them to
Smith, who then sold them to the Hudson Bay Company at London
prices, and returned to his partners in the Rocky Mountains with a
draft for over $10,000. This was really one of the most honorable deeds
that ever occurred in the mountains, and stands out the more prom-
inently, because being so at variance with the mountain code. It is
certain that a large majority of these furs would eventually have
reached the Hudson Bay Company's posts.

*Leonard throughout this narrative, when speaking of the Colum-
bia River, does not mean the present stream of this name, but the
8nake River as well, thus the Columbia River as he knew it extended
from the headwaters of the present 8nake River, to the Pacific Ocean.

1The statements made here are somewhat at variance with other
authorities. It will be remembered that the year previous, while
Captain Gant was at the mouth of the Laramie River, preparing for
his fall hunt, Fitzpatrick came to his camp with a few companions,
and on 8eptember 3, 1831, they continued their journey to 8t. Louls,
accompanied by Captain Blackwell and two other men from Gant's
company. From the fact that Blackwell joined Fitzpatrick with a
view of traveling more safely, it would seem that they were bound
for 8St. Louis, and from the statement here made we are led to
believe that he went to the latter place, and was now returning with
his supplies and one hundred and fifteen men, to the rendezvous in
the mountains which was this year at Plerre’'s Hole. It will be
observed that according to this statement he was absent from the
mountains from September 1, 1831, to July 15, or thereabout, 1832.
Leonard states that they joined Fitzpatrick and left the mouth of the
Laramie, July 1, while others say that both parties left this point
June 13, also that they reached the rendezvous of the Rocky Mountain
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packing up all our moveable property, we started in the
course which he had taken, with a force of near 150 strong,
many of whom were afraid of nothing, & anxious to meet
any danger. We this day, travelled about twenty miles
and encamped for the night. The weather was serene
and warm, and the men all in high spirits, as we had plenty
of fresh meat.

July 2d. Early in the morning we resumed our
journey — stopped in the heat of the day to rest our horses
— country quite beautiful — soil rather poor, abounding
with sand plains. Travelled about 15 or 20 miles and
encamped for the night.

July 3d. This day we made but little progress in
travelling in consequence of a heavy fall of rain — came in

Fur Company, of which Mr. Fitzpatrick was one of the principal
partners, at Plerre’s Hole, August 2, 1832. But we know from unques-
tionable authorities that this rendezvous took place at the beginning
of July (Willlam L. Sublette arrived July 8) and it began breaking up
about the 17th. He also states that the battle of Plerre's Hole, in
which he participated, took place August 26; as a matter of fact, it
took place July 18. A. K. Stephens, captain of Leonard’s company on
the Laramie, who with all his men joined the Rocky Mountain Fur
Company, was wounded in a fight with the Indians July 26, and, after
lingering a few days, died. This, therefore, proves conclusively that
they reached Plerre’s Hole before August 2 as stated by Leonard. The
chronological order of events as given in the narrative, is certainly
correct with possibly the exception of Fitzpatrick’s movements, but
Leonard i8 certainly mistaken in many of his dates. The events
appear to have occurred from two weeks to a month earlier than the
date given by him.

In the fall of 1831, acoording to Chittenden, Fraeb and Fitzpatrick,
representing the Rocky Mountain Fur Company, attempted to make
their hunt in the Powder River country, but directly at their heels
followed Vanderburgh and Drips, representing the American Fur
Company (Astor’'s company). The former became very indignant at
this action and quietly stole out of the country, and by forced marches
traveled west for upwards of four hundred miles to the forks of
Snake River, having fixed their next rendezvous in the valley of
Plierre's Hole. They spent the winter trading with the Flathead and
Nez Percé Indians, unannoyed by their competitors.

“Early in the year 1832, the most eventful year in the Rocky
Mountain fur-trade, Fitzpatrick and his partners set out upon their
spring hunt [according to Leonard he must have been in 8t. Louis].
Their course lay up the valley of the Snake to the mouth of 8alt River
and up the latter stream for a distance, when they crossed over into
the valley of John Gray (now called John Day) River. Ascending this
stream to its source, the party passed over a range of mountains into
the valley of Bear River. Here, to their disgust, they found Vander-
burgh and Drips, who were evidently trying to find them. It was
resolved to strike off into some other section at once. erltonA Sublette
unluckily was severely wounded in an affray with an Indian, and
was compelled to stay behind. Joseph Meek remained to take care of
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contact with a large drove of buffaloe, out of which our
hunters succeeded in killing ten — one of the men received
a bite from a snake, but as it was not of a very poisonous
species, the wound soon healed, and the victim was more
scared than hurt — but little variation in the scenery of
the country.

July 5,6 & 7. The weather was fair — travelled at the
rate of 25 miles per day — nothing of interest occurred.
The country through which we passed is rather rough,
abounding with game of every description, and is remark-
able for the plentitude of wild goats. I have seen the
plains literally covered with them. Occasionally the men
would fall to and kill them by hundreds. We also fell in

him, and it was not until several months afterward that he was able
to rejoin his companfons, who, after their spring hunt, had assembled
at the annual rendezvous in the valley of Plerre’'s Hole.

“Here to their infinite vexation, Vanderburgh and Drips turned up
again, and as it would soon be time for the various bands of trappers
and Indians to assemble, it was of the utmost importance to recelve
the annual convoy of goods from St. Louis before their rivals should
capture the trade. Willlam L. Sublette had contracted to bring out
the outfit, and in order to hurry him up it was decided that Fitz-
patrick should go to meet him. He set out at once and met Sublette
on the Platte River below the mouth of the Laramie, a distance of
some four hundred miles from Pierre’s Hole. On their way back,
June 13, Fitzpatrick hired a party of men at Laramie River belonging
to the irm of Gant and Blackwell, who had experienced a most
unfortunate campaign at trapping during the previous winter. [This
statement it will be observed is entirely different from that of
Leonard’s.]

“When the joint party arrived at the Sweetwater, Fitzpatrick
went on ahead entirely alone to carry the news of Sublette’'s approach
to rendezvous. It was a hazardous enterprise in that dangerous
country. Fitzpatrick led a very fleet horse already saddled and
equipped, while he rode another, so that the first might be at all
times fresh for a chase if necessary. Everything went well until he
reached the valley of Green River, where he came suddenly upon a
party of Blackfeet Indians. Mounting the led horse he galloped to the
mountains and concealed himself in a deflle. After waiting three days
he came out from his retreat only to fall in with the Indians again.
This time he lost his other horse in making his escape together with
all the equipments which were attached to his saddle. Even his
blankets were lost, and he saved only his rifle and a single charge
which it contained. He barely succeeded in saving himself by crawl-
ing among the rocks and cliffs of the mountains. Here he remained
for several days, when he finally emerged and made his way on foot
in utter destitution toward the rendezvous. His sole resource for
food must have been berries and roots. His moccasins wore out and
he made others with his hat. In swimming one of the rivers,
probably the Snake, he lost his rifle. At length, when nearly used
up, he was met by two Iroquois hunters, who helped him to rendez-
vous on one of their horses. He arrived so emaciated as scarcely to
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with a party of Indians, but on their seeing our forces, fled,
without attempting to injure us. We were unable to as-
certain the name of the tribe to which they belonged.

July 8th. Early in the morning we resumed our
journey, but had not proceeded far until we found our-
selves in the midst of a bed of quicksand. So deep was the
sand in some places that several of our horses were com-
pletely swamped in it, & it was with great difficulty that
we succeeded in getting round this swamp, as it were, to
continue our journey. Having surmounted this difficulty,
one of our men, a Mr. White, who wandered from the com-
pany, came well nigh falling a victim to the fury of a
grizzly bear — having in the encounter, had one of his
arms literally torn from his body, and had it not been for
the timely assistance rendered by some of his compan-
ions, who afterwards killed the bear, his death would have
been the inevitable consequence. This night we selected

be recognized. [See Leonard's account.] Sublette was already there,
and the partners were thoroughly alarmed over his absence.

‘“The caravan of Willlam L. Sublette reached the rendezvous on
the 8th of July. There were already present the various parties of the
Rocky Mountain Fur Company numbering between one and two
hundred men. The American Fur Company was represented by a
large party under Vanderburgh and Drips. Nathaniel J. Wyeth with
his raw New Englanders was there, while the neighboring plains were
covered with the tents of free trappers and bands of Indians. The
trading proceeded briskly and much to the advantage of the Rocky
Mountain Fur Company. for Fontenelle had not yet arrived with the
annual supplies for Vanderburgh and Drips, and they were therefore
not well prepared to compete with their rivals.

**On the 17th of July the rendezvous began to break up. Milton
Sublette was to lead a party into the country north of the Salt Lake
desert. As his route would lie for a long distance in the valley of
Snake hiver, Wyeth decided to accompany him for protection as far
as their ways ran together. A free trapper by the name of Sinclair
with fifteen men also started with them. The first day they pro-
ceeded about eight miles up the valley, intending to bear off to the
south on the following morning. Just as they were about to resume
their march. July 18, they saw Indlans approaching, who proved to
be a band of the dreaded Grosventres [Blackfeet]). A parley ensued
during which Antoine Godin killed a chief who had come forward, and
thus precipitated the Battle of Pierre’s Hole, which raged the remain-
der of the day. It was a hard fought struggle, and the most noted bat-
tle between the Indians and the traders that ever took place in the
mountains [of which this narrative gives a very good account]).
Among the casualties on the part of the whites was the partisan
Sinclair killed, and William Sublette wounded. The Blackfeet with-
drew during the night.’
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a high piece of ground for our encampment, where the
wind continued to assail us most violently during the whole
night. The next day we travelled about twenty miles,
without meeting with any thing of consequence.

July 1oth. Finding that we were making but little
headway in our travelling, we resolved to increase our
speed, & accordingly the whole company was on the move
at an early hour this morning. We found our route begin-
ning to grow still more obstructed by rocky cliffs, which
are dispersed over this section of the mountain region
for many miles, and present an appearance to the beholder
similar to a meadow covered with hay-cocks. As the
country continued to grow rough, game became scarce,
and we began to kill such meat as we could, and not such
as we chose; indeed we thought ourselves very fortunate
when one of our hunters would succeed in killing a goat
or an antelope — species of meat which we would not look
at, when in the vicinity of deer and buffaloe. This part of
the mountain is covered with beautiful timber of the best
quality, such as fir, pine, cedar, &. We only travelled
about ten miles this day. On the following morning we
resumed our journey, and continued to travel day after
day, when, after a long and toilsome voyage, we arrived at
the point on the Columbia river, designated to meet Mr.
Fitzpatrick. Judge of our surprise, when on arriving here
no traces of him could be discovered. In vain we searched
for some clue to this, to us, melancholy circumstance.
What can detain him? was the question asked by each of
us. Disappointment is heart-sickening under any circum-
stance, but to be disappointed under such circumstances,
and in such a place, was perplexing in the extreme. — QOne
scouting party after another were despatched to gather

some tidings of the lost Fitzpatrick, but all to no purpose.
7
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Had he been destroyed by the savages? The former bril-
liant success of the man’s intercourse with the Indians
would not warrant such a belief, as he had many times
previously passed over these mountains with no other com-
panion than his trusty steed. The most natural conclusion
at which to arrive, was, that the dull and cloudy weather
had caused him to loose his course, and that he had be-

come bewildered, and was yet wandering through the wild-
erness.

After a fruitless search of several days, we concluded
to descend the river and search for the company which Mr.
Fitzpatrick had left there the summer before,—where we
had a faint hope that we might find Mr. F, in safety. The
first day we travelled about 20 miles and encamped for
the night on the bank of the river. Although we knew
that we were in the vicinity of the savage Blackfeet In-
dians, yet but few traces of them had been discovered
through the day, and we therefore retired to rest in our
encampment without taking the necessary precautions for
defence, in case of an attack. But it was not long before
we were enabled to appreciate the consequence of our
negligence, or fancied security. About midnight we were
awoke from our slumbers by a furious attack by a large
party of Blackfeet. They fired into our tents before we
were aware of their approach. Immediately each man was
on his feet, and on the look out. After a small skirmish of
random shooting, which lasted an hour or so, the Indians,
finding the strength of our forces, thought it best to retire
from the field, with the loss of three killed, and as we sup-
posed, 8 or 10 wounded. The loss on our side was one
man wounded in the leg, 5 horses killed, 3 wounded, and
14 stolen. The Blackfeet are a powerful nation, and are
better supplied with implements of war, than almost any
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other tribe of this region.* They have always retained a
most inveterate hostility to the Flatheads, against whom
they wage a continual warfare, having at one time greatly
reduced their strength, and on several occasions came
well nigh exterminating the entire tribe. Of late years
the Flatheads have been better prepared for war, and have
bravely held their own. This undying hostility appears to
be owing to the Blackfeet refusing to let the Flatheads
hunt buffaloe on the east side of the mountain.

The following morning we took up our march and
continued down the river. As we travelled along we seen
many fresh signs of Indians, and apprehended much danger
from them, which caused us to labour under the most in-
tense fear, lest we should fall into an ambush of this crafty
tribe. We killed several fat deer, goats, and an antelope,
and encamped on a high hill, from which we had a beau-
tiful view of the surrounding country; where we could see
the different kinds of game traversing the plains at leisure,
contented, and undisturbed, save when aroused from their
lair by the sudden onset of the Indian hunter. This night
we very prudently stationed a strong guard round our
encampment, and were permitted to pass the night in
peace, which was quite warm and pleasant. In the morn-
ing we resumed our journey, and about the middle of the
day found ourselves in the vicinity of another tribe of
Indians. We sent a flag to their camp, which was re-
ceived in the most friendly manner. This proved to be
the Flathead tribe. These Indians are more pacific and
pleasing in their manners than any tribe we had yet en-
mty with whom Leonard and his companions were travel-
ing was under the charge of Willlam L. Sublette, who was to bring
the supplies to the mountains for the use of the Rocky Mountain
Fur Company. The Indians who attacked them here were the Black-
feet and the same band, or a part of them at least were at the
battle of Pilerre’'s Hole, and came near being exterminated. The

route taken by this party was the one usually followed by these
parties along the SBweetwater, and through the South Pass.
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countered, and reside mostly on the river of that name.
I will here quote the description of this tribe as given by
Mr. Cox,* a gentleman well acquainted with the Indian
character, which fully embraces my own views:—“The
Flatheads have fewer failings than any tribe I ever met
with. They are honest in their dealings — brave in the
field — quiet and amiable to their chiefs — fond of clean-
liness, and are decided enemies to falsehood of every de-
scription. — The women are excellent wives and mothers,
and their character for fidelity is so well established that
we never heard of one single instance of one proving un-
faithful to her husband. They are remarkably well made—
rather tall —slender, and never corpulent.” The Flat-
heads are well accustomed to the manners and customs of
the white race, and in many respects appear ambitious to
follow their example.—Some years ago, they were in the
habit of using a process to flatten the heads of their child-
ren, which they deemed a very essential addition to their
appearance ; but since they have had intercourse with the
whites they have abandoned this abominable pralcltice.
The process of flattening the head is this: — Soon after the
birth of the infant, it is placed in a kind of trough and a
piece of bark fastened by means of strings through the
trough, and pressed hard upon the forepart of the head,
which causes it to grow flat. In this painful position they
are kept a year, and in some instances over a year. They
are very hospitable to strangers, and are tried friends of the
white people. On coming to their village a white person
always receives the best to eat, drink and smoke, and are
always ready to pilot the traveller through their country.
In the summer season this tribe live in the buffaloe country

*Ross Cox, one of the Astorians. He continued in the service of
the Northwest Fur Company some flve or six years, and was knowp

as the ‘Little Irishman.”” He made many trips up and down the
Columbia River, and later wrote an account of his adventures.
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on the head of the Columbia river, where they never fail
to come in contact with their cold hearted enemies, the
Blackfeet, who are the most ferocious and unsparing
enemy of the white men, because the Flatheads have been
supplied by the whites with munitions of war. In the fall
the Flatheads again return to the plains, and in the winter
subsist on Salmon, roots and small game. They are al-
ways well supplied with horses, and when provision be-
comes scarce in one section, they pack all they have upon
the backs of their horses, and remove to another. Their
houses are made of slim pine poles from 20 to 30 feet long,
12 or 15 feet apart at the bottom, and joined together at
the top, forming a structure in the shape of the roof of a
common dwelling house. These are covered with dressed
buffaloe skins sewed together. A fire is built in the middle
of the cabin, and its shape forms a kind of flue or draft for
the smoke — rendering this simple structure quite a com-
fortable habitation at the most inclement season of the
year. No storm can effect them, nor no cold can reach
their inmates. When moving camp these poles are taken
down & one end fastened to the sides of the mule or horse
and the other end dragging on the ground forming a sort of
dray. The infants are put into a sack or bag, made of
leather, which closes on one side by strings; this is fastened
to a board near three feet long & one wide, where they
are kept constantly, with the exception of an occasional
dressing, &c., until a year old. To the back of this board
they have a cord attached, by which they hang the sack to
the saddle, whilst travelling.

After remaining here two days to observe their man-
ners, customs, and mode of living, and getting all the in-
formation we desired, we resumed our journey, taking one
of the Indians to pilot us to the station of Mr. Fitzpatrick’s
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company. — After several days tedious and toilsome trav-
elling, and no extraordinary occurrence, we joined the
company on the 2nd of August. It was with feelings of
peculiar delight that we here beheld the visages of white
men, who were no less pleased to give us a welcome re-
ception. But a melancholy gloom was visible in every
countenance, when we discovered that Fitzpatrick had not
arrived. Great excitement prevailed, and vigorous meas-
ures were immediately taken to rescue him, if he had not
before this, as many supposed, fallen a victim to the en-
raged fury of the merciless savage, or the ravenous appe-
tite of some ferocious beast of prey. Small companies were
despatched in various directions on the tributary streams of
the Columbia. Diligent search was kept up for some
time without success, and our search was about to be
abandoned as fruitless ; and indeed some of the parties had
give up in despair, and returned to camp, when, a party,
who had wandered into the vicinity of the Blackfeet
Indians, were reconnoitering their movements in a valley
from a high bluff, saw, and immediately recognized, Fitz-
patrick’s horse, with which the Indians were running races.
— Was this calculated to inspire hope? or was it not rather
an omen that our employer was destroyed by these In-
dians. Vigilant search was made to make further dis-
coveries ; and, to the great joy of every man, he was at
length found on the banks of the Pieres river, which forms
a junction with the Columbia, near the rendezvous of Fitz-
patrick’s company. When found he was completely ex-
hausted, and so much wasted in flesh, and deformed in
dress, that, under other circumstances, he would not have
been recognized. The poor man was reduced to a skele-
ton, and was almost senseless. When his deliverers spoke
of taking him to camp, he scarcely seemed to comprehend
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their meaning. After eating some dried buffaloe meat,
and a little maize, he grew better, and placing him on a
horse, he was safely conveyed to camp. A general re-
joicing ensued, for his appearance among us again, was
like that of one risen from the dead. Although I was not
much attached to the man, for I could not banish from
my mind the craftiness evinced by him when we first met
with him on the east side of the mountains, yet I can
scarcely describe my feelings of joy on beholding him
safely returned. After resting a few days, and being nour-
ished by the provender our camp would afford, he became
able to relate the misfortunes which befel him in crossing
the mountain, which I will give in his own words, as fol-
lows:

ADVENTURES OF FITZPATRICK.*

“For three or four days after I left the company I
travelled without any difficulty, and at great speed, but
the fourth and fifth, the weather being dull and cloudy, I
got strayed from my course, and soon found myself in the
midst of a rough hilly country, abounding with large loose
rocks which some places almost prevented me from pass-
ing at all, and covered with various kinds of timber of the
most magnif[i]cent description. In passing the nights in
these solitudes my rest was constantly disturbed by the
dismal howl of the wolf and the fierce growl of the bear —
which animals were very numerous and would frequently
approach within a few steps and threaten to devour me.
One day after a toilsome ride, I dismounted, turned my
horse loose to graze and seated myself on a rock, with
the little remaining provision I had, to refresh myself.
" *Leonard's account of the adventure of Fitzpatrick here given, is
probably the most full and complete of any published, although many

authorities mention the same and give a more or less complete account
of this particular adventure.
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While thus seated resting my wearied limbs, and satis-
fying the gnawings of hunger, I was suddenly startled by
a scrambling on the rocks immediately in my rear. I
turned round and beheld a huge bear approaching me in
double quick time. I instantly sprang to my feet, for I
was well acquainted with his mode of warfare.* I turned
and faced his lordship, when he approached within about
six feet of me, rose on his hind feet and most impudently
stared me right in the face, for more than a minute. After
discovering that I was no ways bashful, he bowed, turned
and run—1I did the same, and made for my horse. Bruin
was not so easy fooled; he seen my retreat & gave chase.
I thought I could reach my horse and mount before the
bear could reach me, but the approach of the bear fright-
ened my beast, and just as I was going to mount he sprang
loose and threw me on the broad of my back. The bear
was at my heels, and I thought that all chance of escape
was now gone. Instantly I was again on my feet,— and,
as it were, in a fit of desperation, rushed towards the bear,
which, fearing, as they do, the face of man, again turned
and run. — Sir Bruin stopped to secure the little morsel I
had been eating, and retired a few paces to devour it.
While the bear was thus employed, I crept to my gun,
keeping the rock between him and me, having reached it,
took deliberate aim and killed him dead on the spot. Hav-
ing secured my horse, I fell to work at the carcase of my
vanquished foe, and, after cooking and eating a choice
piece of his flesh, left the rest to feed his kindred. It being
now near night, I travelled two or three miles further, and
-encamped for the night. The next morning appeared
more favourable over head, and I made an early start.
Being on the banks of a small creek, I concluded to follow
it a while. After winding my way through the rocks and
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trees, till near the middle of the day, I came to a valley
which seemed to be hemmed in on every side by huge
towering hills. I had not travelled far in this valley before
I found myself ushered into the presence of a hostile tribe
of Indians. I halted to devise some means to effect a
return without being discovered; but I soon found that it
was too late. Immediately in my rear was a choice set of
young warriors—in front, and on both sides by high and
craggy mountains. My noble steed, than him, I would
defy the whole Indian world to produce a stouter, swifter,
or better, was now brought to the test. He started with the
velocity of the rein deer,— boun[d]ing over ditches, stones
logs and brush.—Soon I began to ascend the mountain,
but found it much too steep and rough. The Indians dis-
mounted and followed on foot. I applied the whip, but in
vain. My horse was compelled to yield to exhausted
nature —and I dismounted, and left my much prized
animal to fall a prey to the savages. I ran up the moun-
tain with all possible speed, but finding that I must eventu-
ally be overtaken, I secreted myself in a hole among the
rocks, and closed the mouth of it with leaves and sticks.
After remaining a few minutes in this subterraneous cav-
ern, I heard the ferocious yells of triumph of my pur-
suers, as they captured my lamented horse. The victory
was not yet complete, although the horse was the prin-
cipal prize. Some of them followed on and came close to
my hiding place, passed and re-passed within reach with-
out discovering me. What a moment of intense anxiety
was this! All chance of escape cut off. No prospect of
mercy if taken! Hope began to die —and death inevi-
table seemed to be the very next incident that would occur.
They continued their search until near sunset, for they
knew that I had not reached the summit of the mountain.
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As they retired down the mountain, squads of four or
five would frequently halt and hold a busy consultation —
then suddenly return to complete their search, as if they
feared that some hollow tree or rocky cavern might escape
unexplored. Finally, they gave me up in despair, and
retired into the valley, with my horse.

“Now that I had escaped this scrutinizing search, I
began to breathe more free and easy; but I was yet far from
being out of danger. I was conscious that I had lost the
course to the Columbia river, and could not tell how to
regain it, even if I should succeed in escaping from my
present perilous situation. I remained secreted in the
rocks till long after dark, when I crawled out, and sur-
veyed the country as well as the darkness of the night
would permit, and finally started in the direction which
I thought I would have the least chance of meeting the
Indians. I had not travelled far, however, until I was
again doomed to be disappointed, for I was on the very
borders of their encampment. Happily the camp was all
quiet, and I returned quietly to my hiding place on the
mountain, hoping that on the morrow I would be able to
make some new discovery by which to extricate myself
from these savages — which I judged to be the merciless
Blackfeet. Early in the morning of the next day the hunt
was resumed with increased vigilance; but again returned
with disappointment. After the sound of their voices no
longer reached me, I crawled to the mouth of the hole
from which I presently beheld them running races with the
horse they had taken from me. In this sport they spent
the day. This village did not appear to be their permanent
residence, but was handsomely situated on the banks of a
small creek, and I suppose they had came here on a sport-
ing expedition. The second night I made another effort
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to save myself, and gradually descended the mountain, to
the creek some distance below the camp.— This I fol-
lowed, until daylight again compelled me to hide myself;
which I did by crawling into the brush close to the creek,
where I secreted myself till darkness again gave me an
opportunity to resume my journey. During the day I seen
a number of the Indians pass and repass up and down the
valley, whom I supposed to be hunters. This day I again
had a view of my horse under the saddle of the chief of the
tribe, as I supposed; but did not attempt to rescue him.
The following night I travelled a short distance down the
creek when I came to where it empties into the Pieres
river.* Here I came to my reckoning of the country, and
thought that if I could escape from hunger and beasts af
prey, I could manage to elude the Indians. Supposing
that the Indians were not so numerous on the opposite
side of the river, I resolved to cross over — for which pur-
pose I built a raft of old logs, laid my shot-pouch, gun,
blanket, &c. on it, and pushed for the opposite shore.
After getting nearly across, the current became very rapid,
and I began to descend the river at a rapid rate until I
struck a rock which tore my frail craft to pieces — com-
mitting myself, gun, blanket and all to the watery ele-
ment. Being weak from hunger and exertion, it was with
great difficulty that T succeeded in reaching the land, with
the loss of my only companion, and my only hope in this
wilderness of dangers — my gun. I stood on the bank in

*The river here referred to is Plerre's River which flows through
Pilerre's Hole or valley, and is a tributary of the Snake, on which the
famous battle occurred.

Many of these narrow valleys in the Rocky Mountains were called
“holes”’ In the early fur-trading and trapping days. The name seems
to have originated from the fact that the trapper in passing up and
down the main stream, would pass the narrow opening or outlet of
the tributary, in the bank or bluff along the main river. These nar-
row openings in the hills appeared so much like holes that they
received this name, and where a trapper was known to frequent one

articular stream the valley was usually named after him; thus we
gave Jackson’s Hole, Gardner's Hole, Ogden's Hole, Pierre’'s Hole, etc.
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the midst of despair. I had no other weapon than a
butcher knife to fight my way through a country swarm-
ing with savages and equally dangerous wild beasts. On
my knife depended all hope of preventing starvation. The
loss of my blanket was also severe, as the weather was
sometimes quite cold, and I had no other clothing than
a shirt and vest—having thrown the rest away when
pursued by the Indians on the mountain. I followed the
banks of this river for two days, subsisting upon buds,
roots, weeds, &c. On the second evening whilst digging
for a sweet kind of root, in a swamp, I was alarmed by the
growl of wolves, which were descending the hill to the
river, about fifty yards distant. The only chance of es-
cape now, was to climb a tree, which I did immediately.
Here I was compelled to roost until daylight, in the most
painful agitation. The wolves tearing up the ground and
gnawing at the tree so that I sometimes feared they would
cut it through. The third day I travelled with great speed,
not even stopping for any thing to eat. On the fourth I
happened where the wolves had killed a buffaloe. — Here
I satisfied my appetite by collecting all the meat that was
left on the bones, made a fire by rubbing two sticks to-
gether, and cooked it. From the gluttenous fill which I
took of this meat, I was enabled to travel three or four
days, without any particular occurrence; but I found that
the further I descended the river, the scarcer became the
roots, buds, &c., on which I must depend for subsistence,
and I was finally obliged to turn my attention to get
something to eat, without travelling any further. For
several days I loitered about from place to place, but could
find no nourishment. My body began to grow weaker and
weaker, until I was no longer able to walk. Still my mind
held its sway, and I was well aware how desperate was
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my situation. Finally loosing all prospect of getting any
thing more to eat, & no hope of being found by my com-
panions or friendly Indians, I thought of preparing myself
for death, and committed my soul to the Almighty. I
have no recollection of any thing that occurred after this,
until I found myself in the hands of my deliverers.”

The story of Fitzpatrick created much excitement in
our camp. Some were determined on immediately chas-
tising the Indians, and retaking his horse. Others, who
were not friendly disposed towards Mr. F., would not credit
his story. For my part I thought the man had related
nothing more than the truth as to his sufferings, for noth-
ing less could have reduced him to the condition in which
he was found. In a few days all was restored to order
and tranquility, and we commenced making arrangements
for trapping, &c.

The Columbia is a strong, clear and beautiful river
at this point, (the junction of the Lewis river,) and is
about 1000 yards wide. The Wallah Wallah empties into
it about 14 miles lower down — which is rather muddy,
and a very rapid stream. There was at this rendezvous at
this time,* about 400 white people, who lived in constant
intercourse with the Flatheads and “Nez Perces,” or
Pierced Nose tribes, which latter consists of 1000 war-
riors, besides women and children, and live in the closest
friendship with their ne[i]ghbors, the Flatheads. They are
said to act honorable in all their dealings, nor do they now

*This is a very deceptive statement. From it one would infer
they were at the mouth of the Snake or Lewis River, on the Col-
umbia, near which was the rendezvous, while as a matter of fact
they were many hundreds of miles from this point. They were at
Plerre’s Hole, and that Leonard never intended the above idea to be
conveyed is quite clear from the statement made a few lines farther
on, in which he makes it perfectly plain they were in the latter
glace and fully describes the battle which took place there, in which
e was a participant. In fact he states they were traveling down

the valley of Plerre’'s Hole and only a few miles from the rendezvous,
when they discovered the Indians with whom they had the fight.
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practice treachery and stealing so extensively as most of
the tribes below this; although, when first discovered by
the whites, a brave was esteemed according to his suc-
cess in stealing. They have now reformed, and a white
man can at all times find a trusty friend in a Nez Perces.*

Among the discoveries of importance which we made
here was nine of Captain Gant’s men, who had left us at the

*It was through these Indians that the Oregon missions, both
Protestant and Catholic, were established. The appeal caused intense
excitement throughout the missionary circles in the east and was
looked upon as a call not to be repudiated. The biographer of Marcus
‘Whitman relates the story as follows:

“In the summer of 1832 four Nez Percé Indians made their way
to Bt. Louis for the avowed purpose of getting some one to go and
preach to their people the white man's religion, of which they had
heard through the Catholic voyageurs from Canada. They were enter-
tained by General Clark, who did all in his power to interest them,
showing them whatever was worth seeing, and giving them the best
of accommodations. They were feted and feasted to such an extent
that it made them sick, and two of their number died during the
winter. As spring approached the other two prepared to return home
and decided to go by way of the American Fur Company's steamer
as far as they could. Before their departure General Clark gave
them a banquet and at this banquet one of the Indians made a speech
which has now become celebrated in the annals of missionary work
among the Western Indians. The Indlan is reported to have said:

**‘lI come to you over the trail of many moons from the setting
sun. You were the friends of my fathers, who have all gone the long
way. I came with an eye partly open for my people, who sit in dark-
ness. I go back with both eyes closed. How can I go back blind, to my
blind people? I made my way to you with strong arms through many
enemlies and strange lands that I might carry back much to them.
I go back with both arms broken and empty. Two fathers came
with us, they were the braves of many winters and wars. We leave
them asleep here by your great waters and wigwams. They were
tired in many moons and their moccasins worn out.

‘“‘My people sent me to get the ‘‘White Man's Book of Heaven."
You took me to where you allow your women to dance as we do not
ours, and the book was not there. You took me to where they wor-
ship the Great Spirit with candles and the book was not there. You
showed me images of the good spirits and the picture of the good
land beyond, but the book was not among them to tell us the way.
I am going back the long and sad trail to my people in the dark
land. You make my feet heavy with gifts and my moccasins will
grow old carrying them, yet the book i{s not among them. When I
tell my poor blind people, after one more snow, in the big council,
that I did not bring the book, no word will be spoken by our ola
men or by our young braves. One by one they will rise up and go out
in silence. My people will die in darkness, and they will go a long
path to other hunting-grounds. No white man will go with them,
and no White Man’'s Book to make the way plain.’ '

They left in the steamboat the following day, and when this
appeal became known through the papers, it made a profound im-
pression and stirred the churches to their very foundations. Many
charged the church with tardiness in missionary work; this being
a warning, money began to roll in for the purpose, missionaries
were soon on their way and in this manner the Oregon missions
were established.
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mouth of the Laramies.* In crossing the mountain they
had several encounters with the Indians, and finally lost
their horses and 3 of their men. After travelling about
for a number of days, under the direction of a Mr. Saun-
ders, their leader, they came across a party belonging te
this rendezvous,f whom they followed, and had arrived at
camp a few days before us. No important arrangement
was made among the men with regard to trapping, &c.,
until the people gathered in from the different parts of the
mountain. In the meantime 15 of us joined together, each
man furnishing an equal quantity of merchandize, horses,
&c., and to receive an equal share of the proceeds.{
August 25th. Every thing necessary for our expedi-
tion being ready this morning, we started in a southern
diréction, but did not go far until we encamped for the
night—thinking that if we had neglected any thing which

*They were part of the men who had left the mouth of the Lar-
amie with Gant the preceding fall to trap on the Sweetwater and
neighboring streams. Leonard, it will be remembered, was with
Stephens and they were to ascend the Laramie. At this rendezvous
we find all of Stephens’'s men, and nine of Gant’s men who had left
the mouth of the Laramie the previous fall—which was almost half
of the Gant and Blackwell company of trappers.

+The rendezvous here referred to was that at Plerre's Hole, which
was the most important to the trade ever held in the mountains.
The fur-trade had at this time reached its zenith, the old methods
were gradually slipping away and a new order of things taking
their place. The number of reputed fortunes made in the trade
influenced others to engage in it, and from this time forward
competition was extremely bitter, and some companies paid more
for their furs in the mountains than they could realize on them
in the market, which came very near ruining the business. Besides
the Hudson Bay Company there were others at Pierre's Hole en-
deavoring to obtain a share of the trade. Among these was Nathanfel
J. Wyeth; also Captain Bonneville with a large company, well equip-
ped, and financed by New York capitalists, of whom Alfred Seton,
of the old Astorians, was one. Here was also the powerful American
Fur Company, losing money at every step, yvet patiently dogging
the Rocky Mountain Company, with a view of ruining them, that
they might later have the fleld to themselves. Such was the condition
of affairs in 1832.

tThese men are evidently the ones who started out under Sin.
clair, because the time, place, and number all agree. A few days
later Sinclair was killed in the battle of Pierre’s Hole. These free
trappers and Wyeth's party, with Milton Sublette and Gervalis,
started on a trapping expedition to the country north of the Salt
Lake desert. Mr. Saunders, one of Gant’'s men, took Sinclair's place,
thus preserving the original number of fifteen men who went on the
expedition.
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we would stand in need of, we would thus discover it. The
next morning finding all things in order, we continued
travelling down what is called Pieres hole,* or valley. This
valley is situated on the river of the same name, and is
from 70 to 80 miles in length, with a high mountain on the
east and west — each so high that it is impossible to pass
over them, and is from eight to ten miles wide. The river
runs immediately through the centre, with a beautiful grove
of timber along either bank; from this timber to the moun-
tain, a distance of four or five miles, there is nothing but
a smooth plain. This meadow or prairie is so perfectly
level that a person may look up or down as far as the eye
will reach without meeting any thing to obstruct the sight,
until the earth and sky appear to meet. After travelling a
few miles this morning, some of the men, in taking a view
of the country before us, discovered something like people
upon horses, who appeared to be coming towards us. After
continuing in the same direction for some time we came in
view with the naked eye, when we halted. — They ad-
vanced towards us displaying a British flag.t This we
could not comprehend; but on coming closer discovered
them to be hostile Indians. We immediately despatched
a messenger back to the rendezvous for reinforcements and
prepared ourselves for defence. The Indians commenced
building a fort in the timber on the bank of the river; but
at the time we were not aware of what they were doing.
After waiting here a few hours we were reinforced by 200
whites, 200 Flatheads, and 300 Nez Perces Indians. The
Indians with the British flag, on seeing such a number of
people galloping down the plain at full speed, immediately
retreated within their fort, whither they were hotly pur-

*Pierre’'s Hole.

tLeonard is the only authority who mentions this use of the
British flag by the Blackfeet.
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sued. The friendly indians soon discovered them to be-
long to the Blackfeet tribe, who are decidedly the most
numerous and warlike tribe in the mountains, and for this
reason are not disposed to have any friendly intercourse
with any other nation of an inferior number, unless they
are good warriors and well armed with guns, &c. We
thought we could rush right on them and drive them out
of the brush into the plain and have a decisive battle
at once. We advanced with all possible speed, and a
full determination of success, until we discovered their
fort by receiving a most destructive fire from the enclosure.
This throwed our ranks into complete confusion, & we
all retreated into the plain, with the loss of § whites, 8
Flatheads and 10 Nez Perces Indians killed, besides a
large number of whites and Indians wounded. The form-
ation of their fort astonished all hands. We had been
within a few hundred yards of them all day and did not
discover that they were building it. It was large enough
to contain 500 warriors ; and built strong enough to resist
almost any attempt we might make to force it. After
dressing the wounded, and having reconnoitered their fort,
our forces were divided into several detachments, and sent
in different directions with the intention of surrounding the
fort and making them prisoners. This was done under the
superintendance of Fitzpatrick, who acted as commander-
in-chief . *

In a case of this kind any man not evincing the great-
est degree of courage, and every symptom of bravery, is
treated as a coward; and the person who advances first,
furthest and fastest, and makes the greatest display of
animal courage, soon rises in the estimation of his com-
panions. Accordingly with the hope of gaining a little
mthoﬂtles state that Willlam L. Sublette acted in this

capacity.
8
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glory while an opportunity offered, though not for any
electioneering purpose, as a politician in the States would
do — 1 started into the brush, in company with two ac-
quaintances (Smith and Kean) and two Indians. We made
a circuitous route and came towards the fort from a dir-
ection which we thought we would be least expected. We
advanced closer and closer, crawling upon our hands and
knees, with the intention of giving them a sclect shot; and
when within about forty yards of their breast work, one of
our Indians was shot decad. At this we all lay still for some
time, but Smith’s foot happening to shake the weeds as he
was laying on his belly, was shot through. I advanced a
little further, but finding the balls to pass too quick and
close, concluded to retreat. When I turned, I found that
my companions had deserted me. In passing by, Smith
asked me to carry him out, which met my approbation pre-
cisely, for I was glad to get out of this unpleasant situation
under any pretext — provided my reputation for courage
would not be questioned. After getting him on my back,
still crawling on my hands and knees, I came across Kean,
lying near where the first Indian fell, who was also mortally
wounded, and died soon after. I carried Smith to a place
of safety and then returned to the siege. A continual fire
was kept up, doing more or less execution on both sides
until late in the afternoon, when we advanced to close
quarters, having nothing but the thickness of their
breast work between us, and having them completely sur-
rounded on all sides to prevent any escaping. This po-
sition we maintained until sun-set, in the meantime having
made preparations to set fire to the fort, which was built
principally of old dry logs, as soon as night would set in,
and stationed men at the point where we thought they
would be most likely to make the first break, for the pur-
pose of taking them on the wing, in their flight. Having
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made all these preparations, which were to put an end to
all further molestation on the part of the Blackfeet, our
whole scheme and contemplated victory was frustrated by
a most ingenious and well executed device of the enemy.
A few minutes before the torch was to be applied, our
captives commenced the most tremendous yells and shouts
of triumph, and menaces of defiance, which seemed to
move heaven and earth. Quick as thought a report
spread through all quarters, that the plain was covered
with Blackfeet Indians coming to reinforce the besieged.
So complete was the consternation in our ranks, created
by this stratagem, that in five minutes afterwards, there
was not a single white man, Flathead or Nez Perces In-
dian within a hundred yards of the fort. Every man
thought only of his own security, and run for life without
ever looking round, which would at once have convinced
him of his folly.* In a short time it was ascertained that
it was only a stratagem, and our men began to collect to-
gether where our baggage was.4 I never shall forget the
scene here exhibited. The rage of some was unbounded,
and approached to madness. For my own part, although I
felt much regret at the result after so much toil and danger,
yet I could not but give the savages credit for the skill they
displayed in preserving their lives, at the very moment

*There had been more or less communication during the whole
of the afternoon between the besieged and beslegers, through the in-
terpreters, and when the besieged began cheering in the manner stated
they Informed those on the outside that they had little hope of
escape and expected to die, but there was a large party of their
people near by—six or eight hundred—who were in fact only a part
of a larger body which would very shortly give them all the fighting
they were looking for. Through some mistake, the Iinterpreter
reported that this large body of Indians were attacking the rendez-
vous where they had left their baggage without protection some
miles away, in order to join in the attack on the besieged Indians;
to this point they now rushed pell-mell, only to find it a false alarm,
during which time the besieged Blackfeet made their escape.

tHe here means at the rendezvous some six or eight miles distant

:hteti-e they had left their baggage when they rushed to the fleld of
attle.
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when desperation, as we thought, had seized the mind of
each of them.

By the time we were made sensible of the full extent
of our needless alarm, it had began to get dark; and on as-
certaining the extent of the injury which we received,
(having lost 32 killed, principally Indians,)* it was de-
termined not to again attempt to surround the fort, which
was a sore disappointment to some of the men who were
keen for chastising the Indians for their trick. We then
took up our march for the rendezvous ; but on starting one
of our party of 15 men, who had first started out the day
before, could not be found. Search was made, and he was
found in the brush, severely wounded. — After carrying
him on a litter a few miles he died and was buried in the
Indian style:—which is by digging a hole in the ground,
wrapping a blanket or skin round the body, placing it in
the hole, and covering it with poles and earth. This is the
manner of interring the dead in this country both by the In-
dians and whites, except in the winter season on account
of the ground being frozen, when the Indians are in the
habit of wrapping their dead in buffaloe robes, and laying
them on poles from one tree to another, on which poles
the corpse is tied with cords. The next morning we raised
another war party and went back to the battle ground, but
no Indians could be found.—They must have left the fort
in great haste for we found 42 head of horses, together
with Fitzpatrick’s which they had taken on the mountain,
two warriors and one squaw lying dead inside of their fort,
besides a large quantity of their baggage, such as furs,
skins, &c. There must have been a great number of
them, from the holes they had dug in the ground around

*Authorities differ as to the number of killed and wounded, but all
practically agree that flve whites were killed. The Indian allies
probﬁblg lost seven and had six wounded. Leonard’s number is far
too high.
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their dead horses and the edges of the fort, say from three
to four hundred. 1 learned afterwards that the Nez Perces
Indians shortly after found seven more dead Blackfeet,
in some brush close by, where they had been secreted to
save their scalps, which is the principal object with these
Indians, in order to have their women dance.* In the
afternoon we returned to the rendezvous and presented Mr.

*Thus in Leonard we have another, besides the many other ac-
counts of this famous engagement. Almost every writer of this
period and subject gives a description of this affair, frequently with
considerable romance. And it must be said that they practically all
agree as to the main points, and only differ in regard to details. The
eye-witnesses of this battle who afterwards wrote accounts of it
are Willlam L. Sublette, Wyeth, A. W. Ferris, and Leonard. The best
description of it is no doubt Irving's. in Bonneville:

On the 17th of July, a small brigade of fourteen trappers, led by
Milton Sublette, brother of the captain, set out with the in-
tention of proceeding to the southwest. They were accompanied by
Sinclair and his fifteen free trappers; Wyeth, also, and his New
England band of beaver hunters and salmon fishers, now dwindled
down to eleven, took this opportunity to prosecute their cruise in
the wilderness, accompanied with such experienced pilots. On the
first day, they proceeded about eight miles to the southeast, and
encamped for the night, still in the valley of Plerre’s Hole. On the
following morning, just as they were raising their camp, they ob-
served a long line of people pouring down a deflle of the mountains.
They at first supposed them to be Fontenelle and his party, whose
arrival had been daily expected. Wyeth, however, reconnoitered them
with a spy-glass, and soon perceived they were Indians. They were
divided into two parties, forming, in the whole, about one hundred
and fifty persons, men, women and children. Some were on horse-
back, fantastically painted and arrayed, with scarlet blankets flut-
tering in the wind. The greater part, however, were on foot. They
had perceived the trappers before they were themselves discovered,
and came down yelllng and whooping into the plain. On nearer
approach, they were ascertained to be Blackfeet.

One of the trappers of Sublette’'s brigade, a half-breed, named
Antoine Godin, now mounted his horse, and rode forth as if to hold
a conference. He was the son of an Iroquois hunter, who had been
cruelly murdered by the Blackfeet at a small stream below the moun-
tains, which still bears his name. In company with Antoine rode
forth a Flathead Indian, whose once powerful tribe had been com-
pletely broken down in their wars with the Blackfeet. Both of them,
therefore, cherished the most vengeful hostility against these ma-
rauders of the mountains. The Blackfeet came to a halt. One of the
chiefs advanced singly and unarmed, bearing the pipe of peace. This
overture was certainly pacific; but Antoine and the Flathead were
predisposed to hostility, and pretended to consider it a treacherous
movement.

“{s lym.u- plece charged?”’ said Antoine, to his red companion.

It is."

“Then cock it, and follow me."’

They met the Blackfoot chief half way, who extended his hand
in friendship. Antoine grasped it.

“Fire!” cried he.

The Flathead levelled his piece, and brought the Blackfoot to the
ground. Antoine snatched off his scarlet blanket, which was richly
ornamented, and galloped off with it as a trophy to the camp, the
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Fitzpatrick with his long-lossed and highly valued horse,
which seemed to compensate for all the sufferings and
hardships which he had encountered.

bullets of the enemy whistling after him. The Indians immediately
threw themselves into the edge of a swump, among willows and cot-
ton-wood trees, interwoven with vines. Here they began to fortify
themselves; the women digging a trench, and throwing up a breast-
work of lcgs and branches, deep hid In the bosom of the wood, while
the warriors skirmished at the edge to Kkeep the trappers at bay.
The latter took their station in a ravine in front, whence they kept
up a scattering fire. As to Wyeth, and his little band of “Down-
easters,” they were perfectly astounded by this second specimen
of iife in the wilderness; the men, being especially unused to bush-
fighting and the use of the rifle. were at a loss how to proceed.
Wyeth, however, acted as a skiliful commander. He got all his
horses into camp and secured them; then, making a breastwork of
his packs of gouds, he charged his men to remain in garrison, and
not to stir out of their fort. For himself, he mingled with the other
leaders, determined to take his share in the conflict.

In the meantime, an express had been sent off to the rendezvous
for reinforcements. Captain Sublette, and his assoclate, Campbell,
were at their camp when the express came galloping across the
plain, waving his cap and giving the alarm: ‘'Blackfeet! Black-
feet! a fight in the upper part of the valley — to arms! to arms!”

‘The alarm was passed from camp to camp. It was a common
cause. Every one turned out with horse and rifle. The Nez Percés
and Flatheads joined. As fast as horsemen could arm and mount
they galloped off; the valley was soon alive with white men and red
men scouring at full speed.

Sublette ordered his men to keep to the camp, being recruits from
8t. Louig, and unused to Indian warfare. He and his friend Camp-
bell prepared for action. Throwinsg off their coats, rolling up their
sleeves, and arming themselves with pistols and rifles, they mounted
their horses and dashed forward among the first. As they rode
along, they made their wills in soldier-like style; each stating how
his effects should be disposed of in case of his death, and appoint-
ing the other his executor.

The lackfe«t warriors had supposed the brigade of Milton Sub-
lette all the foe they had to deal with, and were astonished to lie-
hold the whole valley suddenly swarming with horsemen, gallop-
ing to the fleld of action. They withdrew into their fort, which was
completely hid from =ight in the dark and tangled wood. Most of
their women and children had retreated to the mountains. The trap-
pers now sallfed forth and approached the swamp, firing into the
thickets at random; the Blackfeet had a better sight at their adver-
saries, who were in the open field, and a half-breed was wounded in
the shoulder.

When Captain Sublette arrived, he urged to penetrate the swamp
and storm the fort, but all hung back in awe of the dismal horrors
of the place, and the danger of attacking such desperadoes in their
savage den. The very Indian allies, though accustomed to bush-
fighting, regarded it as almost impenetrable, and full of frightful
danger. Sublette was not to be turned from his purpose, but offered
to lead the way into the swamp. Campbell stepped forward to ac-
company him. Before entering the perilous wood, Sublette took his
brothers aside, and told them that in case he fell, Campbell, who
knew his will, was to be his executor. This done, he grasped his
rifle and pushed into the thickets, followed by Campbell. Sinclair,
the partisan from Arkansas, was at the edge of the wood with his
brother and a few of his men. Excited by the gallant example of the
two friends, he pressed forward to share their dangers.

The swamp was produced by the labors of the beaver, which, by
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After remaining here a few days a violent dispute arose
between Stephens and Fitzpatrick about the price of the
horses which the latter was to give to the former for the

damming up a stream, had inundated a portion of the valley. The
place was all overgrown with woods and thickets, so closely matted
and entangled, that 1t was impossible to see ten paces ahead, and the
three associates in peril had to crawl along, one after another, mak-
ing their way by putting the branches and vines aside; but doing it
with caution, lest they should attract the eve of some lurking marks-
man. They took the lead by turns, each advancing about twenty
yards at a time, and now and then hallooing to their men to follow.
Some of the latter gradually entered the swamp, and followed a
little Jistance in the rear.

They had now reached a more open part of the wood, and had
glimpses of the rude fortress from between the trees. It was a mere
breastwork, as we have said. of logs and branches, with blankets,
buffalo robes, and the leathern covers of lodges, extended round the
top as a screen. The movements of the leaders, as they groped thelr
way, had been discried by the sharp-sighted enemy. As Sinclair, who
was In the advance, was putting some branches aside, he was shot
through the body. He fell on the rpot. ‘‘Take me to my brother,*
said he to Campbell. The latter gave him in charge to some of the
men, who conveyed him out of the swamp.

SBublette now took the advance. As he was reconnoitering the
fort, he perceived an Indlan peeping through an aperture. In an
instant his rifle was levelled and discharged, and the ball struck the
savage in the eye. While he was reloading, he called to Campbell,
and pointed out to him the hole; “Watch that place,” said he, “‘and
you will soon have a fair chance for a shot.” Scarce had he uttered
the words, when a ball struck him in the shoulder, and almost wheeled
him around. His first thought was to take hold of hls arm with
his other hand, and move it up and down. He ascertained to his
satisfaction, that the bone was not broken. The next moment he was
80 faint he could not stand. Campbell took him in his arms and
carried him out of the thicket. The same shot that struck Sublette,
wounded another man in the head.

A brisk fire was now opened by the mountalneers from the wood,
answered occasionally from the fort. Unluckily, the trappers and
their allles, in searching for the fort, had got scattered, so that
‘Wyeth, and a number of Nez Percés, approached the fort on the
northwest side, while others did the same on the opposite quarter.
A cross-fire thus took place, which occasionally did mischief to
friends as well as foes. An Indlan was shot down, close to Wyeth,
by a ball which, he was convinced, had been sped from the rifle of a
trapper on the other side of the fort.

The number of whites and their Indian allies, had by this time
80 much increased by arrivals from the rendezvous, that the Black-
feet were completely overmatched. They kept doggedly in their
fort, however, making no offer of surrender. An occasional firing
into the breastwork was kept up during the day. Now and then,
one of the Indian allies, in bravado, would rush up to the fort, fire
over the ramparts, tear off a buffalo robe or a scarlet blanket, and
return with it in triumph to his comrades. Most of the savage
garrison that fell, however, were killed in the first part ¢t the attack.

At one time it was resolved to set fire to the fort; and the squaws
belonging to the allies were employed to collect combustibles. This,
however, was abandoned; the Nez Percés being unwilling to destroy
the robes and blankets, and other spoils of the enemy, which they
felt sure would fall into their hands.

The Indians, when fighting, are prone to taunt and revile each
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beaver skins of Gant’s which Stephens had sold to Fitzpat-
rick. No person interfered, for we all knew that it was a
dishonest transaction from beginning to end. Fitzpatrick

other. During one of the pauses of the battle, the voice of the Black-
feet chief was heard.

“8o0 long,’” said he. “‘as we had powder and ball, we fought you
in the open fleld; when those were spent, we retreated here to die
with our women and children. You may burn us in our fort; but, stay
by our ashes, and you who are so hungry for fighting, will soon have
enough. There are four hundred lodges of our brethern at hand.
They will soon be here— their arms are strong—their hearts are big—
they will avenge us!”

This speech was translated two or three times by Nez Percé and
creole interpreters. By the time it was rendered into English the
chief was made to say, that four hundred lodges of his tribe were
attacking the encampment at the other end of the valley. Every one
now was for hurrying to the defense of the rendesvous. A party was
left to keep watch upon the fort; the rest galloped off to the camp. As
night came on, the trappers drew out of the swamp, and remained
about the skirts of the wood. By morning, their companions returned
from the rendezvous, with the report that all was safe. As the
day opened, they ventured within the swamp and approached the fort.
All was silent. They advanced up to it without opposition. They
entered; it had been abandoned in the night, and the Blackfeet had
effected their retreat, carrying off their wounded on litters made of
branches, leaving bloody traces, on the herbage. The bodies of ten
Indians were found within the fort; among them the one shot in the
eye by Sublette. The Blackfeet afterwards reported that they had
lost twenty-six warriors in this battle. Thirty-two horses were like-
wise found killed; among them were some of those recently carried
off from Sublette’'s party, in the night; which showed that these
were the very savages that had attacked him. They proved to be an
advance party of the main body of Blackfeet, which had been upon
the trail of Sublette’s party. Five white men and one half-breed
were killed, and several wounded. B8even of the Nez Percés were also
killed, and six wounded. They had an old chief who was reputed as
invulnerable. In the course of the action he was hit by a spent ball
and threw up blood; but his skin was unbroken. His people were
now fully convinced that he was proof against powder and ball.

A striking circumstance is related as having occurred the morning
after the battle. As some of the trappers and their Indian allies
were approaching the fort, through the woods, they beheld an Indian
woman, of noble form and features, leaning nst a tree. Their
surprise at«ier lingering here alone, to fall into the hands of her
enemies, was dispelled, when they saw the corpse of a warrior at her
feet. Either she was so0 lost in grief as not to perceive their ap-
proach, or a proud spirit kept her silent and motionless. The Indians
set up a yell, on discovering her, and before the trappers could in-
terfere, her mangled body fell upon the corpse which she had refused
to abandon. We have heard this anecdote descredited by one of the
leaders who had been in the battle, but the fact may have taken place
without his seeing it, and been concealed from him. It is an instance
of female devotion, even to the death, which we are well disposed
to believe and to record.

After the battle, the brigade of Miiton Sublette, together with
the free trappers, and Wyeth’s New England band, remanied some
days at the rendezvous, to see if the main body of Blackfeet intended
to make an attack; nothing of the kind occurring, they once more
putntlhem:elves in motion, and proceeded on their route towards the
southwes



LEONARD’S NARRATIVE 121

having every thing in his own possession,was therefore con-
tented and as independent as any mean man who had it in
his power to make his own terms. Stephens, on the con-

It will be observed that Leonard makes no mention of the killing
of the Blackfoot chief, by the Flathead chief and Antoine Godin.

The sequel to this affair occurred some two or three years later,
when Antoine Godin was located at Fort Hall, on the Snake River,
under Wyeth. A party of Blackfeet appeared on the side opposite to
this fort, under the leadership of a notorious desperado named Bird, a
former employee of the Hudson Bay Company, who, having been
made a prisoner by the Blackfeet. in one of their numerous engage-
ments, had remained with them and was at this time quite an im-
portant man among them. From the opposite side of the river he
requested Godin to come over and purchase their furs. This was
very tempting, and Godin, without suspecting treachery, hurried
across the river. He sat down to smoke with the Indians, when Bird
signalled to some of them, who shot him in the back. While he was
yet alive, Bird tore his scalp off and cut the letters “N. J. W.,°
Wyeth's initials, on his forehead. In this melancholy manner ended
the tragedy of Plerre’s Hole.

Nor does Leonard make any mention of any of the prominent
characters, with the exception of Fitzpatrick, who were engaged in
this affair. Willlam L. Sublette and his friend Robert Campbell, two
of the most renowned of the mountain-men, are not mentioned. They
no doubt knew the danger of the undertaking to drive the Blackfeet
from their position, and as they were going into the brush, they, with
others, made their wills, in mountain style, verbally to their friends.
Wyeth's raw recruits from the East were not allowed to engage in the
attack and were kept behind their breastworks.

William L. Sublette was unable to start on his return to the fron-
tier as had been planned; having been severely wounded in this en-
gagement, he was compelled to wait until his wound was healed. Some
of the company, consisting of seven men of Wyeth's party who had be-
come discouraged and were returning home, with Alfred K. Stephens
and four others, the joint party including a Mr. More of Boston, a Mr.
Foy of Mississippi, and two grandsons of the celebrated Daniel Boone
— becoming impatient at the delay, set out from the rendeszvous to
return east, an extremely hazardous undertaking for such a small
company. They had been out but one day, when they were attacked
in Jackson Hole by a band of some twenty Blackfeet. More and Foy
were killed and Stephens severely wounded. He, with the rest of the
party, returned to the rendezvous, where he lingered until the 30th of
July, when he died, just after starting for St. Louis in company with
William L. Sublette. According to Leonard's account they did not
arrive at the rendesvous until August 2, that is, from the Laramie
River, with the main body of Fitzpatrick's men.

It is interesting to follow the movements of the Blackfeet. Those
who came 80 near being annihilated in the battle of Plerre’s Hole,
after their fortunate escape were not long in joining the main body,
who were still hovering about the rendezvous, with a view of attacking
detached parties, as they did Stephens and his company. The camps
of Bonneville and Fontenelle were too well guarded for them to
venture an attack and the battle of Pierre’'s Hole being still fresh in
their memory, they were very circumspect, and allowed Willlam
Sublette and his party to depart peacefully for the East. This band
finally left the country by way of the Wind River valley, where they
fell foul of their inveterate enemies the Crows, by whom they were
attacked and defeated, with farty killed and the remainder scattered
like fugitives throughout the Crow country.

The Blackfeet in the north are much the same as the Apaches In
the south — the uncompromising enemies of the whites as well as of
many other Indian tribes. Their hostility to the whites is by many
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trary, was in a bad situation—having paid before hand, and
not being able to force measures, had to put up with what
he could get. Finally he succeeded in hiring four men, and
started back to the mouth of the Laramies to secure the fur
which he had sold to Fitzpatrick.* He had not left many
days, however, until he was overtaken by a scouting party
of those Indians we had surrounded in the fort. Two of his
men were killed,f and himsclf shot through the thigh —
having the two mules along, which was the ballance of the
original stock, one of which was killed, and the other
brought back the wounded Stephens, who died in a few
days afterwards from mortification taking place in the
wounded leg.

A few days after this occurrence, we were visited by a
party belonging to the Nor-West] or British trading com-
pany, from whom we were enabled to learn the way the
Blackfeet Indians had got possession and fought under
the British flag. It appeared by their story that these In-
dians some months previous, had fell on a party belonging
to their company —but few of whom escaped to tell

attributed to the killing of some of their number by Lewis and Clark;
but if such is the case they must have long ere this satisfled thelr
revengeful feelings. Probably no tribe in the West {s responsible for
the death of so many whites as the Blackfeet. The more probable
cause is that the whites in the south furnished their enemies with
arms and equipment similar to those furnished them by the British
fur companies, and made them quite as formidable and dangerous
as they were themeelves. With their primitive weapons some of the
tribes were almost exterminated by the relentless wars waged on
them by the hostile Blackfeet. They also furnished goods at second
hand to some of their less fortunate brethren, and in this way did
quite a thriving and profitable business.

*We have here a very good explanation for the movements of
Stephens, who no doubt intended to return to the mouth of the
Laramie and recover the furs he had sold to Fitzpatrick, and dispose
of them, or carry them to St. Louis.

tMore and Foy.

$The company here referred to was the Hudson Bay Company. as
there was no Northwest Company In existence at this period. These
two companies consolidated in 1821, and were at this time trading
wholly under the name of the Hudson Bay Company, the Northwest
Company went out of existence with the consolidation. They were
both British Companies.
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the fate of their comrades — and among the spoils which
they obtained, was this flag, which they used as a signal
to deceive and mislead their enemies, whom they might
meet in these extensive plains.*

Sept. 1st. After remaining here until to-day, during
which time Mr. Saunders joined our company of fifteen,
which made up for the one that was killed, and who was
the only one besides myself, of Capt. Gant’s company;
leaving the balance with Fitzpatrick — some hiring with
their equipments which they purchased on credit. — We
set to work making preparation to start the following
morning, on our second attempt to reach some region
where we could prosecute our business of trapping to
some advantage. The conditions of our agreement were
the same, as on the first expedition, viz:—each man to
find an equal portion of traps, guns, and ammunition, and
to receive an equal share of the peltries which we might
catch.

On the morning of the 2nd Sept., having every thing
ready, we left the rendezvous, all in a fine humor.f We
arrived on the head waters of the Multenemoughi river
without any thing of moment occurring—where we made
our fall’s hunt. After travelling near 100 miles South West

*The party here referred to was that of John Work, of the Hudson
Bay Company, who succeeded Peter Skene Ogden in command of
these mountain expeditions. He left Fort Vancouver August 18, 1831,
and returned in July, 1833. Work had trouble with the Blackfeet, had
frequent skirmishes with them in which he lost some men and
frequently met parties of the Rocky Mountain and American fur
companies. He trapped on the Jefferson branch of the Missouri,
Salmon River, and elsewhere. On the 20th of January, 1832, he was
attacked by three hundred Blackfeet on a small branch of the
Missourf. One of his men was killed and two wounded; the loss of the
Blackfeet was considerable.

tCaptain Bonneville arrived at Pierre’s Hole shortly after Leon-
ard’s departure, and it is not likely he saw him this year as he does
not mention him.

$The river here referred to is the Willamette, in Oregon. The
name Multnomah was given to it by Lewis and Clark, when they
made their famous journey across the continent. Leonard may have
been mistaken in regard to this as we shall see later.
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from the top of the mountains, or from the head of Lewis
river, we got totally out of the range of the buffaloe. We
were told by the natives that those animals were never
known further west, which is something singular, as the
country is just the same, if not better as to grass. These
Indians subsist principally upon salmon, and such other
fish as they can catch, with the assistance of roots, buds,
berries, & some small game, which they kill with the bow
and arrow. They are generally of a more swarthy nature,
small and cowardly, and travel in small gangs of from four
to five families—this they are compelled to do in order
to keep from starvation. They are always roving from
plain to plain, and from valley to valley — never remaining
in one place longer than till game gets scarce. When on
the move the women have to perform the most laborious
part — having charge of the transportation of their bag-
gage. While doing this, a female, the most feeble of their
sex, will carry a load of perhaps a hundred weight a whole
day, without manifesting the least fatigue or complaint.
This tribe, which I believe is called the Bawnack, or Sho-
shonies, are the most indolent, and have the least ambi-
tion of any tribe we had yet discovered. They are lazy
and dirty ; and only strive to get as much as will keep them
from starving. They are no way ill disposed towards the
whites, or at least they never disturbed us — with the ex-
ception of stealing a few of our traps.* We continued
moving down the Multenemough for several hundred
miles, during which time we subsisted principally upon
beaver, deer, and bighorn—though we still had a little
jirked buffaloe meat. Between trapping and trading we
had made quite a profitable hunt. To get a beaver skin

from these Indians worth eight or ten dollars, never cost

*This description is scarcely in accord with what we know of the
Bannocks or S8hoshones (Snakes). It seems rather to apply to the
Pai-utes or Diggers (Root Diggers).
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more than an awl, a fish hook, a knife, a string of beads, or
something equally as trifling.*

*As we follow the peregrinations of the above, we are more
fully convinced that he was one of Sinclair’'s free trappers. George
Nidever who was one of this company, says: ‘“The original company
under Robert Bean had left Fort Smith, Arkansas, about forty strong
in May, 1830. It included many men afterwards well known in Califor-
nia, which country they entered at different times and by different
routes. S8uch were Graham, Naile, Nidever, Williams, Price, ese, and
Dye.”” Their adventures are related at some length by both Nidever
and Dye down to the time when the party was divided in New Mexico
in the spring of 1831; and the later adventures of the partv of fifteen
that went north to Green River are recounted by Nidever, who says
that Graham, Nalle, and Price were still with him. He refers to the
year 1831, to Plerre’s Hole in 1832, and Green River in 1833. This was
Sinclair's party, he being also from Arkansas. Leonard joined them
at Plerre’'s Hole and after the death of Sinclair Mr. 8aunders joined
them, Leonard stating that they were the only two of the original
Gant company who were in the party. Some authorities state there
iwerel fifteen men, while others say fifteen and the leader — sixteen
n all

The Graham mentioned above received a great deal of notoriety
some years later in California, as being the central figure in what was
called the ‘“‘Graham affair.”” It occurred in 1840. Alfred Robinson gives
the following account of the same: ‘‘Graham had a fine horse, which
he had trained for the turf, and had challenged the whole country to
the course. At length a countryman of his, residing in the Pueblo de
los Angeles made arrangements to race the noble gelding, with a
high-mettled racer from 8an Diego. A document was drawn up on
the occasion, which was intended solely to bind more strictly the
parties interested. This document was construed into a plan to
overturn the government — a plan to plunder and destroy what was
left of the missions — a plan to deprive the Californians of their lives
and country. As ridiculous as this may appear to the reader, much
less, it is a fact, to which I can testify from information I received
on the spot, shortly after its occurrence. This intelligence was secret-
ly conveyed to all the authorities throughout the country, with
explicit orders from Governor Alvarado to secure and imprison the
foreigners. But to take the Tennesseean [Graham], it was thought
requisite to take an armed force, under the command of the renowned
José Castro. They found him asleep in his rude dwelling, when the
report of a pistol awakened him and he sprang quickly towards the
door. S8everal villains discharged their pistols at him, so near, as to
fire his shirt in many places. He attempted to escape but was seized
and dragged to prison.

‘““As soon as practical on the part of the government, a vessel was
chartered, and the Americans and Englishmen who had been collected
at different points were embarked, in chains, and sent to San Blas.

“This achievement was followed by a public expression of thanks
to the Omnipotent power who thus saved California from destruction.
Mass was celebrated, following which Governor Alvarado circulated
his famous proclamation.

““Almost every foreigner in the whole of California was arrested,
and many were collected at the sea-ports, of whom forty-five at least
were sent to San Blas."”

Bancroft does not give Graham a very good character.

We shall now try to follow Milton Sublette, Wyeth, and the free
trappers on their way from Pierre’s Hole after the engagement with
the Blackfeet. On the 24th of July, 1832, Wyeth, who only wished a
safe escort out of the Blackfoot country, and Milton Sublette again
set out on their journey. They went south across Snake River, and
then took a southwesterly direction to the Portneuf River, and thence
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As winter was approaching, we began to make ar-

rangements to return to some more favourable climate, by

to the Snake River near the American Falls, where they arrived on
the thirteenth of August. Their further course for many weeks lay
among the streams that empty into the Snake from the south, where
Wyeth, in order perhaps to gain experience, tried his hand at trapping.
He was moderately successful, but was compelled to cache the furs
he accumulated, because his party was too small to transport them.
Ondthe 29th of August Wyeth parted company with Sublette (Chit-
tenden).

“We have thus eliminated from our party Wyeth and his raw New
Englanders, who spent the following winter on the Columbia River
with the Hudson Bay Company. We know that Leonard did not ac-
company them. It is altogether likely that as soon as the fail hunt be-
gan the free trappers went to the headwaters of the Mary’'s River, as
stated by Nidever, while the parties of Sublette and Wyeth trapped on
the above-mentioned streams. Meck states that Sublette trapped on the
headwaters of the Humboldt to some extent and on the Owyhee, and
through a desert country in which they suffered dreadfully and had to
resort to the most repulsive methods of satizfying their hunger and
thirst. In this sad plight they reached the Snake River. Here the
back of one of the mules becoming sore. the packing in the saddle
was taken out and a large pin accidentally found, which caused the
sore back. They were not long in bending the pin into the shape of
a flsh-hook, and in weaving a line of hair taken from the horses’
tails, the fish were soon frving in the pan which supplied them
with an excellent supper. They caught an additional =upply and
carried them along for future use. They went on their way rejoicing,
says Meek, with their five fishes tied to the saddle, if without any
loaves. They then followed up Payette River to the lake of that
name, when Meek with three companions went as far north as the
S8almon River. Meek then leaves for the east side of the mountains
with Fitzpatrick and Bridger, trapping on the headwaters of the
Missouri River, and finally going into winter-quarters at the forks of
the Snake River.”” We have here the wanderings of Mlilton Sublette’'s
company; judging from Leonard's description of his travels, we must
conclude that he wns with the free trappers of Sinclair. In support
of this we have the account of Nidever which practically agrees with
that of Leonard, and we know him to have been one of the fifteen.

Nidever says: ‘‘After lengthy trapping excursions on the eastern
side of the Rocky Mountains between Texas and Nebraska, In
November, 1831, crossed from the Platte to Green River where he went
into winter-quarters. Early in August, 1832, three parties under
Nidever, Frapp, and Wyatt [possibly Wyeth] sef ou? from the Pierre
Hole rendesvons on trapping expeditions westward. Nidever's  destina-
tion was Ogden's River, which he then called Mary River, a small
stream about southwwest of Salt Lake. Frapp's company was mostly
Canadians and half breeds [the other party he does not describe].
The next morning they discovered a band of four hundred war-painted
Blackfeet.” He then gives a very poor account of the battle of
Plerre’s Hole as compared with other authorities, although the leading
events are perfectly plain. He mentions the wounding of *“Willlam
Sinclair, Phelps, Sublette, and others, and fifty Blackfeet killed.”

Hastening forward from that hostile region the three companies
soon parted, and Nidever set his traps on Ogden River where he
remained, with fair success, until October. (It will be remembered that
he stated he was in command of one company, and it is reasonable to
suppose the fifteen remained together for protection, etc. Leonard says
that they arrived in the Buffalo country about the first of November.)
He then returned to the eastern slope (Rocky Mountains) for the
winter, and came again the following spring to Green River [the
Green River rendezvous, 1833] — Bancroft, History of Nevada, p. 89.
This is8 strictly in accord with Leonard’'s movements, as given in his
narrative, with the exception of the trapping on the Multenemough.-
which must be an error.
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collecting our fur, and giving each man his share of the
baggage. We travelled back with great speed, and ar-
rived in the buffaloe country on the first of November,*
where we met with a nation of Snake Indians, with whom
we made some small trades for buffaloe robes and skins for
the winter. The manners and customs of the Snake In-
dians are very similar to those of the Flatheads, with the
exception of stealing, which they consider no harm. The
Snake Indians, or as some call them, the Shoshonies, were
once a powerful nation, possessing a glorious hunting
ground on the east side of the mountains ; but they, like the
Flatheads, have been almost annihilated by the revengeful
Blackfeet, who, being supplied with firearms were enabled
to defeat all Indian opposition. Their nation has been
entirely broken up and scattered throughout all this wild
region. The Shoshonies are a branch of the once powerful
Snake tribe, as are also the more abject and forlorn tribe of
Shuckers, or more generally termed, Diggers and Root
eaters, who keep in the most retired recesses of the moun-
tains and streams, subsisting on the most unwholesome
food, and living the most like animals of any race of
beings.{

We left the Snake Indians and took a more Southern

*Leonard and his company made their fall hunt on the headwaters
of the Humboldt (Ogden or Mary's River), or possibly on the head-
waters of the Owyhee and not on the Multnomah or Willamette, for
the following reasons: they could scarcely have covered the distance
in the time given by him and had any time left for the fall hunt; the
direction they took In traveling to the southwest would scarcely have
brought them to the headwaters of the latter stream; his description
of the Indians does not apply to those of southern Oregon nor to those
along the Mary's and Owyhee rivers. Milton Sublette, with whom they
started out, made his fall hunt in this locality, and they no doubt did
the same, as the fleld was amply large. Nidever, who was probably one
of lL.eonard’'s company, states that they made their fall hunt on the
Humboldt, and the most convincing circumstance is that, by traveling
down the Willamette two hundred miles (the river being little more
than this distance in length), they would have found themselves at
the Hudson Bay Company’s post of Fort Vancouver.

tMuch confusion exists with regard to this tribe of Snake or
8hoshonie Indians, as will be seen by comparing this with the pre-
ceding paragraph. They are however branches of one and the same
family, the former much degenerated, being the much despised Shuck-
ers, Diggers, or Root Eaters. Leonard is in error in calling them
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direction to the Bear river, which empties into Big
Salt Lake — followed this river for two days, and then
crossed over to Weabers river. These two rivers are about
the same size, say from two to three hundred yards wide,
& from three to four hundred miles long.— They run
South parallel with each other, and empty into the Big
Salt Lake on the Nor[t]h side, at no great distance apart.—
This lake is much larger than any other west of the
mountains — supposed to be 200 miles long, and near
the same in width. It is surrounded on the North, about
the mouths of the rivers, by a mountainous & broken
country, and on the South & West by a barren, sandy
plain, in a manner incapable of vegetation. There is also
a hill or peak near the centre of it so high that the snow
remains on it the greater part of the year. The water is of
such a brackish nature that only part of it freezes in the
coldest weather of the winter season. Its briny substance
prevents all vegetation within a considerable distance of
the margin of the lake. The Bear and Weabers rivers are
the principal streams by which it is fed. In the Spring of
the yvear, when the snow and ice melts and runs down off
the mountains, this lake rises very high, on account of it
having no outlet ; and in the fall, or latter part of summer it
sinks — leaving salt one and two inches thick on some parts
of its shores. It is situated on the west side of the moun-
tains, between the waters of the Columbia and Rio Cole-
rado. or Red river, and is called by the natives, the Great
Salt Lake. The rivers which empty into this lake abound
with many kinds of fish, such as trout, cat-fish, and others

suitable for hook and line, particularly at their mouths.

Bawnacks (Bannocks); this is a distinct tribe as we know them,
although of the same family. The latter were one of the most warlike
tribes in the mountains, and in this respect resembling their plains
brethren, the Comanches. In later years they became the banditti
of the plains, along the California and Oregon trafls, causing the
early overland emigrants much trouble, in this respect differing
greatly from their mountain brethren the Shoshonies.

This family (Shoshonean) represents the chivalry of the mountain
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Where the country is low, and small streams empties into
them, the dams of the beaver causes the water to overflow
its banks, and makes a swampy, marshy country for miles
round. People trapping on these streams are compelled
to construct canoes of Bull and buffaloe skins, in order to
visit their traps.

On leaving this lake we continued our journey towards
the head waters of the Colerado, which stream empties into
the Gulf of Calafornia. After a tedious, but not unpleasant
tramp of several days we came to a beautiful situation on
one of the main feeders of this river, where we halted to
make preparations to spend the winter —it now being
about the middle of November. We had remained here
but a few days, during which time we were occupied in
building tents, &c, for winter, when we were visited by a
party of 70 or 80 Indian warriors. These Indians mani-
fested the best of friendship towards us, while in our camp,
and said they were going to war with the Snake Indians —
whose country we were now in — and they also said they
belonged to the Crow nation on the East side of the moun-
tains. In all the intercourse had with them, while they
were with us, not the least symptom of deception was
discovered, and they parted with us manifesting as much
regret as if we had been old acquaintances. But we were
doomed to experience the faith of the Crow nation — for,
on the same night of their departure, they returned and
stole five of our best hunting horses. This was a serious
loss to us, and a valuable prize for them—for an Indian be-
longing to these hunting and warring tribes is poor indeed
and plains tribes, as well as the lowest of all American Indians.

The description of the 8hoshonies or Snakes in the last paragraph,
:?:;ne:l?lc;’gda);‘vstt%;gg %e::f," f’rt\'rfx'm’s?i{?.he{n:? :!a:es ;:)gg gsp}:t‘:gert!ltl:ﬁvg
of the best mountain tribes in this territory. As stated, the terrible
wars_have depleted their numbers, but they compare well with the
Nez Percés and Flatheads and rove over a vast territory, being well

supplied with horses. Alexander Ross who knew them in their most
prosperous days gives probably the best description of them.

9
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if he is not the owner of a horse, as it is upon this animal
they much depend for success in chasing the buffaloe, and
upon him greatly depends the fate of the battle.

Having a man in our company who had once been a
captive in their village, and who could talk and understand a
little of their language, we resolved at all hazards to give
chase and retake our horses. We steered across the moun-
tains towards the Southern head waters of the Missouri riv-
er. The first stream we came to on the east side is called
Bighorn river — down which stream we travelled for some
days, until we came to their village situated at the mouth of
Stinking river. In this village we found a negro man,*
who informed us that he first came to this country with
Lewis & Clark — with whom he also returned to the State
of Missouri, and in a few years returned again with a Mr.
Mackinney,f a trader on the Missouri river, and has re-
mained here ever since — which is about ten or twelve
years. He has acquired a correct knowledge of their man-
ner of living, and speaks their language fluently. He has
rose to be quite a considerable character, or chief, in their
village ; at least he assumes all the dignities of a chief, for
he has four wives with whom he lives alternately. This is
the custom of many of the chiefs.

After informing the negro of our stolen horses, he told
us that they had them, and that the reason they were taken
from us was because we were found in their enemies’ coun-
try, and that they supposed we were going to trade them
guns, &c. By giving the chiefs some trifling presents our
horses were produced in as good trim as when they left us.

(I shall say nothing more of these Indians at present, as I

*This is the renegade Rose, as described in Irving’s Astoria. He
was never with Lewis and Clark: we shall have occasion farther on
to glve a more complete account of him.

t Mackinney: 'We know of no trader on the Missouri, by this name
at the time mentioned; he probably refers to Kenneth MacKensie,
king of the Upper Missouri Outfit, American Fur Company, who was
a very prominent man in his time, but it is cvidenu¥ a mistake as to time, as
the latter did not appear upon the river until after 1821.
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shall have occasion to speak of them when I again visit
their village.)

About the first of January 1833, the game getting
scarce in this vicinity, the Indians left us & moved down
the river. We remained at this station employing our
time in hunting, fishing, and such other sports as we could
come at, but without any particular occurrence, until the
2oth of February, when we set out on our spring hunt.
We crossed the country to the river Platte without any
difficulty, and continued down this stream to the junction
of it and the Laramies, where we had joined Fitzpatrick’s
company in the previous spring, and where also we had
parted with Capt. Gant. On encamping for the night we
found a tree off which the bark was pealed, and wrote on
with a coal, that, by searching in a certain place mentioned,
we would find a letter, — which we did, and found the docu-
ment, written in Gant’s hand, which stated that only two
parties had returned, viz: — Washburns and his own —
and also that Capt. Blackwell had come up from the States
with a supply of provision, merchandize, ammunition, &c.
The letter went on to detail the hardships, sufferings, and
misfortunes which they had encountered, which only
amounted to this: that they had lost their horses last
winter, and had been to Santa Fe and purchased more —
while crossing the mountain his party had accidentally met
with Washburn and his company — that they then ascer-
tained for the first, that the company was insolvent and
had declined doing business in this country — and that
they [Gant's party] had left this place in September last,
to go and establish a trading post on the Arkansas river,
with the Arpahee Indians.* The letter closed by stating

*We have no knowledge of the location of this trading-post; the
only other trading-post on the Arkansas at this period was Bent's
Fort established in 1829. The Arapahoes were at this time located in

the eastern part of the present state of Colorado, between the Arkan-
sas and the South Platte.
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that Stephen’s party had left him and joined Fitzpatrick.
"This letter was directed to Mr. Saunders, who was in our
company, and who, Gant supposed, would be the first to
return.

Soon after the contents of the letter were made known
to the company, some men were sent across the Laramies
river to see if they could make any discoveries of import-
ance, as we could see the remains of what we supposed to
be an old encampment on its banks. These men, after
searching for some time, found where several buffaloe had
been slaughtered, and from the manner in which it was
done, it was evident that it was the work of a party of hos-
tile Indians — and not being able to trace which direction
they had steered, we were at a great loss to know what to
do — having no person to act as commander. There was
much difference of opinion and great contention about
which way we should take. Our object was, if possible, to
avoid meeting with the Indians, as our force was small, and
not well prepared to encounter a band of savages defended
with firearms. Finally, it was decided that we should
leave the rivers and strike for the mountains — thinking
this route the least dangerous. After travelling an hour
or so, we suddenly met with a body of eight or ten on
horse back, who we judged to be hunting — not being
backward about meeting with such a number, we marched
boldly towards them. On this they immediately galloped
off under full speed, in the direction which we were going.
Thinking the main body to be in that direction, we thought
to avoid them by turning to the right and keeping near the
river. We did not advance far in this direction, however,
until we suddenly came upon their encampment. Being
thus led into their strong hold by mere accident, we held a
hurried consultation as to our own safety. Their horses
and white lodges could be distinctly seen although we were
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some distance off, and we flattered ourselves that we had
not yet been discovered by any in the village, and that we
might yet escape. With this hope we sounded a retreat
and marched slowly & silently back for the purpose of
sheltering ourselves with the timber, where we intended to
build a fort immediately, for we knew that even if we were
not discovered now, the party we first met would give the
alarm, and the chase would be commenced. In going
along, juking from bluff to bluff, in order to avoid being
seen, we were overtaken by a single Indian on horseback.
He would ride up at full gallop within 20 or 30 steps of us,
and then suddenly wheel, ride back towards the camp, and
then return as before. After repeating this several times,
some of our men, when he came close, raised their guns,
and he, thinking there might be danger in running away,
came to us and told us that the chief had sent for us to
come to his tent, to eat, smoke and be friendly. Not having
confidence in his good intentions, all declined the invitation,
but told the messenger that we would just retire into the
timber, (where we intended to be occupied in the meantime
in building a fort,) and that if the chief wished to have
any thing to say to us, he could come there — for which we
started into the woods, taking this fellow with us, with the
intention of keeping him until the fort would be erected.
After going but a short distance our prisoner broke
loose, and immediately ran onto some rising ground, where
he made his horse perform many singular feats as a signal
for his followers. We galloped off as fast as we could, but
were soon surrounded on all sides, without any thing to
shelter us, except a hole formed by the sinking of water —
which are very numerous in some of these plains. Into
this hole we drove our horses, and expected to reach the
top in time to keep the Indians at bay, and make peace with
them. Before we got our horses properly secured in this
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hole there was hundreds of red men standing above and
eagerly looking down upon us, uttering the most terrifying
yells of vengeance, brandishing their guns, bows and spears
as if they would devour us.— We were in just such a situa-
tion now, as is calculated to bring on despair, with all its
horrifying feelings, — each man holding his gun cocked and
ready, resolved to sell his life only with the last drop of
blood.— We stood in this situation, for a few minutes, wait-
ing for them to commence, when there was one rushed into
their ranks apparently much excited, who on addressing a
few words to the warriors, they all put down their arms,
and made signs to us to come out, that they would not
molest us. This we did, but it was with a watchful, jealous
eye. The man whose timely arrival seemed to have put a
stop to their designs, and who doubtless here saved our
lives, now came forward and signified to us that we had
better go with them to their camp, and eat, drink and
smoke, and he would exert his influence not to have us
hurt — which advice we accordingly followed — taking our
horses with us. On arriving at their camp, we found two
who could talk the Crow language. The Rickarees* (the
nation in whose hands we now were) on being at war with
the Crow nation took these two prisoners, as they told us,
and adopted them as their brethren.— After manifesting a
desire to be friendly with them, by smoking, &c. these
Crow prisoners informed us that, had it not been for the

®*Aricaras, commonly called Rees by the traders, next to the
Blackfeet were more dreaded by the whites than any other northern
tribe. The outrages and loss of life suffered at their hands form a
mournful chapter in the history of the Missouri Valley.

The principal characteristic of the Aricara Indians, so far as it
relates to the fur-trade, was their treacherous and warllke attitude
toward the whites. What can have been the cause of their bad faith
and their many atrocities has always been a mystery. They were
friende today and enemies tomorrow. One party of trappers they
would treat with hospitality; the next they would seek to destroy.
After Colonel Leavenworth's campaign, which was supposed to have
subdued them, they became more troublesome than ever before. They
abandoned their old villages and moved up to the neighborhood of the
Mandans. They soon returned, however, and some years later migvated,
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timely arrival of the chief, when we were in the hole, we
would most certainly have been cut to pieces. This is
altogether probable. The feelings of every individual, as
well as those of myself, when surrounded in this hole, were
horrible in the extreme. The thought struck me, as I leaned
against a rock, that here I must end my career. Our feel-
ings may be imagined, but not described.

The Crow prisoners told us that the only reason they
knew why the chief had interceded for us, was because he
had not previously been consulted on the subject, (having
been absent when we were discovered in the plain.) This
chief took a particular liking for us, and seemed deter-
mined to save us from the destructive vengeance of his
people. He prepared a comfortable lodge for our own
accommodation, in which we slept and eat. We remained
in this situation two days and part of the third night, with-
out any thing to disturb us — during which time the Crow
prisoners had many questions to ask about their own peo-
ple. They appeared to be well treated, but notwithstanding
they were anxious to make their escape. About midnight
of the third night, our friendly chief, who slept with us
every night, awoke us all, and told us the horrors of our
situation. He said that he had a great many bad men
among his followers, and that he was unable to appease
their angry nature much longer — the red man thirsts for

it is said, to the North Platte. It was their depredations and murders
committed upon trading parties in that region that induced N. J.
Wyeth and others in 1883 to return from Green River to the States
by way of the Bighorn, Yellowstone, and Missouri rather than risk
the journey across the plains; and also led to the military expedition
to the Upper Platte under Colonel Dodge in 1835.

These are the same Indians who furnished the horses for both
tHu(x’lt's) overland Astorians, in 1811, and General Ashley in 1823 (Chit-
enden).

Sueh was the character and reputation of the Indians with whom
Leonard and his party had to deal, and they certainly maintained
their reputation in their treatment of this company, the humane
action of the chief can only be explained by the above.
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blood — that he had succeeded in saving us thus far,
through much exertion — & that now, as the whole village
was wrapt in slumber, it would be a fit time for us to
escape. He gave us strict orders to travel with all speed,
and not to slacken our pace for two days and nights, for he
said as soon as our departure would be known, we would
be pursued. When our horses were brought out and all
things was ready, we were escorted by the chief until day-
light, when he left us and returned — manifesting the most
intense anxiety for our safety. Indeed we were loth to
part with this kind man, for we felt as if we were indebted
to him for our lives. After parting with the chief, we
pursued our journey with great speed, until the evening of
the second day, when we were obliged to stop by a snow
storm, which threatened us with destruction. We here
turned our panting horses loose to graze, and made prepar-
ations to pass the night — which we did undisturbed. In
the morning, two of the horses were not to be found. All
search was in vain, and we gave them up ‘or lost — con-
cluding that they had fell into the hands of our enemies,
and if so, we had better be on the move, as they were
doubtless close at hand ; but the owner, not being satisfied,
again started out. — This detained us a while longer, when,
apprehending danger from the Indians, we fired two guns
as a signal for him that we were going, if he was yet in
hearing. @ We resumed our journey, and after travel-
ling a few miles, halted for the straggler — but he never
returned.

The Rickarees are a powerful nation, consisting of
about 1000 warriors. Their principal chief is called High-
backed Wolf. Some twelve or fifteen years since, they
were very friendly with the whites. This friendship was
interrupted by the following circumstance: — About eight

—— s e

-—“‘
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or ten years since, Mr. Mackenzie* took a chief from three
different nations (one of which was a Rickaree,) to Wash-
ington city, and while taking them back to their native
wilds through Virginia, the Rickaree chief took sick and
died in the city of Richmond. Mackenzie returned with
the other two, Asnaboin and Mandan. While passing the
Rickaree village, (which was then situated on the Missouri
river, from whence they have since removed to this coun-
try,) Mackenzie stopped and informed them of the fate
of their chief — which they disbelieved, and immediately
declared war against the whites. They were much enraged,
and made a violent attack upon the boats containing the
merchandize of Mr. Mackenzie —a great part of which
they destroyed, and have since been the cause of the death
of numbers of white men.{

April 10th. Having lost all hope of being rejoined by
our lost man, who we concluded had been captured by the
Indians, we resumed our journey with 14 men.} — Beaver
we found in abundance — catching more or less every day,
and every thing seemed to promise a profitable business,
until the 7th day of May — a day which will ever be remem-
bered by each of us. Having encamped the night previous
on a small creek in the Black Hills, or on the head waters
of the river Platte, without timber or any thing to shelter
ourselves, in case of an attack by the Indians, within 8o or
100 yards. We this evening again turned our horses loose

*This name has heretofore been printed AMackinny —by mistake. — PUB.
[Note in original.)

{I am unable to find any trace of this delegation having visited
‘Washington; neither the Indian Bureau nor the Bureau of Ethnolo
are able to furnish any information as to these Indians. From the
Tharetore. very difficalt o trace ih the public Grints, very Meagre et
ords having been kept at this early day by &e government of these
delegations of Indians who visited Washington. The records of the

Virginia Historical S8oclety make no mention of the death and burial
of the Rickaree or Aricara, at the time mentioned, in Richmond.

$It will be observed that Leonard checks the number of men, and
up to the present time there must have been fifteen.
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to graze, which is not by any means customary and much
less prudent, while travelling through a country infested
with hostile savages,as they are always hoveringaround the
encampment, ready to lay hands on any thing which they
fancv. But on the present occasion we thought ourselves
secure, as we had not seen nor met with any Indians for
several days. On the following morning our horses were
in sight on a hill a little above the encampment. About
g o'clock three of us started to bring them down prepara-
tory to our start. As there was no danger apprehended,
neither of us took our guns. When we got to the top of the
hill the horses were not to be seen — having descended the
hill on the other side. The other two men soon found their
horses and started with them to camp. — After searching
a while I found mine with several others. The horses ap-
appeared much frightened, and I began to apprehend some
danger. Whilst leading my horse towards the camp, an
Indian, armed with a bow and arrow, came rushing upon
me.— I made several attempts to mount, but as often
failed, for as I would spring to get on he would jump from
under me. The savage now approached within about
fifteen steps of me, and signified that he would slay me
unless I stopped and delivered up my horse. I sprang
behind a bunch of bushes, which afforded me a tolerable
shelter. He then made signs to me that if I would deliver
myself up he would not hurt me. But this I refused. My
only weapon was a large knife, which I carried in a scab-
bard at my waist. I drew this out and proposed to meet
him. He then gave me to understand, that if I would lay
down the knife he would lay down the bow and arrow, and
we would meet and be friends. This I also refused to do.—
He made use of various inducements to get me from behind
the bush, but I heeded them not, for I knew his intention
was to kill me if it was in his power. He still advanced
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slowly toward me. I had been in several dangerous
situations with the Indians and wild beasts, — in some of
which I had almost despaired. But none seemed to cause
the same feeling as did my present predicament. Alone,
and unarmed — my situation was distressing indeed. I
had no chance of escaping, and an immediate and cruel
death I knew would be my fate if I surrendered. Whilst
reflecting on what to do, and looking at him through an
aperture in the bush, he shot an arrow at me, which
fortunately missed its aim, and struck a branch within a
few inches of my face, and fell harmless to the ground. By
this time he had got quite close and being below me on the
hill side, the thought struck me that I might despatch him
with a stone — for which purpose I stooped down to get
one, and carelessly let my body move from the shelter
afforded by the brush, and at that instant I felt the pointed
arrow pierce my side. I jirked the weapon out immediately,
and started to run, still holding to my horse. I expected
every moment as I ran quartering past the Indian to re-
ceive another, which I most certainly would have done, if
the savage had been in the possession of any more; and to
run to the brush for those he had already discharged at me,
would only be giving me time to escape. He then pursued
me. After running a short distance I thought that my
horse might be the means of saving my life, if I would
leave him for the Indian, and accordingly I released my
hold ; but the Indian disregarded the horse and followed
me. By this time, owing to the loss of blood from my
wound, and the great excitement I was under, I began to
grow weak and faint, for I thought that every moment
would be my last, as I heard the Indian puffing & blowing
in my rear. We were now within sight of our camp, and
were fortunately discovered by the men then there, who
immediately ran to my relief. When I seen the face of my



140 LEONARD’S NARRATIVE

companions, I lost all my strength and fell prostrate to the
ground. The Indian, foiled in his design on my life,
retreated for the purpose of making sure of my horse, but
in this he was also mistaken, for in turn he was pursued
by my companions as hotly as he had chased me. When
my mind again resumed its sway, I found myself in the
camp carefully attended by my companions.

On entering into conversation with my companions, 1
found that I was not the only one who had encountered
the Indians. I was ignorant of any more Indians being in
the neighborhood than the one above alluded to, but it ap-
peared by their story that, when the two men who started
out with me, were returning with the horses, they came
across a large body of Indians, supposed to be about 200,
who, after a sharp engagement, in which one of our men,
named Gillam, of Illinois, was killed,and two wounded, suc-
ceeded in takingall ourhorses except two. Whilst Iwaslist-
ening to this lamentable story,our spies came running to the
camp, bringing the unwelcome tidings that the Indians
were again approaching with great speed, determined to
ride over us. Each man now gathered a robe, blanket, guns,
and such things as he could not do without, & carried the
wounded into the brush at the foot of the hill, where we
immediately commenced building a fort. The Indians
approached and surrounded our encampment very cau-
tiously, thinking that they would take us by surprise, and
capture man, beast and baggage without any difficulty —
but they were outrageous when they found that there was
no body at home. They made the best of their victory
however, and took every thing we had left. — When they
had completed the pillage, which was only done when they
could no longer find any thing on which to lay their hands,
they started off with their booty.— After they had travelled
some distance they halted and collected in a circle, within

——— ...__...-uand
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plain view of where we were, and smoked to the Sun, or
Great Spirit. While going through this ceremony, some
of them happened to discover us. On this, they quit
smoking, left their horses and came on foot within 30 or 40
steps of us, — but on seeing our fort, which was only partly
built, they turned away and left us, without making any
attack. We remained in this situation until morning —
those who were able, being occupied in completing our fort.
Soon after daylight the Indians again made their appear-
ance, and approached within a stones throw of the fort,
and on reconnoitering our situation they concluded that we
were too well defended for them to gain any advantage
over us, — and the second time they left us without giving
us a chance of trying our strength.

This morning I felt very weak and feeble from my
wound, and began to fear that it was more serious than
was at first supposed. About 10 o’clock the company was
ready for the move, and I was packed between two horses.
After travelling two or three miles we halted to rest near
some brush — but not without having sentinels stationed
for the purpose of keeping a vigilant look-out, for we <till
expected an attack from the Indians. Not long after we
halted our sentinels informed us that the savages were
again approaching. We immediately went into the brush
and commenced throwing up a fort. They this time ap-
proached very cautiously, & seemed determined to put an
end to our lives. When they observed that we were
defended by a breast work, they halted, reconnoitered
on every side, and finally gave up and left us. These
Indians who had hung round our path so long, robbed us
of so much necessary property, killed one and wounded
three of us, and came so nigh exterminating our whole
company, we found out, belonged to the Rickaree tribe —
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the same who frightened us in the sink hole, on Platte
river.

It was now that we had leisure to contemplate our
situation. Some of us had laboured hard, encountered one
danger only to be eclipsed by another. We had at times
endured the most excruciating suffering from hunger and
fatigue — living in constant communion with the terrors
of a wilderness studded with savages and no less dangerous
beasts of prey, for two long years, and now left destitute
of every thing except an old greasy blanket, a rifle and a
few loads of ammunition, some thousands of miles from
our paternal homes. To reflect on our present situation
was enough to fill every heart with all the horrors of
remorse. In fact, we felt a disposition about this time to
do that which would not have been right, had an oppor-
tunity afforded. When we first embarked in this business
it was with the expectation that to ensure a fortune in the
fur trade only required a little perseverance and industry.
We were not told that we were to be constantly annoyed
by the Indians, but that it only required the observance of
a peaceful disposition on our part, to secure their friendship
and even support. Some of the Indians with whom we
had intercourse, it is true, had been of great advantage to
us in our trapping expeditions; but then it would be of
short duration, — for, if they would not render themselves
obnoxious by their own treachery, our friendship with them
would be sure to meet with an interruption through some
ingenious artifice of a neighbouring jealous tribe. Such had
been the life we had led, and such the reward.*

*Such has been the experience not only of Leonard but of a great
majority of the free trappers in the mountains. A number of
those who were so fortunate as to escape the Indians and the dal S
of the mountains, were sure to fall victims to the heartless traders,
who were sure to secure the furs for but little more than the Indians
paid when they robbed the trappers. Between the hostile Indians and
the wily trader the poor trapper was indeed to be pitied. He was
truly between ‘‘the devil and the deep sea.”
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Our situation was not at all suited for sober calcula-
tion. Some appeared altogether careless what would
become of them — seeming to have a willingness to turn
in with and live the life of a savage, some two or three were
anxious to leave the wilderness and return to the States as
empty as when we left them. But this was rejected by
nearly all, for we still had a distant hope of having better
luck.

Some of our men were acquainted with the situation
of the rendezvous of a company of traders on the head
waters of the Colerado,* trading under the firm of B. L. E.
Bowville, & Co.t and it was proposed to start for this post

*The headwaters of Green River, and is really the source of the
Colorado.

{Benjamin Louis Eulalie de Bonneville was born in France, April
14, 1796. His father, a well-educated man, and a publisher, who had
actively discussed the questions of the day throu(fh his pamphlets,
fell under the displeasure of the government and was imprisoned.
Ugon his release he sought rmission to sall for America,
which was refused him. He contrived however, to send Mme. Bonne-
ville and her son Benjamin with Thomas Paine (the notorious infi-
del and author of the Age of Reason) who, likewise finding France too
turbulent at this period, just prior to the outbreak of the revolution,
came to America. The Bonnevilles lived for a time with Paine near
New York. It was through the latter’s influence that the subject of
this sketch secured an appointment to West Point, where he graduated
in 1819. When Lafayette visited America in 1825 he showed the
Bonneville family much attention and Benjamin, then a dashing
Koung officer of the army, was detailed to accompany him as aide on

is tour through the United States. On the return of Lafayette to

France he took his alde with him and the latter remained a guest of
the Lafayette home for some time. On his return he was assigned
to duty on the frontier, and here no doubt he became imbued with
the ssibilities of the fur-trade. Chittenden remarks:

‘““He began casting about for an opportunity to gratify this new
ambition and the result was his famous expedition of 1832-b. Whether
the prime mover in this enterprise was Bonnevilie himself, or certain
business men in New York who wanted to enter the fur trade and
thought the Captain a good man to conduct an expedition, does not
appear. Bonneville secured a leave of absence from August, 1831, to
October, 1833, with permission to spend it in the unexplored regions
of the Far West. e letter from the War Department, granting this
leave, states that it was ‘for the purpose of carrying into execution
your design of exploring the country to the Rocky mountains and
beyond, with a view to ascertaining the nature and character of the
several tribes inhabiting those regions; the trade which might be
profitably carried on with them; the quality of the soil, the produc-
tions, the minerals, the natural history, the climate, the geography
and topog'raph{.. as well as the geology of the various parts of the
country.” To these general purposes the Department added another —
that of securing special information as to the Indlan tribes, their
numbers, methods of making war, their condition, equipment, alli-
ances, etc. Captain Bonneville’s expedition was to be of no expense
to the United States.

““This ‘design’ of Captain Bonneville furnishes a clue to the argu-
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immediately. After much debate and persuasion, it was
agreed that we should make the attempt. We got every
thing ready — the wounded having entirely recovered —
and started on our long and tedious journey. As we
travelled along we killed plenty of various kinds of game
— met with nothing to interrupt our journey, and on the
25th of July arrived at the camp of Bowville,* which at this
time consisted of 195 men, together with a small company

ments which he presented as a basis of his application for a leave
of absence. It is certain, however, that whatever may have been
his representations to the Department, the primary object of his
enterprise was trade. The entire record of his work, so far as it has
been preserved to us, proves this. Bonneville entered into amn?-
ments with Alfred Seton, of New York, one of the old Astorians, by
which S8eton and some associates were to provide the funds for a
mountain expedition and Bonneville was to conduct its operations in
the fleld. In carrying out this program the Captain organ a
me of one hundred and ten men with two prlng}pal assistants, Mr.
. R. Walker, later of California renown, and Mr. M. 8. Cerré, a
member of a family well known in the fur trade of the West. A fine
assortment of goods was provided and the equipment was {n all
respects a splendid one. agons were used on the expedition, con-
trary to the practice of the mountain traders generally. There were
twenty of these vehicles drawn by oxen and mules. The whole or-
ganization was on the basis of strict military discipline, and to all
outward appearances the enterprise ptomlsed to make a very formid-
able showing in the mountain trade.”

He remained in the mountain trade until 1835 when he returned
to the frontier to his duties. His adventures in the mountains are
ably described by Washington Irving; this has given him and his
travels a prominence the{ otherwise never would have received.
His venture from a financial standpoint was a gigantic fallure, and
his supporters no doubt lost many thousands of dollars, nor were
:ge ;cleml‘ﬂg returns sufficient to make it any more of a success than

e financial.

‘‘Bonneville’s leave ot absence having lo expired before his
return, he had been dropped from the rolis of the :prmy. There was
a very proper opposition among army officers to his reinstatement,
and he would have been excluded altogether but for President Jack-
son, who reinstated ‘him as a reward for his contributions to geom h-
ical knowledge of the country. In his subsequent career Bonneville
served at various posts on the frontier, at Carlisle, Pa., and in the
Seminole and Mexican Wars, being wounded in the latter. He re-
mained loyal to the Union during the Civil War although his sym-
pathies were on the other side. e was made Brevet Brigadier Gen-
eral but reached no more important command than that of Benton
Barracks at St. Louis where he remained most of the time during
the war. After peace came he retired from the service and took up
his home at Fort Smith where he had previously formed close at-
tachments. He died at Fort Smith June 12, 1878, and was buried in
Bellefontaine Cemetery, 8t. Louis. Bonneville was married while
at Carlisle Barracks to Miss Ann Lewis. While stationed at 8t. Louis
both his wife and daughter died. He was married again in 1870 to
Miss Susan Neis of Fort Smith who survived him. He had a brother
in the American Navy who gained some distinction and was lost with
the American ship Wasp.”

*Here again Leonard is not correct in his dates: Walker started
for California July 24th.
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belonging to Mackenzie,* from the Missouri river, of 60
men.f We were well received by these men, most of
whom had been in the woods for several years, and exper-
ienced many hardships and privations, similar to what we
had suffered. They seemed to sympathize with us about
our loss, and all appeared anxious that we should turn in
with them and restore our lost fortunes. After we had
become thoroughly rested from the fatigue of our long
tramp to this post, most of our men hired in different ways
with this company. These men had been engaged in
trapping in the vicinity of this rendezvous for a long time,
& had caught nearly all the beaver, and were thinking
about moving to some other section of country. There
was a large tract of land laying to the South West of this,
extending to the Columbia river on the North, and to the
Pacific ocean and Gulph of Calafornia on the West and
South, which was said to abound with beaver, and other-
wise suited as a trading country. As our company was
now very large, the officers concluded on dividing it into

*Of the American Fur Company, of which Kenneth MacKensie
was at the head of the Upper Missouri Department.

{The rendezvous this year (1833) on the headwaters of Green River
was a scarcely less notable gathering than that of the previous year
at Plerre's Hole. There were present the Rocky Mountain Fur Com-
pany, the American Fur Company, Bonneville with his company
Willlam L. Sublette and his friend Campbell who had just arriv
from 8t. Louis with the yearly supplies and expected to carry back
the returns of the year's hunt. There was also the shrewd and irre-
pressible Yankee, Nathaniel J. Wyeth, and the sporting Englishman,
Captain Stuart. The full name of the latter was 8ir Willlam Drum-
mond Steuart, he was 7th Bart. of Grandtully, born in 1785, married
in 1830; succeeded his brother in 1838, and died on the 28th of April, 1871

He wrote a book In two volumes of his experiences in the Rocky
Mountains, some time after his return to Scotland, which was pub-
lished in 1854 by G. Walker, Madox S8t., London, under the title of
“Edward Warren.”” His name nowhere appearing in the same as the
author, this book is quite rare. The public library of Edinburgh,
Scot., has a copy from the author with his autograph and some few
corrections in his hand writing. From the information I am able to
gather, this book contains nothing of historical value of this period,
notwithstanding the prominence of the author. He makes the follow-
ing unique statement in the preface of the book: “The record of
which is now a sad tho' pleasing memory, from the change which
has directed the tide of emigration, across the chain of the Northern
Andes. I shall endeavor to prevent these pages falling into the hands
of any but such as may be ready to accept every apology I can offer
for intruding them upon their notice.”

10
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three divisions. Accordingly Capt. Bowville was left here
with a considerable force to watch the movements of the
Indians, and to do what he could at trapping, as this had
been a great harbor for beaver, it was thought that there
might be still some more to be caught. A Mr. Cerren,*
with a few men was sent back to St. Lewis, with 4000
Ibs. of beaver fur, with instructions to return and meet
Capt. Bowville at the Great Salt Lake in the following
summer, with a supply of provisions to do the company,
for the two following years. The other division, under
the command of a Mr. Walker,} was ordered to steer

*Michel S8ylvestre Cerré was born at St. Louis April 17, 1803. He
was the son of Pascal Leon and Therese (Lami) Cerré. Michel or Lami
Cerré as he was generally called, followed in the footsteps of his
grandfather, who was a ploneer fur-trader in the Mississippi Valley,
and led a life of adventure until he had reached middle age.

In his early youth he made one or more journeys from 8t. Louis
to S8anta Fé. Later he engaged in the fur-trade, and together with
his brother and Pierre D. Papin, his sister's husband, had a trading-
post on the Missouri River in what is now South Dakota. This busi-
ness was sold, in the latter part of the year 1830, to the American
Fur Company and the partners entered the employment of that com-
pany.

In 1832, Cerré engaged with Bonneville as one of his captains, and
fn that service made two or three trips from 8t. Louis to the moun-
tains and back.

In 1839, he married Helene Lebean of 8t. Louis, being a kinsman

of the Chouteaus; he probably re-entered the service of the fur com-

ny soon after he severed his connection with Bonneville, and the 8t.

ouis Directory, which was In those days an occasional publication

only, shows that he was connected with the home office of that com-
pany (American Fur Company) in 1846.

In 1848, he represented 8t. Louis in the lower house of the Missouri
Legislature, of the four Whig candidates for the position he was the
only one elected.

In May, 1849, he was elected clerk of the 8t. Louis Circuit Court,
which office he held until the end of the year 1853. In August, 1868, he
was elected sheriff of St. Louis County. The Whig party had then
ceased to exist, and Cerré, like most of the Missour! creoles, had gone
over to the Democratic party. He died of pneumonia January 6, 1860.
He left three children, one son and two daughters, all of whom are
still living.

Chittenden gives the following description of the above mentioned
8t: *‘Teton Fost 18 a name wnich may be used to designate a post
longing to the firm of P. D. Papin & Co., which Maximilian calls

the French Fur Compan{. The members of the company were Papin,

the Cerré brothers and Honore Picotte. The post was probably bullt

about 1828 or 1829. It stood just below the mouth of the Teton. The

firm sold out to the American Fur Company and entered its service

gctober '}4. 1830, and the property was at once moved up to Fort
'ecumseh.’’

+There 18 some confusion among authorities as to this man’s name.
Bonneville, through Irving, gives his name as I. R. Walker, as does
also Chittenden; in Bancroft his name is given as Joseph or Joe. Dr.
L. H. Bunnell, who wrote a history of the Yosemite, and who knew
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through an unknown country, towards the Pacific, and if he
did not find beaver, he should return to the Great S. L. in
the following summer. Mr. Walker was a man well
calculated to undertake a business of this kind. He was
well hardened to the hardships of the wilderness — under-
stood the character of the Indians very well —was kind
and affable to his men, but at the same time at liberty to
command without giving offence, —and to explore un-
known regions was his chief delight.* I was anxious to go
to the coast of the Pacific, and for that purpose hired with
Mr. Walker as clerk, for a certain sum per year.** The
20th of Aug.t was fixed as the day for each company to
take its departure. When the day arrived every thing was
in readiness, — each man provided with four horses,} and

him well in later years, gives his name as Captain Joseph Reddeford
‘Walker, which is no doubt correct.

Walker, Joseph Reddeford, guide, born in Knoxville, Tenn., in 1798,
died at Ignacto Valley, Contra Costa Co., Cal.,, Oct. 27, 1876. He re-
moved to Jackson County, Mo., in 1818, began his career as a guide on
the frontier in 1822, served in that capacity in Captain Bonneville's
expedition to the Rocky Mountains in 1832, conducted a party
from Great Salt Lake to California in 1833 when he discovered
the Yosemite Lake and Valley and the river that bears his name,
found Walker's Pass in 1824, and made many subset}uent trips across
the plains. He resided in Contra Costa County, California, during his
later life.— Appleton's Cyclopaedia of American Biography, vol. vi, p. 828,

*This is the celebrated Walker Callfornia expedition, of which so
much has been written and so little known. It has been a mark for
a number of prominent writers, probably on account of Bonneville's
uncomplimentary remarks as to it, in addition to Irving’'s caustic
comments; one is led to suppose that the cruelties practiced by Walk-
er and his men were such as to be too revolting to appear in print.
There does not seem to be any inclination on the part of Leonard to
hide or shirk the responsibility for the murder of the natives, and the
simple and direct manner in which he tells his story, carries convic-
tion as to its truth, so that we are inclined to think he here gives
events as he saw them, and makes this account by far the best and
most reliable we have of it. It was written shortly after his return,
when events were still fresh in his memory. Most of these men had
suffered hardships at the hands of the Indians, of which Leonard {is
a1t1 &xample, that was not conducive of the best feeling toward any
[} em.

*sNidever joined Walker's party also.
$Should be July 24th.

There has been much controversy as to the object of this ex-
pedition; the following, from Irving's Bonneville, would lead one
to suppose that it was solely for the purpose of exploring the Great
Salt Lake. ‘It was on the 24th of July, in the precedlnﬁ year (1833),
that the brigade of forty men set out from the Green River Valley,
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an equal share of blankets, buffaloe robes, provisions, and
every article necessary for the comfort of men engaged in
an expedition of this kind. As we travelled along each
man appeared in better spirits, and more lively than on
any other similar occasion,—and I sometimes thought
that we were now on an expedition from which we would
realize some profit. On the fourth day of our journey we
arrived at the huts of some Bawnack Indians. These
Indians appear to live very poor and in the most forlorn
condition. They generally make but one visit to the buf-
faloe country during the year, where they remain until
they jirk as much meat as their females can lug home
on their backs. They then quit the mountains and re-
turn to the plains, where they subsist on fish and small
game the remainder of the year. They keep no horses, &
are always an easy prey for other Indians provided with
guns and horses. On telling these Indians the route we
intended to take, they told us we must provide ourselves
with meat enough to subsist upon for many days — which

to explore the Great Salt Lake. They were to make the complete cir-
cuit of it, trapplnf on all the streams which should fall in their
way, and to keep journals and make charts, calculated to impart a
knowledge of the lake and the surounding country. All the resources
of Captain Bonneville had been tasked to fit out this favorite expe-
dition.” It scarcely seems reasonable to think that, had Walker been
ordered by Bonneville to explore the Great Salt Lake, which was
close by, he would have made the long and d: erous journey to
California. Leonard does not mention the Great 1t Lake in this
connection, but makes it perfecu% plain that the primary object
of the ex%edltlon was to go to the Pacific. ‘“Mr. Walker was _ordered
to steer through an unknown country towards the Pacific.” Leonard
was the clerk to Walker, and engaging with a view of visiting Cali-
fornia, his official position should have given him knowledge of
the company's affairs, in this respect. It must also be remembered
that this statement of Leonard’s is the first to appear in the public
prints, long before Irving's Bonneville was written. In support of
the l?bmre statement of Leonard’s we have that of Nidever and Joe
Meek.

“George Nidever, who was of Walker's company, and at the
rendezvous while preparations were made, says nothing of such pur-
pose [exploring the Great Salt Lake], and it was probably not
thought of by Bonneville until afterwards. Nidever had suffered
severely from the cold during the previous winter, and had come
to Green River rendezvous that season for the express purpose of
joining some party for California or of forming such a party himself,
having been informed that the climate there was milder than in the
mountaing where he had been. (Bancroft's History of Utak.) When
Meek and his companions fell in with Joe Walker's company on Bear
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we found to be very good advice. We now set to work
laying in a stock of provision, and in a few days each man
was provided with about 60 pounds of substantial meat,
which was packed upon our horses, and we set sail in good
cheer.

On the 4th* of September we killed our last buf-
faloe on the West side of the Salt Lake. We still con-
tinued along the margin of the Lake, with the intention of
leaving it when we got to the extreme west side of it.
About the 12th we found the country very poor, and
almost without game, except goats and some few rab-
bits. On the 13th we left the Lake and took a westerly
course into the most extensive & barren plains I ever
seen. This day we came to a spring, where we found some
Indians encamped, who were on their way up to the buf-
faloe country, to lay in their winters supply of meat. These
Indians appear to be more wealthy, and exercise more in-
genuity in providing for themselves than those we had
met with a few days ago. They have paths beat from

River, they resolved to accompany the expedition; for it was, ‘a
feather in a man’s cap,” and made his services doubly valuable to
have become acquainted with a new country, and fitted himself for a
pilot.”” They were here on the verge of 8alt Lake and yet made no
attempt to explore it, but they did make preparations here, by pre-
ng meat, to cross the Salt Lake desert to the headwaters of
’'s River, the most direct route to California. The whole 8alt Lake
oxplorlrexs expedition was no doubt an afterthought of Bonneville's,
as stated by many authorities. He was at this time not even melng
expenses in the trade, and being afraid that his backers would grow
tired of supporting a losing venture, he had to have some plausible
explanation for his failure, and therefore endeavored to use this as
an excuse. As a military man, one would think that had Walker
disregarded his positive orders, in the way we are led to believe,
Bonneville would have dismissed him from his service. Walker, ac-
cording to Leonard, continued to hold the same responsible position
with him until he left the mountains, but left his service on his return
from this expedition, according to Irving. So far as the profits from
trapping are concerned, we are inclined to think that an exploring trip
around Great Salt Lake would be little more profitable than a trip to
California. There was fully as much honor connected with a tour of
exploration to California, over a route never before traveled, as of ex-
ploring the Great Salt Lake which had no doubt been explored a dozen
times previous in the same manner as Walker would have been capa-
ble of doing—that is, simply visiting it or traveling around its shores.
He then takes exception to the way in which the natives were treated,
which was so repulsive to him that he turned away, not wishing to
hear any more. This we shall take up later.

*This date should be August 4th.
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one spring or hole of water to another, and by observing
these paths, they told us, we would be enabled to find water
without much trouble. The chief of this tribe, further
told us, that after travelling so many days South-west,
(the course we were now about to take,) we would come to
a high mountain which was covered with snow at the top
the whole year round, and on each side of which we would
find a large river to head, and descend into the sandy
plains below, forming innumerable small lakes, and sinks
into the earth and disappears. Some distance further
down these plains, he said, we would come to another
mountain, much larger than the first, which he had never
been across. In all this space, he said, there was no game;
but that near this latter mountain we would come across
a tribe of poor Indians, whom he supposed would not be
friendly.

On the next morning we left these Indians, and pur-
sued our course North-west. Our men, who were in such
fine spirits when we left the rendezvous, began to show
symptoms of fatigue, & were no longer so full of sport.
We travelled along these paths according to the directions
of the Indians, now and then meeting with a few strag-
gling natives, who were in a manner naked, on the trail
of the main body to the buffaloe country. — Some of these
straggling Indians showed us some lumps of salt, which
was the most white, clear and beautiful I ever seen.

On the 30th we arrived at a considerable hill, which,
in appearance, is similar to a smooth rock, — where we
encamped for the night, and let our horses loose to graze
— which we thought might now be done with safety, as
we were no longer beset by the murderous Rickarees.
While laying about resting ourselves, some of the men
observed the horses very eagerly licking the stones which
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lay on the surface of the ground, near the spring. This
circumstance caused the men to examine the stones, which
we found to be salt, and had been carried here from the
hill by the Indians. Their surface was covered with moss
or rust, but on breaking them, or rubbing off the rust, the
salt is seen in its purity. This hill runs North and South,
and is from one to three miles across, and produces no
kind of vegetation, whatever except a little grass which
grows in holes or gutters around its base, formed by
water descending from the hill during the rainy season.
This country appeared the most like a desert of any I
had yet seen. It is so dry and sandy that there is scarcely
any vegetation to be found — not even a spear of grass,
except around the springs. The water in some of these
springs, too, is so salt that it is impossible to drink it. The
Indians say that it never rains, only in the spring of the
year. Every thing here seems to declare that, here man
shall not dwell.*

*This hill was seen in 1824, by a Mr. Smith,} who extended his
explorations to the Pacific coast, and was there taken prisoner by the
Spaniards. See his travels.} [Note in orig.]

tJedediah 8. Smith is here referred to, but we do not know that
he was in this locality in 1824; his California explorations did not be-
gin until 1826, He was probably at this point in June, 1827, when on
his return from California with two companions, to the rendezvous
near the Great Salt Lake.

1This is Jedediah 8. Smith. It is to be regretted that there were
no more men of his character in the early fur-trade. Chittenden says,
‘“He was one of the most remarkable men that ever engaged in the
American Fur Trade. He was like that distinguished character of
later years, Stonewall Jackson, in combining with the most ardent
belief in, and practice of, the Christian religion, an undaunted courage,
flerce and impetuous nature, and untiring energy. His deeds are un-
fortunately much veiled in obscurity, but enough has survived to show
that he was a true knight errant, a lover of that kind of adventure
which the unexplored West afforded in such ample degree.

“Smith was born in the State of New York, of respectable parent-
age, was well educated, and at about eighteen years of went
to St. Louis, where he entered the service of Ashley and Henry iIn

It is a singular coincidence that Smith, Jackson, and Sublette
were all in this expedition. They greatly distinguished themselves
in the battle with the Aricaras, June 2, 18&." They were later asso-
ciated as partners succeeding the firm by whom they were at this
time employed. ‘‘After Ashley's retreat, and while he was waliting
for the military to come to his relief, it became important to com-
municate with Henry on the Yellowstone. It was an extremely haz-



152 LEONARD’S NARRATIVE

After travelling a few days longer thro’ these barren
plains ; we came to the mountain described by the Indian

ardous errand, and Ashley called for volunteers. To the astonish-
ment of every one, young Smith, a mere youth, step forward and
offered to go. Ashley was greatly impressed with the young man's
intrepidity. He accepted the offer, but gg'evalled upon an experienced
Canadian Frenchman to go with him.”” They made their way through
successfully, although they had a number of narrow escapes. For-
tunately Henry had returned to the mouth of the Yellowstone after
his own defeat by the Blackfeet. Smith and Henry with all but
twenty men, who were left in the fort at the mouth of the Yellow-
stone, descended the river and joined Ashley near the mouth of the
Cheyenne about July 2. Smith was now sent on to St. Louis with the
proceeds of Henry's hunt. He reached this point in safety and here
met General Atkinson who was in command of the troops west of the
muluiggl; he at once hastened back to his employer.

Unit States troops were now sent up the river under Colonel
Leavenworth, to punish the hostile Aricaras, and in order to
the military general, Ashley organized his trappers into a com y.
S8mith, who was only a youth, was appointed captain, which shows
the esteem and confidence in which he was held; it may have been
a reward for his darln%vtrlp to find Henry on the Yellowstone.

His career in the est was full of the most daring adventures,
and carried him over almost the whole of it, from the British pos-
sessions on the north to the Mexican province on the south, and
from the Mississippi to the Pacific. He was twice in California, and
always referred to that count as the most beautiful on the globe.
To him no doubt belongs the honor of being the first to cross the
continent between the Lewis and Clark route on the north and that
followed by the Spaniards on the south. His route was but a short
distance south of the present line of the Union Pacific Railroad, over
an unknown desert. e had in preparation, according to Waldo, an
atlas of the western country, but his untimely death prevented its
publication. On several occasions his escape from the Indians and
grizzly bears, and from starvation, bordered on the miraculous.

“Smith was a bold, outspoken, professing, and consistent Chris-
tian, the first and only one known among the early Rocky Mountain
trappers and hunters. No one who knew him well doubted the sin-
cerity of his piety. He had become a communicant of the Methodist
church before leaving his home in New York, and . . . . in 8t. Louis
he never failed to occupy a place in the church of his choice, while he
gave generously to all objects connected with the religion which he
professed and loved.”” In view of the times and the character of most
of his associates, as well as the questionable methods in use by many
of the fur companies, and the very few who gve any thought what-
ever to religion, his character stands out in 1d relief. e are, in
fact led to believe that many who joined the fur companies were
fugitives from justice, and were afraid to return to civilization on
this account. his Christian gentleman carried his religion to the
mountains and into his daily life; and we have no record of any act
in which he falled to sustain the above character. His companions
knew and respected hias religious principles, no(wlthstandh;f e fact
that he was only a lad compared to many of them. ‘¢ des being
an adventurer and a hero, a trader and a Christian, he was inclined
to literary pursuits.”

In the spring of 1824, Jedediah 8. Smith set out on onme of those
expeditions which were so conspicuous a feature of his career, and
went with a small party across the mountains to the head of the
Snake River. He spent the summer and fall in that vicinity and
meanwhile fell in with a small detached party of Hudson Bay tra
pers. From these he obtained in some way or other all their catc
of beaver, one hundred skins, and then Fave them the protection of
his own party until they could find their leader, Alexander Ross. The
latter was not much pleased with the way his men had been relieved
of their fur, but he was forced to concede that the Americans were
“‘shrewd men’’ and that Smith in particular was a ‘‘very intelligent
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as having its peak covered with snow. It presents a most
singular appearance — being entirely unconnected with

person.” From this int, which was in the valley of Godin River
northwest of Snake River, and on the outskirts of the great lava
plain, Smith made his way north and is said to have passed the
winter among the Flatheads. It is not unreasonable to suppose that,
being a devout man, he would endeavor to instruct the Indians in the
frecepta of the Christian religion, and it i{s a fact that these same
ndians sent a deputation of four chiefs to see General Clark at St.
Louis in 1833 in order to get the ‘‘White Man’s Book of Heaven,” of
which they had learned through some hunter or trapper. It is to be
regretted we cannot trace this missfonary act to our hero. He visited
one or more posts of the British Company and galned the first posi-
tive Information concerning operations in the Columbia valley that
had been received since the Astorians left the country. Smith re-
turned to St. Louis in the summer or autumn of 1824, and gave such
information as he had gathered to General Atkinson, who considered
it of so much importance that he embodied it in a report to the War
Department in the following November. In this report he refers to
Smith as ‘‘an intelligent young man who was employed by General
Ashley beyond the Rocky Mountains.”

In spite of the unfortunate beginning of the expedition of 1823 it
was on the whole successful. en the detached trapping parties
met in the mountains in 1824 they had collected a considerable quantity
of beaver fur, which Henry took back to St. Louis. The results of
the expedition were sufficiently favorable to justify his immediate
return, and he left S8t. Louis on the 23rd of October with a new expedi-
tion to the mountains. This departure, strange to say, is the ver
last word which we have of Andrew Henry in the fur-trade. He evi-
dently did not remain long in the mountains, but just when he left
the fur-trade is not known but we know that Jedediah 8. 8mith took
his place and remained Ashley’s partner until 1826. It seems that Ash-
ler was in the mountain trade for the gurpose of making a fortune,
with which to satisfy his political ambitions, after securing which
e resolved to abandon further personal conduct of affairs there. This
he could do without relinquishing his interest in the business. He
had developed some of the ablest men in the fur-trade, men of the

hest worth, who later red Jromlnently in the history of the

est. If he could turn over his affairs in the mountains to them, and
himself conduct the 8t. Louis end of the business, it would be more
to his own liking, and give these young men a start in their own
names. Accordingly he made groposltions to the ablest and most ex-
perienced of his lleutenants, Jedediah 8. 8mith, David E. Jackson,
and Wiliam L. Sublette, and on the 18th day of July, 1826, articles
of ngeement were made and signed ‘“near the Grand Lake west of
the Rocky Mountains.”” This instrument which is still in existence
constitutes the firm of Smith, Jackson, and Sublette and is the second
change of partners in the Rocky Mountain Fur Company. Smith was
at this time not much over twenty-one years of age.

This great fleld of adventure and exploration was now open to
him, and his movements would not be hampered by his superior as
formerly. The Bible and rifie were his inseparable companions and the
peaceful teachings of the one, never diminished in anr way the vigor
with which he used the other. The new West captivat his mind
with its opportunities for adventure and he made the most of them
from this on until his untimely death. He was now about to set
out on those long and perilous expeditions which absorbed his time
for the next three years. Fortunately we have his own account of
the two trips he made to California.

On the 22nd of A st, 1826, Smith left the rendezvous near
the Great Salt Lake with a party of fifteen men for the purpose of
exploring the countg to the southwest, then wholly unknown to the
American trader. is route lay by Utah Lake, thence across the
Bevier valler to the Virgin River, which he descended to the Colo-
rado. Nothing of Im})ortance occurred on this part of his route ex-
cept the discovery of a remarkable salt cave on the Virgin River
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any other chain. It is surrounded on either side by level
plains, and rises abruptly to a great heighth, rugged, and

two days' journey above its mouth. Smith crossed to the east bank
of the Colorado and followed down the stream until he came upon
the Mojave Indians with whom he rcmained fifteen days to recruit
his stock of horses. Recrossing the Colorado at the end of this time
he pursued a westerly course, with great hardship and suffering,
across the barren and desolate wastes of Southern California, an

about the middie of October arrived at S8an Diego. In California his
principal difficulties were with the Snanish authorities, who viewed
his presence there with suspicion as they did all foreigners and par-
ticularly Americans; they hampered his movements by their arbitrary
requiremenis. Through the Imergosmon of Captain W. H. Cunning-
ham of the Courrer, of Boston, he obtained permission to purchase
the supplies he needed and also to return by the route he had come.
We must say to the credit of these early sea-captains that almost
every traveler who crossed the mountains to the coast in those early
days, received more or less assistance from them, and there was one
or more of these Boston ships constantly trading up and down this
coast. Smith was not disposed to leave at once a country which he
had come so far to sce, and moving back from the coast he turned
northwest and traveled some three hundred miles parallel with the
coast, and at a distance from it which he estimated at one hundred
and fifty miles. He spent a good part of the winter on this journey
and turned it to advantage in tra;anx. Spring found him iIn the
vicinity of the headwaters of the n Joaquin and Merced rivers.
Early in May he attempted to take his party across Mount Joseph,
as he called the high range of the Sierra Nevada Mountains, in
order to return to the summer rendezvous of 1827, near Salt Lake,
but the deep snow baffled his efforts. He then decided to leave most
of his men in California, while he would make the journey to the
rendezvous and return for them in the fall. With two men, seven
horses, and two mules laden with 82provlslon and forage, he set out
on this perilous journey May 20, 182i. In eight days he succeeded in
crossing the mountains. He must have ssed through or near the
Yosemite Valley, and, in the region of the at redwood trees. he
lost in crossing two horszes and one mule, the deep snow not being hard
enough to sustain the weight of the animals. Twenty days more
took him to the southwestern extremity of Great Salt Lake along the
western shore of which he then bent his course. He reached the
rendezvous about the middle of June. The sufferings of the y
in crossing the Salt Lake desert were terrible, and but two of the
animals survived the journey. There i8 no clue given in Smith's ac-
count as to the route he followed, but it is certainly far south of the
Humboldt, and the Union Pacific rallroad. He probably crossed the
range near Sonora Pass, going north of Mono Lake and south of
Walker Lake. He saw nefther of these lakes, but observed a stream
flowing towards the north which in all probability was Walker River.
Immediately after the rendezvous, without loss of time, he set out,
July 13, with a small party of eighteen men to return to California
and bring back the men he had left there. He followed the route
of the previous year and went direct to the Mojave Indians. Unfor-
tunately, since his previous visit, the jealous Spaniard had been there
and had warned the Mojaves not to permit any more Americans to
pass that way. Smith was ignorant of this, and, counting on their
former friendly disposition, was somewhat off his guard. Upon his
departure from the village, and while in the act of crossing the river
on a raft, the Indians fell upon the party, killing ten men and cap-
turing all the property and papers. This occurred in the month of
August. He now made his way with great suffering and peril to the
Spanish settlements, which he reached at S8an Gabriel in nine and one-
half days. Here he left two wounded men, and himself started north
to join his party. Two Indian guides whom Smith had secured to
conduct him into Southern California were seized by the authorities.
One died under harsh treatment, and the other was sentenced to death.
One of the wounded men, Thomas Virgin, who had been left at San
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hard to ascend. To take a view of the surrounding
country from this mountain, the eye meets with nothing

Gabriel, was taken to 8an Diego and thrown Into prison, but was
finally released and sent to join Smith. Upon arriving at the San
José mission, our hero sought permission to visit the governor at
Monterey, but the request was denied, and he in turn was thrown
in prison, but was shortly after sent under guard to Monterey, where
he encountered almost hopeless difficulties with the equivocating gov-
ernor. Finally, sometime in November, through the intercession of
the master of an American vessel, he was given permission to de-
part, after purchasing necessary supplies, and was enjoined that he
must leave Mexican territory.” The authorities refused to let Smith
augment his party, although there were several Englishmen and
Americans, no doubt rene%des and adventurers, on the coast, who
wished to join his party. e left with a party of twenty men, two
of whom soon deserted. Two months was the period fixed within
which he must depart from 8panish territory, and the general route
which he must follow was designated by the authorities. It so hap-
pened that this route would take him across the Buenaventura (Sac-
ramento) River, which was then impassable from high water. Smith
accordingly took the matter into his own hands, and resolved to pass
the winter in that neighborhood. He followed slowly up the course
of the river to its principal fork, where he passed several months.
From this circumstance the stream came to be known as the Amer-
fcan Fork. On the 13th of April, 1828, he set out in a northwest di-
rection. After reaching the coast he turned north and kept on without
noteworthy incident until he reached the Umpquah River, in the
neighborhood of which were the Rogue River Indians, and probably
the most treacherous on the coast of which Smith knew nothing. His
party tnp{)ed very successfully on the way, and had by this time
secured a large quantity of fur. On the 14th of July Smith left the
party in camp and went out alone to search for a road. On his way
back he was fired upon by some Indians, and although he escaped it
was only to ind his camp and all his property in the hands of the
Indians. Fifteen of his men were killed, and only three, including
a Mr. Black, escaped. The survivors fled north with all possible
haste, leaving their leader entirely alone. He made his way in utter
destitution to Fort Vancouver on the Columbia, where he found his
companions. The Hudson Bay Company authorities received him
with every consideration of generosity, and even sent a force under
Thomas McKay to punish the Indians and recover his property, who
succeeded In recovering almost everything that was lost. Bancroft
relates the circumstances under which Smith arrived at Fort Van-
couver, and the prompt action taken by Dr. McLaughlin, chief factor
then in charge, to aid him. Thomas McKay was a son of the Mr.
McKay who was lost on the {ll-fated ““Tonquin,” of Astorian fame;
his widow, a native, afterwards married Dr. McLaughlin.

The Hudson Bay Company through Dr. McLaughlin purchased
Smith's furs amounting to about $20, worth, at the market price,
giving him a draft on London in payment. 8mith remained at Van-
oou:'er until March 12, 1829, when he set out for the east to rejoin his
partners.

It is with pleasure we note the meeting of two such interesting
and remarkable characters as McLaughlin and 8mith in the fur-
trade. Here was truly the chivalry of the trade. Dr. McTanghlin
was no doubt very favorably impressed not only with the great energy
displayed by young Smith in the collection of furs, but by his reach-
ing out and exploring new flelds, the great amount of territory tra-
versed by him. as well as his uprightneas, and the Christian orin-
ciples which were a guide to his daily life, all combined in a young
man of twenty-four. This no doubt appealed to the just and upright
Hudson Bay officer.

If any man is entitled to the honor of being the path-finder of the
West, that man Is Jedediah 8. 8mith. He ascended the Columbia. and
followed the British fur-traders’ route to their post among the Flat-
heads, which he had visited in 1824. Thence he and his man Black
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but a smooth, sandy, level plain. On the whole, this
mountain may be set down as one of the most remarkable

started south for Snake River. On his way he met Jackson, who was
looking for him, and a little later found Sublette, ‘‘on the 5th of
August, 1829, at the Tetons on Henry Fork, a tributary of the south
branch of the Columbia.’”’

8Such is the simple statement as given by Smith himself of his
three years’ explorations. Much has been written about them, mostl
imaginary and many are the reputed heroic exploits connected wit
them. That the exﬁflmona were full of romantic interest and thrilling
adventure cannot doubted; nor that the little parties, and par-
ticularly their leader, endured great hardship and privations.

In spite of Smith’s rough experience and his several disasters, his
work had nevertheless been fairly successful. The humane and gen-
erous actton of Dr. McLaughlin had saved him the results of his
arduous labors where the code of comPetmon might properly have
deprived him of it, and, if he did not bring to his associates a goodly
lot of furs, he had in his pocket securities which were even better.
Smith’s Christian nature would not permit the benevolent McLaughlin
to outdo him in generosity, and he insisted that the fall hunt of him-
self and assocliates should be made east of the Continental Divide, so
as not to trespass upon the territory which the Hudson Bay Company
claimed as belonging commercially to them, to which the other part-
ners reluctantly consented.

About the 1st of April, 1830, we find Smith in the Powder River
country about to set out for the sprln%hunt. with young Jim Bridger
as guide. They went by way of the Yellowstone to the Upper 8-
sourl. 8Smith went as far as the Judith Basin, made a successftul ln.mti
and returned to the rendezvous on Wind River without any unusual
occurrence or mishap.

The business of the rendezvous was this year particularly im-
portant. S8mith, Jackson, and Sublette, following the example of
Ashley four years before, relinquished their trade and sold out to
younger men, who had now become distinguished by their ability
and experience. These were Thomas Fitspatrick, Milton G. Sublette,
Henry Fraeb, Jean Baptiste Gervais, and James Bridger, and the
new firm was called the Rocky Mountain Fur Company. The transfer
of the business from the old to the new firm took place August 4,
1830. Smith, Jackson, and Sublette started the same day for St. Louis
with one hundred and ninety packs of beaver. They arrived October
10th, bringing back the ten wagons, four of the cattle, and the milch
cow, which had been taken to the mountains in the lprln%‘ In the
following year these three individuals embarked in the nta Fé
trade, and it was on the first trip in which this Christian hero of
the wilderness met an untimely death, at the early e of about
twenty-six years, on the banks of the thirsty Cimarron. ith a large
and costly expedition of some twenty wagons and eighty men, said to
have been the finest outfit ever sent to S8anta F'é, these veteran traders
set out, never doubting that their long experience would enable them
to cope with the dangers of the route. Everything went well until the
ford of the Arkansas was reached; thus far the trail was perfectly
well marked with wagon tracks. But it was very different on the desert
waste between the Arkansas and the Cimarron. There was not a per-
son with them who had been over the route before, and they now
found themselves in a featureless country with no track of any kind
except buffalo trails which crossed each other in the most confusing
directions. The alluring mirage deceived and exasperated the men,
and after two days of fruitless wanderings, with animals dying and
men frantic for water, the condition of thln%a seemed well nigh des-
perate. In this emergency Smith declared that he would find water
or perish in the attempt. He was a bold and fearless man and un-
hesitatingly sallled forth alone for the salvation of the caravan. Fol-
lowing a buffalo trail for several miles he came upon the valley of
the Cimarron, but only to find it destitute of water. He knew enough
of the character of these streams, however, to believe there was
water near the surface, and he accordingly scooped out a little hollow
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phenomenas of nature. Its top is covered with the pinone
tree,* bearing a kind of must, which the natives are very
fond of, and which they collect for winter provision. This
hill is nearly round, and looks like a hill or mound, such
as may be met with in the prairies on the east side of the
mountain.

Not far from our encampment we found the source of
the river mentioned by the Indian.t After we all got tired
gazing at this mountain and the adjacent curiosities, we
left it and followed down the river, in order to find water
and grass for our horses. On this stream we found old
signs of beaver, and we supposed that, as game was scarce
in this country, the Indians had caught them for provision.
The natives which we occasionally met with, still continued
to be of the most poor and dejected kind — being en-
tirely naked and very filthy. We came to the hut of one
of these Indians who happened to have a considerable
quantity of fur collected. — At this hut we obtained a large
robe composed of beaver skins fastened together, in ex-
change for two awls and one fish hook. This robe was
worth from 30 to 40 dollars. We continued travelling
down this river, now and then catching a few beaver. But,
as we continued to extend our acquaintance with the na-
tives, they began to practice their national failing of steal-
into which indeed, the water began to collect. Meanwhile some
stealthy Comanches, whom Smith had evidently not observed, were
8tealing upon him, and while he was in the act of stooping down to
drink mortally wounded him with several arrows. He rose and dis-
ﬁlayed his undaunted spirit in reslsting his savage foes to the last, and

flled two of them before he expired. The spot where he fell was
never precisely known and no grave protects the earthly remains of
this Christian and knightly adventurer. What a truly noble example
of young manhood, ambitious without ostentation, honest and upright
from principle, a true disciple of Christ, he sought out the most
secret haunts of the red men, not so much for the value of the beaver
pelt, as to surmount obstacles and achieve success. His life llke
many others, was a sacrifice which was necessary for the redemption
of the Great West, which lhe loved so dearly. A sadder fate or a
more heroic victim the parched wastes of the desert never knew.

*Pinon.

1The headwaters of the Humboldt or Mary's River.
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ing. So eager were they to possess themselves of our traps,
that we were forced to quit trapping in this vicinity and
make for some other quarter. The great annoyance we
sustained in this respect greatly displeased some of our
men, and they were for taking vengeance before we left the
country — but this was not the disposition of Captain
Walker. These discontents being out hunting one day,
fell in with a few Indians, two or three of whom they killed,
and then returned to camp, not daring to let the Captain
know it. The next day while hunting, they repeated the
same violation — but this time not quite so successful,
for the Captain found it out, and immediately took meas-
ures for jts effectual suppression.*

*The reason for killing the natives was simply because they stole
the traps, which were worth from fifteen to twenty dollars apiece,and
forced the trappers to suspend operations. These traps were the prop-
erty of the trappers and were considered quite valuable. Nidever says
(Bancroft, Hist. Nevada, p. 43). “The natives were increasingly bold
and hostile from the first, stealing all they could lay their hands on,
and attempting to shoot Frasier while setting his traps. It was
neces:ary to give up trapping almost entirely, and only by the great-
est precautions did the company escape annihilation. Finally they
turned aside from their trail just in time to avoid an ambush, and
were attacked by some hundreds of savages, of whom 33 were killed.”’

In Mrs. Victor's River of the West Meek, who however exaggerates
everything. stating that Walker had one hundred and eighteen men,
admits that the attack in which seventy-five Indians fell, was unpro-
voked, except by the thefts and constantly increasi numbers of the
Indians; but he defends the act as a necessity, though it did not seem
80 to Bonneville, who was not an experienc Indian fighter. Stephen
H. L. Meck a member of the company whose account is given else-
where states that on September 9th they were surrounded and attacked
by a large body of natives with the loss of five men wounded, and
one — Willilam S8mall — killed, the natives being repulsed with a loss
of twenty-seven killed. September 16th the hunters attacked one
hundred and fifty natives, seated and smoking, killed eighteen, and
took five captives, who were beaten and released. We can scarcely
confirm this in Leonard.

The killing of these Indians in this manner was a dastardly act
which cannot be too strongly condemned and for which there was no
good and sufficient reason. Leonard makes it quite clear that it was
done without the knowledge or sanction of Captain Walker and the
greater part of his men, and the moment the affair came to his knowl-
edge he promptly took measures for its ‘‘effectual suppression.”” As
we follow this narrative we will see how uncalled-for is the following
eqpress!on of Irving, and how unjust it is to some of the company.
“Two of the Mexican party just mentioned joined the band of trap-
pers, and proved themselves worthy companions. In the course of
their journey through the country frequented bg the poor Root Dig-
gers, there seems to have been an emulation between them, which
could inflict the greatest outrages upon the natives. The trappers
still considered them in the light of dangerous foes; and the Mexicans
very Erobah]y. charged them with the sin of horse-stealing; we have
no other mode of accounting for the infamous barbarities of which,
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At this place, all the branches of this stream is col-
lected from the mountain into the main channel, which
forms quite a large stream; and to which we gave the name
of Barren River* —a name which we thought would be
quite appropriate, as the country, natives and every thing
belonging to it, justly deserves the name.— You may
travel for many days on the banks of this river, without
finding a stick large enough to make a walking cane. —
While we were on its margin, we were compelled to do
without fire, unless we chanced to come across some drift
that had collected together on the beach. As we pro-
ceeded down the river we found that the trails of the

accordlnf to their own story, they were gullty; hunting the poor

Indians like wild beasts, and killing them without mercy. The Mex-
icans excelled at this savage sport; chasing their unfortunate victims
at full speed; noosing them around the neck with their lassos, and
then dragging them to death. Such are the scanty detalls of this
disgraceful expedition; at least, such are all that Captain Bonneville
had the patience to collect; for he was so deeply grieved by the failure
of his plans, and so indignant at the atrocities related to him, that
he turned, with disgust and horror, from the narrators. Had he ex-
erted a little of the Lynch Law of the wilderness, and hanged those
dexterous horsemen in their own lassos, it would but have been a
well-merited and salutary act of retributive justice. The failure of
this expedition was a blow to his pride, and a still greater blow to his
purse. The Great Salt Lake still remained unexplored; at the same
time, the means which had been furnished so liberally to fit out this
favorite expedition. had all been squandered at Monterey:; and the
eltries, also, which had been collected on the way. ke would have
ut scanty returns, therefore, to make this year, to his associates

. In the United States; and there was great danger of their becoming
disheartened, and abandoning the enterprise.”

Irving seems to lose gight of the fact that the two Mexicans were
not with the outgoing expedition when most of the killing occurred,
nor does I.eonard mention any of these outrages, nor any other
authority so far as we know. Bancroft shakes the bloody shirt in
the following (Hist. of Nevada, p. 43): “During this march there were
many dastardly deeds committed which Mr. Nidever falls to remem-
ber, such as shooting down the unoffending of either sex or any age,
and that without provocation.”

We can only say that Leonard’'s memory is as much at fault as
Nidever's as regards the above; as his narrative was written just
after his return, while the events were still fresh in his memory, we
are inclined to think that many of the events above spoken of are
embellishments.

*The Humboldt River. It is sometimes called Ogden River, after
Peter Skene Ogden, a leading Hudson Bay Company trader, after
whom Ogden (Utah) and Ogden's Hole were named; sometimes
called Mary’'s River in honor of Ogden’'s Indian wife whose name was
Mary. Ogden was the son of Judge Ogden of Montreal, and when a
boy was full of pranks. It is told of him that when at home he
would occasionally write to all the midwives in the city telling them
that their services would be needed at Judge Ogden's at a certain
time, when his mother would be put to the necessity of making some
very embarrassing explanations when they called.
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Indians began to look as if their numbers were increasing,
ever since our men had killed some of their brethren. The
further we descended the river, the more promising the
country began to appear, although it still retained its dry,
sandy nature. We had now arrived within view of a clus-
ter of hills or mounds, which presented the appearance,
from a distance, of a number of beautiful cities built up to-
gether. Here we had the pleasure of seeing t[i]mber, which
grew in very sparing quantities some places along the river
beach.

On the 4th of September* we arrived at some lakes,
formed by this river, which we supposed to be those men-
tioned by the Indian chief whom we met at the Great Salt
Lake. Here the country is low and swampy, producing an
abundance of very fine grass — which was very acceptable
to our horses, as it was the first good grazing they had
been in for a long time — and here, on the borders of one
of these lakes, we encamped, for the purpose of spending
the night, and letting our horses have their satisfaction. A
little before sun-set, on taking a view of the surrounding
waste with a spy-glass, we discovered smoke issuing from
the high grass in every direction. This was sufficient to con-
vince us that we were in the midst of a large body of In-
dians; but as we could see no timber to go to, we con-
cluded that it would be as well to remain in our present
situation, and defend ourselves as well as we could. We
readily guessed that these Indians were in arms to revenge
the death of those which our men had killed up the river;
& if they could succeed in getting any advantage over us,

*I.eonard’'s dates are completely confused; he mentions before this
that the last buffalo was killed on the 4th of September just west of
Salt Lake; here he says that they are at the lakes along the Barren
River on the 4th of September after traveling a month; and later he
mentions that the last buffalo was killed on the 4th of August, which
is p;obnbl,\- correct and corresponds to the time they left Green River
rendezvous.
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we had no expectation that they would give us any quarter.
Our first care, therefore, was to secure our horses, which
we did by fastening them all together, and then hitching
them to pickets drove into the ground. This done, we
commenced constructing something for our own safety.
The lake was immediately in our rear, and piling up all
our baggage in front, we had quite a substantial breast
work — which would have been as impregnable to the
Indians arrow, as were the cotton-bags to the British bul-
lets at New Orleans in 1815. Before we had got every
thing completed, however, the Indians issued from their
hiding places in the grass, to the number, as near as I
could guess, of 8 or goo, and marched straight towards
us, dancing and singing in the greatest glee. When within
about 150 yards of us, they all sat down on the
ground, and despatched five of their chiefs to our camp
to inquire whetber their people might come in and smoke
with us. This request Capt. Walker very prudently re-
fused, as they evidently had no good intentions, but told
them that he was willing to meet them half way between
our breast work, and where their people were then sit-
ting. This appeared to displease them very much, and
they went back not the least bit pleased with the recep-
tion they had met with.

After the five deputies related the result of their visit
to their constituents, a part of them rose up and signed
to us,* (which was the only mode of communication with
them) that they were coming to our camp. At this 10 or
12 of our men mounted the breast work and made signs
to them that if they advanced a step further it was at the
peril of their lives. They wanted to know in what way we
would do it. Our guns were exhibited as the weapons of

*They probably used the sign language with which all Indians are
familiar.

11
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death. This they seemed to discredit and only laughed
at us. They then wanted to see what effect our guns
would have on some ducks that were then swimming in the
lake, not far from the shore. We then fired at the ducks
— thinking by this means to strike terrour into the sav-
ages and drive them away. The ducks were killed, which
astonished the Indians a good deal, though not so much
as the noise of the guns — which caused them to fall flat
to the ground. After this they put up a beaver skin on a
bank for us to shoot at for their gratification — when they
left us for the night. This night we stationed a strong
guard, but no Indians made their appearance, and were
permitted to pass the night in pleasant dreams.*

Early in the morning we resumed our journey along
the lakes, without seeing any signs of the Indians until
after sunrise, when we discovered them issuing from the
high grass in front, rear, and on either side of us. This
created great alarm among our men, at first, as we thought
they had surrounded us on purpose, but it appeared that
we had only happencd amongst them, and they were as
much frightened as us. From this we turned our course
from the border of the lake into the plain. We had not
travelled far until the Indians began to move after us —
first in small numbers, but presently in large companies. —
They did not approach near until we had travelled in this
way for several hours, when they began to send small
parties in advance, who would solicit us most earnestly
to stop and smoke with them. After they had repeated
this several times, we began to understand their motive —
which was to detain us in order to let their whole force

*It i8 here made perfectly plain that Captain Walker used his ut-
most endeavors to prevent a collision, and there {8 no question as to
his wisdom in not allowing them to come to his camp, a bow and
arrow in the hands of a skillful Indian, at close quarters, is a far
more formidable weapon than a muzzle-loading rifle.
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come up and surround us, or to get into close quarters with
us, when their bows and arrows would be as fatal and more
effective then our firearms. We now began to be a little
stern with them, and gave them to understand, that if they
continued to trouble us, they would do it at their own
risk. In this manner we were teased until a party of 8o
or 100 came forward, who appeared more saucy and bold
than any others. This greatly excited Capt. Walker,* who

*Captain Walker was a man of great experience in the mountains
and well qualified to conduct an expedition of this character; he knew
the Indians perfectly from years of assoclation with them, and no
doubt felt perfectly justified in pursuing the course he did; and un-
questionably he had a great deal of justice on his side. There is not
an act in this narrative of Leonard’'s that i8 not to his credit; and,
according to Leonard, he remained after his return one of Bonneville's
most trusted lieutenants, until the latter left the trade and mountains.
He 18 described by Irving as being a native of Tennessee, a man about
six feet tall, strong built, dark complexioned, brave in spirit, though
i in  MaAnners. e had resided for many years in Missouri, on the
frontier; had been among the earliest adventurers to Santa Fé, where
he went to trap beaver, and was taken by the Spaniards. Being lib-
erated, he engaged with the Spaniards and Sioux Indians in the war
against the Pawnees; then returned to Missouri, and here acted by
turns as sheriff, trader, trapper, unttl he was enlisted as a leader by
Captain Bonneville.

We shall see in this narrative what a very flattering offer was
made him by the governor of California to bring out a colony and
settle in that country. It appears that he did settle there later, and
was guide for Fremont in some of his mountain expeditions. He de-
sired that after his death the epitaph to be placed on his tomb should
be that he was the discoverer of the Yosemite wonderland. From
some statements in Leonard we are inclined to think his claim has
some foundation in fact.

In Bancroft the following history of Walker appears: °‘‘Walker
(Joseph Reddeford), native of Tennessee, who went to Missouri in 1819,
where he served as sheriff and became one of the most skillful and fa-
mous of the guides, mountaineers, Indian fighters, and trappers of the
Far West. His first visit to California was as commander of a party of
Bonneville’s trappers spendlng the winter of 1833 and 1834 at Monterey.
Walker's Lake, River, and Pass were named for his discoveries on
this trip. In 1841, unless there i8 an error in archive records, he came
to Los Angeles, probably from New Mexico, to buy horses. In 1843
he ided a division of Chiles’ emigrating party by a southern route
to California, going back in 1844. His next visit was in 1845-46 as guide
to Fremont’'s party, a portion of which he brought through his original
‘Walker’'s Pass. In July, 1846, he was met by Bryant at Fort Bridger
on his return from California. Captain Walker continued his wander-
ings, with intervals of ranchero life and stock-trading experiences
in California for twenty years, making extensive explorations in
Arizona, as well as in other sections, and then in 1866 or 1867 he settled
in Contra Costa County, Cal., living with his mephew, James T., and
d{ing in 1876 at the age of seventy-eight, Captain Joe Walker was one
of the bravest and most skillful of mountain men; none were better ac-
quainted than he with the geography or the native tribes of the Great
Basin and he was withal less boastful and pretentious than most of
his class. In his old age he was moved by the absurd praises accorded
to a ‘pathfinder’ who had merely followed the tracks of himself and
his trapper associates, to say many bitter and doubtless unjust things
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was naturally of a very cool temperament, and he gave
orders for the charge, saying that there was nothing equal
to a good start in such a case. This was sufficient. A
number of our men had never been engaged in any fight-
ing with the Indians, and were anxious to try their skill.
When our commander gave his consent to chastise these
Indians, and give them an idea of our strength, 32 of us
dismounted and prepared ourselves to give a severe blow.
We tied our extra horses to some shrubs and left them
with the main body of our company, and then selected each
a choice steed, mounted and surrounded this party of In-
dians. We closed in on them and fired, leaving thirty-
nine* dead on the field — which was nearly the half — the
remainder were overwhelmed with dismay — running into
the high grass in every direction, howling in the most
lamentable manner.t

against Fremont, but his prejudice on this point was natural and
merits but slight censure.”

We have an account of him as late as 1869, in Abbot’'s Kiz Car
Som, bi" Carson himself who n{s, ‘‘They were on the Colorado River
near Fort Mohave, having gulded Col. Hoffman, and a company of
soldiers, who were on a surveying tour, from Fort Tejou to Fort
Yuma. Carson says he was not familiar with the country Iyint‘ on
the Colorado River below Fort Mohave, and over this portion of the
route, the celebrated scout and trapper Joe Walker was to go with
us and act as guide after we ?assed through that portion of the
country, with which I was acquainted. Joe was a tall, large man, six
feet high, and weighing over two hundred pounds. We slept together
in the same blanket and many a night have I laid awake, llatenln‘
to his stories of fights with the Indians, and his hair-breadth escapes.

*Nidever gives the number of ktlled as thirty-three.

1 The Jonesborou{h (Tenn.) Semtime! of March 8th contains an in-
teresting narrative by Stephen H. L. Meek, now of that town, who
has been for the last three or four years a member of a fur company.
‘‘The company last summer left Rio del Norte, July 20th, for Montras
[Monterey] in California. On September 9th they were surrounded and
shot at by a large party of the Banark and Snake Indians, armed
with arrows. The return fire from the deadly rifles of the
hunters told a dismal tale, and the Indians, astonished fell back with
their rude bows and arrows, which were found powerless weapons.
The mules were then repacked, and the course resumed over the in-
terminable prairies. Five of the hunters in the skirmish were wounded,
and one [Willilam 8Small] was shot dead by the arrow of a chief, who
soon after was brought down. The Indian loss was 27 found dead;
the wounded probably twice that number. On the 16th about 150 of
the same tribe hung on the company’s flanks, and n to seat
themselves down in rings and smoke their pipes. At this moment
30 of the mountaineers rode up to within forty steps of the savages
and discharged ugon them their rifles with deliberate aim. The In-
dians scattered like partridges from the hawk, leaving eighteen dead
and five prisoners, which latter, after being severely whipped, were
set at liberty. Travelled now four days across the Salt Plains, when
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Capt. Walker then gave orders to some of the men
to take the bows of the fallen Indians and put the wounded
out of misery. The severity with which we dealt with
these Indians may be revolting to the heart of the philan-
thropist; but the circumstances of the case altogether
atones for the cruelty. It must be borne in mind, that we
were far removed from the hope of any succour in case we
were surrounded, and that the country we were in was
swarming with hostile savages, sufficiently numerous to
devour us. Our object was to strike a decisive blow.
This we did — even to a greater extent than we had in-
tended.*

they struck the California Mountain, crossing which took 156 days and
in 14 dalys more they reached the two Laries [Tulare River] now
scarce of food, and killed a horse, and subsisted on the same 11 days,
came to the Spanish settlements. Here procuring provisions, they
proceeded to Montras where they spent the winter agreeably in balls
and parties given by the Spanish ladies. On April 1st left and in ten
days struck the snow banks on the south side of the 8ait or California
mountains. The company now had 100 horses, 80 mules, and 25 head
of cattle. Before reaching the plains on the north side of the
mountains, they had to leave 30 horses, § mules, and all the cattle in
the snow, which was six feet deep. In the fore part of May reached
8t. Mary's River — on 4th July, 1838, Quepaw or Bear River and thence
proceeded to St. Louis, Mo., with their furs.”

In this account the E’Iace of starting does not e with the
Walker expedition. The kiHing of 8mall is not recorded by any other
authority, and the time of departure from California does not agree
with Leonard. The Walker expedition arrived at Bear River or the
Great Salt Lake about July, 1834, and not in 1836 as given in this account.

*From the above descrg’tlon of the attitude of these Indians, they
were not as harmless as nneville would lead us to suppose even if
they were the despised Diggers; they were evidently waiting for a
favorable opportunity to attack the company, and were certainly not
following in such large numbers for any other purpose. Being at the
same time saucy and bold, it was onelx a matter of time when these
Indians would have had to be punished for their increasing insolence,
and this is no doubt what Captain Walker had in mind, when he says,
“There is nothing equal to a good start in such a case.”

The position of these men was not an enviable one. Here they
were in the midst of Indians ‘‘sufficiently numerous to have destroyed
us,” who were treacherous and only seeking for a good opportunity
to destroy them. They were on a desert waste of which they knew
nothing — with no guide or knowledge of the route, at every step they
were getting farther from any hope of succor in case of distress; they
knew not what obstacles they were yet to encounter or what Indians
they were to meet in the country that lay between them and Cali-
fornia. No one had as yet gone over this route, and all were ignorant
of the distance they had yet to go. They were, however, on the route
on which in later years the Union Pacific Railroad was built, and
under their feet lay gold sufficient to have satisfled their wildest
dreams. They were justified in striking a blow to teach the Indians
to keep at a respectful distance and not molest them, after the many
warnings they received; but it is a question whether it was justifiable
and necessary to carry it to the extent they did. Leonard states that
“their object was to strike a decisive blow. This we did — even to a
greater extent than we had intended.”
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These Indians* are totally naked — both male and
female — with the exception of a shield of grass, which
they wear around their loins. They are generally small
and weak, and some of them very hairy. They subsist
upon grass-seed, frogs, fish, &c. — Fish, however, are very
scarce — their manner of catching which, is somewhat
novel and singular. They take the leg-bone of a sand-
hill crane, which is generally about 18 inches long, this is
fastened in the end of a pole — they then, by means of a
raft made of rushes, which are very plenty — float along
the surface of these lakes, and spear the fish. They ex-
hibit great dexterity with this simple structure — some-
times killing a fish with it at a great distance. They also
have a kind of hook by which they sometimes are very suc-
cessful, but it does not afford them as much sport as the
spear. This hook is formed of a small bone, ground down
on a sand-stone, and a double beard cut in it with a flint
—they then have a line made of wild flax. This line is
tied nearest the beard end of the hook, by pulling the line
the sharp end with the beard, catches, and turns the bone
crossways in its mouth.

These lakes are all joined together hy means of the
river which passes from one to another, until it reaches the
largest, which has no out-let.t The water in this lake be-
comes stagnant and very disagreeable — its surface being
covered with a green substance, similar to a stagnant frog
pond. In warm weather there is a fly, about the size and
similar to a grain of wheat, on this lake, in great num-
bers.— When the wind rolls the waters onto the shore,
these flies are left on the beach — the female Indians then
carefully gather them into baskets made of willow branches,
and lay them exposed to the sun until they become per-

*Pai-utes or Root Diggers (Diggers) sometimes called Snake Indians.
tHumboldt Lake into which Humboldt River empties.
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fectly dry, when they are laid away for winter provender.
These flies, together with grass seed, and a few rabbits, is
their principal food during the winter season.

Their habitations are formed of a round hole dug in
the ground, over which sticks are placed, giving it the
shape of a potatoe hole — this is covered with grass &
earth — the door at one side and the fire at the other.
They cook in a pot made of stiff mud, which they lay upon
the fire & burn; but from the sandy nature of the mud,
after cooking a few times, it falls to pieces, when they
make a new one.

The Indians call themselves Shoshocoes ; and the Lakes
have been named Battle Lakes.

On the 10th of October we left these Indians and built
rafts out of rushes to convey us across the river,* when
we left the Lakes and continued our course in the direc-
tion of a large mountain, which was in sight, and which we
could see was covered with snow on the summit. In the
evening we encamped on the margin of a large Lake formed
by a river which heads in this mountain. This lake, like-
wise, has no outlet for the water, except that which sinks
into the ground. The water in this lake is similar to lie,
and tastes much like pearlash.f If this river was in the
vicinity of some city, it would be of inestimable value, as it
is admirably calculated to wash clothes without soap, and
no doubt could be appropriated to many valuable uses.
There is also a great quantity of pummice stone floating
on the surface of the water, and the shore is covered with
them. The next day we travelled up this river towards
the mountain, where we encamped for the night. This

*They undoubtedly travelled down the south bank of the Hum-
boldt to near the point where it empties into Humboldt Lake. Here the
river takes a sharp turn to the south and empties into the lake, and

it must have been at this point that they crossed the rlvei,‘golng
around the west side of Humboldt Lake, thence to Carson e.

tProbably Carson Lake, as its waters are alkailf.
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mountain is very high, as the snow extends down the side
nearly half way —the mountain runs North and South.

In the morning we despatched hunters to the moun-
tain on search of game and also to look out for a pass over
the mountain, as our provisions were getting scarce — our
dried buffaloe meat being almost done. After prowling
about all day, our hunters returned in the evening, bring-
ing the unwelcome tidings that they had not seen any
signs of game in all their ramblings, and what was equally
discouraging, that they had seen no practicable place for
crossing the mountain. They, however, had with them a
young colt and camel,* which they secured by the natives
taking fright and running off, when the hunters came in
sight. The next morning, having eaten the last of our
dried buffaloe meat, it was decided that the colt should
be killed and divided equally to each man. Our situation
was growing worse every hour, and something required to
be done to extricate ourselves. Our horses were reduced
very much from the fatigues of our journey and light food,
having travelled through a poor, sandy country extending
from the buffaloe country of the Rocky Mountains, to our
present encampment, a distance of about 1200 miles, with-
out encountering a single hill of any consequence, (with
the exception of the one in which Barren river heads, and
that we went around,) and so poor and bare that nothing
can subsist on it with the exception of rabbits — these
being the only game we had met with since we had left
the buffaloe country, with the exception of one or two
antelopes. Notwithstanding these plains forbids the sup-
port of animals of every description, yet I do not believe
that we passed a single day without seeing Indians, or
fresh signs, and some days hundreds of them.4 To-day

*This must be an error as camels are surely not to found in
the wild state in the Sierra Nevada Mountains. v be

{They had during this time been gradually worki: toward the
south along the east side of the mountains. v ad
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we sent out several scouting parties to search out a pass
over the mountain. Capt. Walker, Nidever and myself
started out together. After getting part of the way up the
mountain we came to a grove of timber, where the moun-
tain was too steep for our horses, and we left them, and
travelled on foot. Nidever was separated from us, when
two Indians made their appearance, but as soon as they
saw us, they took to flight and run directly towards Nid-
ever, who at once supposed they had been committing
some mischief with us, fired, and, as they were running
one behind the other, killed them both at one shot. After
this unpleasant circumstance we went back to our horses,
and from thence to camp. Mr. Nidever was very sorry
when he discovered what he had done.* In the evening
the balance of our scouting parties returned, but none of
them had killed any game. One of them had found an
Indian path, which they thought led over the mountain —
whereupon it was resolved that in the morning we would
take this path, as it seemed to be our only prospect of
preservation. Accordingly, at an early hour the next
morning we started on our journey along the foot of the
mountain in search of the path discovered on the previous
“day, and found it. On examination we found that horses
travelled it, and must of course come from the west. This
gave us great encouragement, as we were very fearful we
would not be able to get our horses over at all. Here
we encamped for the night. In the morning we started
on our toilsome journey.f Ascending the mountain we

*Bancroft (&ist. of Nevada,p. 43) mentions this affair, but puts for-
ward an entirely different motive for the killing of the two Indians.
“Nidever, admits however, that a little later he could not resist the
temptation to kill two Indians with one shot, thus avenglng his
brother who had been treacherously murdered some time before.” We
are inclined to think Leonard’s account is the correct one; had Ni-
dever been seeking revenge he would have scarcely waited until he
could have killed two at one shot, having had many opportunities
previous to this to satisfy his revengeful spirit.

#They probably went by Walker's Lake and up Walker River to the
neighborhood of Mono e where they crossed the mountains.
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found to be very difficult from the rocks and its steepness.
This day we made but poor speed, and encamped on the
side of the mountain.

Oct. 16. Continued our course until in the after-
noon, when we arrived at what we took for the top,
where we again encamped, but without any thing to
eat for our horses, as the ground was covered with a deep
snow, which from appearance, lays on the North side of
the peaks, the whole year around. These peaks are gener-
ally covered with rocks and sand, —totally incapable of
vegetation ; except on the South side, where grows a kind
of Juniper or Gin shrub, bearing a berry tasting similar to
gin. Here we passed the night without any thing to eat
except these gin berries, and some of the insects from the
lake described above, which our men had got from the
Indians. We had not suffered much from cold for several
months previous to this; but this night, surrounded as
we were with the everlasting snows on the summit of this
mountain, the cold was felt with three fold severity.

In taking a view the next morning of the extensive
plains through which we had travelled, its appearance is
awfully sublime. As far as the eye can reach, you can see
nothing but an unbroken level, tiresome to the eye to be-
hold. To the East the aspect is truly wonderful. The
sight meets with nothing but a poor sandy plain, extending
from the base of the Rocky mountains to the level below
— interposed with several rivers winding their way, here
and there forming innumerable lakes, having their mar-
gins thinly adorned with a few withering and fading cot-
tonwood trees — where the water ceases to flow, and sinks
into the sand. But this is not all. The rivers which head
in this mountan, all lead towards the East, as if to meet
those from the Rocky mountains, and likewise empty into
the lakes. The next morning it was with no cheerful pros-
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pect that each man prepared himself for travelling, as we
had nothing to eat worth mentioning. As we advanced,
in the hollows sometimes we would encounter prodigious
quantities of snow. When we would come to such places,
a certain portion of the men would be appointed alter-
nately to go forward and break the road, to enable our
horses to get through; and if any of the horses would get
swamped, these same men were to get them out. In this
tedious and tiresome manner we spent the whole day with-
out going more than 8 or 10 miles. In some of these ra-
vines where the snow is drifted from the peaks, it never
entirely melts, and may be found at this season of the year,
from ten to one hundred feet deep. From appearance it
never melts on the top, but in warm weather the heap
sinks by that part melting which lays next the ground.
This day’s travel was very severe on our horses, as they
had not a particle to eat. They began to grow stupid
and stiff, and we began to despair of getting them over the
mountain. We encamped this night on the south side
of one of these peaks or ridges without any thing to eat,
and almost without fire. To add to the troubles and fa-
tigues which we encountered in the day time, in getting
over the rocks and through the snow, we had the mortifica-
tion this evening to find that some of our men had become
almost unmanageable, and were desirous of turning back
and retracing our steps to the buffaloe country! The voice
of the majority, which always directs the movements of
such a company, would not pacify them; nor had the earn-
est appeals of our captain any effect. The distance was
too great for them to undertake without being well pro-
vided, and the only way they could be prevented, was by
not letting them have any of the horses or ammunition.
Two of our horses were so much reduced that it was
thought they would not be able to travel in the morning
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at all, whereupon it was agreed that they should be butch-
ered for the use of the men. This gave our men fresh
courage, and we went to bed this night in better spirits
than we had done for a long time. Some of the men had
fasted so long, and were so much in want of nourishment,
that they did not know when they had satisfied the de-
mands of nature, and eat as much and as eagerly of this
black, tough, lean, horse flesh, as if it had been the choicest
piece of beef steak.

In the morning, after freely partaking of the horse
meat, and sharing the remainder to each man, we renewed
our journey, now and then coming onto an Indian path,
but as they did not lead in the direction we were going,
we did not follow them — but the most of the distance we
this day travelled, we had to encounter hills, rocks and
deep snows. The snow in most of the hollows we this day
passed through, looks as if it had remained here all sum-
mer, as eight or ten inches from the top it was packed
close and firm — the top being loose and light, having fell
only a day or two previous. About the middle of the
afternoon we arrived at a small Lake or pond, where we
concluded to encamp, as at this pond we found a small
quantity of very indifferent grass, but which our horses
cropped off with great eagerness. Here we spent the night,
having yet seen nothing to create a hope that we had ar-
rived near the opposite side of the mountain — and what
was equally as melancholy, having yet discovered no signs
of game.

The next morning we resumed our labour, fortu-
nately finding less snow and more timber, besides a num-
ber of small lakes, and some prospect of getting into a
country that produced some kind of vegetation. The tim-
ber is principally pine, cedar and red wood, mostly of a
scrubby and knotty quality. After travelling a few miles,
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further however, than any other day since we had reached
the top of the mountain, we again encamped on the mar-
gin of another small lake, where we also had the good
fortune to find some pasture for our horses. This evening
it was again decided to kill three more of our horses which
had grown entirely worthless from severe travelling and
little food. The next morning several parties were des-
patched on search of a pass over the mountain, and to
make search for game; but they all returned in the even-
ing without finding either. The prospect at this time be-
gan to grow somewhat gloomy and threaten us with hard
times again. We were at a complete stand. No one was
acquainted with the country, nor no person knew how wide
the summit of this mountain was.*—We had travelled for
five days since we arrived at what we supposed to be the
summit — were now still surrounded with snow and rugged
peaks — the vigour of every man almost exhausted —
nothing to give our poor horses, which were no longer any
assistance to us in travelling, but a burthen, for we had to
help the most of them along as we would an old and
feeble man.

This mountain must be near as high as the main chain
of the Rocky mountainsf — at least a person would judge
so from the vast quantity of snow with which it is covered,
and the coldness of the air. The descent from the Rocky
mountains to this is but trifling, and supposed by all the
company not to be greater than we had ascended this
mountain from the plain — though we had no means of
ascertaining the fact. It is true, however, that the vast
plain through which we had travelled was almost perfectly
mnell states that Capt. Walker told him they had Mono
Indlans to guide them across the mountains. This must be a mistake,

as no authorities mention them, while Leonard makes it quite clear
they had no guides.

{These are the Sierra Nevada Mountains, or the California Mount-
tain of Leonard, and the Mount Joseph of Jedediah 8. S8mith.
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level, on part of which the water gradually descended to
the West, and on the other towards the East.

Our situation was growing more distressing every
hour, and all we now thought of, was to extricate ourselves
from this inhospitable region; and, as we were perfectly
aware, that to travel on foot was the only way of suc-
ceeding, we spent no time in idleness — scarcely stopping
in our journey to view an occasional specimen of the won-
ders of nature’s handy-work. We travelled a few miles
every day, still on the top of the mountain, and our course
continually obstructed with snow hills and rocks. Here
we began to encounter in our path, many small streams
which would shoot out from under these high snow-banks,
and after running a short distance in deep chasms which
they have through ages cut in the rocks, precipitate them-
selves from one lofty precipice to another, until they are
exhausted in rain below. — Some of these precipices ap-
peared to us to be more than a mile high.* Some of the men
thought that if we could succeed in descending one of these
precipices to the bottom, we might thus work our way
into the valley below — but on making several attempts
we found it utterly impossible for a man to descend, to
say nothing of our horses.t We were then obliged to
keep along the top of the dividing ridge between two of
these chasms which seemed to lead pretty near in the direc-
tion we were going — which was West, — in passing over

*Is this the Yosemite Valley? There is much in this short de-
scription that corresponds with” what we know of this wonderland.

{These heights here described are no doubt those surrounding the
Yosemite and the falls, the water of which turns to mist before reach-
ing the bottom. Captain Walker informed Dr. Bunnell that he
encamped on the heights overlooking the Yosemite, on November 13,
1833; something to this effect was also placed upon his tombstone. By
Ifo(l)mrdl')a uncertain dates they were at this point in the later part
O ctober.

The 8San José Pioneer some years ago after investigating the ques-
tion as to who was the discoverer of the Yosemite, remarks, ‘‘His
[Captain Walker’'s] were the first white man’'s eyes that ever looked
upon the Yosemite.’” This is conceded by Dr. Bunnell also, who with
a party were the first to enter the valley about 1851.
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the mountain, supposing it to run north & south. In this
manner we continued until the 25th, without any particu-
lar occurrence, except that of our horses dying daily —
the flesh of which we preserved for food. Our course was
very rough & tiresome, having to encounter one hill of
snow and one ledge of rocks after another. On the 25th
every man appeared to be more discouraged and down-
spirited than ever, and I thought that our situation would
soon be beyond hope if no prospect of getting from the
mountain would now be discovered. This day we sent out
several parties on discoveries, who returned in the even-
ing without bringing the least good news, except one man,
who was last coming, having separated from his compan-
ions, brought a basket full of acorns to camp.* These
were the first acorns we had seen since we left the State of
Missouri. These nuts our hunter had got from an Indian
who had them on his back travelling as though he was on a
journey across the mountain, to the East side. — When
the Indian seen our hunter he dropped his basket of pro-
vision and run for life. These nuts caused no little rejoic-
ing in our camp, not only on account of their value as food,
but because they gave us the gratifying evidence that a
country mild and salubrious enough to produce acorns
was not far distant, which must be vastly different from
any we had passed through for a long time. We now felt
agreeably surprised that we had succeeded so far and so
prosperously, in a region of many miles in extent where a
native Indian could find nothing to eat in traversing the
same route, but acorns. These nuts are quite different
from those in Missouri — being much larger and more

*These acorns grow in great abundance on the west side of the
Slerra Nevada Mountains; they are quite large and are a favorite food
of the Indians, which they prepare in many ways. They store them
in peculiar hooded granaries made of grass, raised up from the
ground, for winter use. They have dances during certain seasons,
known as acorn dances.
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palatable. They are from 1} to 3 inches in length, and
about § in diameter, and when roasted in the ashes or
broiled, are superior to any chesnuts I ever eat — (though
a person subsisting upon very lean horse meat for several
days is hardly capable of judging with precision in a case
of this kind.)

The next morning we resumed our journey some-
what revived with the strong expectation that after a few
days more tedious travelling, we would find ourselves in a
country producing some kind of game by which we might
recruit our languid frames, and pasture to resuscitate the
famished condition of our horses. We still found snow
in abundance, but our course was not so much obstructed
with rocks as formerlv. In two or three days we arrived
at the brink of the mountain. This at first was a happy
sight, but when we approached close, it seemed to be so
near perpendicular that it would be folly to attempt a de-
scent. In looking on the plain below with the naked eye,
you have one of the most singular prospects in nature;
from the great height of the mountain the plain presents
a dim vellow appearance ; — but on taking a view with the
spy glass we found it to be a beautiful plain stretched out
towards the west until the horizon presents a barrier to the
sight. From the spot where we stood to the plain beneath,
must at least be a distance of three miles, as it is almost
perpendicular, a person cannot look down without feeling
as if he was wafted to and fro in the air, from the giddy
height. A great many were the surmises as to the dis-
tance and direction to the nearest point of the Pacific. Cap-
tain Walker, who was a man well acquainted with geogra-
phy, was of the opinion that it was not much further than
we could see with the aid of our glass, as the plain had the
appearance of a sea shore. Here we encamped for the
night, and sent men out to discover some convenient pas-




LEONARD’S NARRATIVE 177

sage down towards the plain — who returned after an ab-
sence of a few hours and reported that they had discovered
a pass or Indian trail which they thought would answer
our purpose, and also some signs of deer and bear, which
was equally as joyful news — as we longed to have a taste
of some palatable food. The next morning after pursuing
our course a few miles along the edge of the mountain top
we arrived at the path discovered by our men, and imme-
diately commenced the descent, gladly leaving the cold and
famished region of snow behind. The mountain was ex-
tremely steep and difficult to descend, and the only way
we could come any speed was by taking a zigzag direction,
first clim[b]ing along one side and then turning to the oth-
er, until we arrived at a ledge or precipice of rocks, of great
height, and extending eight or ten miles along the moun-
tain — where we halted and sent men in each direction
to ascertain if there was any possibility of getting over
this obstruction. In the afternoon of the same day our
men returned without finding any safe passage thro’ the
rocks — but one man succeeded in killing a small deer,
which he carried all the way to camp on his back — this
was dressed, cooked and eat in less time than a hungry wolf
would devour a lamb.

This was the first game larger than a rabbit we had
killed since the 4th of August* when we killed the last
buffaloe near the Great Salt Lake, and the first we had eat
since our dried meat was exhausted, (being 14 days,) dur-
ing which time we lived on stale and forbidden horse flesh.
I was conscious that it was not such meat as a dog would
feast on, but we were driven to extremes and had either
last buffalo was Bited on Seprember 4rn: It 18 contusing Trom the. tact
(e KITnE of the lagt butalg About we Weeks befors The Start — as
a matter of fact they started from the rendezvous one month earlier

than the date given by him. We have this from Bonneville and other
authorities.

12
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to do this or die. It was the most unwholesome as well
as the most unpleasant food I ever eat or ever expect to
eat —and I hope that no other person will ever be com-
pelled to go through the same. It seemed to be the
greatest cruelty to take your rifle, when your horse sinks
to the ground from starvation, but still manifests a desire
and willingness to follow you, to shoot him in the head and
then cut him up & take such parts of their flesh as extreme
hunger alone will render it possible for a human being to
eat. This we done several times, and it was the only thing
that saved us from death. 24 of our horses died since we
arrived on top of the mountain — 17 of which we eat the
best parts.

When our men returned without finding any passage
over the rocks, we searched for a place that was as smooth
and gradual in the descent as possible, and after finding
one we brought our horses, and by fastening ropes round
‘them let them down one at a time without doing them any
injury. After we got our horses and baggage all over the
rocks we continued our course down the mountain, which
still continued very steep and difficult. The circumstance
of one of our men killing a deer greatly cheered the lan-
guid spirits of our hunters, and after we got safely over
the rocks several of the men started out on search of game,
although it was then near night. The main body con-
tinued on down until we arrived at some green oak bushes,
where we encamped for the night, to wait for our hunters,
— who returned soon after dark well paid for their labour,
having killed two large black tailed deer and a black bear,
and all very fat and in good eating order. This night we
passed more cheerful and in better heart than any we had
spent for a long time. Our meat was dressed and well
cooked, and every man felt in good order to partake of it.
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In descending the mountain this far we have found
but little snow, and began to emerge into a country which
had some signs of vegetation — having passed thro’ several
groves of green oak bushes, &c. The principal timber
which we came across, is Red-Wood, White Cedar and
the Balsom tree. We continued down the side of the
mountain at our leisure, finding the timber much larger
and better, game more abundant and the soil more fertile.
Here we found plenty of oak timber, bearing a large quan-
tity of acorns, though of a different kind from those taken
from the Indian on the mountain top. In the evening of
the 3oth we arrived at the foot or base of this mountain —
having spent almost a month in crossing over.* Along the
base of this mountain it is quite romantic — the soil is
very productive —the timber is immensely large and
plenty, and game, such as deer, elk, grizzly bear and ante-

*As to the route and time taken for this journey across the moun-
tains Bonneville says, ‘‘They then struck directly westward, across the
t chain of Californian Mountains. . . . For three and twenty days
they were entangled among these mountains, the peaks and ridges of
which are in many places covered with perpetual snow. . . . For a part
of the time they were nearly starved; at length they made their way
through them, and came down upon the ‘flalna of New California. . ...
They now turned towards the south, and . . . . arrived at the Spanish
village and post of Monterey."”

Stephen Meek, who was a member of the garty. tells us ‘‘they trav-
eled now four days across the salt plains when they struck the Cali-
fornian Mountains, crossing which took fifteen days, and in fourteen
dﬁ's more they reached the two Larles’ —meanfng the Tulares;
“killed a horse, and subsisting on the same eleven days came to the
Spanish settlements.” Jo Meek, in Mrs. Victor's River of the West,

ves the route rather definitely, westward to Pyramid Lake, up the

ruckee River, and across the mountains — very much the same
route as the present railroad line — into the S8acramento Valley, and
then southward. He also states that they met a company of soldiers
out hunting for cattle-thieves in the S8an José Valley, and were taken
rrlloners to Monterey — thus giving the journey a very dramatic end-
ng — all of which was from the trapper’'s imagination, says Bancroft.
Finally, a newspaper version, founded on Walker's own statements,
and corroborated to some extent by that of Nidever, gives what I sup-
pose to have been the correct route from the sink, southwestward by
way of what are now Carson Lake and Walker Lake and River, over
the Sierra near the headwaters of the Merced, and down into the San
Joaquin Valley. Leonard’'s description of the route certainly is in ac-
cord with the latter and he gives evidence that they crossed about this
point, in his description of what is probably the Yosemite Valley; a
atill more positive evidence i1s that they made their exit from the
mountains, and came at once in contact with the giant redwoods of
Maripoga, there i8 no mistaking these big trees from Leonard's de-
scription. This also helps to confirm the route as being through or
near the Yosemite, thence by way of the Merced to the San Joaquin River.
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lopes are remarkably plenty. — From the mountain out to
the plain, a distance varying from 10 to 20 miles, the tim-
ber stands as thick as it could grow, and the land is well
watered by a number of small streams rising here and
there along the mountain. In the last two days travelling
we have found some trees of the Red-wood species, in-
credibly large — some of which would measure from 16
to 18 fathom round the trunk at the height of a man’s
head from the ground.*

On the 31st we pursued our course towards the plain
in a western direction.— Now, that we had reached a
country thickly filled with almost all kinds of game, our
men and particularly those fond of hunting, were in fine
spirits. This day our company was much scattered, and we
coud hardly tell which was the main body, as the men were
stretched over a large space of ground, all moving within
each others hearing towards the plain. After a walk of
about fifteen miles we arrived at the margin of the woods,
where we concluded to spend the remainder of the day
and night. When our men all gathered together it was
astonishing to.see the quantity of game which they had
collected — principally deer and bear. Our hunters com-
plained very much because there was no buffaloe here — as
killing these animals afford the hunter such fine sport; and
they would not believe any thing else than that buffaloe
inhabited this region until they had made several unsuc-
cessful hunts — as the climate and soil is about the same,
the grass equally as good and plenty, and the prairies and
forests as extensive as those of the region of the Rocky
Mountains. But none of these animals have ever been

*This statement of Leonard’'s makes it perfectly clear that these
are the big-trees of California, the giant redwoods of Mariposa, and
this is, so far as we know, the earliest published account of them.
The locality also agrees, which also tends to prove that they were in
the neighborhood of the Yosemite. To them must therefore be given
the credit of discovering these giant wonders of California.
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found west of the Great Salt Lake, which is about three
hundred miles west of the summit of the Rocky moun-
tains.

On the following morning we directed our course
across or rather along the plain, until we came to a large
river heading in the mountain and wending its way through
the plain. This river presents more wonderful curiosities
than any other stream we passed. Its bed lays very
deep forming very high banks, even in smooth and level
parts of the country; but where there is rocks its appear-
ance is beyond doubt the most remarkable of any other
water course. Some places the rocks are piled up per-
pendicular to such a height that a man on top, viewed
from the bed of the river, does not look larger than
a small child. From the appearance of these preci-
pices it is not exaggerating to state that they may
be found from a quarter to half a mile high—and
many of them no wider at the top than at the bottom.
Through such places the river forces its way with great
rapid[i]ty, tossing pitching & foaming to such a degree that
no Indian has the courage to attempt to navigate it with
his canoe. — When the water passes through these nar-
rows it spreads out in a beautiful deep bay as if to repose
after its turbulent dashing against the rocks immediately
above, until it reaches the next rapids, when it again
pitches forward.* This plain is well watered and is quite
productive, as we found a large quantity of wild pump-
kins and wild oats.

This night it was decided that we should forthwith
commence trapping for furs and make this expedition as
profitable as possible, for, as yet we had spent much time

*The Merced River. Leonard makes no mention of the fact that
this river joins the SBan Joaquin, which they undoubtedly followed.
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and toil, and lost many horses, without realizing auy profit
whatever — although every man expressed himself fully
compensated for his labour, by the many natural curiosi-
ties which we had discovered. According to the arrange-
ments made on the evening previous, we all the next morn-
ing commenced travelling down the river at a slow gate,
carefully examining for beaver signs, and recruiting our
horses, which they had much need of, as we found them to
be much more injured in crossing the mountains than we
had at first supposed — many of them being sprained and
stiffened almost beyond recovery, and certainly beyond
present use. We laid up a large supply of deer, elk, and
bear meat, of the best kind. These animals are the fat-
test of the kind I had ever eat. Here we found a large
quantity of acorns, such as those taken from the Indian.
These acorns compose the principal food of the wild ani-
mals in this section, — the bear, I believe, solely subsists
upon them, and where acorns are scarce, the game is both
poor and scarce.

The country here appears to be in many respects sim-
ilar to the east side of the Rocky mountains. The land
is generally smooth and level, and the plains or prairies are
very extensive, stretching towards the setting sun as far
as the eye can reach; whilst a number of beautiful rivers,
all heading in this rugged mountain, running parallel with
each other thro’ the plain, also to the west, with their banks
handsomely adorned with flourishing timber of different
kinds, such as Blackwalnut, Hickory, Oak, Elm, Mulbery,
Hackberry, Alder, Shoemack, &c. This grove of timber
may be found along the river at any point, and generally
extends about four miles into the plain. Between this
grove of timber, and the forest extending from the foot
of the mountain, there is a level prairie of the richest soil,
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producing grass in abundance of the most delightful and
valuable quality.*

These prairies are in many places swarming with wild
Horses, some of which are quite docile, particularly the
males, on seeing our horses. They are all very fat, and
can be seen of all colors, from spotted or white, to jet
black ; and here, as in the land of civilization, they are the
most beautiful and noble, as well as the most valuable of
the whole brute creation.

Since we left the mountain we have seen many signs
of Indians, such as moccasin tracks, and smoke rising from
the prairies in different places, but as yet we had not suc-
ceeded in getting in company with any. At this season of
the year, when the grass in these plains is dry, if a fire
should be started it presents a spectacle truly grand — and
if the flame is assisted with a favorable wind, it will
advance with such speed that the wild horses and other
animals are sometimes puzzled to get out of the road, and
every thing looks overwhelmed with consternation. We
continued travelling down the river until the 7th of No-
vember, when we arrived at five Indian huts, containing
15 or 20 Indians male and female. When they first be-
held the approach of beings so mysterious as we were to
them, they exhibited the most unbounded alarm and fear.
But it was not long till we succeeded in calming their ter-
ror, and convincing them that they had no reason to ap-
prehend any danger, by showing a willingness to smoke,
(this being the first token of friendship with all Indians,)
which they at once understood and immediately became
reconciled, and we commenced gathering all the infor-
mation from them that our limited means would afford
torn Sty Y SERER 2, e clesan, dseripen of the Catl

timber, and native grasses; the topography of the country as well as
the characteristics of the native Californian.
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— each being entirely ignorant of the others language, and
the Indians being extremely awkward both in making and
understanding signs — which is the principal method of
conversation with the different tribes in this region. After
making many efforts to get some information from them
with reference to the Big Water, white people, beaver, &c.,
without receiving any further satisfaction by way of an-
swer to our inquiries, than a grunt similar to that of a hog,
we concluded to spend the night with them for further
trial. Towards night whilst passing through their camp,
some of our men found two blankets and a knife, which
convinced us at once that they had some communication
with white people. When the blankets were held up to
them they pronounced in tolerable distinctness, the word
Spanish, and pointed to the west — from which circum-
stance we inferred that the Spanish settlement could not
be far distant.

The next morning our Indian hosts bro’t some horses
to the camp for the purpose of trading, which were marked
with a Spanish brand. After trading for five of the best
of their horses, for which we gave one yard of scarlet cloth
and two knives ; we left these Indians and continued down
the river in search of beaver, which are very scarce. These
Indians are quite small, & much darker than those of the
buffaloe country, as well as more indolent & slothful.
They generally run naked with the exception of a few, who
wear shields made of some kind of skins. Their huts are
composed of dry polls or logs set upon end, and their
bedding consists of grass. Their food is composed prin-
cipally of horse meat and acorns — the latter are very large
and of a good quality,which they manufacture into a kind of
mush. Their method of manufacturing this is as follows:
— They go to a large log and build a fire upon it and burn
it half or two-thirds of the way through, which is done
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by keeping the log wet except about a foot in diameter,
where the fire is kept up until the hole is deep enough,
and of the proper shape. After the hole is burnt deep
enough they extinguish the fire, scrape out the coals and
ashes, and have a tolerably well shaped hopper. When
this is done they get a long stone which is rounded at one
end, and put the acorns in and commence mashing them
fine, which is easily done as they are always previously
dried by fire or the sun. The meal thus made is then taken
out & mixed with water in a basket made almost water-
tight — which they broil by making stones red hot and
throwing them into the basket. By this process they make
a kind of mush with which any hungry man would be glad
to satiate his appetite.

These Indians also appear very delicate and feeble —
which they attribute to eating acorns.* To-day, whilst
some of our hunters were searching for beaver signs along
the river beach, they found the carcases of four Indians,
two of which were partly consumed by Grizzly bears.
They appeared as if they had died natural deaths, and
been laid there by their friends according to their cus-
tom of disposing of the dead, as two of them were well
wrapped up in beaver skins. This day our course lay
through a large prairie covered with wild oats — which at
this season of the year when nothing but the stock re-
mains, has much the appearance of common oats. — This
plain lays on the South side of the river, to which we gave
the name of Oat Plain. The grizzly bear and wild horses
appeared more numerous in the country through which we

*A few years previous to this time, a scourge appeared among the
California Indians of the low lands, which proved quite as fatal to
From the Bccounts we have oF the same It was ho daubs . form of
malarial poisoning. As they are rather poorly developed and badly
nourished, with constitutions undermin by diseases, the {inroads

made by this scourge were fearful. But the Indians of the foot-hills
were not affected to any extent.
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this day passed, than I had ever before known them. In
the evening just before sunset we came across the car-
case of another Indian, which was also partly eaten by the
wild beasts. From the numerous signs we were led to the
belief that the country through which we were now trav-
elling was thickly inhabited with Indians, but notwith-
standing we kept watch both night and day we were unable
to discover any but those we had left in the morning; nor
could we find any of their habitations, although we would
sometimes come across a trail that looked as if it was
traversed by hundreds at a time. We also discovered
some signs of white people, as we would occasionally come
across a tree or log chopped with an axe as if done by trap-
pers and hunters. At this place the river is from two to
three hundred yards wide, as the country is generally level
the water moves gently forward, being quite deep, clear
and smooth.* This night we encamped on the bank of the
river in a very beautiful situation. Soon after the men
went to rest and the camp had became quieted, we were
startled by a loud distant noise similar to that of thunder.
Whilst lying close to the ground this noise could be dis-
tinctly heard for a considerable length of time without in-
termission. When it was at first observed some of our men
were much alarmed, as they readily supposed it was occa-
sioned by an earthquake, and they began to fear that we
would all be swallowed up in the bowels of the earth; and
others judged it to be the noise of a neighboring cataract.
Capt. Walker, however, suggested a more plausible cause,.
which allayed the fears of the most timid. He supposed
that the noise originlatled by the Pacific rolling and dash-
ing her boisterous waves against the rocky shore. Had
any of us ever before been at the coast, we would have:

readily accounted for the mysterious noise.
*The San Joaquin, probably near its mouth.
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The idea of being within hearing of the end of the
Far West inspired the heart of every member of our
company with a patriotic feeling for his country’s honor,
and all were eager to loose no time until they should behold
what they had heard. We felt as if all our previous hard-
ships and privations would be adequately compensated, if
we would be spared to return in safety to the homes of our
kindred and have it to say that we had stood upon the ex-
treme end of the great west. The two next days we trav-
elled very fast, without meeting with any thing to impede
our progress. On the night of the 12th our men were
again thrown into great consternation by the singular ap-
pearance of the heavens. Soon after dark the air appeared
to be completely thickened with meteors falling towards the
earth, some of which would explode in the air and others
would be dashed to pieces on the ground, frightening our
horses so much that it required the most active vigilance of
the whole company to keep them together. This was alto-
gether a mystery to some of the men who probably had
never before seen or heard of anything of the kind, but
after an explanation from Capt. Walker, they were satis-
fied that no danger need be apprehended from the falling
of the stars, as they were termed.*

Aftertravellingafew miles the next morning we arrived
at the head of tide water, which convinced us that the noise
we had heard a few days previous was created by the ocean.
We continued down the river until we arrived at the bay,t
whereit minglesits water with the briny ocean. The country
here lays very low, & looks as if it was subject to being
overflowed. Here we found difficult travelling owing to
the ground being wet and swampy. In the vicinity of this
" *This Is the celebrated meteoric phenomenon which occurred on the
night of November 12, 1833, and was observed throughout the whole

or“tlhe United States, and caused much speculation among the super-
stitious.

+The northern arm of 8an Francisco Bay.
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bay we found a great many Indians, who were mostly
occupied in fishing — which are very plenty. These In-
dians appeared friendly enough, but then they manifested a
kind of careless indifference, whether they treated us well
or ill, that we did not like, and we therefore concluded to
leave this place and make for the main coast as soon as
possible,—and accordingly we started in a southern direc-
tion and after travelling a day and a half the broad Pacific
burst forth to view on the 2oth.* The first night we en-
camped quite close to the beach near a spring of delightful
water. The scenes which we could now contemplate was
quite different from those we had beheld and dwelt amidst
for months back. Here was a smooth unbroken sheet of
water stretched out far beyond the reach of the eye — alto-
gether different from mountains, rocks, snows & the toil-
some plains we had traversed. Here we occasionally found
the traces of white men, and as the Indians still appeared to
act so strange, we began to think that the Spaniards had
the Indians under complete subjection, and that they could,
if so disposed, set them on us and give us trouble. It was
therefore thought best to find out the whereabouts of the
Spaniards and cultivate their friendship. The Indians here
practice fishing to a great extent; indeed it seems to be the
only thing they do. — They have many methods of catch-
ing them — but the principal process is by spearing them
with bones made sharp, and some have proper instruments
of Spanish manufacture, in which they are very expert. —
The principal fish in the river we came down, and which
has the principal Indian fisheries, are shad and salmon. We
did not find out the name of this tribe, or whether they con-
sider themselves distinct from any other tribe. Most all
of the natives we met with since crossing the last mountain,

*They traveled around the east side of the bay to its lower point

and then to the coast; as the settlement of San Francisco was on
the opposite side of the bay near the ocean, they did not pass near it.
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seem to belong to the same nation, as they were about the
same colour and size — spoke the same language for any
thing we could discover to the contrary, and all appeared
equally ignorant and dillatory — and most of them entirely
naked. They have no particular place of residence but
claim the whole of the country stretching from the moun-
tain to the sea shore as their own. In some parts the natives
raise a small quantity of corn, pumpkins, melons, &c., the
soil being so very strong and mellow, that it requires but
little labour to raise good crops.

21st. This morning the ocean was not so calm as it
was the previous evening. — All its sleeping energies were
lashed into fury, and the mountain waves of the great deep
would roll and dash against the shore, producing the most
deafening sound. In the course of the day a detachment of
our company was despatched to make discoveries, who
returned in the evening and stated that they had discovered
many signs of white people, whom they supposed to be
Spaniards, but they were unable to come up with them.
This same party also found the carcase of a whale which
was ninety feet long — the tusks weighing 434 pounds.
Aboutnoonofthethird day after we arrived here, the atten-
tion of the company was directed to an object which could
be dimly seen at a distance riding on the water, which was
immediately judged to be a ship, but no one knew from
whence it came, where it belonged or where going. It was
now our curiosity to know more of this singular object and
if possible to attract their attention and bring them to shore.
Accordingly we fastened two white blankets together and
hoisted them into the air on a pole. This had the desired
effect. It was not long until we could tell that the distance
between us was fast diminishing, and our joy and surprise
may be imagined when we beheld the broad stripes and
bright stars of the American flag waiving majestically in
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the air at the mast head. The ship anchored some distance
from the shore and the boats were despatched to see what
nation we belonged to, and what our business was. Their
astonishment was equally as great as ours when they as-
certained that we were children of the same nation of them-
selves. On making this discovery, and a signal to that
effect being given by the boats, the ship fired several salutes
of canon in honor of our meeting, which made the welkin
ring. — On further acquaintance we ascertained this ship
(the Lagoda) to belong to Boston, commanded by Capt.
Baggshaw.* After exchanging civilities by shaking hands
all round, Capt. Baggshaw strongly insisted on us going on
board and partaking of the ships fare, stating that he had a
few casks of untapped Coneac.t This was an invitation
that none of us had the least desire to refuse, and accord-
ingly 45 of us went on board the Lagoda, leaving the re-
mainder to take care of the camp, &c. When ar-
riving on the ship Capt. B., had a table spread with
the choicest of liquors & best fair the ship would
afford, which was immediately surrounded with hungry
Capt’s, Mates, Clerks, Sailors and greasy trappers — after
eating, the glass was passed around in quick succession,
first drinking after the fashion of brave Jack Tars, and
afterwards in the mountain style, mixed with something of
the manners of the natives, in order to amuse the sailors.

After we got on board, the sea became very rough,
causing the vessel to pitch and plunge a great deal as she
lay at anchor, and consequently I was compelled to return
to shore from sea sickness. The balance remained and
kept up the celebration until daylight the next morning,

*Lagoda, an American ship of 292 tons; John Bradshaw, whom
Leonard calls Baggshaw, Master; Bryant & S8turgis, owners (Bos-
ton); Robinson, owner's agent. She was on the coast from the
autumn of 1833 to the spring of 183 (David Spence’'s list).

tBrandy.
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when they all returned to land, accompanied by the ships
crew to taper off on the harder fare of the trapper and
hunter. The feast on the vessel was far superior to any-
thing we could give them, although they appeared perfectly
satisfied with the reception they met with from us, as it was
a long time since they had tasted any fresh meat, or any
thing but salted victuals ; and theirs was the first bread, but-
ter, cheese, &c., that we had seen for more than two years.

After the feasting was at an end, Capt. Baggshaw gave
us a description of the country to enable us to lay our plans
accordingly. He said the nearest settlement was the town
of St. Francisco, about forty miles north of our present
encampment, situated on the south side of the Francisco
Bay, formed by the river which we descended, which he
calls Two Laries or Bush river.* It is about three-fourths of
a mile wide at its mouth, and is considered a safe harbor for
almost any quantity of vessels; and within 60 or 70 miles
South of us is the town of Monterey, also Spanish, the
capital of this province, & which is called Upper Calafornia.
He also informed us that about 60 or 70 miles north of St.
Francisco, and about 100 miles from our present position
was a Russian settlement, which consists of about 150 fam-
ilies who settled in this country a few years ago for the pur-
pose of catching sea otter, which are of great value, on
account of the quality of the fur. They also cultivate the
ground to a considerable extent.f Captain Baggshaw

*Tulare or S8an Joaquin River.

tAbout the year 1812, the Russian American Fur Company estab-
lished a post near Bodega on the California coast some distance above
San Francisco Bay. This was done without the consent of Spaln or
of any Spanish official; and the establishment was kept up for nearly
thirty years, in spite of oft-repeated protests from Spain and Mexico.
Russia, however, never laid claim to any territorial possessions in
California by reason of the Company's settlements at Bodega or Ross,
The Russians had for many years previous to the establishment of
these posts visited the coast of California, from Alaska, for the pur-
pose of catching the sea-otter, which was probably the most valuable

of all fur — in fact there was a great deal of poaching by the Amer-
icans who visited this coast in trading vessels in the early days.
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went and examined the carcase of the whale which our men
had found, and pronounced it to be the Sperm whale, the
oil of which is of the most valuable kind. He supposed it
had been washed here when the sea was rough during a
storm, and was unable to make its way back over the sand
bars. From him we also learned some further particulars
concerning the mountain which had caused us so many
hardships in crossing, parts of which was visible from the
ocean, particularly the snow covered peaks. This he called
the Calafornia mountain, as it runs parallel with the coast
for a great distance, commencing at the mouth of the
Columbia river, and extending along the coast to the
mouth of Red river, or Gulf of Calafornia, forming a beauti-
ful country from the sea shore to the base of the mountain,
and extending north and south a distance of about 6 or
700 miles of rich soil, well timbered and abundantly
watered by innumerable small streams heading in the
mountain and flowing toward the Father of Waters.

Most ofthisvast wasteof territory belongs to the Repub-
lic of the United States. What a theme to contemplate its
settlement and civilization. Will the jurisdiction of the fed-
eral government ever succeed in civilizing the thousands of
savages now roaming over these plains, and her hardy
freeborn population here plant their homes, build their
towns and cities, and say here shall the arts and sciences of
civilization take root and flourish? yes, here, even in this
remote part of the great west before many years, will these
hills and valleys be greeted with the enlivening sound, of
the workman's hammer, and the merry whistle of the
plough-boy. But this is left undone by the government,
and will only be seen when too late to apply the remedy.
The Spaniards are making inroads on the South — the
Russians are encroaching with impunity along the sea
shore to the North, and further North-east the British are

et - g~
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pushing their stations into the very heart of our territory,
which, even at this day, more resemble military forts to
resist invasion, than trading stations. Our government
should be vigilant. She should assert her claim by taking
possession of the whole territory as soon as possible — for
we have good reason to suppose that the territory west
of the mountain will some day be equally as important to
the nation as that on the east.*

The next day Capt. Baggshaw took leave of us and
started out on his trading expedition — appointing Mon-
terey as the point where we were to meet in a few days.

The next morning after the departure of the ship, we
were all in readiness to start for Monterey, the capitol of
the Province, which lays in a southern direction. After
travelling a few miles along the coast finding it very diffi-
cult in consequence of the wet, swampy ground, we found
the carcase of another large fish, measuring 47 feet in
length, with a horn or sword projecting from its nose 12}
inches long. As travelling so nearthe water still con-
tinued difficult, we here concluded to strike out into the
plain, where we found much better walking, the country
being quite level, soil rich, and a few Indians. Some of
these natives live well, as they cultivate pumpkins, beans,
and some of them Indian corn — they also raise an abun-
dance of melons, which grow to an enormous size. But
all these Indians still seemed to be very ignorant and
stupid.

On the evening of the 22d November we encamped at

*We are about to see this prophecy of Leonard's fulfilled ;: events
have since transpired, which have made the above possible much
more rapidly than Leonard ever dreamed of. The Russians withdrew
from the country, and by the war with Mexico the United States se-
cured the whole of California. The settlement of the northwest
boundary almost brought about a war between the United States and
England: on this 1ssue Polk was elected president of the United States.
The campaign cry, “Fifty-four [degrees] forty [minutes] or fight!”’
referred to the boundary line. It was finally settled by arbitration in
Iw:ncg Daniel Webster, one of our represcntatives, was severely crit-
cised.

13
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some rough hills near a small creek. In this neighborhood
there are a great number of these hills, all of which are well
covered with excellent timber, and abounding with all kinds
of game except buffaloe. The most of our company had
become nearly bare footed for want of moccasins, as we had
wore out every thing of the kind in travelling from the
Rocky mountains — and, as winter was approaching, and
no one knowing what kind of a reception we would meet
with among the Spaniards, it was advised that we should
tarry here and provide ourselves with an abundant winter
supply of shoes. Accordingly, our hunters were des-
patched to scour these hills for the purpose of getting hides
to make moccasins, &c., when we would be at leisure. In
the evening the hunters all returned to camp, with the ton-
gues of 93 deer and some of the hides, and also of some
wild cattle, which are likewise very numerous. They
brought the tongues in order to show the number each
man had killed. The wild cattle are very timerous, keep-
ing hid pretty much all day and feed at night. They are
much wilder than deer, elk, &c. Our hunters brought in
some of the choice parts of the cattle they had killed, which
wasquitefatbeef, but it was much inferior to the meat of the
buffaloe of the Rocky mountains. These cattle incline
much to rough and hilly parts of the country, owing, it is
supposed, to the Spaniards and Indians hunting them when
found in the plains.

23d. This morning we directed our course across these
hills.  On arriving at the foot of the hills on the South side,
we found one of the horns of these cattle which measured
33 feet on the outside or bend, and one foot in circum-
ference at the root or thickest part. This we supposed had
been the horn of an ox. These cattle are much larger and
look better in their wild state than when domesticated.
Their horns particularly are much larger than those of our
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country — but this is probably owing to the softness of
the climate; as here there is no winter nor freezing weath-
er. We continued across the plain and arrived on the
banks of a small creek which empties into the sea at the
distance of 7 or 8 miles, where we encamped for the night.
Not long after we had halted, there was eight Spaniards
arrived at our camp, from whom we found it as difficult to
get information of any kind. as from most of the Indians.
All our efforts to make them understand signs was unavail-
ing, and not one of our company understood a word of
Spanish. — They were fine portly looking men, but looked
as if they had been cast from civilized society as long as
ourselves. They remained with us all night.

24th. We set out this morning for Monterey accom-
panied by the Spaniards as guides, who piloted us to the
house of a Mr. Gibroy,* who had been a brave and dutiful

*This name should be Gilroy. He has an extremely interesting his-
t(gy not only in California, but in connection with the Astor enter-
prise.

The Northwest Comgany always looked with jealous eye on the
post of the Pacific Fur Company at the mouth of the Columbia; they
considered Astor an interloper and a trespasser on their territory, and
were only awaiting a good opportunity to gain possession of his post.
The opportunity occurred sooner than they had anticipated, and they
at once took advantage of it. It was the War of 1812. Much to the
detriment of Astor it caused the downfall of his grand undertaking,
which certainly deserved a Dbetter fate. No sooner had the war been
declared than the gowerful machinery of the Northwest Company was
put in motion, with a vlew to capturing this post and putting an end
to Astor’'s pretentions in the Northwest. It would then become the
property of the Northwest Company. With what success they car-
ried out this scheme is detailed in Irving's Astoria.  Through the
influence of the above company, the frigate ‘““Phoebe,” and two sloops-
of-war, the ‘‘Cherub’” and the ‘‘Raccoon,” having under convoy the
“Isaac Todd,” were sent to operate upon the Pacific. On board the
‘“Phoebe’’ was Mr. John M’Donald, a partner in the Northwest Com-
pany who was later transferred to the ‘“Raccoon.” He had embarked
as a passenger, to profit by the anticipated catastrophe at Astoria.
We are more particularly interested in the “Raccoon’” and ‘Isaac
Todd.”” The vessels either separated at Rio Janerlo, or became sep-
arated shortly after leaving this port. The ‘‘Raccoon,” in command
of Captain Willlam Black reached the harbor of San Francisco in
February, 1814, after having visited the Columbia River, Black reported
that he captured the American fort, that is Astoria; but the North-
west Company had negotiated for the fort before he arrived and the
British flag floated over it. He went through with certain formalities,
but never received any prize money for his daring adventure. His ves-
sel had, however, been damaged. very probably in crossing the very
dangerous bar at the mouth of the Columbia, and he was forced by
this accident and the need of fresh qu)plles to put into San Francisco
Bay, where he met the ‘“Isaac Todd.” He was kindly treated by
Arguello, and beached and repaired his vessel with the aid of the
“Todd’s"”’ crew. He obtained one thousand pounds of gunpowder and
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Tar in his younger days, when he had learned to speak a
little English. — From this old man we gathered much use-
ful information as to the country, climate, people, natives,
&c. Here we concluded to remain for the night. The old
man showed every disposition to give us all the informa-
tion he could, and treated us very kindly. We ascertained
that we were within 35 miles of Monterey. In the morn-
ing we started in the direction of Monterey, intending to

other needed supplies, recovering perhans the deserters lost Ly the
“Todd,” and at last sailed for the Sandwich Islands.

The armed merchantman, ‘Isaac Todd,” Captain Frazicr Smith,
ostensibly bound for Manila for tea, but in reality for the Columbia
River, with supplies for the Northwest Company, with a view to the
setzure of Fort Astoria, anchored in the Bay of Monterey in January,
1814. and remained a month there and at S8an Francisco, thence pro-
ceeding up the coast. Eight men deserted, and three others were left
at Monterey, to recover from the scurty. One of these was John Gilroy, the first
foreigner to take up his permanent residence in California. The following is a more
complete history of this interesting character:

ohn Gilroy, a Scotch saflor came to the coast in 1814 as above
stated. His real name was John Cameron, but having run away from
home as a minor, he changed it to avoid being arrested and sent back.
His parents moved to England when John was very young; and in-
deed he often claimed to be a native of Sunderland, England. In Sep-
tember, 1814, he was baptized at San Carlos (Carmel) by P. Sarria as
Juan Antonio Maria Gilroy. In 1818, Captain Guerra at Santa Bar-
bara sent to the viceroy his petition as an ‘‘American cooper” fot;dper-
mission to remain and marry in California. which was grant in
1819, and in 1821 he was married at San Juan Bautista Mission to Maria
Clara de la Asunclon, daughter of Ignacio Ortega. The same year he
accompanied Captain Arguello in his famous expedition to the Colum-
bia as guide or rather interpreter, for American intruders were to be
met and talked to. The next we hear of him is in the year in which
Leonard made his acquaintance in 1333, when he obtained naturaliza-
tion, producing certificates that he was a soapmaker and millwright
of good character, with wife and four children, having also some
live stock on the 8. Isidro rancho. Thiz rancho was granted the same
year to the Ortegas. Gliroy owned a league of it, on which he bullt
an adobe house and here spent the remainder of his life.

His name appears on Larkin’s books from 1834, when his age was
given as forty-five. In 1835, he was Aux. Alcalde at ‘‘Los Ortegas,'’
by the padron of 1836, age forty, wife age twenty-eight, child. Nico-
demus born in 1826, Miguel born in 1828. Age forty-six in 1840. He was
not arrested in the Graham affair, afterwards named in the records of
most vears. Said to have been sent to Fremont's Gavalan camp in
1846. In 1851 for the first time Gilroy wrote to his family in England,
to which he received a reply from his brother Alexander Cameron, tan-
ner at Newton Heath, near Manchester, dated June 29, 1852, in which
he states he is glad to learn that he has a brother living, as father,
mother, and the other brothers are all dead. John Gliroy was an hon-
est, good-natured old saflor-ranchero, well liked by every one. much
too fond of his grog and cards. careless and improvident, and as
E)werless in the hands of land lawyers as were the natives themselves.

e lost all his lands and cattle, but llved to see his old rancho the
site of a flourishing town, which bears his adopted name, Gilroy. Santa
Clara County. He died in 1869 at the age of about seventy-five, as poor
as when he landed in California more than a half century before.

Leonard's description of him is in accord with other authorities,
but he must have evidently forgotten his English of younger days to
some extent. But he was doubtless the same honest, careless, hospit-
able old tar, more widely known in later years.
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pass through the town of St. Juan or John which lay in the
course we were going. Here we found the travelling much
easier, as we now had some kind of roads to travel on, al-
though they were far from being wagon roads — running
throughan extensive prairie of rich soil, with here and there
a lonely hut built near some grove of timber or brook. To-
wards evening we arrived at St. Juan,* which we now found
to be a Spanish Missionary station for the establishment of
the christian religion and civilization among the Indians.

Here Capt. Walker deemed it prudent to halt for a few
days, in order to ascertain the disposition of the people, &
malke further inquiries with respect to the country, &c., lest
we might be considered as intruders and treated in a way
that we would not much like. It was our desire to keep
on peaceable terms with the Spaniards, at least no one de-
sired to give the least offence of any kind — knowing that
Spaniards and Indians had quite a different mode of carry-
ing on a warfare. We obtained privilege from the Priests to
select a convenient place for grass, wood, water, &c., to
pitch our encampment, and immediately commenced erect-
ing a breast work, with which to defend ourselves in case
we were attacked by Indians or anything else that
chose to molest us.tf From information gained here, Capt.
Walker thought it advisable to go no further into their
country, or the inhabited parts of it, owing to the difficulty
in getting pasture for our horses and provisions for our-
selves—as there is no preparations of any kind made for the
accommodation of travellers; besides the expense of living
would be much less to remain here where game was plenty
and grass good.

To-day Capt. Walker, after getting a passport, which

*The old mission of San Juan Bautista.

41t is quite evident from this statement of Leonard's that they
expected to have trouble with the Spaniards (at this period the Cal-
ifornians or Mexicans were called Spaniards), and they were no doubt
preparing to fight for their rights if necessary. J. 8. Smith some few
years previous had been imprisoned while on one of his trips to Cal-
ifornia and they probably expected the same treatment.
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is necessary for a stranger to have in passing from one
ward or district to another, and which must be renewed by
the Alcalde or Squire in each district, took two men and
started for Monterey, where he intended presenting himself
to the Governor, and asking the permission of his Excel-
lency to pass the winter in his settlements, and to inform
him where we were irom, our business, intensions, &c.
St. Juan or St. John is beautifully situated on the banks
of a small creek in a rich level plain, about 20 miles from
the coast and about the same distance from Monterey, con-
taining from six to seven hundred inhabitants —all of
whom are Indians, with the exception of the Priests and
15 or 20 people, who are occupied in teaching and instruc-
ting these heathens in the ways of religion and truth; be-
sides giving them instructions in the art of farming and
rendering the soil productive — with the hope that they
will eventually succeed in inculcating into the minds of the
savages such a knowledge of agriculture as will greatly
conduce to the amelioration of the red man’s condition.
Their habitations are simple in construction — mostly such
as may be found in the wildest parts of the mountains. But
those of the Missionary establishment are quite different,
& plainly show the superiority of the white man over the
Indian, both as regards comfort and convenience. This
station much resembles a fort or garrison. The part which
is called the Church, forms one side or end. The other
three sides are divided into different departments like cells,
each cell sheltering so many Indians, and covers near half
an acre of ground, with the door of each cell opening to the
inside. These buildings are the same as if they were under
one roof, with the exception of a gate at each corner of the
squar2. The buildings are constructed of brick, the prin-
cipal part of which are dried in the sun.— The walls are
built thick and strong when built of this kind of brick.
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For rafters they use poles tolerably well shaped, and for
lathing they make use of poles of a smaller size. The roof
is generally composed of a‘kind of cane grass which is
carefully laid on the rafters and then covered with earth;
for which purpose they generally have the roof nearly flat
in order to hold the earth. But the church, or principal
building, is built of handsome brick, and is well finished,
being covered with tile. For the instruction of these In-
dians there is four hours of each day devoted to education
and prayer, and the balance of the day is occupied in teach-
ing them the rudiments of agriculture and the mechanical
arts. The females are carefully instructed in the art of sew-
ing, and other accomplishments of housewifery. Every
thing in this station is under the control & management of
the Priests, who exercise the authority of Governor, Judge,

&c.,” being privileged to try and condemn all criminal
acts.*

*The Missions of California, two of which are very well described
by Leonard, San Juan and San Carlos (Carmel), were about passing
from the zenith of their prospcrity at the time of Leonard's visit; in
fact, since Mexican rule had succeeded that of Spain, they were never
quite so prosperous. It was indeed a sad day for the Indians or neo-
phytes, as they were called, when they were abolished. From 1810 to
1820, the Indian population had increased ten per cent under the wise
and humane management of the Franciscan Fathers — one of the few
instances where the native population has increased under the ele-
vating methods of civillzation. At these missions the neophytes were
regularly fed and properly clothed, and cared for in case of sickness;
a certaln number of hours were devoted to work and worship and in-
struction, both in the field and the school, while the women were
taught all the duties of the housewife. When we compare the condi-
tion of these Indlans under the mission system, with their condition
under the rule of our own great country we cannot help but feel the
pangs of a guilty conscience. There were at the time mentioned about
20,000 natives scattered among the twenty-one missions, making the
missions prosperous and the Indians quite contented.

The first mission was established July 16, 179, at San Diego, by the.
good old Friar Francisco Junipero Serra (Padre Junipero) under the
Franciscan Fathers. There were twenty-one missions, four presidios,
and three puebles, stretching up and down the coast nearly seven hun-
dred miles; they were connected by a roadway known as the King's
highway, Royal road, or El Camino Real. i8 road in places was-
good and well kept, at others it was only a bridal path: it was the
duty of each mission to keep a certain portion in repai: the work of
course being done by the natives. There was a movement on foot
some years ago to re-establish this old highway. The missions in their-
order of dedication were as follows:

1. San Diego de Alcala Decdlicated July 6, 1769
2. San Antonio de Padua " July 14, 1771
3. San Carlos de Monterey (El Carmel) * Dec. 1, 177L
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On the first evening we spent in our new encampment,
we were shown the manner in which the Spaniards take
wild cattle, which was quite a different practice from that
used by the Indians of the Rocky mountains in taking buf-
faloe, &c. Never less than two goes at a time, who are

4. 8an Gabriel Archangel Dedicated Nov. 1, 176
6. San Louis Obispo de Tolosa o Sept. 1, 1772
6. 8an Francisco de los Dolores . Oct. 9, 1776
7. San Juan Capistrano o Nov. 1, 1778
8. Santa Clara . Jan. 18, 1717
9. S8an Buenaventura “ Mar. 31 1782
10. Santa Barbara o Dec. 4. 1786
11. La Purissima Concepcion . . 8, 1787
12. Santa Cruz . Dec. 8, 1787
18. Nuestra Senora de la Soledad . Oct. 9, Y’
14. San José o June 1, 1797
15. SAN JUAN BAUTISTA . June 24, 1797
16. San Miguel o July 25, 1797
17. San Fernando Rey de Espana o Sept. 8, 1797
18. 8an Louis Rey de Francia . June 13, 1798
19. Santa Ynez Virgin y Martyr “ Sept. 17, 1804
20. San Rafael Archangel o Dec. 14, 1817
:2l. 8an Francisco de Colano de SBonoma ** Aug. ﬂ, 1823

THE OLD MISSION OF SAN JUAN BAUTISTA

... The mission 8an Juan Bautista is about ninety miles southeast of
8an Francisco, the mission bulldlng‘s were built on the edge of a
" mesa overlooking a fertile valley. The church faces a little to the
- southeast. It was 200 x 70 x 46 feet In dimensions, beinng higher than
most of the churches. The walls were supported by four buttresses
on either side. Those on the northeast are standing at the present
time, one remains at the back; while the entire wall on the west side
is boarded up with red wood to prevent its total collapse. The church
was built with a nave and transepts. The nave is subdivided by seven
arches, but curiously five of them have been walled in with adobe.
"The walls and celling are white-washed. There is a choir-loft over
the entrance door. The church is lighted by eight quaint little win-
~dows with glass in small panes, about flve inches square. The
Jbaptismal font, carved from a piece of sandstone, stands three feet
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always on the back of their fleetest horses, each provided
with a strong cord with a noose fixed on one end. When
the animal is started they give chase and the rider
that overtakes the game first, throws the noose round its

high and three feet across; it is the only font that S8an Juan Bautista
had. Over it hangs an old painting of the baptism of Christ. The
church has thre: altars. The principal altar s dedicated to St.
John the Baptist and is very gaudily frescoed and painted. The
statues of red-wood, one life-size of St. John and four smaller ones,
are executed with rare talent and artistlc effect. The fact that they
are of our native wood proves that either the Padres or the Indians,
or perchance a Mexican, who dwelt at the mission, were more than
ord narily gifted in carving.

Would that there was some one now living who could give up the
secrets of the missions. From whence came the paintings, the vest-
ments, the church ornaments, the bells, and who executed the carving,
and other decorative work? Some say they came from Mexico, others
from Spain, but this Is not sufficlently satisfactory to an inquiring
mind. In the mission garden stand old pear-trees sald to be one
hundred years old. The cemetery i3 full to overflowing. Many of the
graves are filled six deep and within the small space of an acre or
thereabouts, 4557 bodles have been interred. An old sun-dial in the
garden is of interest; it Is two and one-half feet high and carved
from sandstone. Father Rubio said that the dial was originally
intended for Sfan Filine and is therefore one sccond too s'nw for
fan Juan Bautista. Near the mission is Fremont's Peak, Gavalin
Mountain; General Fremont ascended this mountain March 11, 1848,
and selecting the tallest tree as a flag-pole, raised thereon the stars
and stripes. He constructed a rude fort, and remained encamped at
this place for three days. It was to this camp that our sallor-ranch-
ero. John Gilroy, was supposed to have been sent by the California
authorities, to interview ¥Fremont and learn his plans. It was the
first time the United States flag was unfurled in California, but it
was done without proper authority. Remains of the fort and the stump of the
tree may be seen at the present time.

There are many interesting relics at San Juan church, ancient
candie~ticks 0f curious pattern, old musicdl instruments. the old
bass-viol. the rude music stand, a violin, an old pipe-hand-organ
brought from England in 1797. made by Benjamin Dobscon., 22 Swan
St., IL.ondon, Engiand, in 173%. Vestments, robes and sheet music
torn and faded.

The site of San Juan or Poneloutechom as the Tndians call it, was
selected as early as 1786 but the church of San Juan Bautista was
not established until June 24, 1797, the day dedicated to the patron
saint, John the Baptist. Work upon the chapel and various builld-
ings was begun immediately. It took hundreds of workers fifteen
years to complete the task and the chanel was dedicated by Father
President Esteban Tapis, June 25, 1812. The establishment was so con-
structed as to form a court 2% feet square, with buildings on three
sides of it and a high wall on the fourth. The material used was
adobe and ladiello, a kind of brick that was frequently used for
flooring and was made in a subterranean kiln. Adobes are made
of a certain mud mixed with straw or tough grass. being thoroughly
kneaded or trodden by foot. It IS mouvlded in the desired shapes and
dimensions and dried in the sun: the old regulation size was 30 x 16 x 4
inches. weigh'ng fifty pounds. The ladiellos were much smaller, be-
ing only 12x 8 x4 Inches and after being baked in the kiln were ex-
ceedingly hard. The old floor stone remains In San Juan Bautista
as well as in many others of the old missions and I8 over one hundred
vears old. The chapel had a handsome tower and dome, but after
the dome fell a hideous modern steeple was {;erched upon quaint old
San Juan. Even the elements rebelled at this sacrilege, the winds
blew and the steeple fe'l. The buildings were originally roofed with
tiles or tejas, kiln-dried like the brick, but in 1884 the church was



LEONARD’S NARRATIVE 203

neck or horns, and begins to draw the noose tight. When
the noose is found to be secure he gives the cord several
winds round the pummel of the saddle, (which is made
strong for this purpose) and stops his horse all of a sud-
den, which throws the animal to the ground and frequently
breaks its neck. If the animal is thrown without injury,
the other hunter comes forward with his noose and fastens
it round its hind foot, which enables them to manage the
stoutest and most ferocious bulls. Having thus captured

their object of pursuit, they sometimes have great trouble

restored, and a portion of the roofing was replaced by shingles until
such time as the tiies can be placed upon them. The walls ¢f San
Juan were aliowed to retain the delicate tint of the cinnibar that so
frequently colored the mortar and left the glow that no after tint-
ing or staining can imitate,

The fine music ¢f Szn Juan Bautista was a fcature of the mis-
sion, and a reason of its success. The Padres charmed the savages
with song and harmony. A chime of nine bells was doubtless a
swect memory to the Padres, of the past, and certainly proved a
benefit in attracting and gairning the Indian’s attention; only one
of these bells remains at the mission. The other bell Is one that was
recast in San Francisco in 1874, from two of the old ones but the old
sweet tone is gone. Many of the DLells have been given to other
churches. A peculiar fcature of the belfry where hang the bells,
is an oid wooden wheel with four hollow arms, two inches square,
on an axle; between -ach two hangs a wooden clapper and these
clappers rap successively on the arms as the wheel rotates. It is
used to call the people to worzhin upon the days when the Catholic
Church rings no beils. The weoden wheel can be heard a great
distance. The bells and the pipe-organ are features of San Juan
Bautista that worked little less than miracles.

It is to bhe regretted that such interesting old landmarks were
neglected and let run to docay without an effort to save them. Here
it was that IL.eonard and his companions spent the winter of 1833-34,
and they no doubt found much to interest them, free from the cares
and dangers of the mountains. At the time he was there, the mis-
sions were in a very flourishing condition, and he gives the daily rou-
tine of duty of the mission Indians, and we also learn from him that
;hg’ good Padres were frequently imposed upon by unscrupulous
ndians.

The chapel of San Juan Bautista could accommodate one thou-
sand or more worshippers and in the prosperous days the capacity
was frequently taxed to its utmost. The mission in the olden days
possessed extensive lands and great herds. Between the years of
1797 and 1835, 4100 persons were baptized. When the crash of secular-
ization came, the inventory showed a valuation of $147,413.

In 1846 San Juan Bautista was sold for debt, today It is an im-
poverished parish church, but nevertheless one of the most inter-
esting and artistic relics of the old mission establishments.

The large mission visited hy Leonard. situated ten miles south of
Monterey. near the town of San José (this is an error) was the old
mission of San Carlos de Monterey (El Carmel) and was one of the
largest and most renowned in California; the church was probably
the finest of all the mission churches. besides being one of the first
established, being dedicated December 1, 1771. The church ornament
was quite pretentious, and at the time of Leonard's visit thcy had
at the mission over 900 neophytes, or Indians; it has how-
ever, like the fall of the mighty, gone to decay, its glory having long
since departed, much to the detriment of the poor Indian.
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in getting them home alive. The one with the cord round
the animals head goes before while he with the cord fas-
tened to the hind foot stays in the rear. If their prisoner
becomes refractory and refuses to advance, the man in the
rear commences whipping, while he in front uses many de-
vices to provoke the brute, until it in a fit of rage makes
at him, when he puts off at full speed, and sometimes run
two or three miles in this way without stopping. In this
manner they brought a large handsome cow into our camp
this evening which we purchased, and found to be good
beef.

Although they exhibit a great degree of dexterity in
taking these wild beasts, their mode of killing them is far
different. — When they want to butcher their beef they
make the horse with the noose round the neck pull a dif-
ferent way from the one with the noose round the foot,
until the animal is thrown on the ground, when they dis-
mount and cut its throat with large knives.

They appear to do most of their work on horse-back.
If they want wood they repair to the forest, ride along until
they find a log to suit them, when they drop their noose
round the end of it; and thus drag it to their homes. They
are very expert on horseback, nor could it be otherwise,
for they are constantly riding & never appear so well satis-
fied as when they are seated on a prancing steed.

On the first of December, Capt. Walker returned from
Monterey, where he had met with a hospitable reception by
the Governor* and principal people in and about the
Capitol, and where he also again met with Capt. Baggshaw,
who served as an interpretor for Capt. Walker and the
Governor, as he was fully capable of fulfilling such an office.

*The Governor here referred to was Figueroa, who had only ar-
January, 1855, Te was an sxtremely Sood friend to the. forcigners,
treating them kindly, was liberal in his views as well as in policy.

This however soon aroused the jealousy of some of the native Cal-
ifornians.
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With the Governor, Capt. Walker succeeded in every thing
he desired, having obtained permission to remain in the
country during the approaching winter, to hunt and kill
as much game as would support our company, and to trade
as much with the Spaniards as we pleased, but were forbid
trapping in the Indian lands or trading with the natives.
The Spaniards manifest a warm friendship for the Indians
under their jurisdiction, as those who were friendly towards
us were constantly reminding us of the danger of wronging
the Indians.

Here we remained until about the 18th of December,
without anything occurring except the daily visits we re-
ceived from the Spaniards and Indians, who were curious
to know how we lived, and all about us. They however,
only found that we lived like they did themselves, any more
than they lived in habitations built of wood, brick, mortar,
&c. while we lived in huts made of skins of animals. About
this time Capt. Walker proposed to me to take a tramp
through the settlements for the purpose of taking a view of
the country, and the manners and customs of the inhabi-
tants. This was precisely what I had long been wanting.
Accordingly, Capt. W, two others and myself left the camp
and steered to the south-east, intending to return through
Monterey. The country thro’ which we passed con-
tained rich soil, tolerably well timbered, but thinly inhabited
with a few Spaniards and Indians, who appeared to live
there because they were not permitted to live any other
place. These people, generally, are very ignorant and
much more indolent — have little or no ingenuity — and
only seem to enjoy themselves when engaged in the chase.
This is the only occupation of the wealthier portion of
Spaniards. Their habitations are built of sun-dried brick,
some of which appear well enough on the outside, but the
inside shows no kind of mechanism—there being no floor,
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partition, or work of any kind except the bare walls. Their
floors are made smooth by taking a large beetle and ham-
mering the surface of the ground until it becomes perfectly
level—thus they never fail of having a solid foundation!—
Theyhaveasmall fire-place in one corner of the house, with
a chimney extending only a little above the mantle. Their
beds and bedding generally consists of blankets spread
upon a large hide layed on the ground, and after rising in
the morning these beds are rolled up in one corner, where
they answer the purpose of seats through the day time.
Their diet is generally composed of beans and meat made
into a kind of soup, with but little bread. Most of them
are entirely destitute of cooking utensils, and, were it not
that they are all provided with knives, their manner of
cooking and eating would be equally as inconvenient as the
wildest savages of the Rocky mountains. But the wealthy,
who, it may be supposed, constitute the aristocracy of this
country,appearto live at ease, surrounded with all the com-
forts of life, are entirely independent and unconnected with
the common people. They carry on farming to a consid-
erable extent in some districts, the principal labour of which
is done by the Indians from the missionary station. The
principal productions are wheat, corn, and beans. They
also have many vine-yards, and manufacture a large quan-
tity of wine — which is their principal drink. Their mode
of preparing the soil for grain is of an awkward and rather
novel nature. When they want to plough, they repair to
the woods and get a sapling with a knot or branch jutting
out on one side, which they make sharp, hitch two or more
teams of oxen to it and then proceed to score out the
ground — which is generally done in wet weather, when
the ground is moist. Another method, no less novel,
however, is to get a crooked log, much the shape of a sled-
runner, fix a piece of iron in front which answers for a
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coulter, then sharpening the log they make a furrow similar
to the track of a sled. As a substitute for a harrow, they
use a brush, and by laying a weight on it, some times
scratch the ground in tolerable style. This manner of
tilling the soil could not be done with such success in any
other country where the soil is less mellow and tender than
here.

These people have no fences round their cleared or
cultivated land, although they raise an immense amount
of stock, such as horses, mules and horned cattle—all of
which range at large over these extensive prairies all sea-
sons of the year, many being in a manner totally wild, so
much so, that when they wish to milk a cow, they mount
one of their coarsers and noose her, fasten the cord to a
tree, and then tie her feet, when she is forced to be quiet.
During our whole stay in this country I have never seen
any thing like a stable or a barn, as a shelter for the dumb
brutes—nordid I ever seeanyonefeeding an animal, unless it
was a favourite cow or horse that was sick. This, however,
is not at all singular as any number of animals could sub-
sist, and be in good order all seasons of the year, on
these plains, as in many spots the grass is green the whole
year round. The months of August, September and Octo-
ber are the least enticing to animals, as it is the warmest
and driest season of the year. As soon as August sets in
the beasts inhabiting the dry prairies and hills, repair to
the low wet ground, where they can get enough to subsist
upon until the dry season passes away. The rainy season
commences generally in the latter part of October, and
continues until the first and sometimes middle of January,
when the weather becomes fair and the farmers sow their
grain, such as wheat and rye. During this wet weather the
animals grow fat, and the inhabitants employ the principal
part of this time in catching and domesticating them. This
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fair weather generally lasts about two months, or until the
first of March, when the rain again descends and continues
until about the middle of June — the grain, however, grows
& ripens during the wet weather. It then keeps dry for a
month or so until the farmers gather their crops — which
occupies about a month, when the warm weather sets in;
destroying all kinds of vegetation, giving but a poor sub-
sistance to the dumb brutes, and to the country the appear-
ance of an unproductive climate. About the end of the
dry season (say about the first of November) the face of
nature in this country has more the appearance of spring
in the United States than any other part of the year, and,
as there is no winter nor freezing weather here it may be
said that August, September and October, is their only
winter, (to substitute warm for cold) as, at the end of this
period the face of nature assumes a new dress and vegeta-
tion shoots forth precisely in the manner that it does in
Pennsylvania when the frost leaves the ground in the
Spring of the year. The dry season is occupied by the
inhabitants in gathering the mules into large droves and
driving them off to the market at Santa Fee, a distance of
12 or 1400 miles from this part of the coast, through a wild
and desert country.* Here they meet with ready sale at a
profitable price from the traders of Missouri, who repair to
Santa Fee annually for that purpose. These traders are
generally well supplied with merchandize which they ex-
change at Santa Fee for gold and silver, and with these

Calafornian traders for mules and Spanish hides. The price

*As here noted, the Santa Fé market was largely supplied with
horses and mules from California. In going to this point they did not
follow the Gila and the Rio Grande, which is the most direct route,
but was decidedly too dangerous, on account of the hostile Apaches,
but followed a route leading northwest from Los Angeles, up the Vir-

n River, then crossing to and up to the Sevier River, then over the

reen and Grand rivers. to where they unite to form the Colorado,
thence southeast through the mountains to S8anta Fé — thus making
an extensive detour to the north. This is the old Los Angeles Santa
Fé trail which was years later much used by the Mormons to convey
their supplies and goods to the region of Salt Lake, from San Ber-
nardino or Los Angeles.
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of a mule at Santa Fee is generally from 6 to $10.~—Mer-
chandize is sold at a great advance, particularly silks, jewel-
ry and groceries.

The principal part of their hides are sold to U. S.
vessels trading on the coast. When a trading vessel
anchors on the coast for the purpose of trading, the news
is spread over the whole country like wild fire. The owners
of cattle, who are of the wealthier class, collect together
all the poorer Spaniards and Indians for the purpose of
catching and butchering the cattle, in order to get their
hides. This is the commencement of their sporting season.
They are all mounted on their fleetest horses, and on these
occasions the hunters go in pairs, one provided with a noose
and the other with a spear or lance, which is used in cutting
the sinews of the animals hind legs after it is noosed, which
causes it to fall to the ground, after which they are easily
despatched. After they strip off the hides and take out the
tallow, and sometimes the choice part of the meat, the
remainder of the carcase is left on the ground to be devour-
ed by the wolves. The hides are then stretched out on the
ground, and the tallow moulded into large cakes. As a
compensation for their labour, the butchers, or hunters,
receive one third of all the tallow they can collect. When
the vessel is about leaving the coast, the hides and tallow
which has been collected, is conveyed to the beach, where
the hides are sold at $1.50 a piece, and the tallow at 4 cents
per pound.

The greater part of this cargo is paid for in merchan-
dize at high prices, but which is as valuable here as money
itself, and much more useful. A vessel loaded with hides
and tallow from this coast is of the greatest value, and has
afforded an easy path to wealth for many of the American
merchants.*

*One of the most lntereutlngobooks published which describes the

life and times in California riod, and particularly the
coast trade carried on by the Boston sh ps, as the American vessels

4
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After travelling leisurely along through their coun-
try, wh.ch still continued thinly inhabited by these
people, und passing two small missionary establishments,
we arrived at a small town called St. Hose, or St. Joseph,
about 1¢ miles south of Monterey, where we arrived on the
25th of December.* This is also a missionary station, and
the largest of any we had yet encountered, containing
about goo Indians, principally from the mountains. This
station is constructed and managed similar to that of St.
Juan, except the church, which is much larger, and built
with a greater display of the arts of civilization. Here we
remained for two days, employing our time in watching
the proceedings of these Indians in their devotional exer-
cises. The manoeuvres of those who have been lately
converted to the christian religion (being of the Catholic
faith,) is something very singular, as they at one moment
manifest the most unbounded transports of joy, and the
next throw themselves into the greatest paroxysm of weep-
ing and lamentation. — We then continued our journey
and soon arrived at Monterey, which town is built on a
beautiful situation on the south side of Monterey Bay—this
Bay being formed by Kings river. This is the Capitol of
Upper, or North Calafornia, and under the government of
New Mexico. The town is small containing only about
30 or 40 dwelling houses, one church, one calaboose a part
of which is used as a house of justice, or in other words, a
court house, where the Governor transacts his public busi-
were called, mostly with the missions for hides and tallow, is that by
Richard H. Dana, 7wo Years before the Mast. Dana shipped us a

common sallor and was on the coast in 183, in the ships ‘‘Pilgrim”’
and “Alert.”

*Leonard is mistaken as to the location of this mission; the mis-
sion 8St. Hose or St. Joseph or more properly 8an José, is north
of Monterey some distance and not far from the Bay of San Fran-
cisco. The mission, about ten miles south of Monterey, was a very
prosperous one and had a magnificent church, in which there were
some beautiful works of art, which are I think still preserved. The
mission of San Carlos del Carmel is no doubt the mission referred
to by Leonard.
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ness, and a kind of a fort, built in a commanding situation
on the edge of the bay, to be used in the defence of the
town in case an attack should be made upon it from the
sea, containing several pieces of artillery.

This bay is very deep, affording an excellent harbor for
any number of vessels. The town has every natural advan-
tage that a seaport could desire; and if a proper spirit of
enterprize prevailed among the inhabitants, it might be
made to flourish equal to any other town in the dominions
of New Mexico. Vessels sailing along the coast of the
Pacific to the north, all stop here to take in supplies, as it
is the last white settlement they pass, until they reach the
Russian dominions of the North-West ;* but as the inhabi-
tants raise no grain only what is used for home consump-
tion; the mariner is only enabled to supply his vessel with
meat and water.—Besides the advantage the agriculturalist
might derive by supplying vessels with provisions, he might
be enabled to carry on a large exporting business — as the
soil and climate is ever calculated to raise large crops of
grain. Another prominent advantage the town of St. Joseph
would have, is the facility of internal communication with
the Indians now inhabiting the prairies and mountains of
the interior, or the white race, who, it may reasonably be
expected, will have undisputed dominion over this entire
region before long.

As it is at present, there are some men here of consid-
erable wealth, the principal part of which they have ac-
quired by trading with vessels different kinds of peltries,
such as Spanish hides, tallow, beaver, sea-otter, bear, deer
and elk skins, and also horses and mules. There is also a

*Leonard does not make mention of San Francisco. There was
at this int quite a little settlement at this time, as well as the
mission Dolores; it was quite a favorite resort for vecssels, the har-
bor being extremely fine and safe, and more or less trade was carried
on for many years before their visit. It has been seen that the ‘“‘Rac-
coon” and ‘“Isaac Todd” were at this port for susplles and 1epairs
as early as 1514, and these were by no means the first.
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brisk trade carried on in this place with the Sandwich Is-
lands, about nine days sail from this port, — and which
might be rendered quite lucrative. The most of the vessels,
however that put into this bay are on fishing expeditions.
The Sperm whale are very numerous in this part of the
Pacific ocean — the oil of which affords a profitable reward
to all who embark in this dangerous and toilsome business.

On the 29th some of our men arrived in St. Joseph,*
with a portion of the peltries we had collected whilst cross-
ing the mountains, and which we exchanged with Capt.
Baggshaw for merchandise, such as groceries and ammun-
ition to do us whilst on our return to Missouri the next
summer. After concluding our trade with Captain Bagg-
shaw, and spending the last day of the expiring year on
land, we all resolved by invitation, to celebrate New-Years
day on board the Lagoda, with the Governor and Capt.
Baggshaw. The day was spent quite merrily, and the
whole company manifested the best possible humor, each
one contributing to keep up the sport by telling some
mountain adventure or seafaring exploit. In the evening
we ended the celebration by returning on shore and taking
a few rounds with our rifles — which terminated by conclu-
sively convincing the sailors that if they could beat us in
telling “long yarns,” we were more than a match for them
with the rifle.

On the morning of the 2d of January, 1834, Capt.
Baggshaw insisted on us again visiting his vessel, for the
purpose of taking a glass, which we gladly accepted, and
after shaking hands all round, and affectionately bidding
farewell with our friends on board the vessel, returned to
land in company with the Governor, when his Excellency
_m no doubt means Monterey and not 8t. Joseph, from the
fact that the governor visited the ship. San José or St. Yoseph is far

to the north and at considerable distance from the sea, and San
Francisco Bay.
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offered our Captain a gratuity of a tract of land seven miles
square if he would bring 50 families, composed of different
kinds of mechanicks, and settle on it. Capt. Walker was
well pleased with the country, and said he had a great mind
to accept the Governor’s offer, as he had no doubt he could
in a few years emass a fortune, and be at the head of a rich
and flourishing settlement; but his love for the laws and
free institutions of the United States, and his hatred for
those of the Spanish Government, deterred him from ac-
cepting the Governor’s benevolent offer — and we bid fare-
well to the Governor and his people, well pleased with the
reception we had thus far every where met with among the
Spaniards.*

We now left St. Joseph and returned with our mer-
chandize, consisting principally of groceries, ammunition,
&c., to our encampment, where we arrived without meet-
ing with any difficulty; finding everything in good order,
and all well except one man named Philips, who was laying
in a very precarious state from wounds inflicted by a bear.
It appeared that Philips had been out hunting deer, and
having killed one, took out the insides and hung it upon a
tree, and started to the camp to get a horse to bring it
home. After travelling a mile or so, whilst ascending a
hill, came suddenly upon an old bear and two cubs. — The
bear immediately on seeing Philips, as is their custom,
reared on her hind feet, and being very close, commenced
growling most furiously. This our hero could not brook,
and fearing the consequences if he should shoot and wound
her, lost his presence of mind, and started to run.— The
bear immediately pursued and caught him. He now found
it quite useless to attempt to get loose, and only saved his
Tyean later, 1843, Captain Walker acted as Tulde for a party
of emigrants who were going to California. They followed the Oregon
trail to near Salt Lake where Walker took charge and conducted them

by way of the Humboldt River over rauch the same route they fol-
lowed on this trip to California.
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life by sinking to the ground and affecting to be dead. The
bear then left him, but not without wounding him to such
a degree that it was a long time before he could collect
strength enough to raise to his feet. It was late at night
when he reached the camp, and was so far gone, from
hunger & loss of blood, that his life was despaired of at
first. One of his arms was broke & his body most shock-
ingly cut and mangled.

On our way from the Capitol to our camp,* we had an
opportunity of witnessing a part of the Spanish mode of
gambling in this country, which was rare amusement to us,
and which they call bull-bating. It is in this fashion, as
near as I could understand: When a number of sporting
gentlemen get together for this purpose, they repair to the
prairies, all well mounted and prepared for the chase.
When they come across a herd of cattle they make large
bets on who shall be the first to noose one of the cattle in
the drove in sight. When every thing is arranged this far,
they all take an even start. The one that gets the rope
round the animals horn or neck first claims the assistance
of the rest to throw the animal to the ground — which ends
the chase for this time. As the Spaniards are generally
skilled in the art of throwing the noose, the chase in a case
of this kind mostly depends on the fleetness of the horses.
When they have secured a bull in this way, they take him
to a pen made strong for this purpose, where they put him
in for safe-keeping, and settle the bets. Having got
through with this game, to give the loosers an opportunity
to regain their losses, they start out on the hunt of a grizzly
bear, always prefering the largest, which they capture in
the same way. Taking a bear is a much more dangerous
piece of work, than any other animal, owing to their enor-

*This statement makes it perfectly plain that they were at Mon-
terey and not at 8t. Joseph.
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mous strength. It often happens that, in taking a bear,
they are unhorsed ; when, if alone, they are in imminent
danger of being tore to pieces; but this seldom happens un-
less the horse is thrown, or the saddle tore loose. In taking
a bear, their object is to noose him round one of the hind
legs, in order to keep him from biting the cord, which they
are very apt to do if fast round the neck. A single hunter
can do but little with a large bear, and they are seldom
attacked single handed, or without the certainty of assist-
ance from some of their comrades. When overtaken by the
foremost rider, the bear stops running & prepares for
war. This man will then engage the attention of the bear
by teasing him, whilst another hunter will come up in the
rear of the excited animal and noose him by the hind foot;
when the cord is securely fastened to the hind foot, he is
generally considered safe. It is then that their sport begins
in good earnest, and the feats that are sometimes perform-
ed by the men, bear and horses, would be incredible to any
person who has never seen any sport of this kind. After the
bear finds himself secure and has become pretty well wor-
ried, he seats himself sullenly on the ground and lets the
horse pull at the cord, stretching his leg out until the pain
becomes too severe, when he will draw up his leg, horse
and all, with as much apparent ease as a horse would a
sleigh. I have been told that some of the largest bears have
been known to drag two horses a considerable distance in a
fit of rage, in spite of all the exertions of the horses and
riders to the contrary. After the bear is pretty well worried
in this way, another noose is fastened round one of the fore
feet or neck, when the bear will commence beating the
ground with his feet and manifesting the most intense rage
and anger imaginable—and in this manner they drag, whip
and coax him along to the pen where the bull is confined.

Their cords are made of green cow-hide, which they



216 LEONARD’S NARRATIVE

cut into narrow strips, hang them in the sun and rub them
as they dry, making them soft and pliable, when they are
platted into a rope which no weight can sever.

When the bear has arrived at the bull pen, their bets on
taking him and all disputes are settled, refreshments taken,
and preparations made for another scene, which is by far
the most pleasing to the Spaniards. They begin to enrage
the bull by pricking him with a nail fixed in the end of a
stick, and when his anger has rose to the war pitch, the
bearisletintothe penwiththe bull. The men now bet all they
are worth on which will be the conquerer, and every thing
mmanifests the greatest possible excitement. Sometimes the
animals refuse to fight until they are forced to it by being
‘tormented with the sharpened sticks, but when one receives
a blow from the other, nothing can part them until one or
‘the other falls. These fights last sometimes half an hour
without relaxation. The bear is much the strongest, but it
‘has no chance of avoiding the thrusts of the bull, in conse-
quence of the smallness of the pen; but in an open field, a
grizzly bear will conquer a bull in a few moments.

When the fight is over the conquered animal is taken
out and the bets are again settled. If it is the bear that is
whipt, the game is continued and the bets renewed on
some person who will offer to go into the pen with the en-
raged bull, lay his hand on some part of his body and es-
cape untouched. This is by far the most dangerous part of
the whole play, and many lives have been lost at it ; but so
fond are the Spaniards of gambling, that in play a life is
of but little consequence. When the bets are all arranged,
the adventurer stands at the door of the pen with his
blanket in his hand, and the company is occupied in mad-
dening the bull,—when he has become sufficiently enraged
the hero steps in, when the bull will make a desperate
plunge at him with his horns, which the man escapes by
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throwing the blanket over the face of the bull and blinding
him—he then claps his hand on the designated spot,
snatches the blanket off his horns & makes his escape. If
he gets out without the bull striking him, he has won the
stakes for all those who bet on him—which will be a profit-
able business for him, as he receives a certain per centage
on all the money thus won.

It happened that one of these games was to be played
while we were in the neighborhood, and on being invited
to attend Capt. Walker, several others, and myself con-
cluded on going to see the performance. When we reached
the ground the Spaniards had the bull and the bear both
secured, and were just going to set them to fighting. Pres-
ently the animals got to blows, and continued for a short
time, when the bull became master and the bear was let
out of the pen. The battle was very closely contested, and
I never seen animals so much enraged, and fight
with so much fierceness. The bear could master the bull
for a good spell, when it could get its arms around him, but
the large body of the bull would prevent any serious injury,
and presently the bear would be shaken to the ground,
when the bull would have a chance to plunge at him with
effect. It was in this manner that the bull managed to get
the advantage of bruin.—After the bear was taken out, the
company commenced betting on an old timeworn Spaniard
who offered to go into the pen and touch the enraged ani-
mal. In a short time all the preliminaries were arranged,
and the man entered the pen in the manner as described
above, but unfortunately, when he went to pull his blanket
off the animals head and come out, one of the beasts horns
was thrust quite thro’ his thigh. As soon as this happened,
the Spaniards commenced plagueing the bull at the oppo-
site side of the pen and the wounded man was suffered to
crawl out in the best manner he could.
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There are also many other methods of gambling prac-
tised by these people, — and vice of every description
seems to be openly countenanced in some parts of the set-
tlements, such as horse racing, card playing, and even steal-
ing. The latter of which is carried on to a considerable ex-
tent by both male and female, and is even recognized, un-
der some circumstances, as one of the established customs
of the country. The men are always provided with dirks,
which they can use with superior skill.

We remained at our old encampment near St. Juan,
without meeting with any thing to disturb our situation,
and on the most friendly intercourse with both Spaniards
and Indians, until last night, when six of our best horses
were stolen, and which we at first supposed to be the work
of Indians. We had heretofore trusted every thing in the
fidelity of both the Spaniards and Indians, but when our
horses had been thus taken from us we began to keep a
sharp look out. In the morning (10th) several scouting par-
ties were despatched on search of the stolen property, and
returned in the evening with only one, after following the
trail far into the Spanish settlement, which convinced us
immediately that it was not the Indians but the Spaniards
who had behaved so dishonorable. In the following morn-
ing Captain Walker went himself to one of the Alcaldes or
Esquires for the purpose of enquiring what steps had best
be taken to restore our stolen property, or how we could
be recompensed. On having an interview with the mag-
istrate he learned a good many things more than he had
formerly known — which was this, that Spaniards, whilst
travelling through the country with a poor horse, was at
liberty to take a good one if he could find such, no matter
who it belonged to, or whether wild or tame, and continue
his journey. And also, if two men set down to play at
cards, and the looser thinks that his opponent has cheated
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or defrauded him, he is at liberty to visit his horses and
help himself to such as he can, but if the owner catches him
in the act, it generally ends in bloodshed. — For this and
other reasons, a Spaniard is never seen away from home
without his rope or cord, in order to noose any thing he
stands in need of.

Stealing horses is practised more than any other kind
of theft, and it is not recognized as a crime, owing, prob-
ably, to the cheapness of these animals—as they can be
bought at any time for from one to ten dollars. Those
costing $1 are unbroke fillies, and those for $10 are first
rate horses well tamed. When we became aware that such
was the practice of the country, Capt. Walker thought it
would be the best plan for us to pack up and leave the
neighborhood, in order to avoid a difficulty with a people
of a ferocious and wicked nature, at a time too, when we
were not very well prepared to contend against such an
enemy in their own country. Accordingly we set about
purchasing provision, and the next day we were pretty
well supplied with flour, corn, beans, &c.

13th. This morning every thing was prepared and we
took up our march in an eastern direction. We only trav-
elled 12 or 15 miles this day and encamped for the night,
which we spent without the occurrence of any thing of im-
portance more than the recalling to mind of the scenes en-
countered and hardships endured by each of us in our
way-faring to this remote corner of the world.

The two following days we continued without inter-
ruption in the same direction, and encamped on the banks
of a beautiful stream called Sulphur river, where we con-
cluded to remain until in the Spring, when it would be
more pleasant travelling eastward to the Rocky mountains.
Our encampment is beautifully located on a rising piece
of ground, with a handsome river gliding smoothly along
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immediately in front, an extensive oat plain stretching out
as far as the eye will reach to the rear, and is about 40 miles
east of St. Juan.—The banks of this river are most de-
lightfully shaded with timber, principally oak and elm.
The soil in the plain is very strong and deep, producing
heavy crops of wild oats and grass — affording excellent
pasture for horses, at this season of the year.

After we had made every arrangement necessary to
our comfort while we remained here, our men commenced
hunting in good style—bear, elk and deer being very
plenty, and the fattest we had anywhere met with. On the
2oth, it being a fine day for hunting, a large portion of our
sportsmen set out early in the morning bound for a gen-
eral hunt, and determined to rake the whole prairie. To-
wards the middle of the day, two of the men came in sight
of a large drove of elk, feeding in the open prairie, and as
they were cautiously approaching near enough to shoot,
they unexpectedly came upon five grizzly bear that were
sleeping in the grass —two old ones and three cubs; the
latter began to howl most piteously, which enraged the old
ones, and they made at our hunters with open mouth. But
as one of them was an old practitioner in such matters, hav-
ing a good gun, carrying an ounce ball, which he called
“Knock-him-stiff,” stood quite composed (bidding his
companion, who was about to run, to stand his ground)
until the bear came within reach of him when he discharged
it with the muzzle in her mouth — which, as our hero said,
gave her a very bad cough. This inspired the other hunter
with courage, and he treated the other bear in nearly the
same manner. The cubs not showing any desire to depart
alone, were also killed. This days hunt was exceedingly
lucky, not only to these two men, but to nearly all who
were out, as they all returned with heavy loads of game.

On the 25th Capt. Walker started to Monterey with
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eight men for the purpose of laying in a larger supply of
provision for us on our journey to the east, in the spring,
as we began to reflect that we might fall in with some other
companies on the road who would need assistance.

26th. To-day about 10 o’clock, we discovered a large
drove of horses passing through the plain, followed by a
few people, whomwe supposed to be Spaniards or Indians—
but they did not appear to know that we were in the neigh-
borhood, & we were not anxious to let them know it for
fear they might travel our way some time. In the even-
ing, as some of our men who had been out hunting, were
returning home, they accidentally came across a large bear
laying in a hole, sound asleep. Our men were anxious to
see some sport, and commenced making a noise, and even
fired a gun or two without bringing her to her senses, and
getting her out of the hole. They then dismounted, sta-
tioned themselves around the hole and shot her before she
moved. On examination, they found her to be of the griz-
zly species and of the largest size; and also having two
young ones in the hole with her, not larger than a com-
mon sized cat. The old one was extremely fat, and from
the signs about the hole, it appeared that she must have
had this as a permanent place of residence. It it the first
instance I ever knew of taking a bear of this size whilst
asleep.

28th. To-day a party of Spaniards arrived at our en-
campment on search of a party of Indians who had eloped
from the St. Juan Missionary station, and taken with them
300 head of horses — which we supposed to be the party
seen by us on the 26th. These men stayed with us all night
and the next morning some of our men joined the Span-
iards in the chase, who were to get one half of the horses as
a compensation for their trouble, if lucky enough to find
them. These men followed the Indians to the foot of a
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large mountain, where they discovered several smokes ris-
ing out of the forest along the base of the mountain. Ina
thicket of timber, from the smoke that arose, they thought
the whole Indian force was concentrated, and the Spanish
and American force surrounded the spot in battle array, de-
termined to give the offenders a severe chastisement at
once. When all the preparations were made, the word to
fire was given. But instead of the lamentations of wound-
ed Indians, and the frantic prancing of frightened horses,
nothing but a dead silence answered the discharge of their
artillery. — They then dismounted and went into the thick-
et, where they found a large portion of their horses well
butchered, and partly dried and a few old and feeble In-
dians, with some squaws and children. The Indians having
killed some of the horses, were engaged in drying the meat,
— but on seeing the white men approach, fled to the moun-
tain, leaving nothing behind but what is above stated.
The disappointment of the Spaniards now exceeded all
bounds, and gave our men some evidence of the depravity
of the Spanish character. By way of revenge, after they
found that there was no use in following the Indians into
the mountain, the Spaniards fell to massacreing, indiscrim-
inately, those helpless creatures who were found in the wig-
wams with the meat, and cutting off their ears. Some of
them were driven into a wigwam, when the door was bar-
ricaded, and a large quantity of combustible matter thrown
on and around the hut, for the purpose of setting fire to it,
and burning them all together. This barbarous treatment
our men would not permit and they went and released the
prisoners, when the Spaniards fell to work and despatched
them as if they were dogs. When this tragedy was com-
pleted they all returned to our encampment on the 31st.

On their arrival at our camp, the Spaniards told me
that their object in taking off the ears, was to show the
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Priests and Alcaldes, that they had used every effort to re-
gain the stolen property. These people also informed me
that the Indians of this country are in the habit of coming
in large droves to the missionary stations, & make the most
sincere professions of religion, until they gain the confi-
dence of the priests, when they will suddenly decamp, and
take off all the horses they can get, to the mountain, where
they remain as long as their meat lasts — when they will
send another detachment, whose duty it is to do likewise.
They prefer eating domesticated horses because the act
of stealing them gives their flesh a superior flavour — and
it would be less trouble for them to catch wild horses, if
they could thus gratify their stealing propensities.

There is supposed to be about ten Indians to one white
man, or Spaniard, in this country. The population is di-
vided or classed into three degrees. 1st. The whites or
Spaniards. 2nd. The Indians; & third the offspring of a
white and an Indian.* — The seasons are distinguished
only as wet and dry—there being no snow and very
little frost. The only established religion is that of the Ro-
man Catholic faith, which is professed by almost every
Spaniard.

To-day Capt. Walker returned from the settlements
well supplied with such articles as he was in need of —
bringing with him 100 horses, 47 cow cattle, and 30 or

*In 1830, there were in California about one hundred and fifty for-
eigners, a great many of whom were English speaking people, and
when Leonard was there they probably had over two hundred, so
that they were not so scarce as Leonard would lead up to fuppose.
Alrred Robinson, & native of Boston, resident agent for Bryant &
Sturgis, owners of the ‘Lagoda,’”” Captain Bradshaw, was at this
time living at Santa Barbara; he was a close student of California
aftairs and wrote an excellent work of his life and experiencex in
California. He gives the population of Monterey about the year 1830
as nearly 1000, while in and about the town there wer2 quite a num-
ber of English speaking foreigners. He traveled up and down the
coast, visiting the various missions, purchasing their hides and tal-
low. In 1829, he gathered about 3,000 otter-skins on his own account
and ship, them to China, the best of which were worth sixty dollars
apiece. e married a native of California, and made it his permanent

home. A great many of these early settlers were mountain men such
as Leonard.
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35 dogs, together with some flour, corn, beans, &c., suitable
for our subsistance in the long journey, for which every
man was now busily engaged in making preparations.
Two or three days after Captain Walker returned from
this expedition, we were visited by 40 or 50 Spaniards, all
well mounted, and each man prepared with a noose, on
their way into the neighborhood of wild horses, for the pur-
pose of catching some. In this company we found one of
the horses which had been stolen from us before we left the
settlement. — The Spaniards honorably gave him up after
we proved our claim. As the manner of taking wild horses
was altogether a curiosity to me, I was anxious to see the
sport, and accordingly several others and myself joined the
Spaniards and accompanied them. After travelling a short
distance we arrived at a large pen, enclosing about three-
fourths of an acre, which they call a park or correll. This
pen is built quite strong, to prevent horses from breaking
through. Attached to this pen, are two wings extending
to the right and left, in the shape of a V, upwards of a mile
& a half in length. The wings are made by posts being
set in the ground and poles tied to them with a piece of elk
or horse hide, about four feet high — the neck or pen being
built much higher and stronger. This pen appears as if it
had been used for this purpose many years. After we halt-
ed here, the Spaniards were occupied during the remainder
of the day in repairing some weak parts of the pen and
wings, and in the morning all hands proceeded to drive in
the horses, which was done by sending out parties in differ-
ent directions, mounted upon the swiftest horses in order
to outrun the wild ones and turn them in front of the pen,
when the men all collect in a breast and drive them down
into the pen; which answers the same purpose as a basket
does a fish-dam. When the animals are all in the pen, a
fence is erected across the neck to prevent the escape of
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any horses. The men will then dismount and pass along
close to the pen for the purpose of accustoming the horses
to the smell of human beings. When this is done, four or
five will enter the pen, leaving the balance on the outside to
prevent them from breaking out, and with their cords
noose and tie all under two or three years old. After se-
curing 70 or 80 in this manner, all over this age were turn-
ed out,—as they are considered too hard to tame. They
then blind-folded those they had taken & turned them loose
with the tame horses, and they followed the same as a dog.
It is in this way they always get them into the settlements,
where they are divided to each man, who brands and hob-
bles them, and then turns them loose upon the prairie. Af-
ter they have been confined in this situation two or three
days, they are considered domesticated, their fetters taken
off, and treated similar to the other horses.

There is another way of catching these horses, which
is this: They are noosed, thrown to the ground, partly
blind-folded and saddled, when some adventurous Spaniard
will mount on his back, let the horse rise to his feet, and if
he becomes unmanageable, they give him the whip, and run
the brute until he is no longer able to keep his feet under
him, after which he is generally sufficiently docile.

On the 12thwereturned to our camp, when Capt. Walk-
er traded with the Spaniards for several of these horses —
and in the evening they bid us farewell and continued their
homeward journey.

Feb. 14th. This morning had been appointed for
our departure, and accordingly every thing requisite
for our comfort was in readiness, and we lazily left our
camp for the east — leaving six of our company behind,
all of whom are tradesmen, such as carpenters, hatters,
&c. where they purposed following their occupations,

which will no doubt be profitable to themselves, and of
15
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great advantage to the indolent and stupid Spaniard.*
The price of furniture here is exceedingly high. A rough
table (more like a bench,) consisting of rough hewn boards
nailed together, will cost 8 and 10 dollars. A pair of sim-
ilar made bedsteads the same. Two of our men construct-
ed a wind-mill which they sold for $110. All kinds of me-
chanical productions command a corresponding price. —
This is partly owing to the inconvenience of getting out
the stuff — there being no saw-mills in the country, the car-
penter is compelled to cut out his stuff by hand; and as
there are very few tools in the country, it requires great
labour to manufacture a piece of work with any kind of
taste.

The parting scene between the company and these six
men appeared the most melancholy separation we had un-
dergone since we left the States. On other occasions, when
we had separated with a portion of our hunters, it was with
the confident hope of meeting again. But these men re-
mained with the determination of making a permanent res-
idence in the country, and never again returning to the
states ; whilst the most of us were as determinedly bent on
never again returning to this region — hence we parted
as if we were forever afterwards to be separated by worlds.
On shaking hands with these men, with whom I had been in

*It would be a great satisfaction to know the names of the men
who were to remain in California, and while some of them remained
here at least for a time, they soon tired and sought adventure
elsewhere. George Nidever and John Price are the only members of
the company known to have remained in California, though Fraser and
Moz were probably of this party. Several other men known to have
arrived in 1833 may have belonged to it. Bancroft says of this Walker
ex ition, “Though somewhat strangely their presence there has
left but slight traces in the archives.”

A writer in the Samta Crus Sentinel of June 14, 1873, names John
Nidever, John Hoarde, Thos. Bond, Dally, Captain Merritt, William
gaf:. and Francois Lajeunesse, as having come with Captain

alker.

We do not know positively who they were an{lsgrobabl never will.
Both Nidever and Meek were living as late as , and croft in-
terviewed Nidever as to this journey, and the latter has an account
of it in manuscript. It is to be regretted that he did not settle this
point, by giving the names of those who were left to follow their vo-
cations in California.
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daily intercourse for the last eighteen months,* it appeared
more like parting with brothers, than anything else.

Our company was now reduced to 52 men,t 31§
horses — and for provisions, 47 beef, and 30 dogs, together
with a considerable portion of flour, Indian corn, beans,
some groceries and a few other articles necessary on such
an expedition. We continued up Sulphur River in an
eastern direction, and for the first night encamped on the
South side of this stream, after travelling not more than
12 or 15 miles.

15th. Continued our journey up Sulphur river, passing
through a fine country, most of which is prairie, covered
plentifully with wild oats and grass. After we had encamped
this evening, two Spaniards came to our camp bringing
with them 25 very fine horses, which they sold to the com-
pany, and engaged themselves to accompany us to the
buffaloe country. They informed us that they had deserted
from the Spanish army, and that as it was the second time,
if taken now, according to the Spanish military discipline,
their punishment would be certain death.}

We continued travelling from day to day, the country
all the way being of the most enticing nature, soil very
strong, timber tolerably plenty, and game in abundance.
The two Spaniards we found to be of great advantage to
us, as some of our horses caused us great trouble, and one
of the Spaniards being an excellent rider and well

*According to this statement some of the men who were to re-
main in California had been associated with Leonard long before the
starting out of the Walker expedition, as it was only a little over six
months since they left the rendezvous at Green River. They were no
doubt some of the fifteen free trappers of Sinclair, who was killed at
Plerre’s Hole, and the fact that Nidever was one of them makes this
altogether likely.

he number of the men In the Walker ex%edmon as here given

with those who were to remain was fifty-eig Bonneville states

there were but forty. Meek says that he and his companions joined

the party on Bear ver, and possibly others may have joined them,

thus making the number as Leonard states it. Meek who is inclined
to exa geration says that there were 118; Nidever, 356 to 40.

his is the manner in which the two l!exlcans came to join the
compa.ny. of whom we shall have occasion to speak elsewhere.
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acquainted with the art of noosing, would catch and bring
together our horses at any time they would become sep-
arated.

About the 27th we arrived at the base of the Calafornia
mountain, having past many Indians on our way, and also
finding many here.

On the 28th we continued our journey to the south
along the base of the mountain in search of pasture for our
cattle and a convenient pass over the mountain. — Here
game is very scarce, owing to the numerous swarms of In-
dians scattered along in every direction. On the second of
March we killed one of our beef. Pursued our course, still
in a southern direction finding game rather scarce, Indians
plenty, pasture improving, and vegetation of every descrip-
tion beginning to grow rapidly — weather showery with
warm sun, until the 1oth of March, when we arrived at 60
or 70 huts, containing from 250 to 300 Indians. These In-
dians appear quite different from those more convenient to
the Spanish settlements, and call themselves Pagans,*
their chief Capetaine, and have names for several things
nearly the same as we have. Their wives they call wifa, —
kettle, wood, and meat the same as we do. These people
seem to live poor, and are equally as indolent as any of
those we had met with in the Spanish dominions. They are
generally small in stature, complexion quite dark, and some
quite hairy. Whilst here we killed another of our beef,
and made a present of some of the beef, together with a
dog and some tobacco, to these Indians. Their principal
diet during this season of the year, consists of roots and
weeds, amongst which is parsly, and a kind of cabbage, all
of which they eat raw. In the summer they subsist prin-
cipally upon acorns, at least a person would so judge to

*We are unable to find the tribe here given by Leonard — Pagans, or any
name ufmllax among the California I ndhg Y
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see the number of holes that are burnt into the logs for the
purpose of mashing them.

When we were about leaving these Indians, their chief
brought aheartyand good-looking young female to our Cap-
tain and proposed to give her in exchange for an ox. Capt.
Walker very prudently declined the offer, telling the chief
that we had a great distance to travel, and would probably
be without meat half the time. We travelled alang quite
comfortably meeting with no unusual occurrence. The
country through which we passed still continued as charm-
ing as the heart of man could desire. The Indians were
quite numerous, some of whom would at times manifest
the most unbounded alarm. We also passed a great num-
ber of streams flowing out of the mountain, and stretching
afar towards the Pacific. The prairies were most beautifully
decorated with flowers and vegetation, interspersed with
splendid groves of timber along the banks of the rivers —
giving a most romantic appearance to the whole face of
nature.

We at length arrived at an Indian village, the inhab-
itants of which seemed to be greatly alarmed on seeing
us, and they immediately commenced gathering up their
food and gathering in their horses — but as soon as they
discovered that we were white people, they became per-
fectly reconciled. After we halted here we found that these
people could talk the Spanish language, which we thought
might be of great advantage to the company, and on in-
quiry ascertained that they were a tribe called the Con-
coas,* which tribe some eight or ten years since resided in
the Spanish settlements at the missionary station near St.
Barbara, on the coast, where they rebelled against the auth-
ority of the country, robbed the church of all its golden
images & candle-sticks, and one of the Priests of several

*We are unable to locate among the California Indians any tribe of this
name.
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thousand dollars in gold and silver, when they retreated to
the spot where we found them — being at least five or six
hundred miles distant from the nearest Spanish settlement.
This tribe are well acquainted with the rules of bartering
for goods or any thing they wish to buy — much more so
than any other tribe we met with. They make regular visits
to such posts where they are unknown, and also make ap-
pointments with ship-traders to meet at some designated
time and place; thus they are enabled to carry on a consid-
erable degree of commerce. They still retain several of
the images which they pilfered from the church — the
greater part of which is the property of the chiefs. — These
people are seven or eight hundred strong, their houses
are constructed of poles and covered with grass, and are
tolerably well supplied with house-hold furniture which
they brought with them at the time they robbed the church.
They follow agricultural pursuits to some extent, raising
very good crops of corn, pumpkins, melons, &c. All the
out-door labour is done by the females. They are also in
the habit of making regular visits to the settlements for
the purpose of stealing horses, which they kill and eat.

We passed one night with these Indians, during which
time they informed us of an accessible passage over the
mountain. In the morning we resumed our journey, hir-
ing two of these Indians as pilots, to go with us across the
mountain—continued all day without any interruption, and
in the evening encamped at the foot of the passover.

In the morning we continued up the mountain in an
eastern direction, and encamped this evening at the lower
end of the snow. The next day we found the snow more
plenty, and encamped without grass of any kind. We now
began to apprehend hard times again. Our horses no
longer resumed their march in the mornings with a play-
ful cheerfulness, but would stumble along and go just
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when their riders would force them to do ro. We contin-
ued travelling in this way for four days when we landed
safely on the opposite side of the mountain, in a temperate
climate, and among tolerable pasture, which latter was
equally as gratifying to our horses as the former was to
the men.*

We here made our pilots presents of a horse, some to-
bacco, and many trifling trinkets captivating to the eye of
an Indian, when they left us to return to their friends.

Our horses and cattle were pretty much fatigued, but
not as much as we anticipated. The country on this side
is much inferior to that on the opposite side — the soil be-
ing thin and rather sandy, producing but little grass, which
was very discouraging to our stock, as they now stood in
great want of strong feed. On the opposite side vegeta-
tion had been growing for several weeks — on this side, it
has not started yet.

*The route followed by them on their return thus far is not very
clear. They left the encampment at S8an Juan, Jan. 13, and traveled
in an easterly direction for about two days when they arrived at
Sulphur_ River, about forty miles east of Juan, where they de-
termined to remain until spring. I am unable to locate Sulphur River.
Going forty miles east from San Juan mission brln? one in the
neighborhood of the 8an Joaquin; it may have been a branch of this
river or the river itself to which they gave this name. They con-
tinued up this river, and must at any rate have been in the San
Joaquin valley. They evidently did not follow this river very far, but
left it and traveled In an easterly direction to the western foothills
of the Slerra Nevada, or California Mountains. They had in mind
the hardships endured on their westward passage, and continued in a
southeastern direction alo the base of the mountalns, intending to
cross where the Los Angeles-S8anta F'é or old Spanish trail crosses,
unless they found a convenient pass before reach! this point. They
must have continued in this direction for some distance, and may
have reached the headwaters of Kern River. In about this locality
they discovered the s as here mentioned and employed the In-
dians to guide them through. They crossed the mountain near Owen's
Lake by what has since been known as Walker’'s Pass. It must have
been quite an_easy rfasmge compared with that of the outward
journey from Leonard's description. He dees not make mention of
Owen’s Lake which he no doubt must have seen. They then con-
tinued some distance up Owen's River, until they tried to make the
cut-off which almost proved disastrous to themselves and quite so to.
their stock. After their return to the eastern foothills they continued
in a nerthern direction until they reached their outward bound
trail, which they followed to the headwaters of the Humboldt and on
account of their su&;:les running low they crossed over to the Snake
River not far off. onard must have been somewhat familiar with
this country because he had been here in the fall of 1832 with Milton
Sublette and Wyeth. They then continued on to Bear River which
was the appointed rendezvous to meet Captain Bonneville and Cerré.
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After discharging our pilots we travelled a few miles
and encamped at some beautiful springs, where we con-
cluded to spend the remainder of the day, in order to give
our horses and cattle rest. Our Capt. here concluded on
following the base of the mountain to the north until we
would come to our trail when crossing to the west, or
Calafornia.

May 2nd.* This morning we resumed our journey,
every man possessed of doubtful apprehensions as to the
result of this determination, as the hardships which we en-
countered in this region on a former occasion, were yet
fresh in the minds of many of us. The country we found
to be very poor, and almost entirely destitute of grass. We
<continued through this poor country travelling a few miles
every day, or as far as the weakened state of our dumb
brutes would admit of. The weather was mostly clear and
otherwise beautiful, but we had quite a cold wind most all
the time. Travelling along the eastern base of this (Calafor-
nia) mountain, we crossed many small rivers flowing to-
wards the east, but emptying into lakes scattered through
the plain, or desert, where the water sinks and is exhausted
in the earth. This plain extends from here to the Rocky
mountains, being an almost uninterrupted level, the surface
of which is covered with dry, loose sand. :

In this manner we travelled along, passing such scenes
as are described above, until at length we arrived at some
springs which presented a really remarkable appearance,
and may be called boiling, or more properly Steam Springs,
:situated nearthe base of the mountain, on or near the banks
-of a small river. These springs are three in number, and
“rise within a short distance of each other, one being much

*Here again Leonard is at fault in his dates; the last date given
-is the 10th of March, and it is scarcely possible they could have spent
the time up to the date here given in going this tance. There is

.no record of their makin a% stops to take up much of this time.
The error is probably in the rch date.
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larger than the other two. The water constantly boils as if
it was in a kettle over a fire, and is so hot that if a piece of
meat is put under the water at the fountain-head, it will
cook in a few minutes, emitting a strong sulphurous smell
— the water also tastes of sulphur. In a clear morning
the steam or smoke rising from these springs may be seen
a great distance as it hangs in the air over the springs, sim-
ilar to a dense sheet of fog. There is not a spear of vege-
tation growing within several rods of the spot, and the sur-
face of the ground presents the appearance of one solid
piece of crust, or hard baked mud. When the water emp-
ties in and mixes with the river water, it leaves an oily sub-
stance floating on the surface similar to tar or greace of any
kind.

About the 25th of May, we again continued our jour-
ney, but our difficulties had been multiplying for some
time, until now we found them quite formidable. — The
principal part of our present difficulties arose from the
scarcity of pasture for our horses and cattle. After travel-
ling the best way we could, for a few days towards the
North, we arrived at another beautiful sandy plain, or
desert, stretching out to the east far beyond the reach of
the eye, as level as the bec§lmed surface of a lake. We oc-
casionally found the traces of Indians, but as yet, we
have not been able to gain an audiance with any of them,
as they flee to the mountain as soon as we approach. Game
being very scarce, and our cattle poor, gives us very indif-
ferent living.

Our direct course, after reaching the eastern base
of this mountain, would have been a north-east direc-
tion, but we were apprehensive of perishing for water in
crossing this extensive desert — which would doubtless be
the fate of any traveller who would undertake it, when it is
recollected that it extends from the base of the Rocky
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mountains to this mountain, a distance of several hundred
miles. This being the case we were obliged to pass along
the base of the mountain in a northern direction, until we
would arrive at the point where we ascended the mountain
when going to the coast, and then follow the same trail east
towards the Rocky mountains, or Great Salt Lake, where
we expected to meet the company we had left at the latter
place. Travelling along the mountain foot, crossing one
stream after another, was any thing but pleasant. Day after
day we travelled in the hope each day of arriving at the
desired point when we would strike off in a homeward dir-
ection. Every now and then some of the company would
see a high peak or promontory, which he would think was
seen by the company on a former occasion, but when we
would draw near to it our pleasing anticipations would be
turned into despondency; and at one time, about the mid-
dle of May, our Captain was so certain that he could see a
point in the distance, which he had distinctly marked as a
guide on our former tramp, that he ordered the men to pre-
pare for leaving the mountain ; — this also proved to be the
result of imagination only.

The next morning our Captain, thinking the desert
not very wide at this point, decided on striking across in a
north-eastern direction, which would shorten our route
considerably, if we could only be so successful as to sur-
mount the difficulties of travelling through loose sand,
without water, (as the streams descending from the moun-
tain into the plain all sink.)

On the 16th of May, every thing necessary for our
dry tramp being in readiness, we started across the plain,
which was done with a willing heart by almost every man,
as we were all anxious to get home, and had been travelling
many days without getting any nearer. The travelling in
the plain, after passing the termination of the streams, we
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found to be extremely laborious. The sand lays quite loose,
and as the wind would blow whilst driving our horses and
cattle ahead of us, the sand would be raised up in such
clouds that we could scarcely see them, which was very
painful to our eyes. The first night in the plain we en-
camped at a large hole or well dug deep in the ground,
which we supposed to be the work of Indians, and in which
we found a small portion of stagnant water, but not half
enough to slake the thirst of our numerous herd.

The next morning we resumed our toilsome march at
an early hour, finding our stock suffering greatly for the
want of water. This day we travelled with as much speed
as possible, with the hope of finding water whereat to en-
camp; but at length night arrived, and the fatigues of the
day obliged us to encamp without water, wood or grass.
The day had been excessively warm, except when the wind
would blow, and in the afternoon two of our dogs died for
want of water. On examination we found that the feet of
many of our dumb brutes were completely crippled by the
sand.

Our situation at present seemed very critical. A dull,
gloomy aspect appeared to darken the countenance of every
member of the company. We were now completely sur-
rounded with the most aggravating perplexities — having
travelled two long day’s journey into the plain and no
idea how far yet to its termination, and from the manifesta-
tions of many of our most valuable stock, we were well con-
vinced they could not endure these hardships much long-
er. To add vexation to our present difficulties, a violent
altercation took place between the men as to whether we
would proceed in our present direction, or turn back to the
mountain.—A majority of the men were in favour of the
latter, but Capt. Walker, who never done any thing by
halves, with a few others, were of the opinion that we were
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half way across, and could as easily proceed as return. On
all such disputes, on all former occasions, the majority de-
cided on what steps should be taken ; but when our Captain
was in the minority, and being beloved by the whole com-
pany, and being a man also who was seldom mistaken in
any thing he undertook, the men were very reluctant in
‘going contrary to his will. The dispute created much con-
fusion in our ranks; but fortunately, about midnight the
Captain yielded to the wishes of his men, and as it was
cool, and more pleasant travelling than in the day time, we
started back towards the mountain, intending to follow the
same trail, in order to come to the hole at which we en-
camped on the first night in the plain.

Previoustostarting, we took the hides off our dead cat-
tle and made a kind of moccasin for such of our beasts as
were lame, which we found to be of great advantage, as it
effectually shielded their feet from the scouring effects of
the sand.

Nothing happened through the night, and we moved
carelessly along our trail, as we thought; but our
feelings cannot be described at daylight when no signs of
our former tracks could be discovered. Men were des-
patched in every direction on search, but all returned with-
out any tidings with which to comfort our desponding com-
pany. The compass told which direction we should go,
but otherwise we were completely bewildered. Our horses,
cattle and dogs were almost exhausted this morning. The
pitiful lamentations of our dogs were sufficient to melt the
hardest heart. The dumb brutes suffered more for water
than food, and these dogs, when death threatened to seize
them, would approach the men, look them right in the face
with the countenances of a distracted person, and if no
help could be afforded, would commence a piteous and
lamentable howl, drop down and expire. When the day
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became warm we slackened our pace, and moved slowly
forward, but without any hope of meeting with any water
at least for a day longer. When night came we halted for
a short time in order to collect the men and animals to-
gether, which were scattered in every direction for a mile
in width, lest we should get separated at night, as we in-
tended to travel on without ceasing until we would find
water or arrive at the mountain.

When our forces collected together, we presented a
really forlorn spectacle. At no time, either while crossing
the Rocky or Calafornia mountains, did our situation ap-
pear so desperate. We had to keep our dumb brutes con-
stantly moving about on their feet, for if they would once
lay down it would be impossible to get them up again, and
we would then be compelled to leave them. Nor were the
men in a much better condition. It is true, we had food,
but our thirst far exceeded any description. At last it be-
came so intense, that whenever one of our cattle or horses
would die the men would immediately catch the blood and
greedily swallow it down.

When our men had collected together, and rested their
wearied limbs a little, our journey was resumed, finding
that the cattle and horses travelled much better at night
than in daylight. We advanced rapidly this evening with-
out any interruption, until about midnight, when our
horses became unmanageable, and contrary to our utmost
exertions would go in a more northern direction than we
desired. After several ineffectual attempts to check them,
we thought perhaps it would be well enough to follow
wherever they would lead. We had not followed our horses
far until we discovered, to our indescribable joy, that the
instinct of our horses was far more extensive and more val-
uable than all the foresight of the men, as we, unawares,
came suddenly upon a beautiful stream of fresh water.
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We now had the greatest trouble to keep our beasts
from killing themselves drinking water — in which we suc-
ceeded only in part, and were thus occupied until daylight,
when we counted our force for the purpose of ascertaining
how much loss we sustained by undertaking to cross the
desert, and found that we had lost 64 horses, 10 cows, and
15 dogs.

In order to get something to eat for our stock, and also
to keep them from drinking too much water, we left this
stream which had afforded such delight, before either the
men or beasts had time to repose their wearied limbs. After
travelling a few miles this morning we had the good luck to
come across tolerable pasture and plenty of wood and wa-
ter. Here we determined on staying until the next morning,
for the purpose of resting our wearied stock.

This desert which had presented such an insurmount-
able barrier to our route, is bounded on the east by the
Rocky mountains, on the west by the Calafornia mountain,
on the North by the Columbia river, and on the south by
the Red, or Colorado river. These two mighty rivers rise
in the Rocky mountains adjacent to each other, and as the
former flows in a N. W. and the latter in a southern direc-
tion, forms this plain in the shape of the letter A. — There
are numerous small rivers rising in either mountain, wind-
ing their way far towards the centre of the plain, where
they are emptied into lakes or reservoirs, and the water
sinks in the sand. Further to the North where the sand is
not so deep and loose, the streams rising in the spurs
of the Rocky and those descending from the Calafornia
mountains, flow on until their waters at length mingle to-
gether in the same lakes.

The Calafornia mountain extends from the Columbia
to the Colorado river, running parallel with the coast about
150 miles distant, and 12 or 15 hundred miles in length
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with its peaks perpetually covered with eternal snows.
There is a large number of water courses descending from
this mountain on either side —those on the east side
stretching out into the plain, and those on the west flow
generally in a straight course until they empty into the
Pacific; but in no place is there a water course through the
mountain.

The next morning after finding the pasture, our herd
having rested and satisfied their hunger pretty well, we re-
sumed our journey along the edge of the plain, travelled
as fast as their weakened state would admit of, still finding
pasture sufficient for their subsistance, until, after several
day’s constant travelling, we fortunately came to our long
sought for passage to the west. This was hailed with
greater manifestations of joy by the company, than any
circumstance that had occurred for some time, as it gave
us to know where we were, and also to know when we
might expect to arrive in a plentiful country of game. —
Here we again layed by a day for the purpose of resting,
and making preparations to follow our old trail towards the
Great Salt Lake.

June 8th. This morning we left the Calafornia moun-
tain,and took anorth-east direction, keeping our formerpath,
many traces of which were quite visible in places. Hereveg-
etation is growing rapidly, giving our herd abundant pas-
ture, in consequence of which they have greatly improved
in appearance, and are enabled to travel quite fast. After
continuing our course in this direction for a few days
without interruption, we at length arrived in the neighbor-
hood of the lakes at the mouth of Barren river, and
which we had named Battle Lakes. All along our route
from the mountain this far, we had seen a great number
of Indians, but now that we had reached the vicinity of
the place where we had the skirmish with the savages when
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going to the coast, they appeared to us in double the num-
bers that they did at that time; and as we were then com-
pelled to fight them, by their movements now, we saw that
this would be the only course for us to pursue. We had used
every endeavor that we could think of, to reconcile and
make them friendly, but all to no purpose. We had given
them one present after another — made them all the
strongest manifestations of a desire for peace on our part,
by promising to do battle against their enemies if re-
quired, and we found that our own safety and comfort de-
manded that they should be severely chastised for provok-
ing us to such a measure.* Now that we were a good deal
aggravated, some of our men said hard things about what
they would do if we would again come in contact with
these provoking Indians; and our Captain was afraid that,
if once engaged, the passion of his men would become so
wild that he could not call them off, whilst there was an
Indian found to be slaughtered. Being thus compelled to
fight, as we thought, in a good cause and in self defence,
we drew up in battle array, and fell on the Indians in the
wildest and most ferocious manner we could, which struck
dismay throughout the whole crowd, killing 14, besides
wounding a great many more as we rode right over them.

*Here again we have evidence that the company endeavored to
conciliate these Indians, and avoid if possible an encounter, in which
they knew the Indians would be the greatest sufferers. Many author-
ities charge the tra'})hpers with fighting these Indians as a result of a
:ﬁllty conscience. ere are certainly two sides to this question. The

ling of the few Indians by the trappers for stealing traps when
they first came among them, which was done without the knowl-

ge or sanction of Capt. Walker, placed the whole company
in a very delicate position. After this it was no doubt the cap-
tain's intention to pass through the country with as little inter-
course as possible with the Indians, and with their knowledge of
affairs it was the only safe way to proceed. Had they established
friendly relations after the above affair, with the large number of
Indians surrounding them — who as we have noted before endeavored
to force themselves on the trappers while in camp, the proportion
being probably twenty to one — when once in the camp of the trap-
per with their bows and arrows in such overwhelming numbers even
the poor Diggers would have proved enemies not to be despised. The
trappers however were the first transgressors, and there is no jus-
tification whatever in the killi of the first Indians, no matter how
much they were justified in killing those later.
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Our men were soon called off, only three of whom were
slightly wounded.

This decisive stroke appeared to give the Indians every
satisfaction they required, as we were afterwards permitted
to pass through the country without molestation. We then
continued our course up Barren river, without meeting
with any thing to interrupt us, until about the 2oth of June,
when we found that if we continued in this direction our
provisions would become scarce long before we would
reach the Rocky mountains; and accordingly on the 21st
our Captain decided on leaving this river and taking a
Northern direction for the purpose of striking the head
waters of the Columbia river,* where we would find game
plenty, and also beaver.

After leaving Barren river we made a quick passage
across the country and the first waters we came to, was
Lewis river,t near its head, where we found game such as
deer, elk, bear and beaver plenty. After laying in a small
stock of fresh meat here, we resumed our journey towards
the buffaloe country. On the morning of the 3d of July
we were delighted by seeing some buffaloe in company
with four of our Spanish cattle that had strayed a short
distance from the main body during the night, two of which
our hunters killed, being the first we had seen since we left
the Great Salt Lake the year before. We travelled a short
distance to-day when on arriving at a large spring of most
delicious water situated in a beautiful grove, where we con-
cluded to spend the National Anniversary of American In-

*He here refers to the Snake River, a tributary of the Columbia.

1The distance is not great from the head-waters of the Humboldt
to that of the Snake, or Lewis River as Leonard calls it; it is &
desert waste and for the most part a very poor trapping country. It
was here that Millton Sublette had, about two years previous, en-
countered such hardships as are related by Meek; they followed about
the same route that Leonard had traveled about two {Iears before,
when, after the battle of Plerre’s Hole, Milton Sublette, N. J. Wi
and the fifteen free trappers, of whom he was one, made a fall hunt
in this locality. The free trappers crossed this desert from the Snake
to the head-waters of the Humboldt, which Leonard erroneously calls
the Multenemough.

16
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dependence; and accordingly our hunters went out in the
afternoon and killed several very fat buffalo, which were
dressed and the choice parts prepared for a grand
feast on the morrow. When the morn of the glorious
fourth first dawned we gave three salutes, spent the
morning in various kinds of amusement, and at noon par-
took of our national dinner, which was relished the better as
we had a small portion of good old brandy, which we drank
in a few minutes, deeply regretting that we had not a small
portion of what was that day destroyed by the millions of
freemen in the States. — The remainder of the day was cel-
ebrated by drinking toasts, singing songs, shooting at
mark, running, jumping, and practising on our horses —
having the two Spaniards still with us, who learned us many
singuiar pranks, and were a valuable edition to our com-
pany, as they created a great deal of fun, and were always
in a good humor.*

July sth. To-day continued on search of Capt. Bon-

*These are the two Mexicans who had deserted from the army and
Joined the company of trappers In California, as before related. Ac-
cording to Leonard, they were of the greatest assistance to the party
in bringing up their stock in the mornin I.I,)l-evlous to starting, and
in managing and caring for their horses during the whole trip. They
were all expert horsemen and taught the trappers many of their tricks;
they were light-hearted, gay. and popular with the men. Irving is
especially caustic in his remarks concerning them. ‘“Two of the Mexi-
can party just mentioned [there were only two] joined the band of
tra.rpera. and proved themselves worthy companions. In the course of
their journey through the country frequented by the poor Root Diggers
there seems to have been an emulation between them, which could in-
flict the greatest outrages upon the natives. The trappers still consid-
ered them in the light of dangerous foes; and the Mexicans, very prob-
ably, charged them with the sin of horse-ateallng; we have no other
mode of accounting for the infamous barbarities of which, according to
their own story, they were gullty: hunting the poor Indians like wild
beasts, and killing them without mercy. The Mexicans excelled
at this savage sport, chasing their unfortunate victims at full speed;
noosing them around the neck with their lassos, and then dragging
them to death.

““Had he [Captain Bonnevlille] exerted a little of the Lynch law of
the wilderness, and hanged these dexterous horsemen in their own
lassos, it would but have been a well-merited and salutary act of
retributive justice.”

There is nothing whatever in the course of this narrative to justify
this tirade of Irving’s; on the contrary, Leonard clea.rli' states that
the two Mexicans were of the greatest assistance, while they may
have engaged in battle with the Indians on the return u'lgi If so,
they were no more to blame than the trappers themselves. ad such
cruelties been practiced as stated by Bonneville, Leonard would have
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neville,* on Bear river, in finding whom we succeeded
without having much difficulty, on the 12th, after travelling
through a luxuriant, though rather rough country — where
we again had intercourse with people of our own nation,
being the first we had met with, except the crew of the La-
goda, since we separated from these same men at the Great
Salt Lake.t Here we encamped for the purpose of resting a
few days, and probably remaining until we would receive
supplies of provisions, merchandize, &c., from St. Lewis—
spending our time in discussing the many scenes encoun-

made some mention of them; so far as we are able to see he has not
endeavored to hide matters of this character, e. g., he describes the
tortures inflicted by the Spaniards and the Americans of his party
in California on_the Indians who had stolen the horses from the San
Juan mission. It seems that Bonneville had to vent his spleen on
some one, as he was no doubt feeling very much disappointed at the
small returns from this expedition; as previously stated he was
playlnf a losing ane in the mountains, he was no match for the
other fur companies; and on account of his disappointment and irri-
tation he tries to bring reproach ug:n the whole expedition and es-
pecially the Mexicans. It was on the outgoing trip that the most of
the Indians were killed, and as the Mexicans were not with them at
this time they cannot be charged with this offense. No further men-
tion is made of these Mexicans after reaching the rendezvous and
we know nothing further in regard to them; they probably remained
in the mountains, and became identified with the fur-trade.

*This name has heretofore been printed Bowville—by mistake. [Note in orig.]

tH. H. Bancroft gives the following account of this expedition
which was practically all we knew of it up to the time this work o
tLeoh nart(,l's t'” discovered, which throws much additional light on

e subject:

*‘Still one more detachment of the army of trappers in the at
basin came into California before 1835 and this time by a northern
route over the Sierra. The general operations of this army in the broad
interior, and the summer rendezvous of 1832 and 1833 in the Green
river valley, have been described by Irving in his narrative of Bonne-
ville's adventures. The same author records the formation of a com-
pany sent by Captain Bonneville under I. R. Walker (J. R. Walker)
to make explorations west of Great Salt Lake, and devotes a chapter
to the adventures of that company. The aim as given by this author-
ity was to explore the region surroundlns the lake, the extent of which
body of water was greatly exaggerated by Bonneville.

“The company consisted of 40 men some fifteen of whom were free
trappers. The start from Green River was in July 1833 and after
hunting a few days on Bear river, they went on to the region just
north of the lake. Whatever may have been Walker's original in-
tention or instructions, his men could not live in the desert, and they
went westward in search of water, which was found in the head
streams of the Mary or Ogden river since called the Humboldt. I
suppose their destination from the first had been California, though
Bonneville may have had different views; at any rate Walker's men
followed the Humboldt down to its sink. There were troubles with
the Indians along the way, respecting which the exact truth can
hardly be known except that the traggers' conduct was dastardly,
though these outrages were exaggerated by Bonneville and others.

"i‘rom the Humboldt sink Walker's men crossed the desert and
the Bierra into California by a route about which there is much un-
certainty. Said Bonneville to Irving, ‘They struck directly westward,
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tered by each of us, and the many hair-breadth ’scapes that
such-and-such a one had made.

After remaining in this situation a few days, there
arrived at our camp a company of 25 men belonging to
the British North-West Fur Company, from Fort Van-
couvre, situated near the mouth of the Columbia river.
These people informed me that the infant colony at the
mouth of the Columbia river had revived, and was now
increasing rapidly, under the superintendance of the

across the great chain of California mountains, for three and twenty
days, they were entangled among these mountains, the peaks and
ridges of which are in many places covered with perpetual snow. For
a part of the time they were nearly starved:; at length they made
their way through them, and came down ugon the plains of New Cal-
ifornia. They now turned toward the south and arrived at the Span-
ish village and Post of Monterey.’

"Ste{)hen Meek tells us, ‘they travelled now four days across the
salt plain when they struck the California mountains, crossing which
took fifteen days, and in fourteen days more they reached the two
Laries,’ Tulares, ‘killed a horse and subsisted upon the same eleven
days, came to the Spanish settlements.’” Joseph Meek is represented
as giving the route somewhat indefinitely westward to Pyramid Lake,
up the Truckee river, and across the mountains, by the present rall-
road line very nearly into the Sacramento valley, and thence southward.
This authority also states that they met a company of soldiers out
hunting for cattle-thieves in the S8an José valley, and were taken as
Wsonera to Monterey. Finally a newspaper version founded on

alker’s own statement, and corroborated to some extent by that
of Nidever, gives what I suppose to have been the correct route, from
the sink southwestward by what are now Carson Lake and Walker's
Lake and river over the Bierra near the head-waters of the Me
and down into the Ban Joaquin valley. [This is perfectly in acco
with Leonard.]}

“Whatever the route, they reached Monterey in November 1833 —
and all authorities agree that with fandangoes and aguardiente the
passed a good winter at the Capital [there is nothing in this wo
to substantiate this statement], though somewhat strangely their
presence there has left but slight traces in the archives. rge Ni-
dever and John Price are the only members of the company known
to have remained in California, though Frazer and Moz were prob-
ably of the party, several other men known to have arrived in 1833
may have belonged to it. In the spring Walker with most of his men
started to return, skirtlnﬁ the S8jerra southward and discovered
Walker's Pass; then they kept to the northeast and by a route not
exactly known joined Bonneville on Bear river in June is
worlé c{)ea]rs up the question as to the route here referred to beyond
any doubt.

‘““That officer was altogether disgusted with such details of, ‘this
most disgraceful expedition,’ as he had tience to hear. ‘Had he
exerted a little of the lynch law of the wilderness,’ says Irving, ‘and
hanged these dexterous horsemen in their own lazos it would but have
been a well merited and salutary act of retributive justice. The failure
‘of this expedition was a blow to his pride, and a still greater blow to
his purse. The Great Salt Lake still remained unexplored; at the
same time the means furnished so liberally to fit out this favorite
expedition, had all been squandered at Monterey' — so infinitely more
fmportant was it to explore the desert lake than to cross the conti-
nent.”

[
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British, and contained 150 families, the major part of
which are English, Canadian, French and Indians, and but
few Americans. They carry on agriculture to a consider-
able extent—the soil being very fertile, climate mild, and
frost and snow but seldom known. They also have a Grist
and Saw-Mill, and are establishing an extensive fishery at
the mouth of the river, for the purpose of catching Salmon,
as they are very abundant in this stream. They have a
Governor, and live under a Republican form of Govern-
ment. From all accounts, however, their government is
not of much use, as the most unbounded freedom of action
is exercised by all the members of the colony, & their gov-
ernment is intended more for effect with the Indians, than
any advantage to the people.*

About the 17th of July this party left us and continued
their journey on search of the Blackfeet Indians for the
purpose of trading,—after which they said it was their
intention to return to the coast by the same route.

We remained here until the 2oth without meeting with

*This was one of the numerous wandering bands of Hudson Bay
Company traprers; under whose charge they were I am unable to say.
The infant colony here referred to was near Fort Vancouver, on the
north side of the Columbia River and was composed principally of
French Canadians, some few English, and half-breed Indians. These
men had been servants of the Hudson Bay Company and on account
of old age or some disability were unable to stand the hardships of
mountain life; but very few of them wished to return to civilization.
‘While in the mountains they had contracted marriages with the na-
tive women, and had families of half-breed children, to which the
were fondly attached. They did not care to take these wives an
the children back to their homes in the east, and face the disgrace,
if such it might be called, attached to such a union, and they were
too loyal and loved them too dearly to desert them, although it has
happened in many instances. The English companies encouraged
unions of this character purely from business motives, and men of

eat intelligence and refinement contracted such marriages. Dr. Mc-

ughlin, Peter Skene Ogden, Alexander Ross, and in fact almost
all of the officers of the companies did so. In this way they secured
the friendship of the Indians. The Red Rliver settlement became an
asylum and was almost wholly settled by men who had contracted
such marriages, and who did not wish to return to their former
homes. It was indeed a high price to pay for commercial favors, as
in many instances the offspring developed the worst traits of their
maternal ancestor, while many were an honor and credit to their
g:renta. and in many leading families in the Northwest today may

found a trace of this Indian blood.

As has been stated, this settlement was made on the north side
of the Columbia, as was also Fort Vancouver, while the original
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any thing particularly, when Capt. Cerrie joined us with
40 men, bringing a large supply of merchandize packed
upon mules and horses from Missouri. With what we had
on hand these men brought enough of merchandize and
provision to supply our present company for a whole year.*
This party intended to return immediately to Missouri with
what peltries we had on hand.

These succouring companies are always looked for
with great anxiety by the people who have been in the
mountains any length of time. Many are at times entirely
destitute of such articles as would be of great advantage
to their comfort—many expect letters or some other
manifestations of remembrance from their friends — be-
sides some, who have been strictly temperate (because they
could not help it, as the supply of liquor will always be
exhausted,) look forward with longing anticipations for
the supply which is always sent to this country by the
owners of these companies, for the purpose of selling it to
the men and thus paying their wages. It is generally

Fort Astoria was on the south side near the mouth of the river, and
was called Fort George after changing hands. The northwest bound-
ary was not defined at this time, and the English company were
certain that when the question finally came up for settlement, the
Columbia River would be made the dividing line. For this reason
they encouraged their subjects to settle here 8o as to be in their own
territory; the land however was far inferior to that of the Willamette
valley, which fact the Canadians were not long in discovering. Many
of them moved over and took up land with a view to becoming citi-
zens of the United States, which in fact almost all of them sooner
or later did, when the boundary line was placed far north of the
Columbia River.

*It will be observed that most of these mountain expeditions car-
ried their merchandise on pack mules or horses, although the route
was well adapted for wagons, and they were later u almost en-
tirely, the route usually followed to the mountains was what was
later the Oregon trail and the Oregon emigrants took their wagons
with them. he first wheeled vehicle taken to the Rocky Mountains
was the celebrated wheeled cannon, which was taken to the Salt Lake
valley in 1826 by General Ashley. 8mith, Sublette, and Jackson used
wagons in 1830 to carry out their 8!.:gvplles. and took them as far as
Wind River valley. Bonneville in 1 used wagons to carry his mer-
chandise to the mountains on his first trip, and took them as far as
the Green River valley. The companies of trappers and traders who
roved from one place to another in the mountains had to depend
entirely upon pack-animals as wagons could not be used where the
%otmltry was rough or mountainous, and trappers were not road-

uilders.
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brought in a refined state, and is a cash article, which they
retail at the enormous price of $1 per gill.* Generally
when a succouring company of this kind arrives at the
camp of the trapper, the men get a little mellow and have a
real jubilee—with the exception of a few (after the Indian

*The following account between the American Fur Company (As-
tor’'s Company), and a celebrated free tn‘s)per Johnson Gardner, after
whom Gardner’'s Hole was named, will give some idea of the prices
charged by this company and illustrates how these companies im-
ro on these rovers of the mountains, enriching themselves and
eaving the poor trapper, who incurred all the hardships and dangers, as poor
as when he went to the mountains:

DR. CR.
1820-1833 1831
To sundries ad- July 12 By 53 Beaver skins at $6.50.$ 344.50
vances as per 1 Otter skin 2.60
account A $4,034.70 1832
July 21 206 Beaver sk’'s 278 lbs. at
L $1146.75
1 Otter skin 2.00
lbs. Beaver skin at
'ort Cass $3.50 96.37
Note on Smith, Sublette &
Co., 1321.48
1833
June 30 16 Beaver traps left at F't.
Plerre 182.00
1838 $4,034.70 Balance carried down 930.10
June 30 To balance $330.10 $4034.70
For Am. Fur Company,
J. Archdale Hamilton,
Fort Union, Sept. 12, 1833,
1lgaxztract from account ‘A’ referred to in the above:
June 28 Your share of advances to Tulloch & Co. $ 12.00
Liquor 8.00, Feast 4.00 12.00
29 Ditto 4.00 4.00
30 S8hirts 8.00, Pantaloons 5.00 13.00
Liquor 11.00, Feast 2.00 13.00
July 1 Ditto 6.00, Suit of clothes 70.00 76.00
Knives 4.00, Powder .75, Shoeing horse 3.00 1.7%
2 Tobacco .75, Cow skin 1.00 1%
5 Liquor 3.00
6 Ditto 12.00
7 Ditto 10.00, Tea 2.00, Pork 2.00 14.00
Blanket 12.00, Vinegar 1.00, Axe 6.00 19.00
Sugar 1.00 1.00
8 Thread 1.00, Biscuit 8.50 9.60
Salt 6.00, Pepper 4.00, Handkfs 4.00 14.00
Coffee 18.00, Tea 8.00, Sugar 24.00 50.00
File 1.50, Tin Pans 2.00, Kettle 5.00 8.50
Tin cups 2.00, Knives 4.00, Awls 1.50 7.50
Tobacco 15.00, Birsingles 6.00 21.00
Liquor 14.00 14.00
9 Rice 4.00, Knife 2.00, Liquor and Keg 27.00 33.00 $334.00
B2 $346.00

mgOt this amount $109.00 or nearly one-third was for liquor and feast~
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fashion) who are always prevented, as they must watch the
rest, and keep a look-out lest the whole company should
be surprised and massacred by the Indians. Scarcely one
man in ten, of those employed in this country ever think of
saving a single dollar of their earnings, but spend it as
fast as they can see an object to spend it for. They care
not what may come to pass to-morrow—but think only of
enjoying the present moment.

We now began to make the necessary arrangements
for our future operations—such as dividing such men as
wished to remain in the mountains, into one company, and
such as wished to return to the States in another, and
settling with the men for the last year’s services, and hiring
them for the ensuing year.

July 3oth. Having every necessary arrangement
completed, Mr. Cerrie * returned to the State of Missouri
with 45 men, and what fur, &c. we had in store. Capt.
Bonneville was left to make his fall hunt on the head
waters of the Columbia river, and the adjacent country with
50 men, and Capt. Walker with §5 men, being the balance
of our force, to cross the Rocky mountains to the waters
of the Missouri river, and then continue hunting and trad-
ing with the Indians until the month of June, 1835, when
Capt. Bonneville with his men would join us on the Big-
horn river; at the mouth of Popoasia creek,t which empties
into the Bighorn below Wind river mountain.

After the usual ceremony of parting on such occasions,

*Mr. Cerré, one of the two principal assistants of Captain Bonne-
“ville, had nothing to do with the actual trapping and trading in the
oF Captains Bomnavine and Walker. The buying of the outnt and
supplies, and the engaging of men for the mountains at 8t. Louls
Sipan ‘In the mountalns, was In the hands of Me, Cerve. as wall a5 the

conveying back to St. Louis of the returns of the previous year's trap-
ing and trading, also the men whose time had expired.

tThe creek here referred to is the Popo Agie, which flows from the
Wind River Mountains and empties into the Bighorn River, a few
miles south of the mouth of Wind River.
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which is performed by each one affectionately shaking
hands all round—we separated, each division taking off
in a separate direction. Capt. Walker continued up Bear
river in an eastern direction, and the first night encamped
at Smith’s Fork. * In the morning we resumed our
journey in the same direction, being the most direct route
to the summit of the mountains, nothing occurring more
than usual with the exception of killing any quantity of
game we might think proper, until about the 8th of August,
when, as the company were passing through a small prairie,
we discovered a large grizzly bear laying in the shade of
some brush at the edge of the woods, when four of us
started for the purpose of killing him, but on coming close,
the bear heard us and ran into the thicket. We now took

*Irving makes the following statement as to Captaln Walker. ““The
captain [Bonneville] now made his arrangements for the current year.
Cerré and Walker, with a number of men who had been to California,
were to proceed to 8t. Louis with the packages of furs collected dur-
ing the past year. Another party, headed by a leader named Montero,
was to proceed to the Crow country, trap upon its various streams,
and among the Black Hills, and thence to proceed to the Arkansas,
where he was to go into winter quarters.” According to Leonard,
this plan was evidently not carried out, as we find alker still in
the mountains in the employ of Bonneville even after he returned to
the frontier. Here seems to be ‘‘confusion worse confounded.”” We
here again see the sour feeling against the California adventurers,
and it is to be inferred that it was on account of Bonneville’'s dissatis-
faction of the latter expedition that Captain Walker left the employ
of the latter. Leonard is clear in his statement that Captain Cerré
left the Bear River rendezvous with forty-five men for the frontier
on Jul{ 30th; he says nothing whatever of Captain Walker’s departure
with this expedition, and as he had been associated with him as clerk
for the year just passed, he would very likely have made mention of
the fact. Moreover he was again employed in Captain Walker's com-
pany of fifty-five men who were to visit the Crow country, and men-
tions verﬁ clearly the route followed by Captain Walker until he
reached the latter place, and their travels for the whole year, always
[) king of Captain Walker as the leader, and his meeting Bonneville
e succeeding year at Popo Agie creek. After the latter's return to
the states with Leonard as one of his company, they left Walker in
the Crow country to pursue his trapping untii the following year.
agrees ve well with Irving, except that he has substituted
Montero for Walker. Who the former was and what became of him
we do not know, at least I have never seen him mentioned except in
connection with Bonneville by Irving. I cannot help but think that
Leonard must have had some foundation for his statements, as this
account was probably written less than a year after some of the events
mentioned transpired, when they would have been still fresh in his
memory. As will be seen we have pointed out some inaccuracies in
this work, though of a minor character. We can scarcely belleve that
in one year Leonard would so forget his facts as to state that he
was in the employ and under the direct charge of Montero, when
he distinctly mentions Walker as his employer, and with the latter
gentleman his position for more than a year previous was one of trust.
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separate courses, intending to surround the bear & chase
him out and have some sport; but one man, as we came to
the thicket, acted very imprudently by dismounting and
following a buffaloe path into the brush, when the bear,
hearing our horses on the opposite side, started out on
the same path and met the man, when he attempted to
avoid it by climbing a small tree, but being too closely
pressed was unable to get out of the reach of the bear, and
as it passed, caught him by the leg and tore the tendon of
his thigh in a most shocking manner. Before we could get
to his aid the bear made off and finally escaped.*

Here we encamped and remained until the next day,
when the wounded man expired—having bled to death
from the wound, although every effort in our power was

‘We must give him credit for knowing Captain Walker, who was in
charge of the com{mny for fully a year, from July, 1834, until about
the same time in 1835, when he returned with Captain Bonneville to
the states. It would not have been gosslble for Captain Walker to
have accompanied Captain Cerré to 8t. Louis and returned in time
for the fall hunt. From this statement of Irving’s we are led to
believe that Captain Walker when he accompanied Captain Cerré left
the service of Captain Bonneville. In the correspondence and journal
of Captain Nathaniel J. Wyeth, 1831-36, published by the Oregon His-
torical Society, on rage 225, under date of July 4, 1834, the following
entry appears, and is strong support of Irving’'s statement: ‘‘July 4th
moved up the creek about one mile, then leaving it made W. by N.
over a divide and by a pass which occurs in the lowest of a high
range of hills seven miles then W., 13 miles down a ravine which had
a little water in it to its junction with another small run and the two
are called Muddy, here we celebrated the 4th, I gave the men too
much alcohol for peace took a pretty hearty spree myself. At the
camp we found Mr. Cerry and Mr. Walker who were returning to St.
Louis with the furs collected by Mr. Bonneville's company about 10
packs and men going down to whom there is due $10,000.”

An examination of the flles of the Afissouri Republican published
in St. Louis from July 1st, 1834, to the middle of April, 1835, has failed
to reveal any mention of the return of Captain Walker from the
mountains. It is true he may have started from the mountains with
the intention of returning to this point, but may have changed his
mind before reaching here. He may possibly have remained in the
mountains, we in fact lose all trace of him for a number of years
after severing connection with the Bonneville venture.

Joe Meek says that Antoine Montero, Bonneville’s experienced
trader, was in the Powder River country in 1836 and 1837, and was
robbed of most of his goods by Bridger's men and the scarcely less
expert Crows. He says this was an act of retaliation against Bonne-
ville for his remarks relative to the trappers in the California expedi-
tion. It will be remembered that Captain Bonneville had left the
mountains in the summer of 1835, and while the above may have been
here during this period, Walker might also have been in charge of
some other party, in the Crow country.

*It will be noted thoughout this narrative that accidents of this
character are fully described. but Leonard fails to give the‘name of
the victim. I suppose it was overlooked on his part, although in some
instances he does give the names.
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of no use. After burying this man, which was done in the
customary manner of interring the dead in the mountains—
having dug a deep hole in the ground, into which we
deposited the body well wrapt up in blankets, and then
filled up the grave, first with bark and then with earth, we
continued our journey a short distance in the afternoon,
and encamped on the head waters of Lewis river, and at
the base of the Rocky mountains.

Here we made preparations for our voyage across the
mountains. Few that have .once performed a journey
across these hills will encounter them a second time with
a cheerful spirit; and particularly will they dread the task
if they have encountered as many hardships and perils as
some of the company that now reposed at its base, silently
contemplating the dreadful fatigues to be encountered until
we would reach the eastern base.

In the morning at an early hour, we left the waters
which empty into the Pacific, and continued our way up
the mountain, which we found tolerable rough, and
covered, in places, with a large quantity of snow. We
travelled without ceasing, and without meeting with any
interruption, until we at last arrived in the Prairies, on the
east side, near the head waters of the Yellow Stone river.
On our passage across, we found several pieces of petrified
wood, one of which was six or eight feet long—which our
men divided amongst themselves, for the purpose of
making whet-stones. Here we concluded on commencing
our fall’s hunt, as the beaver appeared to be quite
numerous.

In the neighborhood of the head waters of this river,
the country is generally composed of prairie hills, covered
with excellent grass, and abound with plenty of game of
different kinds. After trapping here a few days, we agreed
to move down onto Wind river, which empties into Yellow
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Stone a short distance below this, * and whilst leisurely
travelling along one day through an extensive prairie, a
large horde of buffaloe were discovered at a distance
making towards us with considerable speed. No one was
disposed to take any notice of them, as we had plenty of
provision, until we seen them advance closer and faster,
as if they were going to ride right over us. The whole
drove came rushing past, at which our loose and pack
horses took fright, and started in advance of the buffaloe,
scattering our baggage in every direction over the prairie
for several miles, leaving us nothing but our riding horses.
This occasioned us to encamp for the purpose of collecting
our stray horses and lost baggage, which was done, with
the exception of one horse and some merchandize, which
we were unable to find. To see a drove of perhaps a
thousand buffaloe driving through a level plain as fast as
their strength will permit them, is a most frightful
spectacle; and then, when our horses started in advance,
pitching and snorting, the scene was beyond description.
Many of our horses were severely crippled in consequence
of this chase,—somuch so that we were detained three days
in waiting on them and repairing our injured merchandize.

A few days after leaving this place we arrived, Aug.
20, on Popoasia creek, where we found an oil spring, rising
out of the earth similar to that of any other spring. After
emptying into the creek, the oil can be seen floating on the
surface for a considerable distance. The oil is of a dark
hue when in the fountain, almost like tar, but is as thin as
water. If this spring was in the States, I have no doubt
the chemist might make a valuable use of it. A Mr.

*The Wind River empties into the Bighorn, and not the Yellow-
stone. What is intended here no doubt is that they crossed the moun-
tains, near the head-waters of the Yellowstone, which is quite near
the head-waters of Wind River, and followed the latter stream to its
pmction with the Bighorn, near which is the Pope Agie River or the
opoasia of Leonard, the Bighorn being a tributary of the Yellowstone.
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Bergen, belonging to our company, & who had been
severely afflicted with the rheumatism, procured a phial of
it, which he used, and afterwards said it afforded him en-
tire relief.

Aug. 21st. To-day we continued in pursuit of beaver,
which is our daily occupation, passing from one water
course to another, through plains and over hills, all of
which are prairie, with the exception of the base of the
mountain, where there is an abundance of timber. We
travelled in this manner, and spending our time mostly in
this way, without meeting with any misfortunes, or any
thing unusual in a backwood’s life, occasionally being quite
successful in catching beaver, until near the middle of
October, when we arrived among the tribe of Crow
Indians.

We now find the weather getting cold, with plenty of
snow, frost and ice, which compels us to suspend our trap-
ping for this season, having done a very fair business;
and to increase our store of peltries, we now commenced
trading with these Indians for buffaloe robes, beaver fur,
&c. for which purpose we intend passing the winter in this
neighborhood.

After remaining here a few days, in the meantime
obtaining the principal part of the valuable peltries of the
Indians, the company left them and appointed Wind river
as the place to meet and resume the trading as soon as
the Indians could collect a supply—leaving two men and
myself among the Crows for the purpose of instigating
them in the business of catching beaver and buffaloe.

Nov. 1st. This morning Capt. Walker and his
followers left us, and continued in the direction of Wind
river, there to erect a temporary trading house for the
winter season, and we remained with the Indians who were
engaged in collecting their winter’s supply of meat, which
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is the custom of all tribes in a plentiful country of game,
to go in bodies sufficiently large to defend themselves in
case of an attack by a neighboring hostile tribe, as there
is scarcely three tribes to be found in the whole Indian
country, on friendly terms with each other.

I now found myself in a situation that had charms
which I had many times longed for. Ever since I engaged
in the trapping business, I had occasional intercourse with
the Indians, but never resided with them until now;
which would afford me every opportunity to minutely
observe their internal mode of living. The Crows are a
powerful nation, and inhabit a rich and extensive district
of country. They raise no vegetation, but entirely depend
on the chase for a living. This is the situation of nearly
every tribe, and when game gets scarce in one part of the
country claimed by a certain tribe, they remove to another
part, until after a while their game becomes scarce, when
they are induced to encroach upon the territory of a neigh-
boring tribe, which will at once create a fearful strife, and
not unfrequently ends in the total destruction of some
powerful nation. *

It will be recollected that I was amongst these Indians
once before, when some of our horses were stolen and we
followed them into the Crow village,—where we found

*The chief cause of the depopulation of the Indiay. tribes of the
west at this riod were their cruel and relentless wavrs, and the
scarcely less fatal smallpox, and certain diseases cont acted from
their intercourse with the whites.

These wars, an instance of which (between the Crows and Black-
feet) is related in this work, amounted almost to extermination of
some of the tribes. It was the policy of the traders to cultivate peace
among them in order that the Indians might employ their time in
collecting peltries, which interested the traders far more than did
the Indians or the Indian wars. When a band of Indlans met their
hereditary foes it meant war to the death; the most cruel which one
can imagine is illustrated by this account of Leonard's of the Crows
and Blackfeet. It frequently happened that the greater number of both
bands were killed or so injured that they afterwards died; those
defeated were killed outright, the conquerors seldom gave and indeed
much more rarely were asked for mercy; such an act would have
been an everlasting disgrace to the supplicant. Accounts of these
horrible butcheries exist at the present time only in the traditions
of the various tribes. They were as unsparing of a weak as of a
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our horses and also a negro man, in the winter of 1832-33.
This man we found to be of as great advantage to us now
as on former occasions, * as he has become thoroughly
acquainted with their language, method of transacting
their public and private business, and considered of great
value by the Indians. He enjoys perfect peace and
satisfaction, and has every thing he desires at his own
command.

The Crow nation contains from 7 to 8,000 souls, and
are divided into two divisions of an equal number in each—
there being too great a number to travel together, as they
could not get game in many places to supply such a force.
Each division is headed by a separate chief, whose duty
it is to pilot them from one hunting ground to another,
and to lead his followers to battle in time of war—one of
whom they call Grizzly Bear and the other, Long Haired
Chief, which name he derives from the extreme length of
his hair, which is no less than nine feet eleven inches
long. This is the principal chief, or Sachem, of the nation,
and is quite a worthy and venerable looking old man of 75
or 80 years of age. He uses every possible precaution to
preserve his hair, which is perfectly white, and has never
had it cut since his infancy. He worships it as the director
or guide of his fate through life—never rising or laying

powerful foe; it is not therefore to be wondered at that their numbers
were 8o greatly decreased during the first half of the last century.
The_smallpox made inroads on them scarcely less than the cruel
wars. It is altogether likely that this disease was prevalent among
them before they came in direct contact with the whites. They were
utterly ignorant of the character and treatment of this disease, and
those who would have recovered had they left it run its course were
usually killed by the universal treatment used by the Indians for all
diseases. We have spoken of this in another place. Leonard does not
mention an outbreak of the latter disease while he was in the moun-
tains. It was raging along the Missouri about this time or a little later.

*The event here referred to was when they had their horses stolen
by the Crows, while they were encamped on Green River in the latter
part of the year 1832. He was then in the comrany of the fifteen free
trappers. ey followed the Crows to their village, and through the
assistance and good offices of Edward Rose they recovered their
horses for some trifling presents, after which occurred the disastrous
affair with the Aricaras.
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down without humbly and devoutly adoring this talisman,
and with they term Bah-park (medicine.)

It is customary for every tribe of Indians in the
regions of the Rocky mountains to have some instrument
or article to pay homage to and irvoke, but no nation, I
believe, are so devoutly attached to their talismans as the
Crow nation—it is their life—their very existence. Almost
every individual of the Crow tribe has something of this
kind, and which generally consists of a seed, a stone, a
piece of wood, a bear or eagle’s claw, or any thing which
their fancy may lead them to believe has a successful virtue,
and which has been purchased of some noted warrior who
has been successful in his undertakings whilst in the posses-
sion of such an article. This magical thing, whatever it
may be, is carefully enveloped in a piece of skin, and then
tied round their neck or body. If an old experienced
warrior gives one or two young men an article of this
kind on going to war, and they happen to be successful
in taking scalps or stealing horses, the whole affair is
attributed to the virtue of his talisman, and he can then
sell it for almost any price he demands, and if it be a
precious stone, or seed, or piece of wood, all similar articles
are immediately enhanced in value, and the greater the
price they pay for such an article, the greater service it
will be to them in the hour of need.—Some of them will
even give four or five good horses for the most trifling and
simple article of this kind.

Their principal wealth consists of horses, porcupine
quills, and fine dressed skins, for clothing, &c. but nothing
is of so much value as their idol; without which an Indian
is a poor miserable drone to society, unworthy the esteem
and companionship of brutes. Long-haired chief
worships nothing but his hair, which is regularly combed




LEONARD’S NARRATIVE 257

and carefully folded up every morning into a roll about
three feet long by the principal warriors of his tribe.

Their houses are composed of dressed buffaloe hides
and pine poles about 25 or 30 feet in length, and about three
inches in diameter. These poles are stuck upon end in a
circle, and all coming together at the top forms the shape
of a hay-stack.—The buffaloe robes are then cut in proper
shape, sewed together and covered over their habitation.
Their fire is placed in the centre of the lodge, and the poles
being left apart at the top affords a very good draught for
the smoke. Some of these houses are much larger than
others, such as are intended for the transacting of public
business. These are constructed with much care, and are
quite comfortable and convenient habitations—the buffaloe
robes affording a sufficient shield from the effects of the
cold. In their public buildings all their national affairs
are discussed at stated periods by the warriors and princi-
pal men. Here they have their public smokes and public
rejoicings.

This tribe is also governed by a species of police, such
as having a committee of soldiers appointed for the purpose
of keeping order and regulation in their village, appointing
a day for a general hunt and keeping any who might be
so disposed, from running ahead and chasing off the game,
in order that each individual may have a fair chance to
obtain an equal share of provision, with his neighbor.—
These soldiers are also to observe that on such occasions
their village is not left in a weak and unsafe condition by
too many going to war, or to horse stealing, (which
generally ends in war) at a time, and also to see that such
a party is properly provided with a competent commander,
and if not, it is their duty to supply the deficiency by
appointing one to act in his place. If any person acts

contrary to their laws, these soldiers have the liberty of
1
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punishing him for it, which is done by shaving his horses
main and tail, cut up his lodge, and whip him, if not con-
trary to the decision of the principal chief, in whom is in-
vested the power of vetoing every act of this executive
committee, if not agreeable to his wish.

When game becomes scarce, and they are about to
move to another section, every moveable article is packed
upon horse-back, when they travel on until they arrive
in a country abounding with game.—Their children from
two to three years of age, and unable to ride, are tied upon
the baggage, and those younger are fastened upon a board
and conveyed in manner as heretofore described. They
have a sort of dray formed by these poles, which is done
by fastening one end to the pack saddle, and the other
end dragging on the ground, on which they place their
furniture.

There is more personal ambition and rivalry existing
among this tribe than any other I became acquainted with
—each one trying to excel the other in merit, whilst
engaged in some dangerous adventure.—Their predatory
wars afford them every opportunity for this, as they are
at liberty and sometimes compelled to engage in the
battle’s strife as soon as they are able to bend the bow or
wield the tomahawk.—Their first promotion from the ranks
of a private citizen, is secured by stealing a few horses and
killing one or two of their enemies, when they are eligible
to the title of a Small Brave. By adding so many more
acts of this kind, they receive the title of a Large or Great
Brave; from thence to a Little Chief, and to rise to the
station of a Great Chief, they must steal cuch a number
of horses, kill and scalp such a number of the enemy, and
take so many guns or bows and arrows.

Whenever one person exceeds the existing chief in
these deeds, he is installed into the office of chief of the

e
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nation, which he retains until some other ambitious, daring
brave exceeds him. They always take good care, however,
not to excel their present chief, old Long-hair.

This school, as it was, creates a great deal of jealousy
and envy among the people, but it seldom leads to any
disturbance, as the executive soldiers, or police, are always
ready to chastise and punish any such conduct.

Any person not rising to either of these stations by
the time he is twenty years of age, has nothing to say or
do in any public business whatever, but is compelled to
perform different kinds of meniel labour altogether degrad-
ing to a man, as it is putting him on an equality with the
squaws—which is low enough indeed in the estimation of
the Indian. Such a man becomes the slave of the women,
as they are at liberty to order him to do any thing they
may think proper, such as carry wood, water, &c., or any
drudgery that is required to be done.

After receiving the title of Little Chief they are at
liberty to speak and take part in all public debates in
relation to the affairs of the nation, and are exempt from
all kinds of labour in going to war, which has to be done
by the privates, who are generally young men, as on such
occasions they have no women with them; and as they
progressively rise, they are at liberty to order and com-
mand those who are beneath them. This is the principal
cause of their ambition, which far exceeds description. If
oneofthe men who has fallen into the rank of a woman, and
has become tired of that occupation, he will undergo any
exertion, and encounter any danger, no matter how great,
in order to distinguish himself and improve his forlorn
and dishonorable condition.

Soon after we took up our quarters with these Indians,
I occupied my time in ascertaining their manner of taking
game, which, if it is more laborious, it is more successful
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than the Spanish mode of taking wild horses. When their
families are in want of provision, or desirous of having a
hunt, one of the principal men, who might be called the
trumpeter, will mount a horse and ride round through
the encampment, village, or settlement, and publicly
proclaim that on a stated day the whole tribe must be
prepared for a general hunt, or swurround. When the
day arrives the village is alive betimes in the morning, and
several hundred will sometimes mount their race-horses,
repair to a certain designated section of country, which
they are to surround. When the men have all had time to
get to their allotted stations, they begin to close in, driving
the game, principally buffalo, into a circle and when they
are pretty well confined in the circle, they commence kill-
ing them—until which time, no man dare attempt to take
any of the game. In this manner they have sometimes
caught several hundred buffalo, besides many other
animals, at a single surround.

When they are in a country suitable, these people
will destroy the buffaloe by driving a herd of some
hundreds to the edge of a convenient rocky precipice, when
they are forced headlong down the craggy descent. This
is more dangerous than the other method, as the buffaloe,
unless the Indians are very numerous, will sometimes
rush in a solid column through their ranks, knocking down
the horses and tramping the riders under their feet.

They have another method of taking the buffalo,
which is in this way:—If they know of a place at the base
of some mountain that is surrounded on three sides with
inaccessible precipices,and a level valley leading into it, they
manage to drive the whole gang of buffaloe into this neck
and force them up to its termination, when they erect a
strong fence across the valley, or outlet, and then butcher
their prisoners at leisure.
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In a place of this kind I was shewn by the chief Grizzly
Bear, upwards of seven hundred buffalo skulls which he
said had been caught at a single hunt, and which had taken
place about four years previous.

About the 20th of November, after travelling for three
or four days in pursuit of provision, we at length arrived
in the vicinity of buffalo, where we pitched our tents and
the Indians prepared for a general hunt. In the evening
their horses were all dressed in the best style, and at an
early hour the next morning four or five hundred Indians
were mounted and ready for the chase.

This was a favorable opportunity for me to gratify
my curiosity in seeing this kind of sport, and my com-
panions and myself followed in the rear of the Indians.—
Our hunters had not advanced far on this sporting ex-
pedition until they met with an object which entirely put
them out of the notion of showing us their ajility in
catching buffalo, for, at some distance across the plain,
along the base of some rough craggy hills, was espied a con-
siderable body of people, who appeared to be advancing to-
wards us. Immediately a halt was called, for the purpose of
observing the movements of the strangers, and consulting
on what steps should be taken. It did not require the
keen eye of a Crow Indian long to tell that their visitors
were Indians and belonged to their implacable enemies,
the Blackfeet tribe. This was enough. War was now
their only desire, and our Indians advanced towards their
enemies as fast as the speed of their horses would admit,
who, being on foot, were soon overtaken and forced to
ascend the rocks, which they did in safety. The Crows
immediately surrounded the Blackfeet, confident of an
easy victory, but when they made the attack they found
that their enemy was too well prepared for defence, and they
immediately despatched an express to the village for a
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reinforcement, of men, conscious that the Blackfeet would
not attempt to leave their present position until such
reinforcement would have time to arrive.

This was quite a different kind of sport from that
Whilst the express was absent both parties employed their
but one of no less interest, and far more important to me.
Whilst the express was absent both parties employed their
time in strengthening their positions — the Blackfeet had
chosen a most fortunate spot to defend themselves, and by
a little labour found themselves in a fort that might have
done credit to an army of frontier regulars. It was situated
on the brow of a hill, in a circle of rocks shaped similar
to a horse-shoe, with a ledge of rocks from three to four
feet high on either side, and about ten feet, on the part
reaching to the brink of the hill, with a very creditable
piece of breast work built in front, composed of logs, brush
and stones. From their present situation they have a
decided advantage over the Crows, and if well prepared
for war, could hold out a considerable length of time, and
deal destruction thick and fast on any force that might
attempt to scale their fort—which looks more like the
production of art than nature. Whilst the Blackfeet were
assiduously engaged in defending their position, the Crows
were no less idle in preparing for the attack, the destruction

.of which, they were determined should not be relaxed as
long as there was a living Blackfoot Indian to be found in
the neighborhood. Previous to the arrival of the rein-
forcement, which was about ten o’clock, there had been
three Crows and one Blackfoot killed, which was done
at the first attack after the latter were driven into their
fort.

When the express reached the Crow village every
man, woman and child able to point a gun or mount a
horse repaired with all speed to the scene of action, who




LEONARD’S NARRATIVE 263

came up uttering the most wild and piercing yells I ever
heard in my life. A great deal of contention at first took
place among the principal men of the Crow tribe as to the
manner of attacking their enemy, who appeared to look
down upon them in defiance; notwithstanding the Crows
kept up a continual yelling and firing of guns, all of which
was without effect. Finally they appeared to harmonize
and understand each other.

As matters now seemed to indicate the approach of a
crisis, I repaired to an eminence about 200 yards from the
fort among some cedar trees, where I had an excellent
view of all their movements. At first the Crows would
approach the fort by two or three hundred in a breast, but
on arriving near enough to do any execution, the fire from
the fort would compell them to retreat. They then formed
in a trail along the top of the ridge, and in rotation would
ride at full speed past the breastwork, firing as they passed,
and then throwing themselves on the side of the horse
until nothing will be exposed to the enemy except one
arm and one leg. This they found to be very destructive
to their horses and also their men, there being now ten
Crows and several horses laying dead on the field. Urged
by their ill success thus far, and by the piteous lamentations
of the wives, children and relatives of those who had fell,
the Crow chiefs decided on suspending the attack, and
determined to hold a council of war for the purpose of
deciding on what measures should be adopted, in order
to destroy these brave Blackfeet.

When the principal chiefs met in council, all was still
except the lamentations of the bereaved, who, perhaps,
regret the severe pennance which the customs of their
people compelled them to endure for the memory of a
deceased friend, and lament more on account of the
prospect of trouble ahead, than for the loss which they
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have sustained. The chiefs held a hasty and stormy
council. Some were in favour of abandoning the Black-
feet entirely, & others were determined on charging into
their fort and end the battle in a total and bloody massacre.
This was finally decided upon, but not until after several
speeches were made for and against it, and the pipe of
war smoked by each brave and chief.

As soon as this determination of the chiefs was made
known the war-whoop again resounded with the most
deafening roar through the plain—every voice that was
able to make a noise was strained to its very utmost to
increase the sound, until the very earth, trees and rocks
seemed to be possessed of vocal powers. By their tre-
mendous howling they had worked as great a change
in the courage of their soldiery, as the most soul-enlivening
marshal music would the cowardly fears of a half-intoxi-
cated militia company.

Now was the moment for action. .Each man appeared
willing to sacrifice his life if it would bring down an enemy;
and in this spirit did they renew and repeat the attack on
the breast-work of their enemy, but as often did they retreat
with severe loss. Again and again did they return to the
charge, but all was of no use—all their efforts were of no
avail—confusion began to spread through their ranks—
many appeared overwhelmed with despair—and the whole
Crow nation was about to retreat from the field, when the
negro,* who has been heretofore mentioned, and who had

*This is the renegade Rose of Astorian fame, whom Mr. Hunt
describes. Two men, Edward Rose and James Beckwourth or Beck-
with, who were partlg colored became quite prominent men among
the Crow Indians. The latter wrote an account of what he calls
his adventures, but his veracity is questioned by many and one
authority calls him a ‘‘charming liar.”” Many of his adventures have
their foundation in his fertile imagination, and there is no dobut that
Beckwith knew Rose well and in his book gives many of the latter's
adventures as his own. Chittenden says, ‘‘Rose was the son of a white
man, a trader among the Cherokee Indians, and of a half-breed
Cherokee and negro woman. He was a man of powerful frame and

in some of his experiences had received a cut through the nose,
which gave him the nickname of Nex Coupé, or Cut Nose Rose. He
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been in company with us, advanced a few steps towards
the Crows and ascended a rock from which he addressed
the Crow warriors in the most earnest and impressive
manner. He told them that they had been here making
a great noise, as if they could kill the enemy by it—that
they had talked long and loud about going into the fort,
and that the white men would say the Indian had a crooked
tongue, when talking about his war exploits. He told

them that their hearts were small, and that they were

cowardly—that they acted more like squaws than men,
and were not fit to defend their hunting ground. He told
them that the white men were ashamed of them and would
refuse to trade with such a nation of cowards — that the

was a man of few words, rather inclined to be moody in disposition.’’
He first comes to our notice in Astria, where Mr. Hunt meets him
at the Aricara village where he no doubt came occasionally from the
Crow country. *“Mr. Hunt, considered himself fortunate in having
met with a man who might be of great use to him in any intercourse
he might have with the tribe [Crows). This was a wandering individ-
ual, named Edward Rose, whom he had picked up somewhere on the
Missouri — one of those anomalous beln}gs found on the frontler, who
seem to have neither kin or country. e had llved sometime amon
the Crows, s0o as to become acquainted with their language an
customs; and was withal, a dogged, sullen, silent fellow, with a
sinister aspect, and more of the savage than the civilized man in his
apfeamnce. e was engaged to serve in general as a hunter, but as
sude and interpreter when they should reach the country of the

rows.” After being on his way towards the Crow country for some
days, ‘‘as he was seated in his tent after nightfall, one of the men
came to him privately, and informed him that there was mischief
brewing in the camp. Edward Rose, the interpreter, whose sinister
looks we have already mentioned, was denounced by this secret
informer as a designing, treacherous scoundrel, who was tampering
with the fidelity of certain of the men, and instigating them to a
flagrant piece of treason. In the course of a few days they would
arrive at the mountainous district infested by the Upsarokas or
Crows, the tribe among which Rose was to officiate as internreter.
His plan was that several of the men should join him, when {a that
neighborhood, in carrying off a number of the horses with their
packages of goods, and deserting to those savages. He assured them
of good treatment among the Crows, the principal chiefs and warriors
of whom he knew; they would soon me great men among them,
and have the finest women, and the daughters of the chiefs for wives;
and the horses and goods they carried off would make them rich for
life.”” This caused Mr. Hunt to be much alarmed, as he knew some
of the men to be dissatisfied with the enterprise.

““The plot of Rose to rob and abandon his countrymen when in the
heart of the wilderness, and to throw himself into the hands of a
horde of savages, may appear strange and improbable to those unac-
quainted with the singular and anomalous characters that are to be
found about the borders. This fellow, it appears, was one of those
desperadoes of the frontiers, outlawed by their crimes, who combined
the vices of civilized and savage life, and are ten times more barbarous
than the Indians with whom they consort. Rose had formerly be-
longed to one or the gangs of pirates who infested the islands of the
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Blackfeet would go home and tell their people that three
thousand Crows could not take a handful of them,—that
they would be laughed at, scorned, and treated with con-
tempt by all nations wherever known—that no tribe would
degrade themselves hereafter by waging war with them,
and that the whole Crow nation, once so powerful, would
forever after be treated as a nation of squaws. The old
negro continued in this strain until they became greatly
animated, & told them that if the red man was afraid to
go amongst his enemy, he would show them that a black
man was not, and he leaped from the rock on which he

Mississippi, plunderlng boats as they went up and down the river,
and who sometimes shifted the scene of their robberies to the shore,
waylaying travellers as they returned by land from New Orleans with
the proceeds of their downward voyage, plundering them of their
money and effects, and often perpetrating the most atrocious murders.
These hordes of villains being broken up and dispersed, Rose had
betaken himself to the wilderness, and associated himself with the
Crows, whose predatory habits were congenial with his own, had
married a woman of the tribe, and, in short, had identified himself
with those v nt savages.”

This was his story, not as known to Hunt but ascertained later.
He used every effort to frustrate the above plans and took every
precaution to prevent surprise in the march tnd thefts by the Crows;
at the same time he made Rose such a liberal offer in the matter of
pay as to make it quite as profitable and less dangerous for him to
remain honest as to attempt to carry out his design. They would
dlsgense with his services when they reached his friends the Crows.

rving describes Rose agaln in Bosxmeville, whose character he
continues to assail, and we are inclined to think he does not do him
justice, as his treatment of Leonard and his companions is not in
accord with the above character. Irving describes a battle Rose had
with the Blackfeet which is no doubt the same as that more fully
described by Leonard. In 1823 Joshua Piicher referred to Rose in one
of his letters as ‘‘a celebrated outlaw who left this country in chains
some ten years ago.”” Colonel Leavenworth in an official report of the
same year, after commending the services of Rose as an nterproter.
adds, “I have since heard that he was not of good character.’

Rose first went up the river either in 1807 or 1809, and may have
been one of the hunters advertised for by the Missouri Fur Company,
who were to act as escort for the return of the Mandan chief whom
I.evmlt aind Clark had taken to Washington on their return from the
mountains.

It was about this time that he fell in with the Crow Indians with
whom he took up his abode. He probably remained with them until the
spring of 1811, when he went to the Missouri and fell in with Mr. Hunt
as stated. He probably remained with the Crows for the next eight or
ten years, when he went to reside with the Aricaras, on the Missouri,
for the next three years, from about 1820 to 1823. With the revival of
the fur-trade on the Missouri he was employed by Piilcher and Ashley
as an interpreter. He acted in this capacity for Ashley when he met
with his disastrous defeat at the hands of the Aricaras in 1823. The

rt he played here was highly creditable. He warned Ashley of his
anier. as he was aware all was not right, but the latter was deceived
by the pretended friendship of the Indians, and rejected Rose's timely
warning. When Colonel Leavenworth arrived at this point with his
military force, shortly after Rose was engaged as interpreter, he was



LEONARD’S NARRATIVE 267

had been standing, and, looking neither to the right nor
to the left, made for the fort as fast as he could run. The
Indians guessing his purpose, and inspired by his words
and fearless example, followed close to his heels, and were
in the fort dealing destruction to the right and left nearly
as soon as the old man.*

Here now was a scene of no common occurrence. A
space of ground about the size of an acre, completely
crowded with hostile Indians fighting for life, with guns,
bows and arrows, knives and clubs, yelling and screaming

until the hair seemed to lift the caps from our heads. As

ven the nominal rank of e upon Ashley’'s recommendation.

e official report of the comman officer shows that Rose took an
active part in the operations before the villages, and it was upon him
that the main reliance was placed to open communications with the
Aricaras. He gave Leavenworth notice of the intended evacuation of
the village by the Indians, but here, as was the case with Ashley, his
warning was not heeded until the movement was over and the Indians
ﬁone. n the report of Colonel Leavenworth to General Atkinson, Oct.

, 1523, he refers to the services of Rose as follows: ‘I had not found
any one willl to go into those villages, except a man by the name
of Rose, who had the nominal rank of ensign in General Ashley’'s
volunteers. He appeared to be a brave and enterprising man, and
well acquainted with those Indians. He had resided for about three
years with them; understood their language, and they were much
attached to him. He was with General Ashley when he was attacked.
The Indians at that time called to him to take care of himself, before
they fired on General Ashley’'s party. This was all I knew of the man.
I have since heard.that he was not of good character. Everything he
told us, however, was fully corroborat He was perfectly willing to
go into their villages, and did go in several times.”

When the military expedition of 1825, under General Atkinson and
Major O’Fallon, went up the Missouri River he was again employed
as an interpreter, and again proved very useful to them. We hear
very little of him in the succeeding years until we find him again in
this book of Leonard’s in the years 1832 and 1834. Little is known of
where or how he died; his grave, according to Chittenden, is on the
banks of the Missourl nearly opposite the mouth of Milk River. We
know nothing of this man’'s history previous to his going to the moun-
tains, only as given by Irving, and rumors as recorded by others. We
cannot but think Hunt was far more suspicious of Rose than he had
any just reason for. His subsequent history and actions are so
commendable, that it is with pleasure we add the testimony of
L&onard to that of the few others, who have experienced his good
offices.

*The casual reader, who has read Beckwourth’'s prevarications
might possibly suppose that the negro here referred to was he. There
is a possibility however that he published this very occurrence as his
own. There i8 in chapter 14 of his autobiography the description of a
battle with the Blackfeet, in many particulars much the same as the
above. He no doubt had a retentive memory and appropriated as his
own about half of all the stories he heard about the camp-fires while
in the Indian country. Beckwourth according to his own statement was
born m'“mos and therefore would not be considered an old man in
1882 or '33.

Beckwourth became involved in some ver‘y questionable transac-
tions in California in the later years of his life.
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soon as most of the Crows got into the fort, the Blackfeet
began to make their escape out of the opposite side, over
the rocks about 10 feet high. Here they found themselves
no better off, as they were immediately surrounded and
hemmed in on all sides by overwhelming numbers. A
large number on both sides had fell in the engagement
in the inside of the fort, as there the Crows had an equal
chance with their enemy, but when on the outside the
advantage was decidedly against them, as they were con-
fined in a circle and cut down in a few moments. When
the Blackfeet found there was no chance of escape, and
knowing that their was no prospect of mercy at the hands
of their perplexed and aggravated, but victorious enemy,
they fought with more than human desperation. From
the time they left their fort, they kept themselves in regular
order, moving forward in a solid breast, cutting their way
through with their knives, until their last man fell, pierced,
perhaps,with an hundred wounds. In this massacre,if one of
the Blackfeet would receive a dangerous wound he would
drop to the ground, as if dead, and if his strength was not
too far exhausted, he would suddenly rise to his feet and
plunge his knife to the heart of an enemy who would be
rushing through the crowd, and then die. This would not
be done in self defence, nor with a hope of escape, but
through revenge.

This was truly a scene of carnage, enough to sicken
the stoutest heart—but nothing at all in comparison with
what took place afterwards. The Crows, when they found
the enemy strewed over the field, none having escaped
their vengeance, commenced a general rejoicing, after
which they retired a short distance for the purpose of tak-
ing repose and some refreshments.

Although the victory was complete, the Crows paid
dear for it, having lost about thirty killed, and as many
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more wounded, besides a great number of horses. The
loss of their companions did not appear to dampen the
rejoicings of the men the least bit, and indeed it would
appear that the squaws should do all the mourning and
lamenting, as well as all the labour. Their dead were all
collected together,when the squawswent round and claimed
their kindred. This was a most affecting scene—but what
was it when contrasted with that enacted by the men as
soon as they had rested from the toil of battle. The
women would throw themselves upon the dead bodies of
their husbands, brothers, &c. and there manifest the most
excruciating anguish that any human being could suffer.
The women were occupied in this manner when the men
went to work to glut their merciless vengeance on their fal-
len foe.

Many of the Blackfeet who were scattered over the
battle ground had fallen by broken limbs or wounded in
some way, & were yet writhing in agony, unable to injure
any one or help themselves in any way. All such were
collected together, and then tormented in a manner too
shocking to relate. These fiends would cut off their ears,
nose, hands and feet, pluck out their eyes, pull out their
hair, cut them open and take out part of their insides,
piercing them with sharp sticks—in short, every method of
inflicting pain was resorted to. In order that they might
render their mode of torment still more excruciating, they
would bring into the presence of the dying the bodies of
those who were already dead, and then tare out their
hearts, livers, and brains, and throw them in the faces of
the living, cutting them to pieces, and afterwards feeding
them to their dogs—accompanying the whole with the most
taunting and revengeful epithets, whilst those not engaged
in this fiendish work, were occupied in keeping up a
constant screaming, howling and yelling. = When this
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torment commenced, all the sufferers who could get hold
of a knife or any thing with which they could take away
their lives, would do so immediately. All the torment that
could be inflicted by their persecutors, failed to bring a
single murmur of complaint from the sufferers—nor would
they signify the least symptonts of being conquered. No—
not if they had been offered undisturbed liberty, would
those sufferers who had lost so many of their companions,
acknowledge themselves prisoners in the Crow village.
Death they preferred to this, and death with indescribable
horrors, did they all receive.

After they had finished tormenting the living, which
was not done until there was no more to kill, they com-
menced cutting off the heads of the mangled bodies, which
were hoisted on the ends of poles and carried about, and
afterwards dashed them against trees, rocks, &c. leaving
them on the plain to be devoured by wild beasts.

The men now repaired to their dead friends, where
they went through various manoeuvres, as much as to say
that they had revenged their death, and soon afterwards
every thing was on the move towards the camp, where we
arrived soon after dark, not to rest, and calmly meditate
on the scenes of the day, but to see further developments
of the superstitious propensities of the poor neglected
savage.

After arriving in the village, a part of the men com-
menced their public rejoicings, by beating upon drums,
dancing and singing, which, together with the incessant
wailings and lamentations of those who had lost relatives,
gave us a night that was entirely free from repose, and
averse to sober reflection. In this manner the whole
night was spent, nor did the morning bring any prospect
of a cessation of these singular customs.

About ten o’clock the whole tribe was engaged in per-
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forming the funeral obsequies to the remains of their de-
ceased relatives, At an early hour the wife had seated her-
self by the side of her dead husband, where she would
remain until it came his turn to be interred, when she
would clasp the cold and lifeless form of him, whom she
still seems to love, and cling to it until forced away by
some of the men. Their manner of burying their dead
is also most singular in some respects: The corpse is care-
fully wrapped up in buffalo robes and laid into the grave,
together with his talisman, and any thing else to which
he was attached,—and if he be a chief of some importance,
his horse’s tail & mane are shaved off and buried with
him —these benighted Indians believing that each of
these hairs will turn into a beautiful horse in the land of
spirits, where they think that a horse and bow and arrow
are all that a man requires to perfect his happiness and
peace.

As soon as the dead were deposited in the silent tomb,
the musicians collected together and marched through the
camp, beating upon sticks and drums, as a signal for the
mourners to fall in the rear, which they did, and the whole
procession then proceeded to the top of some rising
ground, not far off, where the males and females separated
into different groups.—The female mourners now took the
point of an arrow, which was fixed in a stick, & commenced
pricking their heads, beginning at one ear and continuing
round the forehead to the other, making incisions half
an inch apart all round; and the men went through a
similar course on their legs, arms, &c., until the blood
oozed out in streams. All this performance was done
without creating the least appearance of pain.

After doing this each female that had lost a near
relative or particular friend, collected along a log and
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deliberately cut off a finger at the first joint, * which was
done with as much coolness as the pricking process. This
is done by the males, also, except the two first fingers on
the right hand, which they preserve for the purpose of
bending the bow, and many of the aged females may be
seen with the end off each of their fingers, and some have
even taken off the second crop. Whilst this was being
done by the mourners, the other Indians kept up a con-
tinual noise with their music, singing, dancing and yelling.

The procession now returned tothe village with the faces
of all the female mourners daubed over with their own
blood, which they never remove until it wears off. Those
not wishing to loosc a finger are at liberty to shave off their
hair close, but it is the general custom among the Crows
to lose a piece of their finger. Any one who has lost a
relative is not allowed to take part in the dance or any
kind of sport for 12 or 13 moons, unless one of their surviv-
ing friends take the life of an Indian belonging to the tribe
that killed the mourned one—which will at once atone for
all loss, and drown all grief, and she is then allowed to
wash the blood from her face and resume her former stand-
ing in society. This night was spent in about the same
manner as last night—some being engaged in dancing and
singing, and others crying and lamenting the loss they had
sustained.

Nov. 22d. This morning the chief of the nation gave
orders to move for the purpose of getting among the
buffalo and other game—and also to be prepared for a
national dance on their march. About ten o’clock the
whole tribe was in readiness and we started in the direction

*This custom is not conflned to the Crows, as many of the plains
tribes did the same. 1 have observed that among the Cheyennes
and Arapahoes many of the very old women have the fingers cut
off at the first joint; this practice is not however followed at
the present time, in fact there is little occasion for it. Most of the
Indlar::i dle natural deaths, and I do not think this practice 1is
resort to.
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of the battle ground, and on arriving there a halt was order-
ed for the purpose of giving the dead carcases of the Black-
feet the last evidence of the Crow’s revenge—which was
done by beating and mangling every piece of flesh they
could find. This done, the march was resumed to a beauti-
ful level plain, perfectly smooth and covered with short
grass, for two or three miles square—where the national
dance was to take place. When they had dismounted,
the whole nation formed a ring, when 69 of the oldest
squaws, all painted black, formed themselves in a line in
the centre of the circle, each bearing a pole from 12 to 15
feet in length. The person who struck the first blow at
their late battle with the Blackfeet now commenced danc-
ing, and was immediately followed by every young man and
woman belonging to the tribe, (except the mourners, who
stood silent, melancholy spectators) all clad in their best
dresses, handsomely worked with porcupine quills, and
their heads delightfully ornamented with magpie and
pheasant tails—forming themselves in double file, and
dancing round the whole circle to wild, though not
irregular music—which they make by stretching a piece of
buffalo skin over a hoop similar to a riddle, where it is well
stretched, and then sewed together and filled with sand
and left until it is dry and properly shaped, when the sand
is thrown out and some pebbles or bullets put in, when
it is ready for the hand of the musician—and is in shape
similar to a goard.

After dancing round the circle once or twice, they
would suddenly halt; shout their terrible war-whoop —
shoot off their guns, when the rattling music would again
commence and they would all be engaged in the dance.
Each member of the tribe, who was not mourning, from
the child up to the enfeebled old man and woman took part

in this exercise. After about two hours spent in this
18
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manner, they concluded their celebration by the display of
an Indian battle, which was exceedingly grand, far beyond
any description I have ever heard. 70 or 80 of their best
warriors mounted their most active horses, one party acting
the part of their enemies, the Blackfeet, each one armed
with a gun, a club or lance, and some with both.
They separated, one party to one side and the other
to the other side of the plain, and at a given signal would
advance towards each other as fast as their horses would
run, firing and striking as they would pass—throwing
themselves nearly under their horses, so much so, that
they could fire at each other under their horse’s belly.*
During the time they seemed to exert every nerve, yet
they kept up a continual noise, by repeating the most wild
and ferocious yells I ever heard. Their activity in throw-
ing the lancet is no less wonderful—being so expert in this
business that they can throw it 20 or 25 yards and strike
a mark the size of a man’s head, whilst riding past as
swift as their horses will go.

The greater part of the day was occupied in
this manner, after which they took up their march
towards the river No-wood, on the banks of which
stream we encamped for the night. In this vicinity
buffalo appeared to be quite numerous and the Indians

*The Crows are probably the best horsemen of all the mountain
tribes. They are usually well supplied with horses and have little
regard for these useful beasts. They inhabit the wildest and roughest
country and are continually going from one side of the Rocky moun-
tains to the other over the roughest roads and most dangrous deflles,
which tests to the utmost the animals’ endurance. Mr. Hunt says of
them, “We had an opportunity to see and admire the equestrian
habitudes and address of this hard-riding tribe. They were all
mounted, man, woman, and child, for the Crows have horses in
abundance, 80 that no one goes on foot. The children are perfect
imps of horseback. Among them was one 80 young that he could not
speak. He was tied on a colt two years old, but managed the reins
as if by instinct, and plled the whip with true Indian prodigality.
Mr. Hunt inquired the age of this infant jockey, and was answe!
that ‘he had seen two winters’.”

The Comanches are no doubt the greatest horsemen of any of the
American Indians; they were grobabl the first to get them after they
were introduced into Mexico the ranlards. Probably next to the
Comanches, the Crows are the most expert, although the former
inhabit the plain, the latter the mountains.
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killed several this evening. As the prospect of game ap-
peared so good, the Indians determined on remaining here
a few days for the purpose of laying in a stock of buffalo
robes to trade with Capt. Walker. The Indians would go
out in large companies and kill a great number of these
animals, when it would be the duty of the women to follow
after and gather up the hides, which they would convey
to the camp, and dress them ready for market. It is the
duty of the squaws to dress the buffalo robes alone, which
is done by stretching the hide tight on the ground and
there let it dry, when they have a piece of iron or sharp
stone, fixed in a stick, making a tool similar to a foot-adze,
withwhichtheycutandscrapethefleshy side until it becomes
thin and smooth—after this they have a mixture composed
of the brains and liver of the animal mixed together, in
which they soak the hide a couple of days, when it is taken
out and again stretched on the ground, where it is beat and
rubbed with a paddle until it becomes perfectly soft and
dry.

After catching a good many buffalo and some beaver
at this place, we removed towards the point designated
to meet Capt. Walker and his men. On the 3oth we
encamped at the junction of the Bighorn and Wind rivers.
Not long after dark our encampment was surprised by a
party of about fifty Blackfeet suddenly appearing among
our horses for the purpose of stealing them. This created
a great uproar in our camp. Every Indian was on his
feet and ready for fight in an instant. The enemy was
discovered too soon, and had to retreat with the loss of
one man, without taking any horses at all. They were
followed a great ways across the plain to the mountain,
but as the night was very dark they could not be over-
taken, and finally escaped. The one who had fallen was
a principal chief among the Blackfeet, and had ventured
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too near the encampment for the purpose of choosing a
valuable horse.

Here we were to have another scene of Indian exulta-
tion. On the former occasion, when the 69 Blackfeet had
been killed there was too much grief mingled with the joy
of the Crows to render it any thing like complete; but
now is was quite different,—an enemy had fallen without
costing a drop of blood on their part. On the former
occasion it was joy only imitated—now it was exultation
in reality. It appears natural to these Indians to exult
more over the death and scalping of one enemy without
the loss of one of their own—than they would to kill fifty
of the enemy and loose one of their own.

After those who had gave chase to the Blackfeet
returned to camp, this dead Indian was taken in hands.
After every one had carefully examined him, he was taken
to a tree and there suspended by the neck, when the men
commenced shooting at him and the squaws piercing him
with sharp sticks. This work was kept up until after
midnight, when they commenced dancing and singing,
yelling & shouting, which was carried far beyond that of
the 21st and 22d Nov. In this manner they spent their
time until near ten o’clock, when they prepared to remove
up Wind river—which they did after all taking leave of
the dead Indian by abusing it in some manner to show their
spite.

We travelled up Wind river until the 4th of Dec.
when we arrived at the camp of Capt Walker, whom,
together with his men we found in good health and spirits.
This camp is situated 60 or 70 miles east of the main chain
of the Rocky mountains, on the head waters of Wind
river, which, after running 150 or 200 miles in an eastern
direction, empties into the Bighorn. The Wind river
valley, through which this river passes, is one of the most
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beautiful formations of nature. It is upwards of 20 miles
wide in some places, and is as level as a floor, with the
margin of the river evenly ornamented with thriving
cotton wood. A great many white people pass the winters
in this valley, on account of the abundance of buffalo and
other game. '

The first night after reaching the camp of my old
companions was spent in telling and hearing told the many
exploits and adventures which we had severally seen and
took part in since our separation. Capt. Walker and his
men had passed the time without encountering any hard-
ships, or being disturbed in any way, with the exception of
a party of hostile Indians who watched their movements
for some time & who at last succeeded in stealing a few
of their horses.

The following day the Crow chiefs were made presents
of some small articles of merchandize, when we commenced
bartering with them for their furs and buffalo robes. As
soon as they had sold out their present stock they left us
all highly pleased with their success, and commenced hunt-
ing for more. As game was very plenty here we de-
termined on spending the winter in this valley, where we
occupied our time in hunting and trapping a little our-
selves, but deriving our principal profits by trading with
the Indians for robes, which they would bring into our
camp as fast as they could dress them.

The daily hunting of the Indians, as well as ourselves,
had thinned the buffalo pretty well, and driven them
across the country onto the Platte river—in consequence -
of which the Indians are now (1st March, 1835) preparing
to leave us and go down to the Yellow-Stone river, which
empties into the Missouri, where they intend spending the
summer.

The Indians left with us one of their tribe who had
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received a stroke of the palsy, or a similar affliction, which
had deprived him of speech and of the use of one-half of his
body. He was a man of 30 or 35 years of age, appeared
to be in good health, but was entirely helpless, one arm and
one leg, being entirely numb, or dead, and beginning to
decay. He was entirely speechless, and had been in this
situation for four years. They told us that this man had
been a great warrior, and that the morning after returning
from a hard, though successful battle, he was found in his
bed dead, as they supposed, and that, when about to bury
him in the evening, he gave signs of remaining life—when
he was conveyed back to his wigwam, and remained there
for two days and nights, when he recovered to the situation
in which he was left with us. As he had been such a valuable
chief, they did all in their power to restore him the use of
his body, and had conveyed him about with them from place
to place ever since, but had resolved to do so [no] longer,
and therefore left him with us, telling us to do with him
as we pleased—if we saw proper to take him with us well
and good, if not, we might leave him to be food for the
beasts of the forest.

Having concluded our winters hunt and trading
with these indians, who have left us, our men are
now occupied in digging holes for the secretion of our
peltries and merchandize, until we return from our spring’s
hunt, and when we would be joined by Capt. Bonneville
and his company, who was to meet us at the mouth of
Papoasia creek in June next. On the 8th I was sent by
the Captain to measure the size of the holes that the men
were digging and whilst in one of them, taking the
dimensions, with three other men, the bank caved in,
covering two men entirely, another up to the shoulders,
and dislocating my foot. Of the four, I was the only one
that was able to get out without assistance—the others
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being all seated at the time the accident happened. Help
was immediately obtained, and the men extricated as soon
as possible, who appeared entirely lifeless, but after rub-
bing and bleeding them -effectually, they recovered, when
the men proceeded to extricate the one whom we
thought was the least injured, but whom we found to be
in the most dangerous situation, as his legs and lower part
of his body was completely crushed. This man, (Mr. Lar-
ont, of St. Louis, where he left a wife and four children)
suffered most severely during the remainder of the day
and all night, and died the next morning about sun rise.

The manner of digging these holes is upon a high
dry bank, where they sink a round hole like a well, five
or six feet, and then dig a chamber under ground, where
the merchandize is deposited —after which the well
part of it is filled up, and the top covered with the natural
sod, and all the overpluss earth is carefully scraped up &
thrown into the river, or creek, so that nothing may be
left on the premises to lead to the discovery of the hidden
treasure.

March 1oth. To-day we deposited in the cold
earth the remains of our lamented companion, Mr. Laront,
in the most respectable manner our means would allow,
after which we resumed our business of secreting our
stores. Our provisions were again growing scarce for
which purpose each one is anxious to be on the move.
When we first came to this place, we could stand in our
encampment almost any morning and shoot down some
lazy buffalo that would be lurking in the neighborhood—
but now our hunters might scour the valley a whole day
and not kill as much as a rabbit.

Having every thing in readiness for removing on the
morning of the 12th, Capt. Walker went to the palsied In-
dian and told him that we were about going and were not
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able to take him with us. The poor Indian then, not
being able to speak, made imploring signs to us to leave
him as much provision as we could spare. This we done
with cheerfulness, but it only consisted of the carcase of a
wolf, which we placed within reach of him, when he re-
quested that we would fasten the cabin door so as to
prevent the entrance of wild beasts.

The wounded, consisting of one with a broken leg,
another’s back sprained, and myself my foot dislocated,
were placed on a litter made of a buffalo skin, with a pole
tied to each side of it and fastened between two horses.
This was the most painful travelling to me, as well as to
the others, that I had ever experienced, — particularly
whilst passing over a rough piece of ground.

Our course led in a northern direction after reaching
the Bighorn river, which we followed a few days and then
crossed over to Tongue river, which stream empties
into the Missouri below the mouth of the Yellow stone.
Here we decided on hunting and trapping, as beaver signs
‘were quite numerous. The ice had not entirely melted
from this stream yet, but there was none left to prevent us
from following our favourable pursuit. In this neighbor-
hood, we spent the months of April, May, and part of
June, passing from one water course to another, finding
plenty of beaver at each place, and some other game.
During the whole time we were permitted to follow our
business without any disturbance. All the wounded had
completely recovered, and were enabled to make a profit-
able hunt—having visited, in our toilsome occupation, the
head waters of the following rivers all of which are the
tributaries of the Missouri:—Tongue, Powder, Yellow-
stone, Little and Big Porcupine, Misscleskell, Priors,
Smith’s, Gallatin’s, Otter, Rose-bud, Clark’s and Stinking
rivers.*

T *Most of these rivers are tributaries of the Yellowstone, the

Muscleshell is a branch of the Missouri, and the Btinking River or
Stinking Water is a branch of the Bighorn.
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About the 1oth of June we suspended our trapping
and returned to Wind river, where we found Capt. Bonne-
ville and his men waiting for us according to appointment,
at the mouth of Popoasia creek.

Here we encamped for a few days, until we could col-
lect our peltries together and make a divide—having sent
some of our men to bring our merchandize, &c., from the
place where we had deposited it, who succeeded without
any difficulty, and stated that no traces of the palsied
Indian we had left there could be discovered.—We now
set about packing and sorting our furs, &c., and making
arrangements for the ensuing year—such as paying off
hands hiring them for another term, and apportioning the
different companies. Captain Walker, with 59 men, was to
continue trapping in this country for one year from this
time, and Capt. Bonneville, with the remainder, taking all
the peltries we had collected, and which was packed upon
horses and mules, was to go to the States, and return in the
summer of 1836, with as strong a force as he could collect,
and a large supply of merchandize, and meet Capt. Walker
in this neighborhood.

On parting this time, many of the men were at a loss
to know what to do. Many were anxious to return to the
States, but feared to do so, lest the offended law might
hold them responsible for misdemeanors committed previ-
ous to their embarking in the trapping business, and others
could not be persuaded to do so for any price—declaring
that a civilized life had no charms for them. Although I
intended to return to the mountains again, I was particu-
larly anxious to first visit the States lest I should also for-
get the blessings of civilized society, and was very thankful
when I found myself in Capt. Bonneville’s company, on the
march towards the rising sun. As we travelled along we
killed all the game we could, this being necessary, as pro-
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vision is very scarce on the course we intended to pursue
between the village of the Pawnee Indians and the white
settlements. About the 25th of July we arrived on the
Platte river, which we followed down until we arrived at
the Pawnee village, situated about 150 miles from where
the Platte river empties into the Missouri. After trading
with these Indians for some corn, we left them and trav-
elled rapidly every day until we arrived in INDEPENDENCE,
(Mo.,) which is the extreme western white settlement, on
the 29th of August, 1835*—after being absent four years,
four months, and five days.

*From information furnished me by some of Leonard's relatives
he returned to his home in Clec.rﬂeld in the ta.ll of 1835, and remained
here about six months, during which time he wrote this narrative.
Irving’s Bonneville was written in 1843.
He had on his return from the mountains §1,100 as the returns of
nvo %ean hard wo! rivations, and dn.ngerl. He returned to
est in the year and settled at Sibley, Mo. I cannot hovcm
uy whether he settled here immediately on his return or at a later
He was however e in the Indian trade, and his people
nform me that he traded as far as Santa Fé. He dlod at the tbove
r and was evidently a man of some property, which was
Givil ""‘"&3‘&" SZomaozs & the tme of the bresking i 2‘3‘:{&"”
sympa
Rnottﬁeuuto. ml-on.mnoom:d Jr at present living in
t Hill, Mo., recovered the real esta
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SKETCH OF JOSEPH MEEK

NE of the companions of Leonard in his trapping and
trading expeditions in the Rocky Mountains was
the versatile Joe Meek, who has frequently been

mentioned in connection with this work. They were togeth-
er at the battle of Pierre’s Hole, he being in the employ of
Milton Sublette at this time. The following year he with
some companions joined the California expedition under
Walker, when it reached Bear River. He gives a very mea-
ger and rather unreliable account of this overland voyage,
in Mrs. Victor’s River of the West in which he states that
they returned by way of the Moquis villages, in northern
Arizona and became involved in a disgraceful affair and
murdered some of these half-civilized Indians. This is, no
doubt, a mistake, and if not, the party must have separated,
and only a portion followed this route.

Meek continued in the mountains until the decline of
the fur trade in the early forties, at which time the emi-
gration to Oregon by the overland route had increased
to such a degree that thousands started from the western
frontier of Missouri, in the spring, as soon as the grass was
sufficiently advanced, the journey taking the whole of the
summer, and when they arrived in Oregon in the fall they
were, as a rule, in a very sad plight, having but little to
carry them through the winter, and no crops could be
planted or harvested until the following year.

Meek was indeed as poor as the poorest, and no bet-
ter off than when he went to the mountains many years
before, a mere boy. He had an Indian wife and children.
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After due consideration he decided to join the emigrants
and settle down on a claim in Oregon, as did also many
other mountain-men. A neighbor of his was Judge Bur-
nett, afterwards governor of California, who came to Ore-
gon as poor as Meek; this gentleman tells an amusing
story of himself which illustrates their poverty. When he
arrived in Oregon he was allowed to occupy a school
building, which was then only used for church purposes, and
in payment of rent, was required to have the building in a
condition to hold services when desired. His wardrobe,
as may be imagined, was not very extensive, in fact, he
went without shoes much of the time, but on these church
occasions felt in duty bound to appear in his best ; he found
one shoe but was unable to find its mate; he
thought, however, that by hiding his other foot under the
seat, and exposing the one with the shoe, he would present,
a respectable appearance. Everything went well until
about the middle of the sermon, when the minister, becom-
ing thirsty, requested Judge Burnett to get him a glass
of water; he said there was no refusing such a modest re-
quest, and hobbled to do the errand with but one shoe on,
much to the amusement of the congregation. Meek was
a hale fellow, good-natured and jovial, remarkably good
at telling stories, which he could stretch to any magnitude,
and not particularly fond of work, much to the disgust of
good Doctor McLaughlin. Settlers were entitled to six
hundred and forty acres of land if they had families; and
if they had the facilities and inclination to work the same,
the extremely rich soil soon returned them a competence.

They organized a provisional government, and Joe
Meek, the future envoy, was elected marshal ; his principal
duty was to collect the taxes, which were paid in wheat
at sixty cents a bushel, it being the legal tender of the
country. He resigned this office, and was elected to the
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legislature, about 1846; was re-elected the following year,
when he swam out to a vessel lying at the mouth of the
Willamette, to get liquor to treat his constituents.

About this time the troublesome northwest boundary
was settled, and Oregon became a part of the United
States. Shortly after an Indian uprising, known as the
“Cayuse War,” occurred, and Doctor Whitman and his
family, with others about the mission at Waiilatpu, were
massacred. It was necessary under these circumstances to
inform the United States government of the condition of
affairs in Oregon at once, and ask for assistance. In view
of this necessity it was resolved in the legislature to send
a messenger to carry the intelligence of the massacre to
Governor Mason in California, and through him to the
commander of the United States squadron in the Pacific
that a vessel of war might be sent into the Columbia River,
and arms and ammunition borrowed for the present em-
ergency, from the nearest arsenal.

For this duty was chosen Jesse Applegate, Esq., a
gentleman who combined in his character and person the
ability of the statesman with the sagacity and strength of
the pioneer. Mr. Applegate with a party of brave men
set out in midwinter to cross the mountains into California,
but such was the depth of the snow they encountered that
traveling became impossible, even after abandoning their
‘horses, and they were compelled to return.

The messenger elected to proceed to the United
States was Joseph L. Meek, whose Rocky Mountain ex-
perience eminently fitted him to encounter the dangers
of such a winter journey, and whose manliness, firmness,
and ready wit stood him instead of statesmanship. On
December 17, 1847, Meek resigned his seat in the House
in order to prepare for the discharge of his duty as mes-
senger to the United States. On January 4, armed with
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his credentials from the Oregon legislature, and bearing
despatches from that body and the Governor to the Presi-
dent, he set out on the long and perilous journey, having
for traveling companions Mr. John Owens and Mr. George
Ebbarts, the latter having formerly been a mountain-man
like himself. At the Dalles they found the first regiment
of Oregon riflemen, under Major Lee, of the newly creat-
ed army of Oregon. From the reports which the Dalles
Indians brought in of the hostility of the Indians beyond
the Des Chutes River it was thought best not to proceed
before the arrival of the remainder of the army, when all
the forces would proceed at once to Waiilatpu. Owing
to various delays, the army, consisting of about five
hundred men, under Colonel Gilliam, did not reach
the Dalles until late in January, when the troops
proceeded at once to the seat of war. Arriving at
Waiilatpu, the friends and acquaintances of Doctor Whit-
man were shocked to find that the remains of the victims
were still unburied, although a little earth had been thrown
over them. Meek, to whom Mrs. Whitman had seemed all
that was noble and captivating, ever since his meeting with
her in the train of the fur-trader, on their way out, had the
melancholy satisfaction of bestowing, with others, the last
sad rite of burial upon such portions of her once fair person
as murderer and the wolves had not destroyed. Some
tresses of golden hair were severed from the brow so terri-
bly disfigured, to be given to her friends in the Willamette
Valley as a last and only memorial. Among the state
documents at Salem, Oregon, may still be seen one of these
relics of the Waiilatpu tragedy. Not only had Meek to
discover and inter the remains of the Whitmans, but also
of his little girl, who was being educated at the mission,
with a daughter of his former leader, Bridger.

This sad duty performed, he immediately set out, es-
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corted by a company of one hundred men under Adjutant
Wilcox, who accompanied him as far as the foot of the
Blue Mountains. Here the companies separated, and
Meek went on his way to Washington. Meek’s party now
consisted of himself, Ebbarts, Owens, and four men, who,
desirous of returning to the states, took this opportunity.
However, as the snow proved to be very deep on the Blue
Mountains, and the cold severe, two of these four vol-
unteers became discouraged and concluded to remain at
Fort Boisé, then a small trading-post of the Hudson Bay
Company.

In order to avoid trouble with the Indians he might
meet on the western side of the Rocky Mountains, Meek
had adopted the red belt and Canadian cap of the em-
ployes of the Hudson Bay Company; and to this precau~
tion was due the fact that he passed safely through the
country now all raging with hostility caught from the
Cayuses. About three days’ travel beyond Fort Boisé,
the party met a village of Bannock Indians, who at once
made warlike demonstrations, but on seeing Meek’s cos-
tume, and receiving an invitation to hold a “talk,” desisted,
and received the travelers in a friendly manner. Meek in-
formed the chief, with all the gravity which had won for
him the name of “Shiamshuspusia” among the Crows in
former years, that he was going on the business of the Hud-
son Bay Company to Fort Hall; and that Thomas McKay
was a day’s march behind with a large trading-party, and
plenty of goods. On, the receipt of this good news, the
chief ordered the braves to fall back, and permit the party
to pass. Yet, fearing the deception might be discovered,
they thought it prudent to travel day and night until they
reached Fort Hall.

At this post of the Hudson Bay Company, in charge

of Mr. Grant, they were kindly received, and stopped for a
19
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few hours of rest. Mr. Grant being absent, his wife pro-
vided liberally for the refreshment of the party, who were
glad to find themselves even for a short interval under a
roof, beside a fire, and partaking of freshly cooked food.
But they permitted themselves no unnecessary delay. Be-
fore night, they were once more on their way, though snow
had now commenced to fall afresh, rendering travellng
very difficult. For two days they struggled on, their
horses floundering in the soft drifts, until further progress
in this manner became impossible. The only alternative
was to abandon their horses and proceed on snow-shoes,
‘which were readily constructed of willow sticks. Taking
only a blanket and their rifles, and leaving the animals
to find their way back to Fort Hall, the little party pushed
on.

Meek was now on familiar ground, and the old moun-
tain spirit which had once enabled him to endure hunger,
cold, and fatigue without murmuring possessed him now.
It was not without a certain sense of enjoyment that he
found himself reduced to the necessity of shooting a couple
of pole-cats to furnish a supper for himself and party.
How long the enjoyment of feeling want would have lasted
is uncertain, but probably only long enough to whet the
appetite for plenty. To such a point had the appetites of
all the party been whetted, when, after several days of
scarcity and toil, followed by nights of emptiness and cold,
Meek had the agreeable surprise of falling in with an old
mountain comrade on the identical ground of many former
adventures, the head-waters of Bear River. This man,
whom Meek was delighted to meet, was Peg-leg Smith,
one of the most famous of many well-known mountain-
men; he received this name by having lost his leg when
fighting with the Crows, and had a wooden leg which he
had a way of unstrapping when in a fight, and it proved
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a weapon not to be despised. He was engaged in herding
cattle in the valley of Thomas Fork, where the tall grass
was not quite buried under snow, and had with him a
party of ten men. Meek was as cordially received by his
former comrade as the unbounded hospitality of moun-
tain manners rendered it certain he would be. A fat cow
was immediately sacrificed, which, though not buffalo
meat, as in former times it would have been, was very
good beef, and furnished a luxurious repast to the pole-cat
eaters of the last few days.

Smith thought to celebrate the occasion by a grand
entertainment. Accordingly, after a great deal of roast
beef had been disposed of, a dance was called for, in
which white men and Indian women joined with far more
mirth and jollity than grace or ceremony. Thus passed
some hours of the night, the bearer of despatches seizing,
in true mountain style, the passing moments of pleasure,
so long as it did not interfere with the punctilious dis-
charge of his duty. And to the honor of our hero be it
said, nothing was ever allowed to interfere with that. Re-
freshed and provided with rations for a couple of days,
the party started on again the next morning, still on snow-
shoes, and traveled up Bear River to the head-waters of
Green River, crossing from the Muddy Fork over to Fort
Bridger, where they arrived very much fatigued, but quite
well, after a little more than three days’ travel.

Here it was Meek’s good fortune to again meet with
his former leader, Bridger, to whom he related what had
befallen him since turning pioneer. The meeting was joy-
ful on both sides, clouded only by the remembrance of what
had brought it about, and the reflection that both had per-
sonal wrongs to avenge in bringing about the punishment
of the Cayuse murderers. Once more Meek’s party were
generously fed and furnished with such provisions as they
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could carry about their persons. In addition to this,
Bridger presented them with four good mules, by which
means the travelers were mounted four at a time, while
the fifth took exercise on foot ; so that by riding and walk-
ing, in turns, they were enabled to get on very well as far
as the South Pass. Here for some distance the snow was
very deep, and two of their mules were lost in it. Their
course lay down the Sweetwater River, past many familiar
hunting and camping grounds, to the Platte River. Owing
to the deep snows, game was very scarce, and a long day
of toil was frequently closed by a supperless sleep uncer
shelter of some rock or bank, with only a blanket for cov-
ering. At Red Buttes they were so fortunate as to find and
kill a single buffalo, which, separated from a distant herd,
was left by Providence in the path of the famishing travel-
ers.

On reaching the Platte River they found the travel-
ing improved, as well as the supply of game, and proceeded
with less difficulty as far as Fort Laramie, a trading-post
in charge of a French trader named Papillion. Fresh
mules were obtained, and the little party treated in the
most hospitable manner. In parting from his entertainer,
Meek was favored with this brief counsel: “There is a
village of Sioux, of about six hundred lodges, a hundred
miles from here. Your course will bring you to it. Look
out for yourself, and don’t make a Grey muss of it.” The
latter clause referred to the affair of 1837, when the Sioux
had killed the Indian escort of Mr. Grey. When the
party arrived at Ash Hollow, which they meant to have
passed in the night, on account of the Sioux village, the
snow was again falling so thickly that the party had not
perceived their nearness to the village until they were fairly
in the midst of it. It was now no safer to retreat than to
proceed ; and after a moment’s consultation, the word was
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given to keep on. In truth, Meek thought it doubtful
whether the Sioux would trouble themselves to come out
in such a tempest, and if they did so, the blinding snow-
fall was rather in his favor. Thus reasoning, he was forc-
ing his mule through the drifts as rapidly as the poor wor-~
ried animal could make its way, when a head was pro-
truded from a lodge door, and “Hello, Major,” greeting his
ear in an accent not altogether English. On being thus
accosted, the party came to a halt, and Meek was invited
to enter the lodge, with his friends. His host on this
occasion was a French trader named Le Bean, who, after
offering the hospitalities of the lodge, and learning who
were his guests, offered to accompany the party a few
miles on its way. This he did, saying by way of explana-
tion of this act of courtesy, ‘“The Sioux are a bad people;
I thought it best to see you safely out of the village.” Re-
ceiving the thanks of the travelers, he turned back at
nightfall, and they continued on all night without stopping
to camp, going some distance south of their course before
turning east again, in order to avoid any possible pursuits,

Without further adventures, and by dint of almost
constant travel, the party safely arrived at St. Joseph, Mo.,
in a little over two months, from Portland, Oregon. Soon
afterwards, when the circumstances of this journey became
known, a steamboat built for the Missouri River trade was
christened the “Joseph L. Meek,” and bore for a motto, on
her pilot-house, “The quickest trip yet,” in reference both
to Meek’s overland journey and her own steaming quali-
ties. As Meek approached the settlements, and knew that
he must soon be thrown into the society of the highest
officials, and be subjected to ordeals which he dreaded far
more than Indian fighting, or even traveling across a con-
tinent of snow, the subject of how he was to behave in
these new and trying positions very frequently occurred to
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him. He, an uneducated man, trained to mountain life
and manners, without money, or even clothes, with nothing
to depend on but the importance of his mission and his own
mother-wit, felt far more keenly than his careless appear-
ance would suggest, the difficulties and awkwardness of his
position. “I thought a great deal about it,” confessed Col.
Joseph L. Meek later, “and I finally concluded that as I
had never tried to act like anybody but myself, I would not
make myself a fool by beginning to ape other folks now.
So I said, ‘Joe Meek you always have been, and Joe Meek
you shall remain; go ahead, Joe Meek."”

In fact, it would have been rather difficult putting on
fine gentleman-like airs, in that old worn-out hunting suit
of his, and with not a dollar to bless himself. On the con-
trary, it needed just the devil-may-care temper which nat-
urally belonged to our hero, to carry him through the re-
mainder of his journey to Washington. To be hungry,
ill-clad, dirty, and penniless, is sufficient in itself for the
subduing of most spirits ; how it affected the temper of the
messenger from Oregon we shall now learn. When the
weary little party arrived in St. Joseph, they repaired to a
hotel, and Meek requested that a meal should be served to
all, but frankly confessed that they had no money to pay.
The landlord, however, declined furnishing guests of his
style upon such terms, and our travelers were forced to go
into camp below the town. Meek now bethought himself
of his letters of introduction. It chanced that he had one
from two young men among the Oregon volunteers,to their
father in St. Joseph. Stopping a negro who was passing
his camp, he inquired whether such a gentleman was
known to him; and on learning that he was, had him de-
liver the letter from the sons. This movement proved suc-
cessful. In a short space of time the gentleman presented
himself, and learning the situation of the party, provided
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generously for their present wants, and promised any as-
sistance which might be required in future. Meek, how-
ever, chose to accept only that which was imperatively
needed, namely, something to eat, and transportation to
some point on the river where he could take a steamer for
St. Louis. A portion of his party chose to remain in St.
Joseph, and a portion accompanied him as far as Inde-
pendence, whither this same St. Joseph gentleman convey-
ed them in a carriage. While Meek was stopping at In-
dependence, he was recognized by a sister, whom he had
not seen for nineteen years; who, marrying and emigrat-
ing from Virginia, had settled on the frontier of Missouri.
But he gave himself no time for family reunion and gossip.
A steamboat that had been frozen up in the ice all winter,
was just about starting for St. Louis, and on board of this
he went, with an introduction to the captain, which se-
cured for him every privilege the boat afforded, together
with the kindest attention of its officers. When the steam-
er arrived at St. Louis, by one of those fortunate circum-
stances so common in our hero’s career, he was met at the
landing by Campbell, a Rocky Mountain trader who had
formerly belonged to the St. Louis Company. This meet-
ing relieved him of any care about his night’s entertain-
ment in St. Louis, and it also had another effect, that of
relieving him of any further care about the remainder of
his journey ; for, after hearing Meek’s story of the position
of affairs in Oregon and his errand to the United States,
Campbell had given the same to the newspaper reporters,
and Meek, like Byron, awoke next morning to find him-
self famous.

Having telegraphed to Washington, and received the
president’s order to come on, the previous evening, our
hero wended his way to the levee the morning after his
arrival in St. Louis. There were two steamers lying side
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by side, both up for Pittsburg, with runners for each, striv-
ing to out-do each other in securing passengers. A bright
thought occurred to the moneyless envoy—he would earn
his passage. Walking on board one of the boats, which
bore the name of the “Declaration,” himself a figure which
attracted all eyes by his size and outlandish dress, he
mounted to the hurricane deck and began to harangue the
crowd upon the levee, in the voice of a Stentor: “This way,
gentlemen, if you please. Come right on board the ‘Dec-
laration.” I am the man from Oregon, with despatches to
the president of these United States, that you all read
about in this morning’s paper. Come on board, ladies
and gentlemen, if you want to hear the news from Oregon.
I have just come across the plains, two months from the
Columbia River, where the Injuns are killing your mis-
sionaries. Those passengers who come aboard the ‘Dec-
laration’ shall hear all about it before they get to Pitts-
burg. Don't stop thar, looking at my old wolfskin cap,
but just come aboard, and hear what I’ve got to tell.” The
novelty of this sort of solicitation operated capitally.
Many persons crowded on board the “Declaration” only to
get a closer look at this picturesque personage who invited
them, and many more because they were really interested
to know the news from the far-off young territory which
" had fallen into trouble. So it chanced that the “Declara-
tion” was inconveniently crowded on this particular morn-
ing. After the boat had got under way, the captain ap-
proached his roughest looking cabin passenger and in-
quired in a low tone of voice if he was really and truly the
messenger from Oregon. “Thar’s what I've got to show
for it;” answered Meek, producing his papers. “Well, all
I have to say is, Mr. Meek, that you are the best runner
this boat ever had; and you are welcome to your passage
ticket, and anything you desire besides.” Finding that this
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bright thought had succeeded so well, Meek’s spirits rose
with the occasion, and the passengers had no reason to
complain that he had not kept his word. Before he reach-
ed Wheeling his popularity was immense, notwithstand-
ing the condition of his wardrobe. On the morning of
his arrival in Wheeling it happened that the stage which
then carried passengers to Cumberland, where they took
the train for Washington, had already departed. Elated
by his previous good fortune our ragged hero resolved not
to be delayed by so trivial a circumstance; but walking
pompously into the stage office inquired, with an air which
must have smacked strongly of the mock-heroic, if he,
“could have a stage for Cumberland?” The nicely-
dressed, dignified, elderly gentleman who managed the
business of the office, regarded the man who proffered this
modest request for a moment in motionless silence, then
slowly raising the spectacles over his eyes to a position on
his forehead, finished his survey with unassisted vision.
Somewhat impressed by the manner in which Meek bore
this scrutiny, he ended by demanding, “Who are you?”
Amused by the absurdity of the tableau they were enact-
ing, Meek straightened himself up to his six feet two, and
replied with an air of superb self-assurance: “I am Envoy
Extraordinary and Minister Plenipotentiary from the Re-
public of Oregon to the Court of the United States.” After
a pause in which the old gentleman seemed to be recov-
ering from some great surprise, he requested to see the
credentials of this extraordinary envoy. Still more sur-
prised he seemed on discovering for himself that the per-
sonage before him was really a messenger from Oregon
to the government of the United States. But the effect
was magical. In a moment the bell-rope was pulled, and
in an incredibly short space of time a coach stood at the
door ready to convey the waiting messenger on his way
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to Washington. In the meantime in a conversation with
the stage agent, Meek had explained more fully the cir-
cumstances of his mission, and the agent had become much
interested. On parting, Meek received a ticket to the re-
lay house, with many expressions of regret from the agent
that he could ticket him no farther. “But it is all the
same,” said he; “you are sure to go through.” “Or run
a train off the track,” rejoined Meek, as he was bowed out
of the office.

It happened that there were some other passengers
waiting to take the first stage, and they crowded into this
one, glad for the unexpected opportunity, but wonder-
ing at the queer-looking passenger to whom the agent was
so polite. This scarcely concealed curiosity was all that
was needed to stimulate the mad-cap spirits of our so far
“conquering hero.” Putting his head out of the window
just at the moment of starting, he electrified everyhody,
horses included, by the utterance of a war-whoop and yell
that would have done credit to a wild Comanche. Satis-
fied with the speed to which this demoniac noise had
excited the driver’s prancing steeds, he ensconced
himself in his corner of the coach and quietly waited for
his fellow passengers to recover from their stunned sen-
sations. When their complete recovery had been effected,
there followed the usual questioning and explanations,
which ended in the inevitable lionizing that was so much
to the taste of this sensational individual. On the cars
at Cumberland, and at the eating-houses, the messenger
from Oregon kept up his sensational character, indulging
in alternate fits of mountain manners, and again assuming
a disproportionate amount of grandeur; but in either view
proving himself very amusing. By the time the train
reached the relay house, many of the passengers had be-
come acquainted with Meek, and were prepared to un-
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derstand and enjoy each new phase of his many-sided com-
icality. The ticket with which the stage agent presented
him, deadheaded him only to this point. Here again he
must make his poverty a jest, and joke himself through
to Washington.

Accordingly, when the conductor came through the
car in which he, with seevral of his new acquaintances
were sitting, demanding tickets, he was obliged to tap his
blanketed passenger on the shoulder to attract his atten-
tion to the “Ticket, sir.” “Ha ko any me ca, hanch?” said
Meek, starting up and addressing him in the Snake tongue.
“Ticket, sir,” repeated the conductor, staring. “Ka hum
pa, hanch?” returned Meek, assuming a look which indi-
cated that English was as puzzling to him, as Snake to the
other people. Finding that his time would be wasted on
this singular passenger, the conductor went on through
the train; returning after a time with a fresh demand for
his ticket. But Meek sustained his character admirably,
and it was only through the excessive amusement of the
passengers that the conductor suspected that he was being
made the subject of a practical joke. At this stage of af-
fairs it was privately explained to him, who and what his
waggish customer was, and tickets were no more men-
tioned during the journey. On the arrival of the train at
Washington, the heart of our hero became for a brief mo-
ment of time “very little.” He felt that the importance
of his mission demanded some dignity of appearance, some
conformity to established rules and precedents. But of
the latter he knew absolutely nothing; and concerning the
former, he realized the absurdity of a dignitary clothed in
blankets and a wolfskin cap. “Joe Meek I must remain,”
said he to himself, as he stepped out of the train, and
glanced along the platform at the crowd of porters with
the names of their hotels on their hat-bands. Learning
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from inquiry that Coleman’s was the most fashionable
place, he decided that to Coleman’s he would go, judging
correctly that it was best to show no littleness of heart
even in the matter of hotels.

When Meek arrived at Coleman’s it was the dinner
hour, and following the crowd to the dining-saloon, he
took the first seat he came to, not without being very
much stared at. He had taken his cue and the staring
was not unexpected, consequently not so embarrassing as
it might otherwise have been. A bill of fare was laid be-
side his plate. Turning to the colored waiter who placed
it there, he startled him first by inquiring in a low growl-
ing voice—“What's that, boy?” “Bill of fare, sah,” replied
the boy, who recognized the Southerner in the use of that
one word. ‘“Read,” growled Meek again, “the people in
my country can’t read.” Though taken by surprise, the
waiter, politely obedient, proceeded to enumerate the
courses on the bill of fare, when it came to game—"Stop
thar, boy,”commanded Meek,“what kind of game?” “Small
game, sah.” “Fetch me a piece of antelope,” leaning back in
his chair with a look of satisfaction on his face. “Got none of
that, sah; don’t know what that ar’ sah.” “Don’t know,”
with a look of pretended surprise. “In my country antelope
and deer ar’ small game; bear and buffalo ar’ large game.
I reckon if you haven’t got one, you haven’t got the other.
In that case you may fetch me some beef.” The waiter
disappeared grinning, and soon returned with the cus-
tomary thin and small cut, which Meek eyed at first con-
temptuously, and then accepting it in the light of a sam-
ple swallowed it at two mouthfuls, returning the plate to
the waiter with an approving smile, and saying loud
enough to be overheard by a score of people, “Boy, that
will do. Fetch me about four pounds of the same kind.”

By this time the blanketed beef-eater was the recipi-
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ent of general attention, and the “boy” who served him
comprehending with that quickness which distinguishes
servants, that he had no ordinary backwoodsman to deal
with, was all the time on the alert to make himself useful.
People stared, then smiled, then asked each other, who is
it? loud enough for the stranger to hear. Meek looked
neither to the right nor to the left, pretending not to hear
the whispering. When he had finished his beef, he again
addressed himself to the attentive “boy.” “That’s better
meat than the old mule I eat in the mountains.” Upon
this remark the whispering became more general, and
louder, and smiles more frequent. “What have you got
to drink, boy?” continued Meek, still unconscious. “Isn’t
there a sort of wine called—some kind of pain?” “Cham-.
pagne, sah?” “That’s the stuff, I reckon; bring me some.”
While Meek was drinking his champagne, with an oc-
casional aside to his faithful attendant, people laughed
and wondered, “who the devil he was.” At length having
finished his wine, and overhearing many open inquiries
as to his identity, the hero of many bear-fights slowly
arose, and addressing the company through the before-
mentioned “boy,” said: “You want to know who I am?”
“If you please, sah; yes, if you please, sah, for the sake
of these gentlemen present,” replied the “boy,” answering
for the company. “Wall then,” proclaimed Meek with a
grandiloquent air quite at variance with his blanket coat
and unkempt hair, yet which displayed his fine person to
advantage, “I am Envoy Extraordinary and Minister
Plenipotentiary from the Republic of Oregon to the Court
of the United States.” With that he turned and strode
from the room. He had not proceeded far, however, be-
fore he was overtaken by a party of gentlemen in pursuit.
Senator Underwood of Kentucky immediately introduced
himself, calling the envoy by name, for the despatch from
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St. Louis had prepared the president and the senate for
Meek’s appearanee in Washington, though it had not ad-
vised them of his style of dress and address. Other gen-
tlemen were introduced, and questions followed questions
in rapid succession. When curiosity was somewhat abat-
ed, Meek expressed a wish to see the president without
delay. To Underwood’s question as to whether he did not
wish to make his toilet before visiting the White House,
his reply was, “Business first, and toilet afterwards.”
“But,” said Underwood, “even, your business can wait long
enough for that.” “No, that’s your mistake, Senator, and
I'll tell you why; I can’t dress, for two reasons—both good
ones. I've not got a cent of money, nor a second suit of
clothes.” The generous Kentuckian offered to remove
the first of the objections on the spot, but Meek declined.
“I’ll see the president first, and hear what he has to say
about my mission.” Then calling a coach from the stand,
he sprang into it, answering the driver’s question of where
he would be taken, with another inquiry: “Whar should a
man of my style want to go? To the White House, of
course,” and so was driven away amid the general laughter
of the gentlemen present, in the portico at Coleman’s, who
had rather doubted his intention to pay his respects to
the president in his dirty blankets. He was admitted to
the presidential mansion by a mulatto of about his own
age, with whom he remembered playing when a lad, for
it must be remembered that the Meeks and Polks were
related, and this servant had grown up in the family. On
inquiring to see the president, he was directed to the of-
fice of the private secretary, Knox Walker, also a rela-
tive of Meek, on his mother’s side. On entering he found
the room filled with gentlemen waiting to see the presi-
dent. The secretary sat reading a paper, over the top
of which he glanced but once at the new-comer, to ask
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him to be seated. But Meek was not in a humor for sit-
ting, and said, “I should like to see the president im-
mediately. Just tell him, if you please, that there is a
gentleman from Oregon waiting to see him on very im-
portant business.” At the word Oregon, the secretary
sprang up, dashed his paper to the floor, and crying out
“Uncle Joe” came forward with both hands extended to
greet his long lost relative.

“Take care, Knox, don’t come too close,” said Meek,
stepping back, “I'm ragged, dirty, and lousy.” But Walk-
er seized his cousin’s hand, without seeming fear of the
consequences, and for a few moments there was an ani-
mated exchange of questions and answers, which Meek at
last interrupted to repeat his request to be admitted to the
president without delay. When once the secretary got
away he soon returned with a request from the president
for the appearance of the Oregon messenger, all other
visitors being dismissed for that day. Polk’s reception
proved as cordial as Walker’s had been. He seized the
hand of his newly found relative, and welcomed him in
his own name, as well as that of messenger from the dis-
tant, much loved, and long neglected Oregon. The in-
terview lasted for a couple of hours. Oregon and family
affairs were talked over together; the president prom-
ising to do all for Oregon that he could. After this the presi-
dent insisted on sending for Mrs. Polk and Mrs. Walker
to make his acquaintance. “When I heard the silks rust-
ling in the passage, I felt more frightened than if a hundred
Blackfeet had whooped in my ear. A mist came over my
eyes, and when Mrs. Polk spoke to me I could think of
nothing to say in return.”

But Meek was not the sort of man to be long in get-
ting used to a situation, however novel or difficult. Ina
very short time he was au fait in the customs of the capi-
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tal. His perfect frankness led people to laugh at his er-
rors as eccentricities ; his good looks and natural bonhomie
procured him plenty of admirers; while his position at the
White House caused him to be envied and lionized at
once. On the day following his arrival the president sent
a message to congress accompanied by the memorial from
the Oregon legislature and other documents appertaining
to the Oregon cause. Meek was introduced to Benton,
Oregon’s indefatigable friend, and received from him the
kindest treatment; also to Dallas, president of the senate;
Douglas, Fremont, Gen. Houston, and all the men who
had identified themselves with the interests of the West.

In the meantime our hero was making the most of
his opportunities, attending dinners and champagne sup-
pers, besides giving an occasional one of the latter. At
the presidential levees he made himself agreeable to witty
and distinguished ladies, answering innumerable questions
about Oregon and Indians, on the latter subject, where he
had an interested and confiding audience, he was probably
at his best, and some of his hearers no doubt were very
nervous on going to bed, and often during the night felt
to see if the brain covering was still intact.

Meek found his old comrade, Kit Carson, in Wash-
ington, staying with Fremont at the home of Senator Ben-
ton. Carson on leaving the mountains was as poor as
the average mountain-man, and had no resources at this
time except the pay furnished by Fremont for his ser-
vices as guide and explorer in the California and Oregon
expeditions, and in these discoveries Carson as much as
Fremont deserves the name of pathfinder.

So long as Meek’s purse was supplied, as it generally
was, Carson could borrow from him, but one being quite
as careless of money as the other, they were sometimes
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both out of pocket at the same time. In which case the
conversation was likely to be as follows:

Carson: Meek, let me have some money, can’t you?
Meek: I haven't got any money, Kit.

Carson: Go and get some.

Meek: —— it, whar am I to get money from?
Carson: Try the “contingent fund,” can’t you?

Shortly after the arrival of Meek congress appropri-
ated ten thousand dollars, to be expended under the direc-
tion of the president, in payment for services and expenses
of such persons as had been engaged by the provisional
government of Oregon in conveying communications to
and from the United States; and for purchase of presents
for such Indian tribes as the peace and quiet of the country
required. Of this money Meek received seven thousand
four hundred dollars, Mr. Thornton, who came by water
from Oregon, two thousand six hundred, and the Indian
tribes the whole of the remainder. His old employer,
Wilkes, who was ill in Washington, sent for him to come
and tell “some of those Oregon lies” for his amusement,
and Meek, to humor him, stretched some of his good
stories to the most wonderful dimensions. On one of his
visits, Polk, detecting the restless state of his mind,
asked laughingly, “Well, Meek, what do you want now?”
“I want to be franked.” “How long will five hundred dol-
lars last you?”’ “About as many days as there ar’ hun-
dreds, I reckon.” “You are shockingly extravagant,
Meek. Where do you think all this money is to come
from?” “It is not my business to know, Mr. President,
but it is the business of these United States to pay the ex-
penses of the messenger from Oregon, isn’t it?” The
following night he gave a champagne supper. Washington
manners were in some respects too much like mountain

manners for five hundred dollars to go a great ways.
2
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On the fourth of July, Polk laid the corner-stone of
the National Monument, the address was delivered by
Winthrop, the military display, and the fireworks in the
evening being unusually fine. In the procession General
Scott and staff rode on one side of the President’s car-
riage, Col. May and Meek on the other, Meek making a
great display of horsemanship, in which as a mountain-
man he excelled.

The bill before Congress, for the extension of the
Government over that territory, was objected to by the
southern members, as they were against more free soil.
The President was anxious that the bill should pass, Ben-
ton of Missouri also, Butler of South Carolina, opposed
it. Numerous were the skirmishes which these two Sena-
tors had over the Oregon question; and a duel would, in
one instance, have resulted, had not the arrest of the parties
put a termination to the affair.

The close of the session was at hand, Congress was
to adjourn at noon Monday, August 14. At ten o’clock
Saturday night, no adjournment having prevailed, Senator
Foote, of Mississippi, arose and commenced to speak in a
manner most dull and drawling; he intended to occupy
the floor until the hour of adjournment on Monday. Com-
mencing at the creation of Adam and Eve, he gave the
Bible story; the fall of man; the history of the children
of Israel ; the stories of the prophets; ecclesiastical history,
thus continuing to drawl through the time hour after hour.
Sleepy senators betook themselves to the cloak-rooms to
lunch, to drink, to talk to the waiting ones, and to sleep.
Thus the night passed and the Sabbath morning’s sun
arose, and still Foote was in the midst of his Bible dis-
quisition. At length, two hours after sunrise, a consulta-
tion was held between Butler, Mason, Calhoun, Davis, and
Foote, which resulted in the announcement that no fur-
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ther opposition would be offered to taking the vote upon
the final passage of the Oregon bill. A vote was then
taken, and the bill passed.

The long suspense was at last ended and Meek pre-
pared to return to Oregon, his life-long habits of unre-
strained freedom began to revolt against the conventional-
ities in Washington, the novelty of which had long since
disappeared. In appointing officers for the new territory
he was made United States Marshal ; no office could have
suited him better. The governorship was offered to Mr.
Shields who declined, General Joseph Lane of Indiana was
then appointed and his commission given to Meek to de-
liver to him in the shortest time possible, and then to pro-
ceed at once to Oregon. The President’s last words were,
“Good bless you, Meek; tell Lane to have a territorial
government organized during my administration.”

While in St. Louis young Lane who accompanied his
father, wanted a knife, and as they met a Jew on the street
with a large number he began to beat down the price,
whereupon Meek made an offer for the whole lot in order
to prevent Lane from getting one at any price. Not satis-
fied with this investment, he next made a purchase of three
whole pieces of silk, at one dollar and fifty cents a yard. At
this stage of the transaction Gen. Lane interfered suffi-
ciently to inquire “what he expected to do with that
stuff?” “Can’t tell,” answered Meek, “but I reckon it is
worth the money.” “Better save your money,” said the
more prudent Lane,

At St. Louis they met Lieutenant Hawkins, who was
to command the escort of twenty-five riflemen, also Doc-
tor Hayden, surgeon of the company. On the tenth of
September the government of Oregon was on its way,
taking the southern route over the Sante F¢é trail, to the
latter place, thence down the Gila to Fort Yuma, Arizona,
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and San Pedro Bay in California, where they expected to
find a vessel to carry them the remainder of the journey.
The party which on leaving Leavenworth six months be-
fore numbered fifty-five, now numbered only seven. This
was due to the many desertions on account of the gold
excitement which had just broken out in California. They
arrived weary, dusty, foot-sore, famished, and suffering, at
Williams’s ranch on the Santa Anna River, Cal.,, where
they were kindly received, and their wants ministered to.
At this place our hero developed, in addition to his
various accomplishments, a talent for speculation. While
overhauling his baggage, the knives and the silk which had
been purchased of the peddler in St. Louis were brought
to light; no sooner did the senoras catch a glimpse of the
shining fabrics than they went into raptures over them,
after the fashion of their sex, and to the expense of their
spouse. Seeing the state of mind to which these raptures,
if unheeded, were likely to reduce the ladies of his house,
Mr. Williams approached Meek delicately on the subject of
purchase. But Meek, in the first flush of speculative
shrewdness declared that he had bought the goods for his
own wife, and he could not find it in his heart to sell them.
However, as the senoras were likely to prove inconsolable,
Mr. Williams again mentioned the desire of his family to
be clad in silk, and the great difficulty, nay, impossibility,
of obtaining the much coveted fabric in that part of the
world, and accompanied his remarks with an offer of ten
dollars a yard for the lot. At this magnificent offer our
hero affected to be overcome by regard for the feelings of
the senoras, and consented to sell his dollar and a half silk
at ten dollars a yard. In the same manner, finding that
knives were a desirable article in that country, very much
wanted by miners and others, he sold out his few dozen at
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an ounce of gold dust each, netting the convenient little
profit of about five hundred dollars.

When Gen. Lane was informed of the transaction, and
reminded of his objection to the original purchase, he
laughed heartily. “Well, Meek,” he said, “you were drunk
when you bought them, and by —— I think you must have
been drunk when you sold them; but drunk or sober, I will
own that you can beat me at a bargain.”

On the second of March the Oregon government ar-
rived at its destination, and on the third put into opera-
tion the Territorial Government, one day before the ex-
piration of President Polk’s term of office.
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Battle Lakes, 167, 239.
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ture from, 241.
Beaver, American,
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Blackfeet Indians, attack camp,
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Bull-bating, description of, 314.
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ing, 209
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146;
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tle, 269;
mode of burial, 271;
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Desert of the Great Basin, at-

tempt to cross, 234;

difficulties encountered, 235;
loss of stock in, 236.

Digger Indians, 124, 166.
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description of, 200.
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map of,
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218.

Game, abundance of, in CaHfor-
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Gant and Blackwell, 34;
build fort on upper Arkansas,
69;
failure of, 92;
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rick’s company, 110;
three killed, 111.
Gant, Captain, writes letter to
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Gervais, J. B, 31.
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Gilroy’'s ranch, arrival at, 196.
Gilroy, sketch of, 196.
Graham, the Tennesseean, ac-
count of, 126.
Great Basin, description of, 168,
238.
Great Salt Lake, description of,
128.
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1833, 36;
1834, 36.
Grizzly bear, description of, 71;
mode of taking, in California,
215;
narrow escape from, 70, 90.

rendezvous of,

HeNrY, Maj. Andrew, 26, 27.
Hides and tallow, collection of,
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Hockday, Mr., 79.
Hole, origin of name, 107.
Hot Springs, description of, 283;
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loss of, in crossing the moun-
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fornia, 226;
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218;
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129;

stolen from San Juan mission,
221,
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founding of, 15, 16, 17.
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Hul&boldt Lake, description of,
166.

INDIAN, abandoned to die, 279.
Indians, aicoholic stimulants

used by, 38.

Arapahoe, account of, 59,

Aricara, 89, 134, 186; attack
Leonard’s company, 140;
chief dies at Richmond, 1387;
escape from, 185; rob Leon-
ard’s company of all their
property, 140; trouble with,
132, 140.

Bannock, 124, 148.

camp attacked by, 84.

California, description of, 184,
186, 188.

Californians, relations of, 205.

Crow, 129, 254, 265; arrival
among, 253; kill Blackfoot
chief, 2756; manner of tak-
ing game, 260.

cruel treatment of, by Califor-
nians, 222.

Diggers (Pal-ute), 124, 166;
battle with, 240; killed by
trappers, 158; killing sup-
pressed by Captain Walk-
er, 168; killing without the
knowledge of Captain Walk-
er, 168; steal traps, 158;
trouble with, 160; Captain
‘Walker orders attack upon,
164.

Flatheads, description of, 109;
by Mr. Cox, 100;
reach camp of, 99.

Kansas, description of, 60.
Nesz Percés, description of,
109; visit St. Louis, 110.

Otoes, 61.

Pawnees, village of, 282.

Pal-utes, See Diggers.

purchase furs of, 124,

Shoshonies, 124, 127.

smallpox among, 38;
ment of, 39.

torture of, 270.

venereal diseases among, 88.

vices and diseases among, 87.

treat-
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JacksoN, David E., 27,
Jones and Immel, death of, 38.

Kansas INDiANs, 60.

Kansas River, arrival at, 60.

Kean, death of, 114.

Killing of Blackfeet chief by the
Crows, 376.

LArRaMIE RIvER, 34; arrival at,
64; mouth of, 89; in 1888, 131;
attempt to reach mouth of,
72; failure of companies to
meet at mouth of, 89; contin-
ue slong, 71.

Laramie Valley, description of,
72.

Lagoda, go aboard of, 190; met
with, 190.

Larout, Mr., death of, 279;

Leonard, Zenas, and two ocom-

panions, remain with the
Crow Indians, 253;

active part taken in battle of
Pierre’s Hole, 113;

arrives at Clearfield, Pa., 282;
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Walker, 147;

company, start for rendezvous
of, 1833, 148;

dates, correction of, 93;

dates of, 177;

death of, 282;

departs for the states, 281;

dislocates ankle, 278;

escape from Indian, 188;

estimate of the character of
Fitspatrick, 120;

fall hunt, 1832, on Humboldt,
127;

gives the number of his com-
pany as 15, 137;

hardships experienced, 61;

Joins Captain A. K. Stephens’s
company, 69;

leaves St. Louis, Mo., for the
mountains, §9;

leasves Stephens’s company,

1;

INDEX

rej&lm Stephens’s company,

returne to Jackson Co., Mo.,

returns to the West, 282;

starts on a trapping expedi-
ton, 128;

fraps on the Humboldt, 85;

trapping on his own account,

0;
wounded, 189.
Lewis and Clark, journey of, 20.
Lewis River, arrival at, 241.
Lisa, Manuel, 21.
“Long Hair,” Crow chief, des-
cription of, 266.

Man, killed by grissly bear, 250.

MacKenzie, Kenneth, 19, 24, 180,
187; Donald, 18; Sir Alexan-
der, 16, 18.

Ma;;ent. Laclede and Compeany,

Meek, Joseph, sketch of, 285;
Stephen H. L., account of, ex-
pedition, 146,

Men, remain in California, 226.

Merced River, 181.

l(:teoﬂ87 c phenomenon of 18838,

Mexicans join Walker's com-
pany, 227, 242,

Mlll;éonl established in Oregon,

Missions, Franciscan, in Califor-
nia, description of, 200; rob-
bed by Indians, 229.

Milcg‘!ron:ry station of San Juan,

Monterey, capital of Upper Cal-

ifornia, 191, 210;
Bay, description of, 211;
Captain Walker starts for, 198,
196; return from, 204.

Moore, D. W, editor of the
‘“Leonard Narrative,” 57.

More, killed, 122,

Mountain, California, descrip-
?3? of, 238; return passage of,
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Mules, gathering of, for Santa
Fé trade, 208.
Multnomah River, 123.

NARRATIVE, previously publish-
ed portion of, 89.

Nes Percé Indians, description
of, 109.

New Year's, 1834, celebrated,
212.

Nidever, George, 125, 126; joins
‘Walker, 147, 148; kills two In-
dians, 169.

North-West Fur Company, 123,
244; founding of, 15.

No-Wood River, 274.

OGDEN, Peter Skene, 29.
Oil spring found, 262.
Otoe Indians, 61.

Pacrric OceaN, reached, 188.

Pacific Fur Company, 21.

Pass, search for, 169.

Pal-ute, or Digger Indians, 124,
166.

Philips wounded by bear, 218.

Plerre’s Hole, arrival at, 102;
battle of, 96, 112; description

of, by Irving, 117;
rendesvous of 1832, 33, 111;
valley, description of, 112.

Platte River, arrival at, 632;
forks of, 63.

Popoasia Creek, 248; rendezvous
of, 281; return to, after spring
hunt, 281.

Preface (original), 35.

Prevost, Etienne, 27, 28.

Pryor, Ensign Nathaniel, 22.

Repwoop Giawnts, discorvery of,
180.
Rendezvous,
28;
supplies arrive at, 1834, 146;
breaking up of, 248.

establishment of,
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Rivers, visited by Leonard, 280,
Robes, method of dressing, 376.

Rocky Mountains, crossing of,
251.
Rocky Mountain Fur Company,
tsuluolutlon of, 36; partners in,
Rose, Edward, 130, 256, 266; part
taken in battle against the
Blackfeet, 264.
Ross, Alexander, 16.
Route to the mountains usually
followed by fur-traders, 60;
via Republican Fork of the
Kansas River, 60,

SAUNDERS, Mr., brings Gant’s
men to remdegvous, 111; joins
Leonard’s company, 123, 125.

Santa F$, attempt to reach, 74;
abandoned, 87.

San Francisco Bay, arrival at,
187; described, 191.

San Joaquin River, 186,

San José, description of town

of, 210;

mission, description of, 210;
Indians of, 210.

San Juan Bautista mission, ar-

rival at, 197;

church of, 198;

description of, 198, 200;

departure from, 219;

Indians at, 198.

Sellexlrk, Lord, 16; land-grant to,
1

Settlers of Red River valley, 16.

Shoshonie Indians, 124, 127.

Sinclair, free trappers of, 126;
killed, 111.

Sierra Nevada mountains (Cali-
fornia Mountain of Leon-
ard), arrival at, 168;

arrive at western base, 179;
attempt at crossing, 169;
description of, 170;
hardships in crossing, 171;
route taken in crossing, 179;
timber found on west side, 179;
west side reached, 177.
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Smallpox among the Indians, 89;

Aricara’s and

Assiniboines, 47;

Blackfeet, 47;

Crows, 48;

Mandans, 41.

——epidemic of 1800, 89; 1837,
40,

——estimate of mortality, 48;
high mortality of, 39; in-
oculation of, 44, 46; intro-
duction by the American
Fur Company; introduction of,
at Fort Union, 44.

——Larpenteur's account  of,
44; Maximilian’s account of,
48.

Smith, Jedediah 8., 27, 1p1;
death of, 32; sketch of, 161.
Smith, Sublette and Jackson,

sell out, 31; leave the moun-

tains, 31.

Smith, wounded, 114.
South Pass, discovery of, 27.
Spaniards met with, 1965.

Starvation, narrow escape from,
76,
Steamboat, first on the Missou-
ri, 2
Stephens, Captain A. K, 66;
and company join Fitspat.
rick, 92; Fitzpatrick quarrel,
119;
leaves mouth of the Laramie
69;
narrow escape of, 89;
sells furs belonging to Cap-
tain Gant, 92;
starts for the Laramie, 122;
wounded by Blackfeet and
dies, 22, 122.
Stinking Water River, arrival
at, 130,
Stuart, Captain, 36.
Sublette, Milton G., 31;
and company, journey and
route of, 125,
Sublette, Willlam L., 27;
furnishes supplies for 1882, 34.
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Sulpgzur River, departure from,
enco.n'lpment on, 219.
Bu%puee, price of, in mountains,

69.
Surround, 260.

TALIBMAN, among Crow Indians,
256.

Tongue River, arrival at, 280.

Traders in the mountains be-
fore 18856, 87.

Trall, westward, found, 239;
followed on return, 239.

Trappers, 7.

Trapping party leaves rendes-
vous, 111,

Trappers, Sinclair’s, 125.

Tuberculosis, among Indians, 49.

VANDERBURGH, Of the American
Fur Company, 83;
killed by the Blackfeet, 85.

WALKER, Captain J. R., and
company visit California set-
tlements, 205;

Bancroft, H. H., account of
California expedition, 243;

California expedition, 147;

company arrive at Bear Riv-
er, 243; number of men in,
227;

conﬂsictlng statements as to,
249;

forbid trading with Indians
in California, 206;

Joins Bonneville, 243;

leaves for Wind river, 263;

Meek’s account of Walker ex-
pedition, 164;

offer made to by governor of
California, 212;

pr;smress to go to Monterey,

reception of, in California, 197;
remains in mountains, 281;
return from Monterey, 328;
return journey of, 226;
sketch of, 147, 163;

starts for Monterey, 220;
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tnx;s on the Missourl River,

248;
visits the governor of Califor

nia, 204.

Walker's Pass, 2381.

‘Wagons, first use of, in moun-
tains, 80.

‘Washburn, Captain, 66.

‘Whale, found on coast, 189.

‘White, Mr., adventure with gris-
zly bear, 96.

‘White Ploom, 60.

‘Whitman, Doctor, 86.
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Wild cattle in California, 194;
manner of taking, 200.

‘Wind River, rendesvous of, 81;
valley of, 276.

Winter quarters established, 78.

Work, John, 128,

‘Wounded, recover, 280.

‘Wyeth, Nathaniel J., 86, 111;
sn:)lf pa;';y, journey and route

, 136.

YosEMiTE VALLEY, description
of, 174; discovery of, 174.
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